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Preface

This is an attempt at telling the story of India’s freedom strug-

ele through a number of sketches of vatious personalities—Indian

and foreign~-who made significant contributions at different

phases of the struggle to the achievement of the ultimate objective.

These sketches do not claim to be biographical exccpt in a limited

sense. The focus of atteasion is primarily on their main activities

in relation to India’s freedom movement, and even in this respect

the sketches are not meant to be comprchensive.

Tam keenly aware of the many gaps and omissions tn thts volume.

The story of India’s freedom 1s incomplete without a detailed ac-

count of the parts played by Dadabhat Naoroji, Ranade, Tilak,

Aurobindo Ghosh, C. R. Das, Sarojint Naidu, Sardar Patel, Lala

Lajpat Rai, Pandit Madan Mohan Malaviya, Maulana Azad and

a number of other distinguished men and women who lived dedi-

cated lives in their respective spheres for India’s welfare and pro-

gress. The narrative has been restricted to the skctches of those

personalities with whom [ either came into contact or with whose

public activitics I was closely acquainted.

Even with these limitations and drawbacks, it is my hope that

the reader will obtain a little insight into some aspects of the free-

dom struggle and capture something of its atmosphere. There 1s

a great diflerence between a direct narrative of this type and a sys-

tematic account based on documents, reports and memoranda re-

lating to the events of the period. To some extert, I, too, have

made use of such papers in my collection, to fill in details which

could not be revealed while the story was developing, when one

was bound by the code of honour that a journalist must observe

in his professional work. In writing these sketches, and later in

claborating some of them fot publication in this volume, I have

experienced all the excitement and the drama of the freedom move-

ment,

The inspiration of being close to many of the martyrs and cham-

pions of our liberty, the acute sense of frustration when optimism
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suddenly turned to dust and ashes as India seemed poised for achieve-

ment—these can never be reproduced in full measure. I shall be

satisfied if the reader can obtain an occasional whiff of the atmos-

phere of adventure and sacrifice that the leaders of the freedom

movement created around them.

This volume, even in its present form, could not have been

prepared without the gencrous assistance of a number of fricnds.

The editors of The Findu, The Wlustrated Weekly of India, The States-

man and Swarajya readily gave theit permission for reproducing the

articles which T had originally written for them. The utilisation of

a considerable number of private papers relating to developments

of the Jasr half-a-century and more involved a considerable amount

of labour and careful scrutiny which Sri P.N. Krishna Mant and Sri

C. Ganesan ungrudgingly offered despite their numerous pre-occu-

pations. No words of gratitude can be adequate for their co-opera-

tion and advice. Much of the drudgery of revising the manuscript

and arranging the material was cheerfully borne by Sri M.A.

Amladi.

To Shrimati Dhanvanti Rama Rau | extend my warm thanks

for her careful revision of the manuscript and manv valuable sug-

gestions for the improvement of the text.

Lastly, I must express my gratitude to the Asia Toundation

during the years of its functioning in New Delhi for its

gencrous grant to cover all my stenographic and other incidental

expenses incurred in preparing this compilation.

B. Shiva Rao

New Delhi, 1972
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The Freedom Movement

India’s freedom movement possesses certain remarkable features

which stand out as somewhat unigue in a struggle for national

liberation. Tension and conflict there were bound to be with the

Imperial Power as India stepped up her demands from time to time;

but throughout the half-a-century of the struggle there was, on

the whole—considering the dimensions and complexities of the

problems facing a country of the size of India—singularly little

hatred for the British rulers. Gopal Krishna Gokhale and many

of his early contemporaries saw a divine purpose in the British

connection with India, the fortunes of a multi-racial society being

linked with those of a Western democracy, so that representative

institutions could develop under the conditions obtaining in India.

This approach was not a superficial pose, but the result of a

genuine conviction; nor was it limited to the moderates of the first

phase of the freedom movement. Bal Gangadhar Tilak, an extremist,

received in 1907 a six years’ term of rigorous imprisonment for

sedition with the reflection uttered in the presence of the judge,

“Tf it be the wish of Providence that I would serve my country

better through my incarceration than by remaining free, I gladly

make the sacrifice.”

For Annie Besant, the humiliation of subjection to a foreign

power was part of the necessary process of preparation for a free

India to develop democratic institutions and, as her great con-

tribution to the emergence of a new world civilization, to spread

the priceless treasures of her cultural and spiritual heritage among
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the materially-minded nations of the world. Gandhiji, through

all the three decades of his leadership of the freedom movement,

never weakened in his faith in truth and non-violence. These

qualities were for him of greater significance than political freedom

secured through the shortcut of a bloody revolution. Again and

again, during a civil disobedience movement, he would remind

his followers that hatred of British rule was not incompatible with

love for the British people.

The Congress no doubt committed itself to complete indepen-

dence and severance of the tie with Britain in 1927. But only

four years later, at the Round Table Conference in London in

1931, Gandhiji made an carnest appeal to Britain and India alike

to forget the past and march forward together as equals and part-

ners to form ‘the nucleus ofa real League of Nations’. He was

frequently ridiculed as ‘a naked fakir’ and his motives and actions

were deeply suspect in certain quarters, but to the end of his days

he remained committed to the principles on the basis of which

he had assumed the leadership of the freedom movement in 1919.

When the second world war commenced, Gandhiji’s reaction was

characteristically generous. The prospect of London and Paris

being destroyed through bombing appalled him, and he was in no

mood to take advantage of Britain’s desperate plight to strike a

political bargain in India’s favour.

Excesses there were, no doubt, committed by excited crowds

in moments of deep resentment or frustration. But the move-

ment, surveyed in its broad aspects over the decades, reveals

spiritual overtones that lent it dignity and restraint and infused

it with a deep purpose not commonly associated with a national

struggle for freedom.

As a natural consequence of this characteristic, the goal of the

Congress did not substantially alter in half-a-century of the world’s

most revolutionary period which witnessed two world wars and

numerous local conflicts and a remarkable shift in the balance of

power. In 1906, Dadabhai Naoroji outlined India’s ultimate aim

as ‘self-government on colonial lines’. The term Dominion Sta-

tus had not at that time gained currency. In 1947, offered a choice

between complete independence and association with the Com-

monwealth on terms of perfect equality, India deliberately chose
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the latter course : and the choice was made by Jawaharlal Nehru,

the spearhead of the independence section of the Congress in

1927.

It needed great courage to brush aside at the moment of decision

a commitment of twenty years, but he had the vision to see the

door opening to a new stage of development in the world’s pro-

gress towards a structural unity. In a remarkable address to the

Asian Relations Conference in April 1947, three months before

the withdrawal of British authority from India, Nehru held out the

hand of fellowship to Europe and America. The vital decision

to remain within the Commonwealth was, in fact, entirely in keep-

ing with the tone and outlook of India’s freedom movement from

its earliest phase.

Another remarkable feature of India’s freedom movement is

the valuable service rendered at different stages by a long line of

distinguished persons of non-Indian origin who felt a deep and ge-

nuine affection for this country. Most of all we owe a debt of

gratitude to the leaders of the British socialist movement, from

Annie Besant to Clement Attlee, until India dropped the last sym-

bol of her subjection in 1947.

Among those who built the Congress on sound foundations in

its early years or helped it in other ways were Alan Octavian Hume,

William Wedderburn, Henry Cotton, Charles Bradlaugh and some

other dedicated spirits. In the early years of this century came

Keir Hardie and later Ramsay MacDonald. We had a galaxy of

such persons at different stages in the British Labour Party:

George Lansbury and Sir Stafford Cripps, to mention only two,

after the first world war. There were others, too, from Britain

who materially assisted us in the fulfilment of our aspirations.

Valuable help came to us also from the U.S.A. : from President

Wilson and his advisers in the middle of the first world war; and

a quarter of a century later, from President Roosevelt and his two

special envoys, Colonel Louis Johnson and Mr. William Phillips.

Generalissimo Chiang-Kai-shek and Madame Chiang also gave

powerful support to India’s "demand for freedom throughout a

critical period of the second world war. It is a pity that, after the

capture of power in China by the Communists, we quickly forgot

the Chiangs’ persistent efforts during the war to persuade Churchill

3
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to settle the Indian problem on terms acceptable to Nehru and his

associates and began to use harsh language against Formosa.
In the first phase of the freedom movement, beginning with

the establishment of the Congress in 1885, political aspirations

were limited to modest requests for administrative improvements.

Soon unrest grew, and assumed serious dimensions in the first

decade of this century. The first reaction of the new Viceroy,

Lord Minto, was that “it would be the greatest mistake to ignore

the Congress as a factor in Indian conditions”. About Curzon,

his immediate predecessor, Minto had no illusions. After a pre-

liminary survey, he told Morley, the Secretary of State for India :

“Few people at home know the legacy of bitterness and discon-

tent he left for his successor.”

Following a number of terrorist outrages in India, the King,

greatly perturbed by the thought of a recurrence of the 1857 rising,

observed in a communication to the Viceroy : “The seditious move-

ments in India have caused me serious anxiety, and most earnestly

do I trust that you and your Government will display the greatest

firmness. If we are to retain our hold on the country, we must

endeavour to crush the present disloyalty with a high hand, or

else we may have similar troubles as we had 50 years ago.”

. The extremist section of the Congress was growing strong in the

early years of this century under Tilak, Aurobindo Ghosh, Bepin

Chandra Pal and Lajpat Rai. Minto was apologetic about the

strong action that the Executive in India took against Tilak in

1907. The sentence (of six years’ rigorous imprisonment in a

Burmese prison for sedition) had struck Morley as being ‘monstrous’.

The members of the Indian Committee functioning in the House

of Commons numbering about 150—all Liberals with a handful

of Labour members (Keir Hardie being particularly prominent)

—-were a source of great strength to the Congress as champions

of India’s freedom.

The question of reforms was engaging the attention of the

British authorities at both ends. Gokhale had spent a good deal

of his time in London, trying to influence the British Government

and the House of Commons in favour of a liberal instalment of

reform. How far should they go to win over the moderates,

especially after the split in the Congress at its Surat session in
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1907 was a question which engaged their consideration. The

appoint- ment of an Indian to the Viceroy’s Executive Council

was discussed at length between London and Simla, and the

original suggestion of two members was later reduced to

one.

Minto was attracted by the suggestion of ‘a Native member’

in his Executive, but he was apprehensive. He wrote to the

Secretary of State: “What would British sentiment be algout the

Native member? European feeling (in India) is not yet ripe for

such an advance in Imperial Government. The possibility of

an Indian in the Councils in Bombay and Madras shocked many

Englishmen, to say nothing about the Viceroy’s Council.” More-

over, if a Native was to be appointed to the Executive in India,

would not there be (asked the Viceroy) a demand for a similar

appointinent on the Sccretary of State’s Council, and how could

it be resisted? Such was the official mood in the years immediately

preceding the first world war.*

The King’s opposition to this proposal was strong and un-

qualified. He told the Viceroy in a letter:

L hold very strong, and possibly old-fashioned views

on the subject, which my son, who has so recently been in India,

entirely shares. During the unrest in India at the present

time and the intrigues of the Natives, it would, I think, be

fraught with the greatest danger for the Indian Empire if a

Native were to take part in the Council of the Viceroy, as so

many subjects would be likely to be discussed 1n which it would

not be desirable that a Native should take parc... However

clever the Native might be and however loyal you and your

* When the decision was finally limited to a single appointment. the

selection was iniluenced by considerations ef colour. ‘Phe choice apparently

Jay between Sun S. PL Sinha (late. Lord Sinha) and Justice Ashutosh

Mukerjee Minto favoured Sinha: he was able and had expericnce as

Advocate-Genoral. But more than ment was coloui—“please (pleaded

the Viceroy) do net think me ieruibly narrow; but Simha is comparatively

white, whilst Mukerjee is as black as my suk hat And opposition in

the offaal world would not be icgardiess of mere shades of colour.”
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Council might consider him to be, you never could be certain

that he might not prove to be a very dangerous element in

your Council.

It is necessary to realise the background, as depicted in the

foregoing paragraphs, for a proper appreciation of the significance

of Mrs. Besant’s home rule campaign in the early stages of the

first world war. Her demand was not for reforms in instalments

or stages but for a position of complete cquality for India with the

self-governing Dominions in the reconstruction of the British

Empire after the war. Her internment by the Madras Government

in 1917 led to a series of developments, described later in this

volume.

Fortunately for India, a military disaster at this stage of the

War for Britain in Mesopotamia brought a man into high office

in British public life who was keen on utilising his official position

to hasten India’s freedom. Edwin Samuel Montagu gave definite

shape, as Secretary of State for India in the middle of the first

world war, to the political aspirations of Indian nationalists.

The Montagu-Chelmsford Report expressed in clear language

the hope that India’s connection with the British Empire would be

endorsed by the wishes of her people but on a new basis. The

existence of distinctive national cultures, far from weakening such

a bond, could (it observed) strengthen it on the basis of a Com-

monwealth. Montagu visualised, in fact, India’s ultimate destiny as

a sisterhood of States, self-governing in all matters of purely

local or provincial interest, in some cases corresponding to.

existing provinces, in others perhaps modified in area according

to the character and economic interests of their people. Over

this congeries of States would preside a central government,

increasingly representative of and responsible to the people

of all of them; dealing with matters, both internal and external,

of common interest to the whole of India.

Despite Montagu’s affection for India, he was. unable in his

official capacity to go beyond the ponderous declaration of 20th

August, 1917, promising “the increasing association of Indians

6
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in every branch of the administration and the gradual develop-

ment of self-governing institutions with a view to the progressive

realization of responsible government in India as an integral part

of the British Empire”. It would be relevant to remember that in

considering the introduction of a scheme of reforms into India in

1907 Lord Morley, the Secretary of State, was careful enough to

say in the House of Commons that the scheme which he was pro-

posing to introduce was not based on the principle of representa-

tive government; if that were to be the interpretation of his

scheme, he would have nothing to do with it. Montagu’s dec-

laration, though worded guardedly, reflected a striking change

in the British attitude towards India, all in the course of a decade.

From Morley’s repudiation in 1907 of the principle of representa-

tive government for India, Montagu occupying the same official

position altered British policy in 1917 to a definite commitment

to responsible government. Montagu neglected no opportunity of

pressing forward India’s claim for equality of status with the self-

governing Dominions. The impact of the world war on India’s

aspirations had been far-reaching, and Montagu recognized it.

The first Imperial War Conference in 1917 adopted the view

that the readjustment of constitutional relations of the components

of the British Empire should be based upon a full recognition of

the Dominions as autonomous nations of an Imperial Common-

wealth, and of India as an important portion of the same; that it

should recognize the right of the Dominions and of India to

an adequate voice in foreign policy and foreign relations, and pro-

vide effective arrangements for continuous consultations in all

important matters of common Imperial concern, and for such

necessary concerted action, founded on consultation, as the several

Governments might determine.

Not content with these gains, substantial as they were, Mon-

tagu secured, at the peace negotiations at Versailles, full member-

ship of the War Cabinet for India’s representatives, Lord Sinha

and the Maharaja of Bikaner. Again, at the Inter-Allied Conference

on matters concerning Britain and the Dominions, Montagu and

his two Indian colleagues were given the same rank as the Dominion

delegations.

The concept of an elected Constituent Assembly for framing free
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India’s Constitution took roots long before Jawaharlal Nehru ad-

vocated it in 1937. As early as 1908, Gokhale, in discussing a

scheme of reforms, had favoured the summoning of a National

Convention to give constitutional shape to India’s political aspira-

tion for the attainment of self-government similar to that enjoyed

by the self-governing members of the British Empire and parti-

cipation by her in the rights and responsibilities of the Empire

on equal terms with those members.

Later, in 1921, came Mrs. Besant with her proposal to frame

a comprehensive measure on the basis of Dominion status for

India. Its genesis lay in her statement before the Joint Select

Committee on the Government of India Bill that India could not

be satisfied for all time with a constitution framed for her at

Westminister. It took a National Convention consisting of mem-

bers of several political parties (barring the Congress) nearly three

years (1922-25) to complete the draft of the Commonwealth of

India Bill. Jt was notable as the first example of a comprehensive

measure giving constitutional shape to India’s political aspirations.

This Bill for conferring freedom on India was introduced in the

House of Commons and had its first reading in 1926. It was

sponsored by George Lansbury, a member of the British Labour

Party’s executive, as a private member’s measure.

Liberty for India became in fact one of the watchwords of the

pioneers of the British Labour Party. Among the first of India’s

friends in the House of Commons was Charles Bradlaugh who

had visited India and had agreed to pilot a Bill in the House of

Commons in 1895 entitled ‘The Indian Swaraj Bill’. His pre-

mature death prevented the fruition of this plan; next came Keir

Hardie, a prominent and rugged but picturesque personality

who had toured India in the early years of this century to gather

first-hand evidence of the results of British rule.

_ Ramsay MacDonald was another, who had had even greater

opportunities for studying India’s needs and problems on the

eve of the First World War, as a member of the Royal Commission

on Public Services. His magnificent work for India has not had

adequate appreciation, cither here or in Britain. Twice Prime

Minister of Britain in the twenties, but on both occasions the

leader of a minority administration, he courageously outlined

8
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in 1924 India’s ultimate destiny: “Dominion status for India is

the idea and the ideal of the Labour Government.”

In 1925, the Labour Party, then out of office, adopted at its

annual Conference a resolution recognizing ‘the right of the Indian

people to full self-determination’. The Conference welcomed

‘the declarations of representative Indian leaders in favour of free

and equal partnership with the other members of the British Com-

monwealth of Nations’.

These official statements of the Labour Party struck a new and

heartening note. The First World War had effected great changes

in Britain’s relations with India, and several Tabour Members

of the House of Commons were quick to see the need for a bold,

constructive policy. In her campaign for home rule for India

during the first world war, Mrs. Besant had, with great foresight,

enlisted the active support of a number of her former Labour

associates, like George Lansbury, through the establishment of a

branch of the Home Rule League in London. For a time she per-

suaded Pethick-Lawrence and H. N. Brailsford to write regularly

for her daily paper, New India, published from Madras.

Practically out of the Congress after 1919 because of her un-

bending opposition to Gandhiji’s non-co-operation movement,

Mrs. Besant continued, nevertheless, her efforts to secure India’s

freedom. The Commonwealth of India Bill, already referred

to, was the work of a National Committee of which the guiding

spirit was Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru. Congress leaders would not

actively associate themselves with this measure; but Motilal

Nehru took full advantage of its technique and procedure to pro-

duce later a constitutional scheme cmbodied in the All-Parties’

(Nehru) Report. With consummate skill he secured a majority

vote in the Central Legislative Assembly in 1925 for his resolution

in favour of a “Convention, a Round Table Conference or other

suitable agency adequately representative of all Indian, European

and Anglo-Indian interests to frame, with due regard to the in-

terests of minorities”, a generally acceptable constitution.

Of the All Parliamentary Commission led by Sir John Simon

(appointed in 1927-28 with MacDonald’s consent) one of the

members was Clement Attlee—almost a back-bencher at that time

—who twenty years later was to create history by offering India
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complete freedom. Touring India at the same time as the Simon

Commission, but as a private individual, was another Labour

member, Pethick-Lawrence. Writing from Madras to his wife

in London in 1929, he confessed he could see no objection to the

Indian suggestion of a Round Table Conference to implement in

substance Motilal Nehru’s scheme.

The first steps were, of course, the most difficult to adopt. The

race-complex which had gripped the British mind after 1857—from

the King downwards to the district officer—began to weaken only

with India’s membership of the League of Nations and other

symbols of equality of status with the self-governing Dominions

which India acquired after the First World War. The King, who

had felt compelled to administer to the Viceroy in 1911 a grave

warning against the danger of admitting ‘a native’ into his Exe-

cutive Council, had altered his attitude in a decade to such an

extent as to soothe a nation’s anguish (after the Jallianwala Bagh

massacre) with a message sympathising with India’s aspiration

to ‘Swaraj within my Empire’.

Ramsay MacDonald, during his second tenure as Prime Minis-

ter of Britain in the late twenties, renewed his efforts to initiate a

series of progressive measures. First he authorised the Viceroy

(Lord Irwin) to say on behalf of the Labour Government that

“it was implicit in the declaration of August 1917 that the na-

tural issue of India’s constitutional progress as there contemplated

was the attainment of Dominion status”. Motilal Nehru’s sug-

gestion of a Round Table Conference was accepted in principle,

but with India’s representatives nominated by the British Govern-

ment, not elected by a popular vote.

The first session of the Round Table Conference met in Lon-

don in 1930. The Prime Minister made a policy statement at

the end of the Conference, in January 1931, in the following

terms :

Responsibility for the Government of India should be placed

upon the Legislatures, Central and Provincial, with such pro-

visions as may be necessary to guarantee, during a period of

transition, the observance of certain obligations and to meet

other special circumstances, and also with such guarantees

10
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as ate required by minorities to protect their political liberties

and rights.

In such statutory safeguards as may be made for meeting the

needs of the transitional period, it will be a primary concern

of His Majesty’s Government to sce that the reserved powers

are so framed and exercised as not to prejudice the advance

of India through the new Constitution to full responsibility

for her own government.

The prospects of success further brightened in the early stages

of the Second Round Table Conference in the late summer of

1931, with Gandhiji as the sole representative of the Congress.

But suddenly at this stage in India’s political fortunes Britain

faced a domestic crisis, necessitating a general election which

proved disastrous to the Labour Party.
Undeterred by this sudden transformation in the complexion

of the new Government—MacDonald continuing to be the Prime

Minister but in a predominantly Conservative House of Commons—

Gandhiji told a plenary session of the second Round Table Con-

ference in September 1931 :

India, yes, can be held by the sword : I do not for one moment

doubt the ability of Britain to hold India under subjection

through the sword. But what will conduce to the prosperity

of Great Britain, the economic freedom of Britain—an en-

slaved but rebellious India, or an India, an esteemed partner

to share her sorrows, to take part side by side with Britain in

her misfortunes? Yes, if need be, but at her own will to

fight side by side with Britain—not for the exploitation of a

single race or a single human being on earth, but it may be

conceivably for the good of the whole world ! If I want

freedom for my country, believe me, if I can possibly help

it, I do not want that freedom in order that I, belonging to

a nation which contains one-fifth of the human race, may ex-

ploit the individual. If I want that freedom for my country,

J would not be deserving of that freedom if I did not cherish

and treasure the equal right of every other race, weak or

strong, to the same freedom. I would love to go away from

ts
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y

the shores of the British Isles with the conviction that there

was to be an honourable and equal partnership between Bri-

tain and India.

By a cruel irony of fate the author of the Round Table Con-

ference proposal, Pandit Motilal Nehru, and thousands of others

were placed in detention during its first session. Motilal Nehru’s

leadership at this stage would probably have made a decisive dif-

ference but destiny decreed otherwise : first his detention and then

his death intervened almost within sight of the fulfilment of his

dreams. MacDonald had closed the first session in London,

only a few days earlier, with a statement of great significance :

Finally, I hope, and I trust and I pray, that, by our labours

together, India will come to possess the only thing which

she now lacks to give her the status of a Dominion amongst

the British Commonwealth of Nations: what she now lacks

for that, the responsibilities and the cares, the burdens and

difficulties, but also the pride and the honour of responsible

self-government.

The loss to India in February 1931 through the death of Moti-

lal Nehru was a tragedy of the first magnitude : on the British side

was the disaster which overtook British Labour in the general

electons of 1931 and MacDonald’s subsequent eclipse. He conti-

nued, no doubt, as the Prime Minister of a new coalition Govern-

ment, with most of his former Labour colleagues out of Parlia-

ment—a pathetic figurehead, really out of place in a Conservative

House of Commons.

MacDonald’s part in bringing into existence a coalition Govern-

ment, sacrificing many loyal friends of a lifetime, was the subject

at that time of harsh criticism. He was a sad and lonely man in

his final years, conscious of thc isolation to which he had been

consigned in the so-called National Government. On one occa-

sion, during the Second Round Table Conference, at lunch at 10

Downing Street with a group of Indian delegates, he said in an

aside: “Do you know how it feels when you hit a man on his head

to keep him quiet for a time, but find him dead?” However
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Open to criticism his part might have been in the defeat of the

Labour Party in the 1931 elections, he had a genuine affection for

India and a deep understanding. The promise of full freedom to

which he twice committed his country in the twenties as Prime

Minister was irrevocable, though it was delayed by sixteen years,

with a devastating world war as an interlude.

How strangely sometimes can the course of history be deflec-

ted by personalities! The two men who might have mattered

supremely at that fateful hour in Indo-British relationships sud-

denly disappeared from the scene—Motilal Nehru through death

and MacDonald in a disastrous domestic situation.

There was deep disappointment in India when the original pro-

posals of the First Round Table Conference were sought to be

whittled down. Churchill maintained, as a leading member of the

Conservative Party, that though India might have been promised

Dominion status, ‘status’ was limited in its application only to rank

and ceremony. The third and final session of the Round Table

Conference, though promised by MacDonald for making a final

review, would probably not have been held but for vigorous pro-

tests from men like Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru. When summoned, it

was a much smaller body than its two predecessors, with Gandhiji

and several other Congress leaders again in detention. Mac-

Donald, who had played a prominent part in the two earlier con-

ferences, was conspicuously in the background in the third and did not

address the Conference even once in the course of its proceedings.

The White Paper on the Government of India Bill afforded

clear evidence that the spirit of the Gandhi-Irwin pact of 1931

had all but vanished. The safeguards and reservations were

obviously intended primarily to satisfy British economic and poli-

tical interests. Even the modest improvements in the Bill sug-

gested in a memorandum by the Aga Khan proved unacceptable

to the British Government.

Gandhiji, as is evident from his statesmanlike appeal to the

British Government during the Second Round Table Conference,

was anxious for an honourable settlement on the basis of an Indo-

British partnership. But the offer of friendship, made with genuine

warmth and sincerity, was not grasped by Britain, and a great op-

portunity for the solution of the Indian problem was lost.

13
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The large-scale detentions in India during the formative period

of the 1935 Constitution, the speeches made in the British’ Parlia-

ment by Churchill and his friends and the excessive caution that

characterised many of the provisions of the Constitution led

Jawaharlal Nehru and his Socialist associates in the Congress to

take a gloomy view of the future.

Some significant developments which greatly changed the

course of events in the subsequent years deserve mention. Moham-

mad Ali Jinnah had continued to be a staunch nationalist be-

fore and during the Round Table Conference. Sir Muhammad

Shafi and Sir Muhammad Zafrullah Khan were the main spokes-

men of the Muslims—not Jinnah, who retired temporarily from

active politics after 1932 and set up legal practice for a couple of

years in London. There was no hint at that time of any demand

for a Pakistan from the Muslim leaders.

At a session of the Joint Parliamentary Committee on the White

Paper proposals in 1933, Sir Reginald Craddock (a retired British

official from India who rose to the position of Governor of Burma)

asked a Muslim deputation led by Mr. A. Yusuf Alt to comment

on the scheme outlined by a Cambridge student, Rehmat Ali, for

the establishment of Pakistan. Yusuf Ali’s reply was that it was

a student’s scheme, which no responsible people had put forward.

Further questioning by Craddock provoked an intervention from

Sic Muhammad Zafrullah Khan who told his colleague, “You

have already had the reply that it was a student’s scheme and

there was nothing in it.” Yusuf Ali added : “We have considered

it chimerical and impracticable.”

Jinnah was not then in the picture at all, and no other Muslim

leader had backed the demand for Pakistan at the time of the in-

auguration of the 1935 Constitution. Even after the 1937 elec-

tion, Jinnah’s thoughts were not cast in the direction of a separate

State of Pakistan. In a public statement shortly after the elec-

tions in 1937 he declared : “Nobody will welcome an honourable

settlement between the Hindus and the Muslims more than I, and

nobody will be more ready to help it.” And he followed this

up with a public appeal to Gandhiji to tackle this question.

However, the Pakistan cult grew phenomenally in the next

three years and, the Indian political scene underwent a radical trans-
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formation. What were the factors responsible for the change?

The suffrage under the Government of India Act of 1935, while

still being very limited, was wider than what it was earlier and

enfranchised 14 per cent of the population as against 3 per cent. The

Congress had emerged from the elections in 1937 as the largest party

in seven provinces out of eleven, with a clear majority in five—Mad-

ras, the United Provinces, the Central Provinces, Bihar and Orissa.

In Bombay, it was able to form a Mintstry, being short of an

absolute majority by a very small number; and also in the North

West Frontier Province where it was the largest single party. In

the United Provinces the unexpected success of the Congress

party at the polls was due, in large measure, to the solid support of

the peasantry. The forecast of the officials had given the Congress

a maximum of 70 seats out of a total of 228, while Congress

leaders were hoping to win 100. Actually the Congress secured

135 seats and formed a single party Ministry. Socialists and Com-

munists, taking advantage of a Congress Ministry in office, com-

paigned in the rural areas, preaching radical doctrines, secure in

the belief that no punitive action would be taken against them.

The performance of the Muslim Leaguc in the general elections

was, by contrast with that of the Congress, modest: of 429

Muslim seats in all the Provincial Legislatures, only 109 were cap-

tured by the League’s candidates. In the Punjab, many Muslim

candidates preferred the platform of the Unionist party, and in

Bengal the Praja Party’s programme proved more attractive. In

the United Provinces a number of Muslim landlords declined the

offer of the Muslim League to contest the elections on behalf of

the League: and the League was able to win only 26 seats out of

the 64 reserved for Muslims.

The Muslims formed only 14 per cent of the population in the

United Provinces but had played an important part in the political

development of the region. Until the general elections in 1937,

the relations between the Congress and some of the prominent

Muslim leaders were cordial and even friendly. The Congress

party, though confident of ‘weakening the landlords’ position and
influence in the Provincial Government and in the Legislature,

was not hopeful of securing a definite majority at the general

elections.
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Before the elections, the Congress party, working on the as-

sumption that a decisive majority in the Legislature was beyond

its reach, had a tacit electoral understanding with the Muslim

League. But after its unexpected success in the elections, with

135 seats in a House of 228, it decided to form a purely Congress

Ministry. It preferred to exercise the right of forming a single-

party Ministry, because that was held to be the verdict of the

electorate. A coalition, it was argued by Jawaharlal Nehru and his.

associates, could not ‘wreck the Constitution from within’—the

avowed object of a section of the Congress.

A further complicating factor was Nehru’s programme to win

over the Muslim masses to the Congress creed. Nehru declared

immediately after the elections: “We have too long thought in

terms of pacts and compromises between communal leaders and

neglected the people behind them....It is for us now to go

ahead and welcome the Muslim masses and intelligentsia in our

great organization and rid this country of communalism in every

shape.’”

In pursuance of this policy the Congress initiated a ‘mass con-

tact? programme with the object of bringing the Muslim voters

and the Muslim masses within the Congress fold. This programme

did not, however, have appreciable success.

On the other hand, Muslim leaders in the United Provinces

regarded the post-election policy of the Congress and its refusal to

form a coalition with the Muslim League as a breach of faith-

Many Muslims even outside the United Provinces felt that the

League’s existence was being threatened; and in reply to the

Congress ‘mass contact’ programme, the League launched a

vigorous counter campaign. The cry of ‘Islam in danger’ was

raised. The Muslim League further strengthened its propaganda

by spreading baseless stories about the atrocities committed by the

Congress Government against the Muslim community. So effective

did the propaganda prove that in by-elections in Muslim consti-

tuencies the Congress candidates were defeated. These defeats

had a definite psychological effect and the stock of the Muslim

League among the Muslim masses rose all over India.

Other parties, which had been defeated in the elections, saw

in the Muslim League a rallying point for effective opposition to
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the Congress. Landlords in particular, Hindu and Muslim alike,

with misgivings about the Congress agrarian programme, turned

to the League for indirect assistance and in return gave it support.

The deterioration in Hindu-Muslim relations in the United Pro-

vinces attracted attention from outside. The strength of the

Congress, it was felt, could be challenged with prospects of

ultimate success on the communal question.

The Muslim League was not the only major factor to be consi-

dered at this stage of India’s political development. Princes, even

Hindu and Sikh Princes, resentful of the demand for popular re-

forms and the introduction of the elective principles in the States

and the agitation stirred up among their people, became markedly

sympathetic to the Muslim League. On one occasion the Ma-

haraja of Nawanagar (at that time the Chancellor of the Chamber

of Princes) in discussing the possible alliance between the Muslim

League and the Chamber for the federal elections, remarked :

“Why should I not support the League? Mr. Jinnah is willing

to tolerate our existence, but Mr. Nehru wants our extinction.”

The thirties were tragic years for India, marking a major setback

for those who hoped for a smooth transition to freedom. The

country had been so near achievement of her freedom, but dis-

unity between the two major political parties and the precipitate

tesignation of the Congress Ministries on the outbreak of the Se-

cond World War drove it back into agitation, large-scale deten-

tions and the inevitable sequel of nation-wide bitterness and dis-

illusionment. Sir Stafford Cripps came out to India on a mission

towards the end of 1939 to see if there was a way out of the dead-

loch. Could India produce a Constitution framed by a_ repre-

sentative body, he asked me at a private gathering in New Delhi.

It did not appear to me a serious question, especially from: one who

was politically an orphan in the House of Commons. In any case,

Cripps’ sudden assignment carly in 1940 as British Ambassador

to Moscow temporarily froze the British initiative for a couple of

years. In the early stages of the war, between 1940 and 1942, a series

of attempts were made by Sir Sikandar Hyat Khan to bring about

a war-time scttlement between Congress leaders of the type of Mr.

Rajagopalachari, Pandit Pant and Maulana Azad on the one side

and that section of the Muslim League which was not happy to be

17
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committed to the concept of a separate Pakistan advocaged by Mr.

Jinnah. Had these efforts succeeded, there would have been a

transitional war-time National Government which could have

been expanded into a full-fledged Federal Government covering

the whole of India without the division of the country into

India and Pakistan. Inthe early spring of 1942, with the War

in a critical stage, it was announced that Cripps was coming out

again to India, but on this occasion as a member of the Coalition

Cabinet under Churchill’s leadership, with an offer of a solution.

It was to be transitional for the duration of the War in the first

stage, followed by the establishment of a constitution-making body.

Cripps in private was apologetic about the British offer at our

first meeting in New Delhi in his new role, ‘“This ts as far as we

could get Churchill to go,’’ he told me (referring to the reservation

on defence in the transitional stage). He was probably not sufh-

ciently tactful in deciding to interview Indian leaders without

Linlithgow, who was then the Viceroy, being present. The Vice-

roy, a sensitive man on matters touching personal dignity, resen-

ted a message which I sent at the end of the unsuccessful Cripps

Mission to the Manchester Guardian in which I had been critical of

his aloofness.

Whatever might have been the underlying causes, the Cripps

Misston cnded in failure. The British—including Cripps—dis-

iked open American intervention in the Indian problem through

IColonel Louis Johnson. It must go on record that President

Roosevelt and his advisers struggled hard and long- -but in vain

—to persuade Churchill to do the right thing by India. So

did Chiang Kat-shek and his wife with remarkable persistence.

Never was Rajaji’s wisdom and constructive statesmanship

in greater evidence than at this stage of the freedom struggle.

Misunderstood by many of his countrymen and even by several

of his colleagues in the Congress Working Committee, Rajaji strove

with all his resourcefulness to salvage the Cripps offer. When,

finally, he saw in the summer of 1942 that failure was inevitable,

he came to far-reaching decisions. With the Japanese fleet in

control of the Bay of Bengal, he had good reasons to fear a

Japanese attack on India’s cast coast. He was convinced that the

British would not resist the Japanese and the people had not the
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means for effective resistance. Only a National Government, he

argued, could possibly save the country; but the British were not

willing to part with power. Therefore, power had to be wrested

from them. How could it be done? Only, it seemed to him,

by coming to terms with Jinnah and the Muslim League. Their

demand for Pakistan after the war struck him as the lesser of the

two evils, since refusal might have encouraged the invasion of

India by the Japanese.

After the arrests of Gandhiji and the Congress leaders in August

1942, as a sequel to the Quit India resolution, the initiative was

taken by a group with Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru as the leader in an-

other effort to resolve the deadlock.

In December 1942, Sapru invited a number of prominent per-

sons in public life to a special meeting at Allahabad. After two

days of discussion he referred toa widespread anxiety apparent in

the country to reach a solution of the political deadlock. He told

the Conference that Gandhiji was most anxious shortly before his

arrest to be co-opted in the deliberations of such a conference.

Jinnah too had repeatedly declared his willingness to discuss with

leaders of other parties the details of a possible solution. In

order, however, to ensure the success of the Conference, Sapru and

those associated with him considered it cssential that the British

Government should announce forthwith :

(1) the formation of a provisional Government of

India endowed with full powers and authority over the ad-

ministration, subject only to the position of the Commander-

in-Chief being duly safeguarded in order to promote the

efficient prosecution of the war; and in its relations with Britain

and the Allies, enjoying the status of a Dominion and entitled

to all the rights and privileges associated with such status; and

(2) the release of Gandhiji and all Congressmen to enable

the representatives of the Congress to participate in the all

Partiés’ Conference.

But no progress was possible in the absence of a positive res-

ponse from the British side. Some months later, a fresh move

was made to reach a _ settlement with Jinnah and the Muslim Lea-
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gue, this time on Rajaji’s initiative. In 1943, he drew, up a for-

mula to form the basis for a settlement between the Congress and

the Muslim League. He consulted Gandhiji during the latter’s

incarceration and communicated it to Jinnah in April 1944.

Gandhiji himself was released from prison in April 1944,

because the doctors took a serious view of his health and thought

that he might die in goal. He did not seem optimistic about a

settlement with Jinnah. In his mind the acceptance of the principle

of self-determination for the Muslim areas was vitally linked up

with the formation of a National Government for the interim

period. Gandhii wanted Jinnah to associate himself with the

demand for (a) the immediate declaration of independence to be-

come opcrative upon the termination of the war; (b) the formation

of a real National Government except for reservation in regard

to Defence; (c) the release of Congress leaders. He was not in

favour of the two separate sovereign and independent States of

Jinnah’s conception. Nevertheless, in Julv 1944 he agreed to

discuss the formula with Jinnah. In agreeing to the Rajaji formula

he relied on the hope contained in the clause that “mutual agree-

ment shall be entered into for safeguarding defence, and commerce

and communications, and for other essential purposes.”

Gandhiji contemplated, in fact, a treaty of separation which

would provide for a common administration for these matters

during the period of transition. He did not seem at all inclined

to commit himself to far-reaching assurances in regard to the func-

tions and authority of the interim National Government without

securing from Jinnah a definite promise of support for complete

independence after the war.

The Gandhi-Jinnah talks broke down after cighteen days of

discussion. Jinnah did not want a plebiscite for the reason that,

the Muslim League having claimed Pakistan on the basis of Mus-

lims being a separate nation, such a reference was unnecessary.

Moreover, according to him, there was to be no treaty of sepa-

ration between India and Pakistan on the lines contemplated by

Gandhiji; such matters as foreign affairs, defence, communications,

customs, commerce and the like were, Jinnah maintained, the

life-blood of any State and could not be delegated to any central

authority or Government.
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Jinnah was however prepared to make a gesture, even if he

could not accept an agreement. He is known to have stated at

a newspaper interview in Oetober 1944 that Pakistan would not

only have neighbourly relations with Hindustan, but also dis-

courage any outside design or aggression on this sub-continent.

Sit Tej Bahadur Sapru and some of his friends representing

the Non-Party Conference explored afresh the possibilities of a

settlement of the minorities issue. After Gandhiji’s release, he

had a mecting with him in August 1944. The Sapru Committee

rejected the Pakistan idea on the ground that ‘“‘the partition of

India would be an outrage, justified neither by history nor by

political expediency”. Its recommendations were directed towards

the formulation of an acceptable arrangement for the freedom of

India and the eventual formation of a Constituent Assembly to

frame her Constitution. The immediate formation of a National

Government at the Centre was also recommended, cither by al-

tering the Constitution through a provision for the functioning

of the Governor-General-in-Council as a body consisting of Indian

members commanding the confidence of the Central Legislature

(except for the Commander-in-Chief who would continue to be

ex-oficio a member of the Council in charge of war operations)

ort by bringing the federal portion of the Government of India

Act of 1935 into immediate operation without the condition of

the entry of Indian States and the setting up of a Federal Legisl-

ature and Federal executive in accordance with the provisions of

that Act.

However, India so far as the British Government was con-

cerned, had receded far into the background for the rest of the

war. Wavell made aneffort, after the German surrender in 1945,

to bring the leaders together in the Simla Conference and for this

purpose he released Maulana Azad and other members of the

Congress Working Committee in June, 1945. But nothing came

of it because Wavell gave in with surprising readiness to Jinnah’s

intransigence which wrecked that looked like a promising move.

Churchill was adamant on not resuming negotiations and the United

States reconciled itself uncasily to this unsatisfactory position.

The Labour members of the British Cabinet-- Attlee, Cripps and

Bevin—probably adopted the same attitude. In the spring of



India’s Freedom Movement

1945 at San Francisco I could get no indication from Attlee, then

the deputy leader of the British delegation to the U. N. Conference,

about Britain’s post-war intentions in regard to India. °

The general elections in Britain in 1945 resulted in a Labour

Government being installed in office with a definite majority in the

House of Commons for the first time in the history of the party.

I met Attlee again in London early in September, a few days after

he had become Prime Minister. He continued to be non-com-

mittal on his Government’s India policy, except for affirming in

general terms the promise, implicit in the Cripps offer of a Consti-

tuent Assembly for India. It was, however, a hopeful sign that

Pethick-Lawrence was given the India Office. It was an admirable

choice : of all India’s friends in the Labour Party, no one had a

better record for first-rate ability combined with the highest integrity.

Attlee, it then became evident, was anxious to solve the Indian

problem, now that he had the advantage, earlier denied to Mac-

Donald, of a majority in the House of Commons. Cripps was a

tried and experienced friend of India with intimate personal con-

tacts; and Pethick-Lawrence with his sound judgment, his spirit of

scrupulous fairness and a determination to overcome obstacles,

proved a tower of strength to Attlee. It was appropriate that the

final transfer of power should have been completed with such a man

at the India Office.

Attlee, as the new Prime Minister, took prompt steps to make

preliminary soundings regarding the resumption of negotiations

with India’s Icaders. He had the advantage of having Nehru’s

views on some vital matters conveyed to him in a personal discus-

sion with B. N. Rau.

A definite step towards the formulation of an India policy was

taken by the Labour Government through a statement made in

Parliament in February 1946, with the approval of the Opposition.

It was announced that a special mission of Cabinet Ministers would

visit India (consisting of Lord Pethick-Lawerence, Secretary of

State for India, Sir Stafford Cripps, President of the Board of Trade,

and Lord Alexander, First Lord of the Admiralty).

Attlee made it clear that it would be for India alone to decide

for herself whether to remain in the Commonwealth or not. He

added :
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I hope that the Indian people may elect to remain within the

British Commonwealth... The British Commonwealth and

Empire are not bound together by chains of external compul-

sion. It is a tree association of free peoples. If, on the other

hand, she elects for independence, in our view she has a right

to do so, It will be for us to help to make the transition as

smooth and easy as possible.

This declaration was warmly welcomed in India. But the

Congress was totally opposed to the division of the country. It

was prepared to concede the maximum amount of local autonomy

consistent with the maintenance of the unity of the country.

The future framework of the country’s Constitution, it suggested,

should be based on a federal structure with a limited number of

compulsoty Central subjects, such as,defence, comunications and

foreign affairs; and the federation would consist of autonomous

Provinces in which would vest al] the residuary powers.

It is instructive to note the various phases through which,

starting from the Cabinet Mission’s proposals, the decision to parti-

tion India was reached, all in the course of a single year. In its

statement of May 16, 1946, the Cabinet Mission was “convinced

that there was in India an almost universal desire outside the sup-

porters of the Muslim League for its unity”. Nevertheless, the

proposal ot the Muslim League for partition was examined by the

Mission with great care, since it was impressed by the “very gen-

uine and acute anxiety of the Muslims lest they should find them-

selves subjected to a perpetual Hindu majority rule”. It rejected

the claim for a separate and fully independent sovereign State of

Pakistan consisting of the two areas claimed by the League,

namely, the Punjab, the North-West Frontier Province, Sind and

Baluchistan in the north-west and Bengal and Assam in the north-

east. The Cabinet Mission said: “We have been forced to the

conclusion that neither a larger nor a smaller sovereign State of

Pakistan would provide an acceptable solution for the communal

problem”.

In addition to serious practical difficulties, the Cabinct Mission

found “weighty administrative, economic and military considera-

tions against any such proposal’.
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In a statement issued by the British Prime Minister on February

20, 1947, a definite date was set by which British power would

terminate in India. The British Government expressed its desire
to hand over the responsibility to authorities established by a

Constitution approved by all parties in India; but in view of the

Constituent Assembly’s inability to function as_ originally inten-

ded on account of boycott by the Muslim League, and with no

clear prospect of a Constitution emerging, and in view of the danger

of a state of uncertainty continuing indefinitely, necessary steps

would be taken to effect the transfer of power to responsible In-

dian hands by a date not later than June 1948. They offered to

recommend to the British Parliament a Constitution worked out in

accordance with the proposals of May 16, 1946, made by a fully

representative Constituent Assembly. But, in the absence of such

a Constitution, the British Government felt free to consider

to whom the powers of the Central Government in British India

should be handed over on the due date—whether as a whole to

some form of Central Government for British India, or in some

areas to the existing Provincial Governments, or in such other way

as might seem most reasonable and in the best interests of the

Indian people.

Nehru welcomed this declaration as “a wise and courageous

decision, bringing reality and a certain dynamic quality to the

Indian situation”. He urged the Constituent Assembly to work

with greater speed, so that a new and independent India might take

shape and be endowed with a Constitution worthy of her. The

appeal was renewed to those who had kept aloof to be partners

in this joint and historic undertaking, casting aside fear and sus-

picion, coupled with the assurance that the Constitucnt Assembly,

however constituted, could only proceed with its work on a volun-

tary basis. There could be no compulsion, he added, except the

compulsion of events.

Lord Mountbatten as the new Viceroy came to the conclusion

in the spring of 1947 that it would not be possible to get the

Congress and the Muslim League to work together in the Consti-

tuent Assembly and hammer out a Constitution which would have

the general support of both. Alternatives had therefore to be

devised. After consultations with the leaders of the Opposition
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in Britain and the leaders of political parties in India, a fresh

statement of policy was made by the British Government on June

3, 1947, reviewing the situation.

The British Government was willing to anticipate a date

earlier than June 1948 for the handing over of power by the

setting up of an independent Indian government or governments.

Legislation was proposed to be introduced in the British Parlia-

ment for the transfer of power ona Dominion status basis to one

or two successor authorities, according to the decision to be

taken as a result of this announcement. This was without pre-

judice to the right of the Constituent Assembly to decide whether

India would remain within the British Commonwealth or go out.

Nehru accepted the Mountbatten plan, describing it as “another

historic occasion when a vital change affecting the future of India

was being proposed”. The partition of India into two States

having become inevitable, Nehru concluded a broadcast on a note

of sadness; he had no doubt in his mind that the course adopted

was the right one. But he added :

For generations we have dreamt and struggled for a free and

independent united India. The proposal to allow certain

parts to secede, if they so will, is painful for any of us to con-

template. Nevertheless, [am convinced that our present deci-

sion is the right one even from the larger viewpoint. The

united India that we have laboured for was not one of com-

pulsion and coercion but a free and willing association of a

free people. It may be that in this way we shall reach that

united India sooner than otherwise and that she will have a

stronger and more secure foundation.

With the announcement of independence, all the restrictions

implicit in the Cabinet Mission’s plan of May 16, 1946, ceased to

operate. The Constituent Assembly became a truly sovereign

body, free from all external control. At Jast, on November 26,

1949, after twenty-eight months of sustained labour, uninterrupted

by the holocaust of communal rioting which accompanied the

partition of the continent, cr even the great tragedy of Gandhiji’s

assassination, the final session of the Constituent Assembly was

“25



India’s Freedom Movement

able to declare on behalf of the people of India that ‘we do here-

by adopt, enact and give to ourselves this Constitution”.

It was the achievement of an aspiration which had gr6wn in

dimension and content in the interval between the two wars.

During the decade following the end of the First World War,

India’s leaders claimed no more than the right to frame a Consti-

tution, subject to its ultimate ratification by the British Parliament.

The demand was stepped up in the next decade to the setting up

of a sovereign Constituent Assembly endowed with the exclusive

responsibility of framing a Constitution for an Independent India.

The forces released by the Second World War compelled the

British Government to move steadily in the direction of granting

the substance of the claim. But not until June 1947 was it con-

ceded in full, resulting in the British decision to withdraw its au-

thority over India on August 15, 1947, well before the completion

of the task of the Constituent Assembly. No outside authority,

after that date, could sit in judgment over the draft of a Consti-

tution framed by the sovereign body.

Mistakes were undoubtedly made on both sides, Indian as well

as British, which prevented an carlicr settlement ot the Indian

problem on a satisfactory and enduring basis. The avoidance

of these mistakes would have shortened the freedom struggle by

a decade or two and spared India the agony of partition. For

instance, in 1921, had Gandhiji grasped the opportunity created

for him by Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru’s initiative, he could have come

to terms with Lord Reading, the new Viceroy, on the basis of al-

most complete provincial autonomy and the immediate introduc-

tion of the principle of responsibility at the Centre. The rejec-

tion of the compromise was later characterised by C. R. Das in

a public statement as a ‘Himalayan blunder’. ‘Ten years later, if

Churchill had not sabotaged Ramsay MacDonald’s scheme for

a Federal all-India Government, the plea made by Gandhiji in one

of his interventions at the Round Table Conference for India and

Britain forming ‘the nucleus of a real League of Nations’ might

have materiajised in the thirties when there was no suggestion

of India’s partition.

Again, at the commencement of the Second World War in 1939,

if the Congress Ministrics in sevén provinces had continued to
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remain in office and negotiated with the Viceroy for a war-time

Federal Government, converting the Executive Council into a

de facto National Government responsive, if not responsible, to

the Central Legislature, a settlement might have swung into sight

as the next step even during the war or, at any rate, at the end of it.

These mistakes, in judgment as well as in tactics, need not de-

tract from the remarkable nature of the ultimate achievement of

freedom in 1947, though it came about in abnormal circumstances.

At no time, from the commencement of the Congress in 1885,

was it ever an exclusively national struggle; at different stages and

in different ways, liberal-minded friends in Britain, China and the

U.S.A. gave us valuable support. Within India, while the Congress

led the movement for freedom, periodically challenging British

might through mass civil disobedience under Gandhiji’s leader-

ship, much of the hard work and constructive thinking stands to

the credit of eminent persons outside its ranks. In the late twen-

ties the All-Parties’ Committee which produced the Nehru report

had a majority of non-Congressmen working under Pandit Moti-

lal Nehru’s skilful leadership. Again, in the establishment of the

Constituent Assembly after the Second World War, Gandhyjji’s

recommendation to the Congress Working Committee, that a

number of eminent public men outside the ranks of the Congress

should be elected by the various provincial legislatures, to the

Assembly, was prompted by a conviction that only the best

brains, regardless of party labels, were good enough to draft

the Constitution. Five of the seven members of the Drafting

Committee were from outside the Congress; and its Chairman,

Dr. B. R. Ambedkar, was a vigorous critic of the organization

all his life.

The full significance of India’s attatnment of freedom was re-

vealed by Jawaharlal Nehru in superb language in his memor-

able address to the Asian Relations Conference in New Delhi in

April 1947. He told the delegates assembled from twenty-eight

countries of Asia, a few months before India became indepen-

dent :

We seek no narrow nationalism. Nationalism has a place in

each country and should be fostered, but it must not be allowed
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to become aggressive and come in the way of international

development. Asia stretches her hand out in friendship to

Europe and America as well as to our suffering brethren in

Africa.

That was admirable guidance to give just when a weary world,

waking from the nightmare of the Second World War, was groping

its way out of the centuries-old era of colonialism.

of

He went on in the same expansive mood to reflect the spirit

resurgent Asia:

The freedom that we envisage is not to be confined to this

section or that, or to a particular people, but must spread out

to the whole human race... There is a new vitality and

powerful creative impulse in all the peoples of Asia. The mas-

ses are awake and demand their heritage... Let us have

faith in these great new forces and the things that are taking

shape. Above all, let us have faith in the human spirit which

Asia has symbolised for these long ages past.

It is in the spirit of these admirably phrased sentiments that

the mightiest Empire in the world outlined the procedure for the

complete withdrawal of its authority over its biggest depen-

dency. The success of that procedure encouraged other Imperial

Powers to adopt in subsequent years a similar policy of renuncta-

tion of power over their respective colonial areas scattered through-

out the globe.

India’s freedom in 1947 thus marked the beginning of the end

of the colonial system in the world.
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Gokhale and the Liberals

liinstein was asked in the closing nitonths of his life if his philo-.

sophy of life included belief in God. “Call it God, Providence

or Nature,” he mused in reply, “I have a faith within me, which is

deeper than reason, in the Law of Rightcousness that governs

this universe.”

It may be said of Gopal Krishna Gokhale that a similar faith

sustained him throughout life. He was among the carly stalwarts.

of the Congress which, for a decade and more after its birth, was

content to ask for modest reforms in the system of administration.

He owed his training and inspiration for political work to Ranade

whose ‘marvellous personality and profound patriotism’ made a
lasting impression on him. Only two men in India, in his judg-

ment, “were utterly absorbed day and night in thoughts of their

country and her welfare—Ranade and Dadabhai Naoroji’”. About

the former, with whom his association was more intimate, he

declared :

His one aspiration through life was that India should be roused

from the lethargy of centuries, so that she might become a

great and living nation, responsive to truth and justice and

self-respect, responsive to all the claims of our higher nature,

animated by lofty ideals, and undertaking great national tasks.

In 1901 Ranade’s death, as he confessed in a letter to a friend,

came to him as though a sudden darkness had fallen upon his
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life. He recognised that it was his duty to struggle on “‘chgrish-

ing with love and reverence the ideals to which Ranade had given

his matchless life’’.

After eighteen years of devoted service to the cause of education,

rendered on a pittance, first asa teacher and later as the Principal

of Fergusson College in Poona, Gokhale decided that the time

was ripe for entering active politics in a big way in 1902. For two

years, cven before finally giving up his educational work in

Poona, Gokhale had distinguished himself as an elected member

of the Bombay Legislative Council. From 1902, when he en-

tered all-India politics as a member of the Imperial Levislative

Council in succession to another great Liberal, Sir Pherozeshah

Mehta, until 1915, when he died at the early age of 49, it was a

record of unceasing activity. <

Education at all levels, from the primary stage to the univer-

sity, was one of Gokhale’s passionate interests. At no time did he

concern himself exclusively with political problems: for ins-

tance, in one of his carliest speeches after entering public life, he

made a moving plea at a social conference for the uplift of the

“present degraded conditions of the low castes”, drawing a parallel

between the problems of the Depressed Classes and the racial seg-

regation measures against Indian settlers in South Africa which

Gandhiji had vividly brought to the notice of the Indian public.

Almost at the threshold of his career, when he was making a

mark in the Congress as one of the most promising of the coming

men, came a traumatic experience in 1896 which nearly blasted his

future prospects. Moved by harrowing reports he had received in

private letters of the harshness of the measures adopted by some

British officials in stamping out plague in Poona, Gokhale, who

was then on a political mission in England, made a bitter attack on

the officials responsible for such a policy in a letter to the Man-

chester Guardian. \t created a sensation in India and Gokhale was

challenged, on his return, to substantiate his accusations. Un-

able to find corroborating evidence, he tendered an unqualified

apology to the Governor, to the members of the Plague Com-

mittee and to the soldiers engaged in relief operations. The apo-

logy cost him a great deal, and for some years thereafter he could

not even speak from the platform of the Congress.

30



Gokhale and the Liberals

The years that Gokhale thus spent in the political wilderness

were utilised for a study in depth of current problems. He gave

evidence before a Royal Commission on Indian expenditure, in

London, commonly known as the Welby Commission. The warm

encomiums he received on his evidence were a source of much

encouragement; Sir William Wedderburn’s remark, “your evidence

will be much the best on our side’, greatly revived his spirits.

Gokhale ventured on the formation of the Servants of India

Society in 1905 to attract young men who could dedicate their lives

to the country’s service in a missionary spirit. This project had

‘been in his mind for some years. He outlined the objects of the

Society in a statement :

Its members frankly accept the British connection, as ordained,

in the inscrutable dispensation of Providence, for India’s

good. Sclf-government on the lines of English colonies 1s

their goal. Their goal, they recognise, cannot be attained with-

out years of carnest and patient work and sacrifices worthy of

the cause.

It is well to remember, in assessing the value of Gokhale’s

contribution to the freedom movement, that he bclonged to a

generation which laboured hard, often in vain, and had to be con-

tent at the best of times with results which may seem to us today

to be petty. Relevant too is it to capture something of the at-

mosphere of those early years as India was working up to the

potentialities of her destiny. It was after prolonged parleys in

the India Office in the early years of this century that Gokhale

succeeded in getting Lord Morley, the Secretary of State, to consider

with sympathy the appointment of Indians to the Viceroy’s Exe-

cutive Council though the original proposal of two members got

reduced to one.

Defcat and disappointment did not deter Gokhale from the path

he had set for himself. Almost at the end of his career, in his

speech in the Imperial Legislative Council on the Elementary Edu-

cation Bill, Gokhale remarked before the final vote:

I know that my Bill will be thrown out before the day closes.
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I make no complaint. I shall not even feel depresged... F

have always felt and have often said that we of the present

generation in India can only hope to serve our country by

our failures. The men and women who will be privileged

to serve her by their successes will come later. We must be

content to accept cheerfully the place that has been allotted to

us in our onward march... Whatever fate awaits our labours,

one thing is clear. We shall be entitled to feel that we have

done our duty, and where the call of duty is clear, it is better

even to labour and fail than not to labour at all.

Gokhale and many of his contemporaries were realists, sus-

tained by a firm faith in the justice of their cause and the high

destiny that would one day be India’s after the achievement of

freedom. Their generation did not have to wait long for the

release of the forces that bore India along the course of a progres-

sive movement. In 1910 India had been considered fit, as a mea-

sure of gracious patronage, for a single seat in the Viceroy’s Exe-

cutive Council. In 1921 the number was increased to three, and

the Royal proclamation conceded that the Morley scheme was

“the beginning of Swaraj within my Empire’. At the end of

the First World War India was made a member of the League of

Nations, thus in external status becoming an equal to the self-

governing Dominions.

Pandit Motilal Nehru and C. R. Das were influenced in the for-

mation and tactics of the Swaraj party in 1924 by the creditable

performances of the Liberal Ministries in the provinces and the

record of the first Central Legislative Assembly. They agreed

with Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru who first sounded the warning in

the early twenties that even full provincial autonomy without an

element of responsibility at the Centre, would prove illusory.

The appointment of the Muddiman Reforms Committee in 1924

was hastened by the evidence of the abundant constructive talent

in the ranks of the Liberals. In the previous year the Central

Legislative Assembly unanimously adopted a resolution with the

acquiescence of the Government of India commending the cons-

tructive work of the Ministries in the various provinces under the

Montagu scheme and supporting the plea for hastening the pace of
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reforms both in the provinces and in the Centre. The minority report

of the Muddiman Committee was the handiwork of the Liberals,

Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru, Sir Sivaswamy Atyar, Mr. Jinnah and Dr.

Paranjpye (Mr. Jinnah was really a Liberal in his outlook, though

technically not a member of the party). It was a radical document

produced by men who had worked on the Montagu Scheme of Re-

forms and believed in constitutional methods in all circumstances.

In fact, Pandit Motilal would have been a member of the Mud-

diman Committee (and for a brief period a little later was actually

a member of the Army Indianisation Committee) but for the

pressure of his son Jawaharlal to which he yielded against his

bettcr yudgment. All through the twenties, his policy was mould-

ed and directed by the principles of the Liberals. ‘““Non-co-opera-

tors as we are’, he told the British Government in the Legislative

Assembly on a famous occasion in 1926, “we offer you our full

co-operation’, on the condition that they “convened a Round Table

Conference of representative Indians to evolve a Constitution for

India”, citing the precedent of Australia. He quoted with ap-

proval Joseph Chamberlain’s remark in the House of Commons in

introducing the Commonwealth of Australia Bill in 1900 that

there should be no alteration, not even of a word or a comma, in

a measure carefully drafted by the Ieading Australian statesmen

of the period.

The Nehru (all-Parties) Report claimed full Dominion Status for

India as embodying the greatest possible measure of agreement

among the various political parties. ‘Yo some extent, Pandit Motilal

Nehru was influenced (as was C. R. Das in his famous Faridpur

speech in 1926 giving Dominion Status greater signiticance than

complete independence) by the new concept of autonomous na-

tions in the Commonwealth which was outlined in the resolutions

of the Imperial Conference held in the same year. In evolving the

basic principles of the Nehru Report, there was valuable guidance

in the Commonwealth of India Bill prepared under the sponsor-

ship of Mrs. Besant and Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru. After the com-

pletion of the Report, Pandit Motilal Nehru sought her advice on

securing competent legal draftsmen in London to give the scheme

a shape that would be in accord with the procedural formalities

of the House of Commons.
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Pandit Motilal Nehru died at a moment which was critical for

India’s destiny. Having met him at Allahabad on the eve of the first

Round Table Conference, I have no doubt that Ramsay MacDo-

nald’s far-reaching statement at the end of the Conference would

have brought him into the later sessions, and there might have

been a final settlement of the Indian problem by mutual consent in

the early thirties. Death denied India the services of a great states-

man when she needed them most. All through his life, and even

after becoming the leader of the Swaraj Party, Pandit Motilal Nehru

was a Liberal in Congress garb.

The States People’s Conference under the leadership of Jawa-

harlal Nehru, Balwant Rai Mehta, Sheikh Abdullah and others

did much, in the formative stages of the Round Table Conferences,

to underline the importance of the elective principle in the re-

presentation of the princely States at the Federal Centre. But the

pioneer in this field was Sir Sivaswamy Aiyar. In a series of lec-

tures at the Madras University in 1928, he referred in a masterly

sutvey to the establishment of proper relations between Indian

provinces and the princely States as an essential preliminary to

the creation of an all-India federation. Included in the list of

conditions to be fulfilled by the princely States to qualify them-

selves for acccssion was the observance of the elective principle.

In many respects Sir Sivaswamy Aiyar was a radical in his thinking

and outlook.

Another figure who deserves greater recognition for his work

in the twenties than he has received is V. S. Srinivasa Sastri. In

his own sphere—the exposition of India’s claim to equality of sta-

tus with the Dominions of the Commonwealth—he was unrivalled.

Through his superb utterances in all the Dominions and at the

sessions of the Imperial Conference and of the League of Nations,

he established beyond challenge in a subtle but definite manner

India’s right to equality with the free nations of the world. IIl-

health crippled his activities after the Round Table Conferences;
though he influenced the course of events in the background for at

least a decade thereafter, and was for Gandhiji a voice to be listened

to with respect even if it did not often compel acquiescence.

In fact, all through Gandhiji’s career, the two men who, in

his view, could give him disinterested and independent advice in
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complex situations were Sapru and Sastri. The popular belief

that Gandhiji was a revolutionary whose aims were concealed in a

creed of non-violence is a one-sided interpretation that ignores the

fact that, after the first non-co-operation movement and its setback

at Chauri Chaura, he was in his own way greatly influenced by the

Gokhale tradition, At the second Round Table Conference his

passionate plea for a partnership between Britain and India on

a basis of equality might have opened the door to immediate free-

dom but for Churchill’s unwise and blind opposition. Even after

the inauguration of the 1935 Constitution, Gandhiji did not en-

dorse the ‘wrecking the Constitution from within’ slogan evolved

by Jawaharlal Nehru and the Socialists. He preferred the policy

of working the Constitution, with all its limitations, to imple-

ment more effectively the constructive programme of the Congress.

Between Gokhale and Gandhiji there was a bond of mutual
affection and deep respect which endured to the end of their lives.

I recall an incident in Bhangi colony in New Delhi in 1946 where

Gandhiji was residing at the time of the British Cabinet Mission’s

visit. On the eve of the elections of members of the Constituent

Assembly, I asked for an interview with the Mahatma which he

granted late that evening. I told him I was approaching him with

a strange request : he had taught Congressmen to break laws and

go to prison, but did they not need the help of othcrs to frame a

Constitution ? This somewhat irreverent remark evoked a ready

response from him: “Yes, I have not succeeded in persuading

Congressmen to follow Gokhale’s example of making a deep study

of public problems before speaking on them.” This brief con-

versation led to his blessing a list of 16 eminent non-Congress

leaders (most of them Liberals like Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru) for

election to the Constituent Assembly.

A re-evaluation of the forces that resulted in India’s freedom is

necessary today because our public life after Independence is the

poorer for the disappearance of the Liberal creed and all it stood

for. Respect for constitutional methods of agitation, which

Gandhiji sometimes rejected in favour of civil disobedience of

the authority of an alien ruler, deserves today not only the highest

priority but an unreserved loyalty. Many current forms of agi-

tation—gheraos, mass demonstrations, hunger-strikes, etc.—
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are seriously undcrmining the foundations of the~ Constitution

which are secure only in a wide-spread respect for the rule of law.

Of equal importance in a democracy based on adult suffrage are

the high standards of personal integrity set by Liberal leaders.

Sapru, Sivaswamy Aiyar, Sastri and a number of other Liberal

statesmen earned credit for themselves and gave a_ healthy tone

to our public life through records of personal purity and uncom-

promising adherence to convictions which have become all too

tare in the years of our independence.
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Mrs. Annie Besant

Independent India has hardly any congeption of the magnitude or

the significance of Mrs. Annie Besant’s contribution to the coun-

try’s all-round progress during her forty years of unceasing acti-

vity in almost every sphere of life. She wrote her autobiography

before her first arrival in India in 1893, It is an exquisite piece of

writing, dealing with her many experiences in the early phases

of her life: Christianity, Atheism, Fabian Socialism and, finally

Theosophy. Through every one of these phases she fought un-

compromisingly for the great causes that inspired her through

each phase and for the vindication of the principles she considered

vital. It meant, as she wrote on one occasion:

Here, as at other times in my life, I dare not purchase peace

with a lie. An imperious necessity forces me to speak the

truth as I see it, whether the speech please or displease, whe-

ther it brings praise or blame. That one loyalty to Truth I

must keep stainless, whatever friendships fail me or human

ties be broken. She may lead me to the wilderness, yet I

must follow her; she may strip me of all love, yet I must pursue

her; though she slay me, yet will I trust in her; and J ask for

no other epitaph on my tomb but

‘SHE TRIED TO FOLLOW TRUTH.’

It was in this spirit that she moved from one field of activity

37



India’s Freedom Movement

to another, experimenting with life from different points af view

but always in the spirit of ennobling adventure.

As early as 1879, long before her arrival in India and even

before the birth of the Indian National Congress, Mrs. Besant had

used her powerful pen for a condemnation of British rule in

India. In a volume entitled England, India and Afghanistan, she

wrote :

We exploited Hindustan not for her benefit, but for the benefit

of our younger sons, our restless adventurers, our quarrel-

some and ne’er-do-well surplus population. At least for the

sake of common honesty, let us drop our hypocritical mask

and acknowledge that we seized India from lust of conquest,

from greed of gain, from the lowest and paltriest of desires.

Mrs. Besant regarded the 1857 rising as “the natural nemesis

treading on the heels of the crimes of Clive, Hastings, Wellesley,

Cornwallis and Dalhousie. Few records of conquest show stains

as foul as the story of the subjugation of Hindustan by this original-

ly merchant association.” Liberty for India was Mrs. Besant’s

remedy, who clearly outlined the steps to be taken for its achieve-

ment :

We cannot now simply try to throw off our vast responsibility;

we cannot, having seized India, now fling it aside. What

is our duty to this great land and how may we best remedy

our crimes in the past? The answer comes in one word:

‘Liberty’. Train India for freedom; educate India for self-

government. Do not only proclaim that Indians shall be

eligible for the high places of the State: place them there.

This suggestion, in fact, became the programme of the freedom

campaign, as will be clear from the account given later in this

chapter.

On her arrival in India in 1893, Mrs. Besant found that there
was a gencral degradation because of the loss of faith among

Hindus in their own religion. The regeneration could only take

place, she insisted in all her utterances:
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When once more in every Indian household are heard the

teachings of the Vedas and the Upanishads; when once more

in every Indian household is understood the true meaning of

the hymns and of the worship of the Supreme—then India

will begin to wake from the sleep of centuries, and once more

hold up her head amongst the nations of the world.

India’s spiritual knowledge she considered to be of vital im-

portance to the future of the world: “If religion perish here, it

will perish everywhere; and in India’s hand 1s laid the sacred

charge of kecping alight the torch of the spirit amid the fogs and

storms of increasing materialism...India, bereft of spirituality,

will have no future, but will pass on into the darkness, as Greece

and Rome have passed.”

But never through her long career in this country did she

falter once in her faith in India as “the land whose great religion

was the origin of all religions, the mother of spirituality and the

cradle of civilisation’.

Hinduism meant more to her than any other faith: “The glory

of ancient Hinduism is its all-embracing character, its holding up

of the perfect ideal, and yet its generous inclusion of all shades of

thought. Under that wide tolerance, philosophies and religious

sects grew up and lived in amity side by side, and all phases of

thought are found represented in the different Indian schools and

numerous Indian sects. This gives to Hinduism a unique position

among the religions of the world.”

Though Mrs. Besant’s interest in India was first roused long

before her arrival in this country, she kept aloof from politics in

the ordinary sense of the term for nearly two decades. During

that period she concentrated on a revival of the Hindu faith

through the establishment of the Central Hindu College in Banaras

and the publication of a number of books to popularise the Bhaga-

vad Gita and the Upanishads.

Two years after her arrival, in 1895, she spoke in general terms

of the place of politics in the life of a nation. India had pro-

claimed through the ages the ideal of a system essentially founded

on duty; because of the changes through which she had passed,

she was a strange compound of divergent theories, of conflicting
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ideas, a strange compound of an ancient nation ruled politically

by a modern people. India’s strong bond was the old idea of

duty, while that of Britain was democracy and institutions based

on it. As one who was deeply dedicated to the ideal of ancient

India, Mrs. Besant felt that India, pushed into Western methods,

should adopt her own methods to meet the new conditions and

the new ways of thought.

From the 12th century, as she interpreted the historical process,

India had no history of her own: she was sleeping, taking on many

of the customs of her conquerors and the veneer of a Western ma-

terialistic civilisation. Her degradation came with the rejection

of the teachings of the [’edas and the Upanishads. But in the hearts

of a few amongst her people, after several centuries of slumber,

the hope of revival was at last stirring. And so, observed Mrs.

Besant in 1895:

Looking forward and hoping, we sce her awaking from the

sleep of centuries, taking up again her ancient faith, taking up

again her ancient religion, her ancient philosophy, her anctent

literature; taking up again her place as evolver of the inner

man, as teacher of the possibilities of the human soul, as leader

of the way towards union with the higher nature, and, there-

fore, towards the higher and grander race that in days to come

shall tread upon our earth....That is the mission of India to

the world, that teaching is the claim of India to the love and

to the homage of mankind.

The work before India 1s to undo the evil that has been

done, so that the nation as a whole can rise. That is_ the

work that lies before us. That is the work in which I ask

you to take me as your helper; for the life which came from

India is given back to India for service, and I sacrifice it to

the helping of our race.

The ideal for her was of an Indian nation built on the encourage-

ment of national feeling, the maintenance of the traditional dress

and ways of living, the promotion of Indian arts and manufac-

tures by giving preference to Indian products over those imported

from abroad. For twenty years, until the commencement of the
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First World War, Mrs. Besant devoted all her energies and resources

to the Central Hindu College at Banaras, which later became the

nucleus of the Banaras Hindu University. In collaboration with

a distinguished Indian philosopher, Dr. Bhagavan Das, she trans-

lated the Bhagavad Gita into English, so as to make this priceless

treasure accessible to millions in India and outside ignorant of

Sanskrit. During this part of her Indian career, she did more than

any Indian to revive respect for the ancient teachings of Hindu-

ism and the other great faiths which have their followers in this

country. Primarily for use in the Central Hindu College, she

supervised the preparation of a text-book on Hindu religion and

morals. In later years she made a similar attempt, and with equal

success, to bring together the main teachings of all the great reli-

gions of the world in a universal text-book of religion and

morals.

On the eve of the First World War she felt that the time was at

last ripe for her entry into active politics. On 11th June, 1914,

she made a vigorous plea in London on behalf of India. She

concluded a lengthy statement in the following terms:

India asks only that she shall be recognised as a nation, shall

be given self-government, and shall form an integral part of

the Empire, composed of | self-governing communitics. She

asks no more than this.

It is clear, however, that with the growth of the West the

old civilisations of the East could not have remained unmodified,

and India, like other nations, would in any case have been

obliged to pass into a new condition of things. Many of us

believe that in the wider issues the coming of British rule into

India will prove ultimately to be for the good of both nations

and of the world at large. English education forced the

ablest of the Indian people to imbibe the modern spirit, and a

new love of liberty began to stir in their hearts and inspire

their minds. They eagerly drank the milk of the new spirit

at England’s breast and there was a moment when, had

England grasped the opportunity, the gratitude of India would

have enshrined her in India’s heart.
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To build up a vigorous movement for home rule, she started

a daily paper in Madras, New India, in July 1914. I had the pri-

vilege of working on this newspaper. On 22nd May, 1916, the

acting Chief Presidency Magistrate, Madras, demanded under Sec-

tion 3 (1) of the Act 1 of 1910 the deposit of a security of

Rs. 2,000 before him within 14 days from the date of the notice. She

promptly deposited the security under protest. Subsequently, on

August 25, by an order of the Governor-in-Council, the security

was forfeited and all copies of New India were also ordered to be

forfeited to His Majesty. (This latter order, however, was not

actually carried out.)

Thereupon, Mrs. Besant filed a petition in the High Court of

Madras against the orders of the Presidency Magistrate and the

Local Government, meanwhile paying the Rs. 10,000 enhanced

security that was demanded, so as to go on with the publication

of the daily. She knew that sections of the Press Act were so

sweeping that she was bound to lose the case. All the same, her

previous experience in Britain had told her that constitutional

battles should be fought out with persistence to the end to rouse

public opinion, with a view to changing obnoxious laws which

placed restraints on the freedom of the individual or of the

press.

It was from this standpoint that Mrs. Besant preferred her

petition to the High Court. The case was heard by a special

tribunal of three judges. She conducted her own case, while the

Advocate-General (Mr. Srinivasa Iyengar) appeared on behalf of

the Government. The case concluded on October 2, lasting three

days and a half. The Advocate-General, in answer to a question

from the Bench, stated that the Government did not object to Mrs.

Besant’s advocacy of home rulc but only to the methods of her

advocacy.

The judges delivered separate but concurring judgments on

Mrs. Besant’s application, refusing redressal. She had contended

that the Act imposed a serious disability on persons desiring to

keep printing presses. It was bound to have the effect of hampering

not only a perfectly legitimate business, but one which played an

important part, namely the diffusion of knowledge and the progress

of civilisation. The judges however, declined to intervene on

wy
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the ground that it was not open to them to set aside the order of

the Chief Presidency Magistrate.

As for the order of forfeiture of security, the judges said that

the Act debarred the Court from interfering except on one ground,

namely, that the extracts (from articles in New India) in question

were not of the nature described in the Act. The Chief Justice

said that he would acquit Mrs. Besant of any wilful attempt to dis-

seminate disaffection or hatred against any class of His Majesty’s

subjects; but he was unable to hold that some of the extracts from

the articles in New India cited before the court might not have such

a tendency. Her revision petition against the Chief Presidency

Magistrate’s order was dismissed since all the duties vested in the

Magistrate under the Press Act had the attributes of an executive

character, not judicial, The Legislature, in delegating to the

Magistrate powers under the Act, had made him an administrative

officer, and in that view the order was not liable to be revised by

a writ of certiorari? or a revisional order.

Mrs. Besant then went to the Privy Council. JPectitions were

filed in the latter part of June 1917 before the Privy Council, Sir

John Simon appearing for the petitioner. Lord Dunedin (Presi-

dent), Lord Shaw, Lord Sumner, Sir John Edge and Mr. Ameer

Ali heard the appeal against the decision of the Madras High

Court.

The facts having been submitted to the Committee, Sir John

Simon explained that it was Mrs. Besant’s desire to raise various

issues, apart from those which were personally and financially im-

portant to her, in relation to the interpretation and administraton

of the law in India. Their Lordships came to an immediate deci-

sion with Lord Dunedin stating that it was unnecessary to argue the

petition. “We will grant your petition,” he said, and the proceed-

ings thereupon ended.

Mrs. Besant did not long enjoy this triumph over executive

arbitrariness. Lord Pentland, the Governor of Madras, publicly

warned her at the end of May 1917:

Let us endeavour honestly and candidly to measure the situa-

tion. If, as stated far and wide, home rule means nothing less

than, at a very early date, the placing of the Executive Govern-
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ment in all its departments under the direct and full control of

legislative Councils, containing a large majority of elected ‘mem-

bers, I feel sure that among Indians acquainted with public

affairs, nobody having any true sense of responsibility considers

it, or will declare it, within the range of practical politics.

There were persistent reports of impending action against her

and two of her lieutenants in the Home Rule League, B. P. Wadia

and George Arundale. At last, in the middle of June 1917, the

Governor decided to come down to Madras from Ootacamund

for a final attempt to persuade her into abandoning the Home

Rule campaign.

‘“T have come down,” he told her personally, “in order to show

my great consideration for you and to speak to you myself and

give you an opportunity of consideration.” She was puzzled.

“What am I to consider?” she asked him. He had no positive

answer. ““That is for you to decide,” he replied, “but you might

like to consult your friends.’’ Mrs. Besant did not think there was

anything to consult her friends about. She then asked him, “Am

I to be interned 2” He declined to discuss the matter. “In the

Supreme Legislative Council,” she told him, “Sir Reginald Crad-

dock (the Home Member) had stated that no one was to be interned

without a full statement of the offence for which he was to be

interned and without being given a full opportunity for explanation

or dcfence. I did not think at the time that it was true, because

some of my own friends had no such opportunity. But I am

very grateful to Your Excellency for proving it to be false.’

Again he declined to be drawn into a discussion of the mat ter.

She then told him, “TI can only act according to my conscience

and leave the rest to God. I have nothing to regret in anything

I have written or anything that I have said; and unless Your Ex-

cellency tells me what you wish me to consider, I am at a loss to

know what to suggest.”

Mrs. Besant then raised another point: was it true that he wished

to deport her to England? He promptly replied, “Only for the

period of the war”, adding the assurance, “I will give you a safe

conduct to England to take you through.” She declined the offer.

Lord Pentland made it clear that if she did not abandon her
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Home Rule campaign, he would have to stop all her activities in-

cluding those of a non-political character because he could not

discriminate between one form of activity and another. Since

there seemed to be no meeting ground at all, Mrs. Besant finally

told him: “You have all the power and I am helpless: and you

must do what you like. There 1s just one thing I should like to

say to Your Excellency, and that is that I believe you are striking

the deadliest blow against the British Empire in India.”

Punitive action after this interview with the Governor was not

long in coming.* I can vividly recall a hot afternoon in June,

1917, when a British police officer visited New India office, just as

the final proofs of the day’s issue (it was an evening paper) were

going down to the press room. He produced the order interning

her, B.P. Wadia and G. S. Arundale at Ootacamund.

Thus it happened that in the middle of the First World War

in 1917, Mrs. Besant challenged the British Government with the

cry of home rule for India at the end of the war as an equal partner

with Britain in the Commonwealth. Incredible as it may seem

today, the British Government decided to intern her without a

trial for daring to preach the doctrine of India’s equality with the

other units of the Commonwealth. Her internment only led to a

national agitation in all parts of the country for home rule. The

campaign resulted, as Gandhiji put it, in home rule for India be-

conung “a mwantram in every village’.

Few among those alive today are aware of the fact that at the

time of the inauguration of the freedom movement in 1917, many

eminent Indians, including for a time Gandhiji himself, were un-

easy about such a radical demand being made of the British

Government for immediate realisation. Among India’s servants

in the pre-independence era, there is perhaps not another who

engaged in the same range of activities as Mrs. Besant or could lay

claim to such a variety of achievements. She was gifted with a

colossal intellect, an organisational capacity of a high order,

courage of conviction which defied every penalty and obstacle,

*On the eve of the internment. Mrs Besant left behind a_ parting

message which is reproduced in Appendix I.
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and a warm and generous heart. All these were placed without

stint or hesitation at India’s disposal.

During a critical decade and more New India went through al-

most bewildering vicissitudes. Its fearless advocacy of India’s

freedom brought Mrs. Besant and the paper more than once into

sharp conflict with the Executive. With an abounding faith

in the Power that rules the destiny of the world, she went forward

with her campaign, winning the doubters and the waverers to her

side. New India stood throughout its meteoric career for certain

principles, and cheerfully paid the price for their vindication. She

had the satisfaction of securing for India, in cxternal relations

atleast, equality of position in the British Commonwealth with

the other units. She laboured hard for the concept of India

framing her own Constitution, in spite of the initial lack of

support from the Congress.

With the same vision and courage that Mrs. Besant displayed

in challenging British Imperialism, she stood out at the end of the

First World War against what she regarded as the dangers of a

movement like Gandhiji’s non-co-operation, with its four-fold boy-

cotts. In 1919 she felt it necessary to sacrifice her immense popu-

larity with the Indian people through opposition to certain mani-

festations of national discontent, particularly the boycott of law

courts and of schools and colleges. The harshness of martial

law administration in the Punjab at the end of the First World

War, culminating in the massacre of several hundred unarmed pea-

sants who had gathered at Amritsar for the celebration of the Hindu

new year, had angered the whole nation to a dangerous pitch.

Mrs. Besant, however, took the view that brutally cruel as was

the episode, the movement for India’s freedom should proceed

without being marred by excesses of any sort. She strove with

all her might and influence to encourage general respect for law and

order as the essence of organised, civilised life. New India often

wrote, with a sharpness that hurt many, that general disrespect

for law and order and indiscipline among the young would dan-

gerously weaken the fabric of civilized society. Her objections

to mass non-cooperation she cogently stated in the course of an

article in her paper :
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Is the British yoke so intolerable as to justify revolution, whe-

ther by force of arms or by non-co-operation? I deny it...

I do not think most pcople recognise the immense change of

spirit which has come over the administration; their minds

are so full of the Punjab cruelties that they do not see the pre-

sent atea of liberty, and in their righteous indignation with

the malefactors of 1919, they do not recognise the honest ef-

forts of the Government of 1920. The continuance of Punjab

misrule and its spread over India would have justified re-

volution; the change in the Punjab and the large changes in

India would make revolution a crime.

I say “would have justified revolution’, but must add, “if

possible and beneficial”. As things are, revolution would mean

anarchy, and would result in a new foreign rule infinitcly

worse than the old. For India* has no army, no navy....

Britain has sinned against India....But Britain has also great

virtues, and co-operation with her will bring India more swiftly

to full responsible government than any other line of action.

....Non-cooperation is a big gamble, with anarchy as one

stake and utter futility as the other.

.... Revolution by violence is inexpedient and impossible.

Revolution by non-violence, non-co-operation, leads either

to anarchy or futility.

We see that where one man pits his conscience against the

law of his day, he appeals really to a moral and spiritual force;

he suffers but he does not rend in twain the social bonds; these

continue though he may die; his sufferings appeal; they touch

the heart; they arouse the mind; if he is inspired by God and is

striking a really higher note, he, or his successors, conquer

and society is lifted higher. But if thousands of men follow

this same course, they conquer by numbers, not by a moral or

spiritual appeal. The one is a martyr: the thousands are

revolutionaries.

The paper’s circulation went down as quickly as it had mounted,

and Mrs. Besant’s voice in her closing years appeared to be a lone

one. Such was New India—a fearless fighter for all great causes,

with no room for opportunism or expediency in its outlook and
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policy. It died as it lived—fighting all the way through a stormy

existence.

Another great service Mrs. Besant rendered to the cause of

India’s political progress deserves mention, particularly because

it has so far received scant recognition. The Congress had split

at its Surat session in 1907 into Moderates and Extremists with the

organisation passing for nearly a decade under the control of the

former. Mrs. Besant said clearly that the demand for home rule

would have no chance of being taken seriously without the back-

ing of a unified national movement. She sought Lokamanya

Tilak’s cooperation, shortly after his service of a six years’ term

of rigorous imprisonment for sedition, and the two worked with

perseverance and skill for unity which was achieved at the Luck-

now session of the Congress in 1916.

Another aspect of her activity was insistence on an under-

standing with the Muslim League. In this sphere Jinnah played

a key role. He had become the President of the Home Rule League

in Bombay and was keen that the Muslim League should be in

the charge of progressive and independent-minded Muslims like

himself. At Lucknow, the Congress appealed to the Muslim

League to draft a charter of demands that would command the

support of both organisations. The Congress-League scheme was

the concrete rcsult of this effort.

Mrs. Besant was not content with merely proclaiming the goal

of home rule for India as a unit inthe British Commonwealth.

At the end of the First World War she declared in London before

the Joint Parliamentary Committee which considered the Bill

embodying the Montagu-Chelmsford scheme of reforms (after-

wards the Government of India Act of 1919) that India could not

accept for all time a Constitution framed for her by the British

Government in London. Working on this concept of India fram-

ing her own Constitution, she proceeded, with the task of framing

a Bill for the future governance of India, which would have

the broadbased support of all political parties. She attended the

Belgaum Congress almost immediately after the first session of

the National Convention and attempted, though without success,

to have the doors of the Congress opened to all parties. In

January 1925, when the All-Parties Conference assembled in Delhi,
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she placed her report on the Bill before the Swaraj sub-committee

of the Conference; and though the report as a whole was not

accepted by the Conference many of the changes introduced

subsequently in the Bill owed their origin to that report.

After the Bill had been finally reshaped in India at the National

Convention at Kanpur in April 1926, Mrs. Besant attended a

meeting of the Working Committee of the Congress in Calcutta

at the end of May 1925 at Gandhiji’s suggestion. Unfortunately,

there was no quorum at the mecting; and Gandhiji apologising

to her for having caused her unnecessary trouble, offered to cir-

culate copies of the Bill to members of the Working Committee

with a request tor their opinion. As Mr. C. R. Das was at that

time too unwell to come down to Calcutta, she went to Dar-

jeeling to obtain his approval for the Bill. In February 1926

she attended a private conference of about 40 members of the

Central Legislature in Delhi for considering the Bill. There were

present at the mecting Mrs. Sarojini Naidu and many Ieading

members of the Swaraj Party.

The measure, described later as ‘the Commonwealth of India

Bill’, was supported by several leading Indian statesmen including

Mr. Jinnah. After it had gone through its first reading in the

House of Commons, Mrs. Besant made vigorous efforts to secure

for it general support through a National Convention. Its final

session was held in April 1926 on the basis of an influentially signed

manifesto in the following terms :

We, the signatories to the present proposals, remain in our

respective political organisations, but unite in a common

effort to obtain Indian freedom. We define Swaraj as full

Dominion status as claimed by the resolution of the National

Congress of 1914. We accept responsive co-operation whcere-

ever useful for advancing the interests of the country, and all

forms of constitutional agitation against proposals inimical

to these. We support the Commonwealth of India Bill, now

on the official list of the Labour Party in the British Parliament,

and recommend that any amendments thought desirable by

the Council of the coalition of political parties, to be formed

in consequence of the manifesto, should be sent to the Secre-
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tary of the Parliamentary I:vccutive Committee of the Labour

Party, to be moved when the Bull ts in Committee of the House.*

In form and structure, it was broadly similar to the Constitu-

tion of a Dominion, a vital difference being the pyramidal clec-

torates for representative institutions at different levels: from adult

suffrage for Village Panchayats the electorates narrowed down

on the basis of knowledge and experience, and were indirect for

provincial (or State) Icgislatures and the Central Parliament.

The private bill did not get beyond the first reading in the

House of Commons. Ideas, however, do not die. The work on

the Commonwealth of India Bill was of great help to the Nehru

(all-Parties) Committce in its subsequent report which embodied

a commonly acceptable scheme for attaining Dominion status.

* the following were the signatories:

Dr. Annie Besant. Sir Ve} Bahadw Sapiu. ACS, the Rt Hon

V. S. Stunivasa Sastry Dr R. P Paranjpye, M 1.C, MR. Jayakar. JC

Kelkut, Dewan Bahadur T. Rangachan. M I. A. Dewan Bahadur M.

Ramachandia Rao, M L A., Jamnadas Dwarkadas, Kanji Dwarkadas, the

Hon’ ble Mr. Ratansi Morayyi, Bipin Chandra Pal, M L.A, Delhi, Hirendra

Nath Datta, Hon. Lala Ram Saran Das, Prof. Ruchi Ram Sahni, M.L.C.

Hasan Imam, Iswar Satan. D. V. Gokhale, Sir H. 5. Gout, LL.D. M.L.A..

the Hon. G. S$. Khaparde, Bo Ralla Ram, Sit Dinshah Petit. Jamshed

N. R. Mehta, Jethmal Parasiam, I N. Guitu, B. Shiva Rao. P. K. Telang.

A. Ranganatha Mudahar, M.LA. the Hon Raja Rampal Singh, Dewan

Bahadur M. Krishnan Nair, M.L.C, Rai Sahab Chandrika Prasad

(Chairman, All-India ‘Trade Union Congress), Sir Daya Kishen Kaul.

K.B.E, CLE. D.B LB. Bhopatkar, M.L.C. (leader of the Opposition,

Bombay Council), Chumial M. Gandhi, Sir P. C. Ray. I. B. Sen, B. K.

Lahiri, J. Chaudhuri, D. P. Khaitan, M.L.C. D. C. Ghose, Arun

Chandra Sinha, the Hon. Mr. T. Desikachari, Dorothy Jinarajadas (Vice-

Picsident. Women’s Indian Association), Margaret Cousins (Hony. Secretary

Women’s Indian Association), D. K. Telang (Hon. General Secretary.

N.H.R.L,) Govinda Doss. B, Ramachandra Reddi. M.L.C., Guruswami,

M.L.C. (subject to safeguarding the interests of the Depressed Classes),

T. Malicsappa. M.L.C. J. A. Saldanha, M.L.C., Rev. Dr. J. R. Chitam-

bar, Dewan Bahadur P Kesava Pillai, M.L.C., Vice-President of the

Legislative Council, Dr. P. Subbarayan, M.L C., K. Prabhakaran ‘Thampan.

M.L.C. P. S. Rajappa Tevar, M.LC.
th
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Though the scheme was named after Pandit Motilal Nehru, the

Chairman of the All-Parties’ Conference, its main author was

Sir Te) Bahadur Sapru, whose vast constitutional knowledge had

been enriched by his experience in guiding the National Conference

of which Mrs. Besant and he were the joint sponsors.

The Nehru Scheme was a significant document. In point of

time, it preceded the report of the Simon Commission, thus greatly

reducing the latter’s political importance. It accepted the goal

of full Dominion Status for India as tHe largest measure of agree-

ment attainable between diflerent political parties. For the first time

in India, the proposal to integrate British governed Provinces

and Indian Princely States in a single structure was seriously put

forward in a document by an All-Parttes’ Conference.

I have often pondered through all*the years since Mrs. Besant’s

passing away over the source of her power and vision. How

could one, with comparatively little knowledge of the details

of our political problems, choose with such admirable precision

the right moment for making a claim on India’s behalf which even

many of her Indian colleagues regarded at the time as too radical ?

Later, how could she evolve a procedure for drawing up a Cons-

titution for India which substantially anticipated the creation of

a Constituent Asscmblv in 1946 ¢

From some of us, her intimate followers, she did not conceal

her profound faith in the wisdom of the Rishis who, she was cer-

tain, were guiding the destinies of the world. One of them, spe-

cially concerned with India’s welfare, bad warned her that it would

be better for this country to progrcss more slowly than risk the

freedom movement being stained by excesses. It was this faith

which sustained her through a period of unpopularity bordering

on isolation.

Mrs. Besant’s daily life was full of many acts of kindness and

help. It might be a poor boy unable to pay his school fees; or

a bright young man keen on going abroad for higher education;

or a man in sorrow over the death of his wife or child seeking

comfort and help. Whoever it might be and whatever the form

of help that was sought, Mrs. Besant never refuscd it. Count-

less people all over the world still remember her with warm grati-

tude.
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Mrs. Besant did not realize her most cherished dream of see-

ing India free before her death. But many of the things she had

urged, with all her love for India—and for some of which she

suffered misunderstanding and obloquy—are being learnt the hard

way by the Government of free India: the dangers implicit in

indiscipline, for instance, and the resort to civil disobedience as

a form of mass protest.

Mrs. Besant’s place among the builders of modern India is

one that time will only brighten.
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M. K. Gandhi

My first contact with Gandhiji was early in 1916, at the inaugural

function of the Banaras Hindu University; and my last tragic

glimpse of him was at Birla House on the morning of 31st January,

1948, when his earthly remains were taken for cremation to Raj-

ghat, close to Dclhi’s Red Fort. During those thirty-two years

it was my privilege to come into intimate touch with him on seve-

ral occasions in different situations. He was unique as an indivi-

dual, often unpredictable in his reactions to problems, baffling to

his colleagues and followers—but always, whether in triumph or

in defeat, the embodiment of serenity and poise.

My first impression of him at the University function in Bana-

ras early in 1916, was, I must confess, not favourable, After Mrs.

Besant had addressed the gathering, consisting mainly of stu-

dents, holding out in moving language the glorious prospect of

successive generations of young men being trained for service in a

free India, there rose an odd-looking man in a Kathiawari turban

warning the audience against being misled by her eloquence into

believing that India was ready for home rule. Morcover, he

thought, such a movement in the midst of a war that was taxing

all the energies of the British Government was questionable from

a moral standpoint. The speech, which contained other similar

out-of-the-normal sentiments, struck me as singularly inappropriate.

Mrs. Besant, listening with increasing impatiencc, finally burst

out that it was dangerous to speak to immature young men in

the strain that he had done. The sympathies of the audience
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were obviously far more with him than with her. When the ex-

citement created by her intervention had finally subsided, cafmly

and absolutely unperturbed, he rose to defend Mrs. Besant, point-

ing out that she had only spoken out of her love of India and

that her motive should not be misunderstood.

Gandhiji’s approach to India’s political freedom was very

different from that of the rest of his contemporaries. It was first

in South Africa, in the early decades of this century, that he raised

his voice against racial discrimination as practised by the then

Government of that country on settlers of Indian origin. On a

limited scale he fashioned the instrument of passive resistance

against injustice, oppression and wrong. A new concept of herotc

self-sacrifice came into vogue under his guidance, enabling

thousands of common men and women in South Africa to suffer in

dignified protest all the consequences ot defiance of racially

discriminatory legislation and practices.

South Africa gave Gandhiyji the first opportunity to test the

validity of his techniques. Success in a restricted sphere opened

up for him the possibilitics of its application on a far wider scale

to the termination of India’s subjection to British rule.

Gandhii’s technique, whether it was for the achievement of

India’s freedom or for the uplift of the untouchables in this country,

was unique. To him India’s freedom signified little without the

rehabilitation of the less favoured sections of the Indian people

who had endured for centuries a number of social disabilities and

humiliations. Thus his mission was fundamentally one of pro-

test against discrimination in all its forms and manifestations.

The dead hand of custom in India had relegated an appreciable

section of the community to a way of life which approximated to

a denial of human rights and equal opportunitics. Political lea-

ders before Gandhiji had fixed their gaze on India’s progress

towards freedom exclusively in terms of constitutional reforms.

The disabilities of the untouchables—social, economic and cul-

tural—numbering at that time over 60 million, had, indeed, at-

tracted the notice of reformers from the second half of the nine-

teenth century. The pioneers of the movement had dared much

in a great cause, enduring social obloquy, even ostracism, humi-

liation and persecution from the orthodox sections of society.
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But until Gandhiji’s | appearance on the scene—periodically at
first and permanently after the middle of the First World War—the

two streams of progress had remained distinct and scparate.

Fresh from South Africa and keenly alive to the inhumanity

of racial arrogance and all its ugly implications, Gandhiji saw in

India, as in a flash, the vital link between the removal of untouch-

ability and national freedom. In 1917, at the annual session of

the Indian National Congress at Calcutta presided over by Mrs.

Besant, the first concrete step was taken to forge such a link.

In a resolution adopted on Gandhiji’s initiative, the Congress

“urged upon the people of India the necessity, justice and righteous-

Mess of removing all disabilities being of a most vexatious and

oppressive character, subjecting those classes to considerable

hardship and inconvenience”.

On assuming the leadership of the freedom movement two

years later Gandhiji formulated a constructive programme for

all workers in the movement, giving the complete eradication of

untouchability and all the evils it had bred in India’s social and

economic life the topmost priority. He declared on one occa-

sion that he would not sacrifice the vital interests of the untouch-

ables even for the sake of winning India’s freedom. He said,

“{ would far rather that Hnduism died than that untouchability

lived.” In his weekly paper Young India he repeatedly justified

this radical stand.

In 1921 he wrote in the course of an article : ‘“Untouchability

cannot be given a secondary place on the programme. Without

the removal of the taint Swaraj (self-government) is a meaning-

less term. Workers should welcome social boycott and even

public execration in the prosecution of their work. JI consider the

removal of untouchability as a most powerful factor in the process

of the attainment of Swaraj.”

Despite all the preoccupations of an active political carcer,

involving periodical defiance of British authority, first described

as non-cooperation and later as civil disobedience, Gandhi never

gtudeged time, energy or resources in the nation-wide fight against

untouchability. For the untouchables he coined a new name,

‘Harijans’ meaning the children of God. The denial to them of

entry into Hindu temples, he saw, lay at the root of all their eco-
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nomic and social disabilities. Temple entry for Harijans became

with him a primary article of faith. Gandhiji’s inspirirfe leader-

ship produced profoundly promising results in two fields—free-

dom from foreign rule and the emancipation of the economically

and socially backward sections of the population.

In the political sphere, Gandhiji, whose sympathies in the

first phase of his career were with the Moderates, was inclined to

view immediate home rule for India as impracticable. It is not

generally known that on arrival in India in the middle of the

First World War, Gandhiyi threw himself into a_ recruitment

campaign for enlisting soldiers to fight for Britain in the various

theatres of war. He defended this on the ground that his own

philosophy of non-violence should not stand in the way of India’s

active support for Britain as an argument in favour of political

freedom.

He was a critic of the home rule movement when it was fitst

inaugurated. Nevertheless in the following year (1917) when

Mrs. Besant was interned for her home rule activitics, he seriously

suggested a mass march to her place of detention at Ootacamund

to enforce her liberation. Dr. Subramania Aiyar, to whom the

suggestion was first made, was, with his long training as a judge,

startled by the novel suggestion; and Lokamanya Tilak and Mr.

Jinnah, whose advice was sought, regarded it with such sharp

disapproval that it was quietly abandoned. But so far as Gandhiji

was concerned, the process of conversion to the home rule idea,

thus begun, was completed at the end of the war by the martial

law regime in the Punjab, culminating in the massacre in Jallianwalla

Bagh of several hundred unarmed peasants.

From that moment, until the achievement of freedom in 1947,

Gandhiyi was the unchallenged leader of the national movement.

Several times, in this period of rapidly changing circumstances,

he clashed with old and experienced colleagues : but such was his

hold on the masses that on every occasion those who differed from

him went out of the movement. Ironically the Liberals, with

whom his links were intimate, disassociated themselves from the

Congress under his leadership.

Non-cooperation on a scale never before attempted in India

was his first response to the insolence of British might. This
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technique he had forged earlier on a limited scale in South Africa

in demanding citizenship rights for the Indian settlers in that

country.

To appreciate the full significance of Gandhiji’s leadership

one must recall the circumstances under which he assumed the

leadership of the movement at the end of the First World War.

Terrorism, born of impotent hatred of the British, had raised its

head in the first two decades of this century, when the tempo of

political activity was definitely rising in the country. Gandhiji

stepped into undisputed leadership in 1919 as a sequel to the

Amritsar massacre. Only he could effectively control the wave

of deep indignation that swept over the country as the grim de-

tails of this tragedy came fully to light.

The end of the world war resulted in the swift demobilisation

of lakhs of trained soldiers who had faced hardships and perils

and had covered themselves with glory. In such an atmosphere

‘Gandhiji’s experiment with non-violent non-cooperation involved

considerable risks. But the impact of his personality on the mas-

ses was such that deviations from that path were few and of

a minor nature.

Almost a decade later, Gandhyi conceived the plan of resist-

ing the salt tax in India. It was a master-stroke of political stra-

tegy; no one in the country, not cven the poorest, was exempt

from payment of the duty on salt. ‘he famous march to Dandi

for defying the salt law, Itke the American gesture of throwing

tea-chests into Boston harbour in the eighteenth century, was sym-

bolic of the historically established principle of “no taxation with-

out representation”. The Dandi march reflected the resistance

of an entire nation to the denial of freedom. Its sequel was the

declaration of the British Prime Minister, Mr. Ramsay MacDonald,

at the end of the first Round Table Conference in London in 1930

that the status of a self-governing Dominion would be conferred

on India.

I saw a good deal of Gandhiji beginning with the Round

Table Conference in London.” One memorable scene lingers in my

memory. At midnight in St. James Place (the venue of the con-

ference) after many delegates had spoken—Sapru, Jinnah, Sastri,

Zafrullah Khan, etc.— came Gandhiji with a spontaneous and
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earnest appeal to the British Government to bury the past and

accept India as an equal partner. The weary delegates sat up,

moved by this lofty vision.

Politically the early thirties were filled with bitterness and frus-

tration. I busied myself in Madras with an organisation known

as the ‘Buy Indian League’, with the generous cooperation of

The Hindu which published all my statements on the progress of

the movement. For about a year or two the movement grew

vigorously in South India, while Congress leaders were 1n prison

for onc of their periodical movements of defiance of authority.

Suddenly, one day when I was temporarily out of Madras on

work, came a postcard from Gandhy! (then recently released from

prison), written in his own hand: “TI missed you during my stay

in Madras,” he said, and then followed a couple of sentences

warmly appreciative of my wark and commending, in particular,

my stress on village and rural industries. This brief note was

followed some months later by a letter, also in his own hand, from

Sevagram. Would I go to Wardha, he asked me, and help in the

building up of a Village Industries Association? I gladly accepted

the invitation and spent two busy days with him and his lieute-

nants discussing details; but [ was not prepared for the sequel—

an offer of a place on the executive of the new Association. It

meant whole-time work with my headquarters at Sevagram with

no other activity—and certainly no politics. Just about that time

I had been offered by The Hindu an assignment in New Delhi

as its special correspondent, with the likelihood of a similar con-

nection with the Manchester Guardian.

Journalism had always had a strong attraction for me after my

experience on the staff of Mrs. Besant’s New India. Reluctantly

I turned down Gandhiji’s offer and went to New Delhi for the

start of my new career. [Little did I realise at the time that this

association with two great papers, one Indian and the other Bri-

tish, would bring me unique opportunities of working from behind

the scenes for Indo-British conciliation.

As the New Delhi Correspondent of The Hindu and Manchester

Guardian (now the Guardian), before and during World War II,

I was one of a band of journalists in the pre-independence era to

be accorded the privilege of interviews with the Viceroy. My
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first one, soon after joining the staff of The Hindu in 1935, was

with Lord Willingdon, then in the last year of his term of office.

He had been Governor of Madras in the early twenties and knew

that I represented a Madras paper. It was safe for him (he must

have thought) to assume that he had seen me in Madras.

““Ah, my dear fellow,” said the Viceroy, in his characteristically

breezy way, “after how many years do we mect again?” It was

a friendly remark, and I would have been guilty of gross indis-

cretion if I had said in reply, “Sir, you are making a mistake;

surely you are thinking of someone else.” Summoning all the

tact at my command, I said, “Sir, Madras scems a long way back

in the past, doesn’t it?”

“Of course, of course,” he replied, adding almost nostalgically,

“Madras was such a delightful place.”

That interview was brief and incpnsequential. Lord Wuling-

don had a deep, ill-concealed prejudice against Gandhiji and was

convinced that the only way to deal with him was to kcep him at

arm’s length and be firm. He would never meet him, because

(he thought) he was so subtle in argument that he could “tie you

up in knots”.

Then came Lord Linlithgow, a very different type of man.

His background was the Royal Commission on Indian Agriculture

in the late twenties (of which he had been the Chairman) and the

Joint Parliamentary Committee on the Government of India Bill,

also as its Chairman, which resulted in the 1935 Constitution.

Lord Linthithgow had not met Gandhiji before coming to

India; but, what he had heard about him from his predecessor

and his senior official advisers could not have made a favourable

impression on the new Viceroy. Nevertheless, 1t was known that

he was willing to make a direct contact with Gandhijt without

making it apparent that he was breaking away, so soon after

assuming office, from Willingdon’s practice. More considerations

were piled up in Simla against an early interview. /An interview

granted to Gandhiji would enhance his prestige and that of the

Congress. The general elections, under the new 1935 Constitution,

were scheduled for some time in the following year, and an

impression might be created that the ground was being prepared

for a Linlithgow-Gandhi Pact, similar to the Irwin-Gandhi Pact
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of 1931. What would the Muslims think of such a develop-

ment? And the Princes: one had to think of them too, fest they

should be frightened away from federation. Linlithgow thus spent

a year and more of his Viceroyalty, wondering, vacil ating, and

perhaps apprehensive, about meeting Gandhi.

The general elections which came in the early months of 1937,

were a great shock to the Viceroy’s official advisers, who had

hoped for, and even predicted, a victory for the groups fight-

ing the Congress. Unprepared mentally for the prospects of the

Congress assuming office in the Provinces where they had secured

majorities, the Viceroy’s advisers suggested the inevitability of

a show-down (in the form of civil disobedience) and the ultimate

suspension of the new Constitution. A deadlock arose because

of the party’s refusal to accept office in the seven Provinces without

certain assurances from the Gsovernors about the exercise of the

special powers vested in them by the Constitution. Left-wingers

made no secret of their determination in any casc to wreck the

Constitution from within even if the Congress were called upon

to form Ministries. In this difficult situation, the Viceroy was

groping his way towards a solution.

Meanwhile, Rajagopalachari had worked out a formula which

I put out in the two newspapers I represented from New Delhi

(The Hindu and the Manchester Guardian) with a hint that its accep-

tance by the British Government might lead to a friendly scttle-

ment.

One morning in the middle of April 1937 my telephone rang.

It was Mr. (later Sir Gilbert) Laithwaite, the Viceroy’s Private

Secrctary, at the other end. “Can youcome over if you are not

busy,” he said. My wife and I had arranged to leave that night

for a month’s holiday in Kashmir. I left the packing to be com-

pleted by her and went to the Viceroy’s House with a premonition

that something significant would happen. Mr. Laithwaite ushered

me into the Viceroy’s room without any explanation.

I had not met Lord Linlithgow before, except at one or two

formal functions. ‘Do you know Mr. Gandhi well?”, the

Viceroy asked me quietly. “Yes, Sir,” I said, “IT have known him

for twenty years.”

“T have not yet met him, though I would like to do so,”
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was his next remark. The Viceroy then produced a press clipping

from a drawer in front of him. “Here is a message from you,”

he said, “in the Manchester Guardian. [t has attracted the Secre-

tary of State’s notice. What is your authority for saying that

the Congress party may reconsider its attitude if the British Go-

vernment accepts your formula as a basis for negotiations ?”

I explained that my message in the Guardian (practically iden-

tical with the one which had appeared simultaneously in The

Hindu) was drafted after a detailed discussion with Rajagopala-

chari; and he certainly knew Gandhiji’s mind better than any

other Congress leader. If Gandhiji was satisfied, the Congress

Working Committee would, I was confident, accept his lead.

“This certainly makes a difference,” commented the Viceroy.

But he wanted a number of points clarified in the formula before

he could advise the Secretary of State. He mentioned in parti-
cular four points on which he wanted further elucidation and

wondered how it could be done, without bringing him or the

Secretary of State into the picture.

For the first time, he showed a desire to know how Gandhiji’s

mind was working: would he support the Congress policy of

wrecking the Constitution, as declared in the election campaign,

or play a constructive role, limiting the Governors’ role to inter-

vention only in cases of proved necessity, and giving the Congress

Ministries an opportunity to utilise their powers for constructive

purposes ? I was confident, I told him (on an assurance 1 had

from Rajagopalachari a few days earlier), that Gandhiji was

in a constructive mood.

“Do you think Mr. Gandhi can keep a secret ?’’ was the

Viceroy’s next question. I could not help smiling as I replied

that there was no man in India with a stricter code of conduct.

Here was my opportunity : “I wish you would meet him,” T ad-

ded, “and you will be convinced.” “That will have to happen

some time,” he conceded.

I reflected for a brief while and told the Viceroy that I saw

a way out. I would go to Gandhiji (who was at that time in a

village in Hudli in Belgaum District for a meeting of the Village

Industries Association) and get an interview from him on these

four points as a newspaper man.
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“T will be frank with you, Sir”, [ added: “TI must tell *him pri-

vately that these points have been raised by you and the Secre-

tary of State, and that if his replies are acceptable to you, there

may be a settlement.”

The Viceroy seemed agreeable to my suggestion, without

committing himself to subsequent developments. He was anxious

that my interview with Gandhyi should rouse no suspicion in

the public mind about negotiations being started with him. He

appeared uneasy and apprehensive lest any indiscretion should

give him away. [assured him that his fears were groundless;

but I added that, if he really wanted the errand on which I was

about to go to Gandhiji to succeed, my name should not appear

in the Court Circular the following morning. He appreciated the

point and readily agreed to_keep my name out.

I explained to my wife on returning home that our Kashmir

holiday was off, and that I was going South that night to a village

in Belgaum District instead, to see Gandhiji. In a mood of res-

trained optimism I went to him in Hudli, with some qucstions,

really from Zetland who was then at the India Ofhce and Lin-

lithgow, but outwardly on behalf of The Hindu and the Manchester

Guardian,

Arriving at the village where Gandhyi was camping (it was a

Monday afternoon, the day of his silence), I wrote on a piece of

paper : “I have some questions for you from the Viceroy and the

Secretary of State; and if your replies are acceptable to them,

the political deadlock may be broken.” He wrote on the same

paper: “Come tomorrow and be prepared to spend the day with

me.” I wrote again: “I will come, but tomorrow I will not men-

tion the Viceroy or the Secretary of State; I will ask the questions

as though they are trom the Manhester Guardian and The Hindu,”

The whole of Tuesday and Wednesday we spent over the ques-

tions. Gandhiji dictated the answers in the presence of Dr.

Rajendra Prasad and some other lieutenants, but would not permit

me to go until he had seen the message I would send to these two

papers. He was not satisfied with his replies, even after two days

of concentrated and patient effort. “Why don’t you come to

Poona with me tonight,” he finally said, ‘‘I will rewrite the state-

ment and let you have it by midday tomorrow.” He must have
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worked at it in the train, because when I called at ‘Parna Kuti’

in Poona (his residence) at the appointed hour on the following

day, he handed it over to me.

“T think I am a better journalist than you are,” he added with

a smile, as I received the document. I conceded his claim. “But

you have had previous training in journalism,” I remarked, “when

you were in South Africa.” He told me that he did not want a

fight with the British unless it was forced on him. ‘“T have only

to be coaxed,” he added, discussing the reluctance of the Gover-

nors to give the sort of assurance that he was demanding as a pre-

liminary to Congress acceptance of office. I conveyed to him that

IT had assured British officials in New Delhi that he had no inten-

tion of throwing the British out of India; his real object was to

promote a big constructive movement in the country. “You

were quite right,” he said.

The interview with Gandhiji was promptly published in Te

Hindu and the Mauchester Guardian and with it were editorials in both

papers supporting Gandhiji’s point of view. Both in Simla and

in London, however, officials were slow in utilizing the oppor-

tunity he had created for direct negotiations. Nevertheless, the

story had a happy cnding and Congress Ministries assumed office in

the Provinces of Madras, Bombay, the United Provinces, the Central

Provinces, Bihar, Orissa and the North West Frontier Provinces. In

an interview with the Viceroy, I also ventured to indicate the

desirability of an early meeting with India’s foremost leader. But

how was this to be done? The Viceroy’s mind was set on the

new Constitution and to make it work; he was in no mood to

discuss with any one, the liberalisation of the Constitution, [

therefore spoke to him about Gandhiji’s Village Industries Asso-

ciation which, I explained, had some features of interest for the

Viceroy, who was considering at the time the formation of an All

India Rural Development Board. I mentioned some other points,

all non-political, which could fruitfully afford a meeting ground

between the two without embarrassment to the Viceroy. Problems

of nutrition, for instance, and adequate nulk supply in the country,

public health, cottage industries, in regard to which Gandhiji’s

Association (I said) was doing useful and active work.

Lord Linlithgow seemed interested in all these topics: but
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on making a direct contact with Gandhiji, there was no cdmmit-

ment, not even a comment. His immediate advisers were willing

to discuss with me such a possibility, but only (as 1] discovered later)

to point out to me the hurdles that had to be crossed. Would

Gandhiji write his name in the Viceroy’s book ? I did not think

he would. And, of course, he would have to apply in writing

(they said) for a formal interview with His Excellency, and agree

to his name appearing in the Court Circular, on the day following

the event. I was quite certain, I told them, that he would not

observe such formalities : And then they asked what clothes would

Gandhiji wear if he were to be granted an interview ? My answer

was simple : the same as those he wore when he met the King in

London during the Round Table Conference.

The rigidity of the bureaucracy prevailed. Not until early

August of that year was it possible for the Viceroy to grasp

the initiative and invite Gandhiji for an interview, some

time after the Congress ministries had been installed in office. The

Viceroy’s official advisers consistently took the line all through

that summer that the Congress, by rejecting ofhce after the gene-

ral elections, had committed a tactical blunder and was anxious

to find a way out. An interview granted to Gandhiji would thus

provide an escape, and it was not the Viceroy’s business to make

it easy for the Congress to retrace its steps.

On the other hand, from a powerful section of the party came

the demand in 1937 for the wrecking of the Constitution from

within and the creation of a new one by representatives of the

Indian people through an elected Constituent Assembly. It was

not easy to resist such pressure: but Gandhiji preferred a cons-

tructive approach and was singularly free from bitterness. He

told me at the end of an interview in the summer of that year :

“The British are a decent people; it should be easy to make a deal

with them.” For him the new Constitution that the British had

given India represented ‘“‘an attempt, however limited it might be,

to replace the rule of the sword by the rule of the majority”. He-

told the British a little later that there was no need for them to leave

India. On the other hand, he said, “India is a vast country. You.

and your people can stay comfortably, provided you accom-

modate yourselves to our conditions here.”
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On the outbreak of the Second World War in 1939, Gandhiji,

with characteristic magnanimity, called for India’s unconditional

support for Britain against Germany. He was moved to his

depths by the prospect of cities like London and Paris being bombed

out of existence. What, he asked, would be the worth of India’s

freedom at such a cost? He had gone far in his outlook from that

in 1917 when he was prepared to set aside his personal belief in

non-violence in order to find recruits in India’s villages for the

British army. But his basic concept that one should not seek

personal advantage from an opponent’s embarrassment had re-

mained unaffected. Consistently with his basic philosophy of

non-violence, his support would have been moral, not in men and

resources.

After years of experimentation and many failures, Gandhiji

was at that time definitcly seeking a lasting settlement with the

British on negotiated terms. On another occasion, in July 1939,

it was again my good fortune to go on behalf of the Government

of India to Abbottabad where Gandhiji was spending the summer,

this time with an appeal to him to co-operate in preventing the

situation in South Africa from deteriorating further. The plight

of Indian settlers in South Africa was causing the Government

of India much concern: the Government had before it a sugges-

tion to recall its Agent as a gesture of protest against South Africa’s

racial policy. Some of the leaders of the Indian community in

Durban, driven to desperation, had announced their intention to

resort to Satyagraha. India’s Agent (Shri B. Rama Rau) considered

that such a move might prove disastrous from the Indian point

of view: even a Liberal Minister like Hofmeyer, he feared, might

be compelled to declare that the challenge must be met by the

South African Government.

Sir Jagdish Prasad (then member of the Viceroy’s Executive

Council in charge of the problems of Indians overseas) made a

suggestion to me: could I go at once to sce Gandhiji, with a

message from the Government of India that he should exert all

his influence with the Indian feaders in Durban to abandon their

proposal? Gandhiji promptly replied in the affirmative to my

enquiry by telegram whether I could see him on an important mat-

ter concerning South Africa. Armed with files of the Govern-
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ment marked ‘secret’, I left Simla for Abbottabad and had my*inter-

view with Gandhii. Here is a passage from my diary written

on return to Simla:

I saw Gandhyi and had over an hour with him. He did most

of the talking and spoke of practically nothing else but South

Africa. He fully realises the dangers of passive resistance,

in the Transvaal particularly, as there are no leaders worth the

name to guide the movement. But it is his view that having

pointed out the dangers, he cannot ask them to revise their

decision, since the people concerned took it with their cyes

open. He has sent two private cables to General Smuts and

also to the Premier imploring them to see that the Indian

minority 1s not crushed out of existence. He did not want to

give this for publication. I communicated this fact, however

(with Gandhiji’s approval), to Sir Jagdish whom I saw this

morning. Gandhiji’s view is that a satyagraha campaign should

not be influenced by prudential considerations. ‘‘There is no

such thing as success or defeat,” he said.

Gandhyi told me, however, “Unless the Government of India

can produce something concrete from the Union Government,

what can I put forward as a justification for the withdrawal of the

movement °”

A week later, I was invited by the Viceroy for a talk. The

substance of our discussion I recorded in my diary:

I went into the Viccroy’s room immediately after he had received

the happy news that Gandhijt had cabled last night to the

leaders of the passive resistance movement in South Africa

to postpone action until further instructions. He had received

a very encouraging reply from Smuts.

These behind-the-scenes activities of Gandhiji’s helped to

build up a relationship of mutual regard between him and Linlith-

gow strong enough to withstand for a couple of years the strain

of the difficult political negotiations during the carly stages of the
»
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Second World War over India’s demand of immediate and com-

plete freedom.

At the time of the outbreak of the war, the Congress, had it

accepted Gandhiji’s advice, would have offered unconditional

cooperation, though without active material support, in the

prosecution of the war. A sharp division of opinion on this vital

issue inside the Working Committee led to the adoption of

a course of action which was not in accordance with Gandhiji’s

views.

In the first two years of the war, he personally initiated or

encouraged a number of moves for a war-time settlement with

the British with the progressive elements among the princes and

that section of the Muslim League which looked to Sir Sikander

Hyat Khan for guidance. Lvery move was unfortunately thwarted

by the British Government. Churchill said on one occasion :

“JT have not become the King’s first Minister to preside over the

liquidation of the British Empire.” But Gandhiji had an undy-

ing faith in the efficacy of his own principles.

It was the country’s misfortune that, all through the war

years, Gandhiji and leading members of the Working Committee

were unable to agree on a common line of action and policy. He

was opposed to the Cripps offer of 1942, though Nehru and Rajaji

were in favour of its acceptance; and he retired to Sevagram at

an early stage of the negotiations with a sense of failure.

A question that was much discussed after 1942 was Gandhiji’s

attitude towards Japan in the event of India (or parts of the country)

being occupied by Japanese forces. He was grossly misunder-

stood by the authorities in India, and American opinion was misled

on the issue. His real position was clarified by him in a letter to

his English disciple Miraben (Miss Madeline Slade) who gave

him a detailed account of conditions in Orissa, which seemed

particularly vulnerable to Japanese attack. Gandhiji’s attitude as

contained in this letter is worth quoting : “Remember that our

attitude is that of complete non-cooperation with the Japanese army,

therefore, we may not hold them in any way, nor may we profit

by any dealings with them. Therefore we cannot sell anything
to them. If people are not able to face the Japanese army, they

will do as armed soldiers do, i.e., retire when they are over-whelmed.
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And if they do so the question of having any dealings with Japa-

nese does not and should not arise. If, however, the people have

not the courage to resist Japanese unto death and not the courage

and capacity to evacuate the portion invaded by the Japanese,

they will do the best they can in the light of instructions. One

thing they should never do-—to yield willing submission to the

Japanese. That will be a cowardly act, and unworthy of freedom-

loving people. They must not escape from one fire only to fall

into another and probably more terrible. Their attitude therefore

must always be of resistance to the Japanese. No question,

therefore, arises of accepting Japanese currency notes or Japanese

coins. They will handle nothing from Japanese hands.” In

August came the ‘Quit India’ Resolution and the mass imprison-

ment of Gandhyi, Azad and all prominent Congressmen. But

Gandhiji respected opposition which sprang from honest con-

viction, and their personal relations remained unshaken to the

end of their lives.

I remember a dark night at Sevagram in 1944. Gandhi, with

all his Congress colleagues still in prison, had in a mood of anxiety

summoned Sir Te} Bahadur Sapru to his hut to ascertain from him

whether a certain formula, which he intended later to discuss with

Jinnah in Bombay, implied the creation of Pakistan. Bhulabhai

Desai was another invitee—with me sitting behind them, a silent

but eager listener. Gandhiji was distressed that Sir Tej Bahadur’s

interpretation of the formula was that it would imply support

for Jinnah’s demand for India’s division. Fortunately for Gandhiji,

after a series of futile discussions in Bombay, the negotiations ended

abruptly with no commitments on either side.

In a letter to Jinnah on 25th September, 1944, Gandhiji had told

him that in accepting the principle of partition based on the

wishes of the adult population of the areas proposed for the de-

marcation, he had clearly visualised a treaty between the two States :

“There shall be a treaty of separation which should also provide

for the efficient and satisfactory administration of foreigh affairs,

defence, internal communications, customs, commerce and_ the

like which must necessarily continue to be matters of common

interest between the contracting parties. The treaty shall also contain

terms for safeguarding the rights of minorities in “the two States.”
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Gandhiji repeated this suggestion in an interview to the London

News Chronicle on 29th September, 1944. He told its correspon-

dent in New Delhi: “It was my suggestion that provided there

was the safeguard of a plebiscite there would be sovereignty for the

predominantly Muslim areas; but it should be accompanied by

bonds of alliance between Hindustan and Pakistan. There

should be a common policy and a working arrangement on forcign

affairs, defence and communications and similar matters. - It is

manifestly vital to the welfare of both parts of India.”

Jinnah, in response, told a newspaper correspondent on 5th

October, 1944: “Certainly, Pakistan will have neighbourly re-

lations with Hindustan like any other independent national State.

We will say ‘hands off India’ to all outsiders. Pakistan will not

tolerate any outside design or aggression on this sub-continent.

We will observe something like the Monroe doctrine.” But he

was unwilling to go further and agree to a treaty as suggested by

Gandhiji.

When the British Cabinet Mission visited New Delhi in the

summer of 1946, one of the persons whom the British Ministers

wished to consult was Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru (who was my honoured

guest), then desperately ill and too weak to go to the Viceroy’s

House for the interview. I conveyed the news to Sir Stafford Cripps

who immediately had all the arrangements altered to suit Sir Tej

Bahadur’s convenience. ‘The interview took place in my house

the following day under elaborate police precautions. Gandhiji,

to whom this incident was reported, sent me a message that

night that he was coming the next morning to enquire personally

after Sir Tc} Bahadur’s health. That proved to be their last meeting.

A few weeks later when all arrangements were complete for

the election of members of the Constituent Assembly, I sought

an interview late one evening with Gandhi at the Bhangi Colony

in New Delhi. ‘What is it about?” he asked me with a smile

as I met him in front of his hut. I explained that it was the com-

position of the Constituent Assembly I was interested in : Congress

leaders who had been to prison several times could not be expected

to have specialised in Constitution-making. There were fifteen

persons outside the Congress, I took the liberty of adding, who

could contribute materially towards carrying out such a task.
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Gandhiji readily agreed and referred with warm admiration to

Gokhale’s habit of a thorough study of all public questions.

‘But have you a list of such persons?” he asked. I promptly

pulled out a sheet of paper on which I had drawn up such a list

for him and said, “Here it is.” At the top of the list were Sir Tej

Bahadur Sapru, Mr. N. Gopalaswami Iyengar, Dr. M. R. Jayakar

and Sir Alladi Krishnaswami Aiyar. “‘They are all good names,”

Gandhiji said, “but show the list to Maulana Azad who is the

President of the Congress and to Jawaharlalji. You may tell

them it has my approval.”

The list went through the Working Committee, with one or two

changes. Had Sir Tey Bahadur Sapru been in good health, I

have no doubt in my mind that he would have been Gandhiji’s

first choice for the Presidentship of the Constituent Assembly.

That was my last interview with Gandhi. I sought one again

towards the end of January 1948. The reply came that I might

see him early in February, if he was still in Delhi. But 30th Janu-

ary intervened—-the day of his tragic assassination. A graphic

account of Gandhiji’s last thirty days was written by a grand-daugh-

ter of his, Manuben, seventeen years old at the time. Completely

unconscious of the significance cither of the events or of her own

record of them, she omitted no detail, however trivial : the food

that Gandhyi ate, the number of hours he slept, his conversa-

tions with various political associates and representatives of dif-

ferent communitics, etc.

We see in these notes (the names frequently omitted lest

they should cause embarrassment to some who might still be alive)

Gandhii moving from one tense situation to another. The

treatment accorded to Muslims in India after independence and

partition was frequently a source of anguish to him. The re-

ports of atrocities on Hindus and Sikhs in Pakistan shocked him,

but never into a mood of reprisal. Mr. Gopalaswami Jyengar once

saw him to convey the details of the Kashmir dispute, then fresh

before the U.N. Security Council. He was told plainly by Gandhi-

jt, “My line of action 1s different from yours... You may carry on

the administration either according to your own plan, or in the

light of perfect truth and non-violence. A middle course will be

of no avail.”
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Reports of the sufferings of refugees were reaching Gandhiji

every day. On one occasion he exclaimed, “Many refugees

came to me during the day. With a heavy heart they related

the tortures they had to suffer. They also complained that IJ was

unmindful of their lot. But this is not true. I am staying here

(in Delhi) to watch over their welfare, Otherwise, what is my

object in staying here?” [nan outburst of despair, he exclaimed,

“Who listens to me today? There was a time when people im-

mediately carried out whatever escaped from my lips. Truly

I was then the commander of a non-violent army. But today mine

is a cry in the wilderness...Those who run the Government

today are mv fricnds, but this does not mean that they must

carry out whatever [T bid them. Why should they ?”

The deterioration in the Congress even at that stage had

begun to cause Gandhiji anxiety. Ata prayer mecting he declared

(quoting from a letter from a follower in Andhra): “The Congress

and the general public made tremendous sacrifices to win free-

dom. But in consequence of it, why has the Congress degene-

rated to this extent? Whoever has been to jail even for a day,

or wears Khadi, strains every nerve to become a leader some-

how or other. M.L.A.s and M.L.C.s who are members of

legislative bodics are engaged in spreading corruption every-

where. How long will it go on?” At the same meeting,

Gandhiji said : “To me Pakistan is not a foreign country at all...

In Andhra there are Communists as well as Socialists. They want

to disrupt the Congress by fair means or foul... These times

are so critical that we shall fall into a perilous state again if we

create fresh dissensions one after another while we are flying

at the throats of cach other by labelling ourselves Hindus and

Muslims.”

On 12th January, Gandhiji decided to go on a fast to prevent,

if possible, the mass killings in different parts of the country.

He felt a sense of impotence whenever Muslims asked him, “What

are we to do now?” Gapdhiji had no solution to offer and

felt that his helplessness was cating into his vitals and would end

as soon as he started the fast. With a sense of humiliation, he

confessed : “Today India has fallen in the estimation of all na-

tions. The glory of India is disappearing from the heart of Asia
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and through it from the heart of the world. It will be restored

if this fast opens our eyes. I have the temerity to believe fhat if

India loses its soul, the tempest-tossed and famished world will

be deprived of its last ray of hope.”

It was the fifteenth and last fast in Gandhiji’s life. He made a

personal appeal to Muslims, because the tast had been started

for their sake: “Those who wish to remain in the Union must

pledge their loyalty to the Union.” He could not believe that

Sardar Patel had little sympathy with the Muslims. He said :

“At times Sardar would use harsh or bitter language, but I know

there 1s no harshness or bitterness in his heart. He neither fears

nor fails to speak the truth. He does not trust the Muslim Leaguc.”

Gandhi had no illusions about Pakistan though he considered

her to be a friend. At another prayer meeting he said, ““The Mus-

lims of Pakistan are guilty of heinous crimes and murders are still

being committed there. Thousands of Hindus and Sikhs are

being looted and now the loss is beyond computation... If this

goes on in Pakistan how long will India tolerate it ?...I see with

shame that today we in India are imitating the evil ways of

Pakistan.”

Apart from the killings, Gandhiji was deeply worried by re-

ports from friends who complained: “Taking advantage of their

contacts they (many members of the Legislative Assemblies and

Legislative Councils) are making money for themselves and

hampering the even course of justice by influencing the magis-

trates in their courts... Many old veterans who were bitter op-

ponents of our struggle are now siding with such people to serve

their own selfish ends. People are losing their faith in the Cong-

ress.”

On 20th January came the first warning about the danger to

Gandhiji’s life, through a bomb thrown by Madanlal. In a

strangely prophetic vein he told Lady Mountbatten (who congra-

tulated him on his escape): “On this occasion I have shown

no bravery. If somebody fired at me point-blank and I faced his

bullet with a smile, repeating the name of ‘Ram’ in my heart,

I should indeed be deserving all the congratulations.”

Three days before his assassination, Gandhiji dictated a lengthy

note on the position of the Congress in the course of which he
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observed: “The Congress can only die with the nation. A living

organism either grows or it dies. The Congress has won political

freedom, but it is yet to win economic freedom, social and moral

freedom...It has inevitably created rotten boroughs leading to

corruption and the creation of institutions popular or democratic

only in name. How to get out of the weedy and unwieldy

growth °... Let the Congress now proclaim to itself and the world

that it is only God’s servant—nothing more, nothing less... I

talk of going to Wardha on 2nd February, but I do not myself

fee] that I would be able to go there at all. Who knows what ts

going to happen tomorrow ?”

In reply to a question, ““Was there any noise at your prayer

mecting today ?”, Gandhiji replied, “No. But does that ques-

tion mean that you are worrying about me? If I am to die by

the bullet of a mad man I must do so smilingly. There must be

no anger within me. God must be in my heart and on my lips.

And if anything happens, you should not shed a single tear.”

Only a day before the end, Gandhiji drafted a memorandum

for the guidance of the Congress, in which he said: “The Cong-

ress in its present shape and form has outlived its use. India has

still to attain social, moral and economic independence in terms

of its seven lakhs villages as distinguished from its cities and towns

... The All-India Congress Committee should resolve to dis-

band the existing Congress organisation and flower into a Lok

Sevak Sangh.”

To appreciate the full significance of Gandhiji’s leadership one-

must recall the circumstances under which he assumed the leader-

ship of the movement at the end of the First World War. Ter-

torism, born of impotent hatred of the British ruling class had

raiscd its head in the first two decades of the century, when the

tempo of political activity was rising. Gandhiji stepped into

undisputed leadership in 1919 as a sequel to the Amritsar massacre,

and controlled the wave of deep indignation that swept over

the entire country.

His programme for achieving freedom was revolutionary in a

unique sense. Political leaders before him had conceived India’s

freedom in terms of constitutional reforms. The social, economic

and cultural disabilities of the Untouchables had, indeed, attracted
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the notice of reformers from the second half of the nineteenth

centry. But until Gandhiji inaugurated the movement the two

lines of progress—political and social—had remained distinct and

separate.

On Gandhyi’s tragic assassination on 30th January, 1948,

before the Constituent Assembly was even half-way through its

task, a grief-stricken nation decided that the most practical tribute

to his campaign for the emancipation of the Scheduled Castes and

Tribes would be to include in the Constitution a number of pro-

visions for their advancement and welfare. Thesc—-proposed

wereby the representatives of the people directly concerned

comprehensive in scope and left no aspect of the problem out

of account.

In two vital spheres Gandhi lit the way for all mankind:

the achievement of freedom from foreign control through non-

violence and the elimination of all forms of social, cco-

nomic and racial discrimination. In these respects he anticipa-

ted the U. N. Charter and the Universal Declaration of Human

Rights.

There was, however, a third great cause which was dear to him,

as he indicated briefly to the Asian Relations Conference in 1947 :

The West is today pining for wisdom. It is despairing of the

multiplication of atom bombs because such multiplication

must destroy, not merely all the West but the whole world.

It is up to you to deliver the whole world and not merely Asia

from wickedness and sin. That is the precious heritage which

your teachers and my teachers have left for us.

The movement for complete disarmament he did not live to

lead. But the passage quoted above should be a constant reminder

to free India that she has yet to make a worthy contribution to dis-

armament in this war-weary world.
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Dr. S. Subramania Altyar

Dr. Subramania s\iyar had played an active part in establishing

the Indian National Congress in 1885 and was associated with the

movement for over a decade until he was appointed a judge

of the Madras High Court. He had a distinguished record in that

capacity, with the reputation that not a single judgment of his had

been reversed in appeal by the Judicial Committee of the Privy

Council. Blindness in old age compelled him to withdraw

from all activities, though he accepted the position of Vice-Presi-

dent of the Theosophical Society after Mrs. Besant’s election as

its President in 1907.

For almost a decade thereafter, he led a retired life, assuming

the saffron robes of a Hindu sanayasin§ He would probably have

continued to lead a life of contemplation, had not Mrs. Besant’s

internment in 1917 for her political activitics—and in particular,

the home rule campaign—drawn him out of his retirement into

active politics. He proved a tower of strength to those who

were left in charge of Mrs. Besant’s daily paper New India, giving

advice on difficult points and sometimes even dictating editorials

for the paper.

A few days after Mts. Besant’s internment in June 1917, it

was suggested to him by friends that he should send through an

American friend of India who was returning to the U.S.A., a per-

sonal letter to President Wilson, seeking American intervention

for India’s freedom at the end of the First World War. The sug-

gestion arose from the false propaganda that had been set in mo-
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tion in the U.S.A. immediately after her internment. American

papers were informed that the internment had become inevitdble

because of Mrs. Besant “‘heading a revolt against British authori-

ties” —this, in spite of the fact that she had said from the begin-

ning of the World War in 1914 that she wanted the Allies to triumph,

since in her view success for Germany would be the setting back

of evolution, the triumph of evil over good. At the same time she

was convinced that victory for the Allied Powers would be de-

layed by Britain’s adherence to autocratic rule in India.

Dr. Subramania Atyar dictated the message for President Wil-

son“ to a stenographer at the Theosophical Society’s headquarters

at Adyar; and rather than wait for it to be typed, he signed ona

blank sheet of paper and returned home. The appeal was taken to

Washington and reached the President, and ultimately found

its way to the British Cabinet in London.

Mrs. Besant’s friends in America made contacts with important

newspapers and Government officials, including Roosevelt, later

President of America, and other members of President Wilson’s

Cabinet. Subramania Alyar’s letter, which was carried by Mr.

and Mrs. Hotchner to Washington, was given the widest publicity.

Mr. Morganthau, a former American Ambassador to Turkey and the

financial director of two of Mr. Wilson’s presidential campaigns,

was deeply interested in India’s demand for home rule. A copy

of the letter was also passed on to Col. House, President Wilson’s

confidential representative and his adviser on international affairs.

It is significant that Col. House went to Britain immediately after

Mrs. Besant’s internment to seek a better co-ordination of the re-

sources of the Allied Powers and to sccure a re-statement of the

Allies’ war aims to conform to President Wilson’s ideal of the

right of nations to self-government. An important part of his

task was to collect and classify the facts regarding all subject-

mations so as to promote the cause of an enduring world peace.

This information was to be made available to President Wilson

to be used by him for his plan for a League of Nations bascd on

world liberation through self-government and democracy.

* The text of the letter to President Wilson is reproduced in Appen-

dix II.
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There were reports current to suggest that Col. House, when

he left Washington for London, carried with him the facts in

regard to the latest developments in India. He had instructions

to take up India’s cause with the British Prime Minister and to

enquire why steps could not be taken to grant home rule, so that

more of India’s man-power could be utilised in the war, especially

in Mesopotamia. He was also to enquire into the extent of Bri-

tain’s commitment to the war aims of the Allies and to promote

a policy of liberation of the world through self-government. He

was to point out that Britain’s renunciation of India as a subject-

nation and as a source of economic profiteering would go far

towards bringing the war to an end.

Subramania Atyar’s letter was circulated to all the members

of the Senate and the House of Representatives. Copies were

also given to the Secretary of State, Mr. Lansing, to the head of

the American Fedcration of Labour, Mr. Gompers, and to Roose-

velt who showed a deep interest in the developments in India.

Roosevelt, on being told that the Indian National Congress and

the Muslim League had reached an agreement at Lucknow in

1916, expressed confidence that “India must certainly participate

in the world’s advance towards democracy, which is another

way of saying the right of well-bchaved people to self-govern-

ment.”

The agitation for home rule in India, which had gained a new

momentum as a result of Mrs. Besant’s internment, led to a re-

statement of British policy in India in the House of Commons in

August 1917. This statement was followed by a_ personal visit

to India by Mr. Montagu, the Secretary of State, who toured the

country during the winter of that year with Lord Chelmsford,

the Viceroy. In the course of their stay in Madras towards the

end of that year, they granted an interview to Subramania Ajtyar.

It was unpleasant from the start: they were sharply critical of his

conduct in making such an appeal to President Wilson. Subra-

mania Aiyar defended his action with characteristic vigour.

At the same time, he suffered in dignified silence a kind of

ostracism at the hands of some of the moderate leaders in Madras

who disapproved of his letter to President Wilson almost as strongly

as Montagu had done.

TT



India’s Freedom Movement

Subsequently, in the House of Commons, Montagu used strong

words to condemn Subramania Atyar’s action:

The impropriety of this disgraceful letter is all the more in-

excusable owing to the position of the writer. The assertions

in the letter are too wild and baseless to require or receive

notice from any responsible authority. No action has as

yet been taken regarding the matter and I am communicating

with the Viceroy.

No action, however, was taken ofhcially, though the sugges-

tion was made in some British-cdited newspapers in India that

he should be deprived of his title (K.C.I.E.) and even his pension.

In a statement to the Press, Subramania Aiyar described in

detail the circumstances under which he met the Viceroy and the

Secretary of State :

78

Most people are awarc that I was among those that sought

and obtained an interview with the Viceroy and the Secretary

of State. At the time appointed, I presented myself at

Government House, and, on taking my seat, the interview was

begun by the Viceroy in a spirit and with a warmth which

absolutely startled me. In referring to what was said by the

august personages and my humble self in connection with the

letter in| question at the interview, it is scarcely necessary

to say...[ am not violating any confidence. The interview

was neither expressly nor by implication understood to in-

volve any secrecy.

The very first words, addressed to me in a tone which I

most respectfully venture to describe as plainly exhibiting much

temper, were in regard to the letter (to President Wilson). I

felt I was being... treated harshly and not fairly, for I was

there to discuss political reforms and not to answer to a charge

of misconduct in addressing the President of the United

States ...

I told His Excellency our position was this: Of the four

chief officials of the Home Rule League, three of them, namely,

Mrs. Besant, the President, Messrs. Arundale and Wadia, the
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Secretary and the Treasurer, had been interned in the course

of that very week; and the fourth official (myself, as Hono-

rary President) every moment exvected to be dealt with by the

local Government in a similar fashion. I urged, with all

deference, that it was hardly otherwise than natural and fair

that I should avail myself of the opportunity afforded by the

visit just intended to be made by Mr. and Mrs. Hotchner to

America, where I knew they had influential friends who could

and would interest themselves in the welfare of India and her

people, and in particular, exert themselves towards the rclease

of Mrs. Besant, well-known throughout the continent and held

in high estimation by many thousands among the citizens of

that free American nation. I added that if it were necessary

I could substantiate every important allegation in the letter

as regards the defects of the rule in this country by unimpeach-

able evidence and offered to submit to his Excellency, if per-

mitted, copies of certain letters then in my possession as re-

gards the inhuman treatment to which the interned in Bengal

were systematically subjected as a proof in support of one

of the points urged in the letter with special reference to

which His Excellency had expressed his strong condemnation.

Referring to the action that was expected to be taken against

him, Subramania Atyar said:

“It 1s superfluous to say that the case involves nothing personal,

and that my causc is the cause of the whole country. In fur-

therance of that cause, all that is mine—my name, my liberty

and cverything else—must be sacrificed and willingly sacri-

ficed. Internment or cxternment, deportation and the like,

have no terror for me; and, at this time of my life, with no

earthly expectations to realise, I feel I can have no more glo-

rious fate to meet in pursuance of gaining Home Rule for

India, than to become an object of official tyranny...

I doubt whether cven half-a-dozen among my friends or

enemies now know the history of my knighthood. Needless

to say it was not a reward for any liberal use of wealth which

is the royal road to such distinctions, for the simple reason

79



India’s Freedom Movement

80

that I have never had money enough to make such use’ or shows

of it. Nor was it the reward for any special service, public

ot private, but due to a mere accident, if I may put it so. Hav-

ing acted as Chief Justice for a month and a half about August

1899, on the retirement of Sir Arthur Collins, the announcc-

ment of the honour in my case followed on the 1st of

January next as a simple matter of official routine, it being the

practice to make every Indian High Court Judge that officiates

as a Chief Justice, for however short a time, a knight, as com-

pensation, I take it, for the disability of such Judges to be

permanent Chief Justices.

One cannot help observing that among Western inventions

none operates more seductively and to the detriment of

public interests than these titles. They will verily be a delu-

sion and a snare to be sedulously avoided by every honest man,

if by accepting them he 1s to be debarred from the legitimate

exercise of his civic rights.

Next, if what the Secretary of State had in mind with

reference to my position was the receipt of a pension by me,

my answer is equally strong and clear. In the first place, the

payment is made to me out of the revenues of the land of my

birth and not from any foreign sources. In the next place,

neither the original grant of it nor its continuance depended

or depends on the goodwill and pleasure of any individual or

any executive body. The right to the pension accrued under

the authority of a statute of the Imperial Parliament and none

can deprive me of it save by legislation of that same Parliament.

Lastly I say that I would more readily lose my pension than

deprive myself, by reason of my continuing to draw it, of any

right of my citizenship. And I say to writers in the Anglo-

Indian journals who throw taunts at me with reference to my

pension, that I do not mind in the least if they succeed in de-

ptiving me of the wages, which I am enjoying as the fruit

of the most laborious and conscientious discharge of my duties

as a Judge in the highest Court in the land and’ leaving me

to find my own food and raiment. Let them know that these

I shall get from that association of Sanyasins with whom I

stand related, which entitle me to their care and protection,
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and therefore no pretended humane scntiments need deter

my detractors from depriving me of my life-provision by the

State.

Gandhiji called on Subramania Atyar shortly after Mrs, Besant’s

internment and made a proposal which struck him as startlingly

novel. He would walk to Octacamund, he told the retired judge,

with a crowd of volunteers which would swell en” route to enor-

mous proportions and quietly ask her to break the internment

order. Subramania Aiyar suggested to some of us who met him

almost daily that consultions with Lokamanya Tilak and Jinnah,

the latter at that time the president of the Home Rule League in

Bombay, would de desirable, since his own reactions were not in

favour of Gandhiji’s proposal. Two of us went to Bombay to

discuss the proposal with Jinnah and for the first time I had a

glimpse of Lokamanya Tilak at close quarters. There were present

in Jinnah’s house (apart from Tilak) Horniman, Syud Hosain,

Jamnadas Dwarkadas, Kanji Dwarkadas, Omer Sobhani and Shan-

karlal Banker. Tilak considered Gandhiji’s suggestion impracti-

cable, and Jinnah agreed with the general view of the others pre-

sent that a mass movement of the kind Gandhijt had in mind

could not possibly succeed.

With Mrs. Besant’s release fiom internment a tew months

later, it was unnecessary for Subramania Atyar to continuc his

active association with the Home Rule League. He went back

into retirement, with the satisfaction of having made, during a

brief intervention, a significant contribution to the freedom move-

ment. The letter to President Wilson produced a chain reaction

that no one could have expected and led Britain-—as did Presi-

dent Roosevelt’s action a quarter of a century later—to move

forward in quickening India’s march towards freedom.
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Edwin Montagu

On few men in British public life was India’s spell cast so over-

poweringly as on Edwin Samuel Montagu, whose contribution

to this country’s progress towards freedom in five controversial

years in the House of Commons during and after the First World

War entitles him to an honoured place in history. Brilliantly re-

sourceful but highly individualistic, Montagu had clear notions

from the start of his career on the right policy for Britain to pursue

in India. “‘We cannot drift on for ever without stating a policy,”

he told a Cambridge audience as Under-Secretary for India (when

he was only thirty-two).

A six months’ tour of India before assuming office had given

him a valuable insight into the country’s problems. The primary

need, it seemed to him, was a sympathetic understanding of the

people’s needs by district officers. With youthful candour he

wrote to the Prime Minister in 1915, suggesting his own appoint-

ment as India’s Viceroy in succession to Hardinge. “India’s

problems,” he confessed, “attract me with an intensity which I

can find for no other problems. I have no other ambition save

to go to India and I have had no other since I entered public

life.”

The Viceroy, he argued, had to be “‘an energetic administrator’,

rising above “mock royalty surrounded by out-of-date and rather

tawdry pomp”. Curzon was not older when he was sent out as

Viceroy, and his own public record (he claimed) was better. As

for being a Jew, had not such representative Indians as the Aga
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Khan, Bikaner, Alwar, Sir Krishna Gupta and Pandit Malaviya

recommended his appointment ?

Asquith’s response was only partial, and Montagu had to be

content with a place in the Cabinet, but unconnected with India.

His opportunity, however, came shortly after Asquith’s fall. He

told Lloyd George, the new Prime Minister, that his heart was

in India, “‘whose people wanted a goal to look to”. It could only

be “‘some form of self-government, with complete representative

institutions”.

The India Office had little attraction for him. A Viceroy could

sometimes have things his own way (in the last resort) through

threats of resignation; but what could the Secretary of State do,

“tied, swaddled, swathed, manacled by legislation, by the exis-

tence of the Council of India, by the rights of its majority” 2? An

opening seemed to offer itself in 1917, after a stormy debate in the

House of Commons on British reverses in Mesopotamia in the

First World War. For Montagu, the result of his scathing attack

on the glaring defects in the Indian administration was an offer

after all only of the India Office, not of the Viceroyalty. He took

it, determined to do things in a big way, not offer something to

India, ‘a niggling, miserly, grudging safeguard, fiddling with the

existing order of things’. She was ‘a vast continent’, he told

the Prime Minister, “whose history is our glory, and whose hopes

and aspirations, fears and tribulations it 1s pathetic to see.”

Mrs. Besant’s internment by Pentland for her home rule cam-

paign in 1917 gave Montagu cause for immediate intervention.

He toured that winter all over India with the Viceroy, Chelmsford,

a man without ‘Hardinge’s dignity’, and without ‘Curzon’s

pomposity’, yet ‘unfortunately cold, aloof and reserved’. Mon-

tagu’s reactions to Mrs. Besant and Gandhiji are interesting.

Starting with a prejudice against her, he was overcome by her

personality and recorded: “In her white and gold embroidered

Indian clothes, with her short white hair, and the most beautiful

voice I have ever heard (she) was very impressive and read (the

memorandum) magnificently—Gandhi is a social reformer with

a real desire to find grievances and to cure them, not for any rea-

sons of self-advertisement, but to improve the conditions of fellow

men. All he wants is that we should get India on our side.”
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Mrs. Besant implored Montagu to attend the Calcutta session of
the Congress over which she presided in 1917 and even to address

it. He lamented (because of official obstruction in India) : “Oh,

if only Lloyd George were in charge of this thing; he would of

course dash down to the Congress and make them a great oration.

I am prevented from doing this. It might save the whole situa-

tion.”

The more Montagu saw of India and her officials, the greater

grew his sense of despair. The depth was reached at Madras—

“the most lovely thing you can imagine’, in contrast to which

stood the official world: “Here, if anywhere, officials adminis-

trate and do not govern; here, if anywhere, they do not explain

themselves and hold themselves aloof. Here, if anywhere, they

misuse powers, either their Press Act or their powers to disallow

resolutions and Bills.” Pentland, the Governor, “looked what

he is—an early Victorian Governor of post-war India’’.

The strain of the Indian tour told on him heavily in the later

stages, especially the obstinacy of the I.C.S. He poured out his

woes in a letter to his wife: “I cannot describe the weariness of

my flesh. I am tired of conciliating, cajoling, persuading, lobbying,

interviewing, accommodating, often spoiling my own plans to

quell opposition.” Sir John Marris was to draft the report, but

confessed he had no heart in doing it, unless he could express his

own views frecly. Montagu’s comment was sharp but decisive :

“T never heard such nonsense. I told him he was a_ hack and had

to express only our views.”

The I.C.S. did not easily acknowledge defeat. The crisis came

at Simla, when Chelmsford and his Executive Council conveyed

to Montagu certain proposals of theirs on which they had ‘decided’.

Never at a loss for a pungent word, he told them that these pro-

posals struck him as ‘absurd and inadequate’.

On his return to London, Montagu faced even more formi-

dable opposition. For Curzon, a member of Lloyd George’s War

Cabinet, the Montagu-Chelmsford report was ‘“‘a confused docu-

ment, difficult to follow and complicated in its recommendations”.

Austen Chamberlain proved, on the other hand, ‘a tower of st-

rength’.

To add to Montagu’s worries came the Rowlatt Report on sedi-
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tion in India. He told the Viceroy, “I loathe the suggestion at

first sight of preserving the Defence of India Act in peace time

to such an extent as Rowlatt and his friends think necessary”’.

The Report, he thought, “would only give the Pentlands of this

world and the O’Dwyers the chance of locking up a man without

trial’’.

A debate in the House of Lords did not improve the situation,

all the old-timers speaking in a manner (as Montagu observed

in a letter) as though “the world had not moved at al] during the

past twenty years and the Government of India was something

which was intended for all time without any change or modifi-

cation”’.

An amusing interlude was Asquith’s effort to win Churchill

over to his side on the Indian issue. At breakfast one morning,

with only Montagu and Churchill present, the Prime Minister turned

to a combative Churchill to ask whether he would join the Cabinet.

The reaction, according to Montagu, was prompt: “the sullen look

disappeared, smiles wrcathed the hungry face, the fish was landed.”’

In Paris, in 1919, at the Peace Conference, a delicate issue arose :

could Montagu, as a delegate for India, express in public vtews

independent of, and opposed to, those of the British Cabinet ?

He thought he could, and that proved his ultimate undoing.

Ever on the alert to advance India’s claims to equality of status,

he thought of sending Sir S. P. Sinha to the House of Lords, so

that an Indian could defend the Indian Government in Parlia-

ment. But he could not be a peer without giving an assurance

that he had only one wife. Sinha had a fine sense of huinour;

he said with a smile that he had always found one wite enough.

It shocked Curzon to think of an Indian in the House of Lords

without a previous warning to him, but Sinha abundantly just-

ficd his selection. ‘

Reflecting on the tmplications of these steps, Montagu ex-

claimed in a letter to Chelmsford: “How profound, irretraceable

changes have been made in the constitution of the British Empire

with the admission of the Dominions and of India to the Peace

Conference !”

About extremists in India, Montagu held unorthodox views.

There were extremists with no particular political vision or train-
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ing or knowiedge. But the other kind of extremist (such as the

young terrorist), he thought, was “‘a real social reformer, desirous

of a genuine self-governing India, believing in a sort of exaggerated

doctrine of individual liberty, anxious to elevate the depressed

classes, to do social education—a real intellectual”. In his judg-

ment they were often fine young boys whosc talents and courage

could be used—but not through police methods.

The Amritsar tragedy made Montagu realise the need for quicker

and more radical reforms. On the 1919 Bill he implored the

House of Commons “to show to India today that Parliament is

receptive of her case for self-government and only seeks an op-

portunity for completing it by the demonstrable realisation of the

success of its stages”. The enquiry into the Jallianwala Bagh tra-

gedy gave him the opportunity to express freely in Parliament

“a word about Dwyer”. “Tt was the savage and inappropriate

folly of the order which rouses my anger... Don’t let us make

the mistake of defending O’Dwyerism, right or wrong.”

He was severe in his criticism of the I.C.S. attitude towards

the new reforms. ‘The Services,” he told the Governor of Bom-

bay, “were wholly against us in trying to transfer India from an

estate which they manage into a living entity. This has got to

be. They have to grin and bear it.”

He had not a good word for Chelmsford’s administration :

“The treaty with Afghanistan was misguided; the Punjab riots

were badly mishandled; no enthusiasm was shown for the reforms.”

The remedy? “The real nced in India is a Viceroy capable of

running a hard-worked office quickly, a man of Cabinet experience,

a man with no interests to serve.” His personal ambition had

again been roused by a letter from Mrs. Besant who urged him

to become Viceroy.

_After some weeks’ rest in a nursing home, he wrote in a frank

letter to the Prime Minister, ‘Let me go to India as Viceroy for

three years.”” Among the reasons he cited was that “now there

does not exist among the Indian services a man of political ins-

tinct, and I have no hope that the (1919) Act will be properly work-

ed unless somebody who thoroughly believes in it is at the head of

affairs.” He had been in the India Office for six years and knew

the problem in all its aspects. He did not think,, much of the
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opposition to him of the British community and its press in India.

He was aware, too, of Curzon’s opposition, but Curzon “had no

sympathy with what other people thought” and “‘no interest in the

nationalism and patriotism of the proud and educated Indian

people”. Lloyd George’s response was negative. Since Cham-

berlain did not care for the post, Montagu suggested others, in-

cluding Churchill, commenting (on the last name); “It might re-

sult in a great failure. It might be a great success. Whichever

it was, it would be grcat.”

The Hunter Report on martial law administration in the Pun-

jab evoked a fresh outburst from Montagu : “Either we must go-

vern India as O’Dwyer governed the Punjab or we can govern

it in another way. The truth is that I do not believe that you will

be able to go on governing it in that way without the most fright-

ful troubles and difficulties.” He repeated these sentiments in

the House of Commons. “Are you”, Montagu asked the House,

“going to keep a hold on India by terrorism, racial humiliation and

subordination and frightfulness; or are you going to rest it upon

the goodwill and the growing goodwill of the people of your

Indian Empire 2”

He justificd his outlook : “The crawling order was frightful-

ness; and the shooting to produce moral effect was _ terrorism;

and in the atmosphcre of the debate there was nothing to be gained

and much to be lost by not saying so. 1 do not regret in the least

having called a spade a spade.”

The situation in India was deteriorating, and Montagu was

worrying about the lengths to which Gandhi and his colleagues

might go. He had hoped that the non-cooperation movement

would fizzle out. He recorded after a Cabinet meeting : “Whe-

ther to intervene or not was a complicated issue which was giving

us all (in the Cabinet) a devil of a trouble.”

Montagu’s dismissal came ostensibly over his handling of

the Treaty of Sevres with Turkey. His indiscretion as a member

of the Cabinet in the premature publication of a top-secret docu-

ment cost him his place. The opportunity was too good to be

lost by India’s opponents in Parliament and outside to curse the

scheme of reforms which he had inaugurated. Out of office,

he told a Cambridge audience with withering scorn that the
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official reason for his dismissal was that he had not followed the

doctrine of collective Cabinet responsibility. Such an accusation

“from Lloyd George of all people”, he commented, was “‘augh-

able aud grotesque”’.

His unceremonious exit from the India Office was a shatter-

ing blow to his health and spirits from which he never recovered.

His health was so far gone that he was compelled to give up his

plan to visit India as a private individual. Frustrated and bitter,

he dicd in obscurity at the early age of forty-five, with a sense of

acute failure clouding his last days. Posterity, however, will

pass a different verdict on the vision, the courage and the sound

political instinct with which he threw all his ebullient talent and

energy into the cause of India’s freedom.
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Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru

In many ways I regard Sic ‘Tey Bahadur Sapru as the most re-

markable Indian personality it has been my privilege to know in my

public life. For at least twenty-five years, until he died in 1950, I

was thrown into close association with him as onc of his lieutenants

and learnt a great deal from him in different spheres : in the Mud-

diman Reforms Committee in 1924, at the Round Table Conteren-

ces in London in 1930 and 1931 and through all the years of the

Second World War. Few men in India of this century had his

breadth of vision; and certainly no one was endowed with his warm-

hearted generosity, his absolute integrity and the complete frec-

dom from pettiness and malice which characterised his public

and personal life.

My earliest recollection of him pertains to December 1921 at

Kanpur, where he arrived suddenly one morning for a consul-

tation with Sir Ibrahiny Rahimtulla, at that time the Chairman of

the Fiscal Commission. Sir Te} Bahadur was then Law Member

in Lord Reading’s Government, after the introduction of the

Montagu Reforms. The situation was tense. C.R. Das, Pandit

Motilal Nehru and many others were in prison (Gandhiji alone

being free), and the boycott of the Prince of Wales’ (the present

Duke of Windsor) visit to India was likely to prove effective.

Lord Reading, the Viceroy, was uneasy and anxious for a quick

settlement to avoid the embarrassment of such a boycott. Sir

Tej Bahadur suggested a way out: the transfer of practically all

subjects in the provinces to popular control and hastening the
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pace of progress towards responsibility at the Centre; and, in re-
turn, the withdrawal of the boycott of the Prince of Wales’ visit.

The Viceroy seemed willing, Sir Malcolm Hailey and Sir Wil-

liam Vincent (‘the strong men’ in the Executive Council) were

not averse, and Sir Tej Bahadur had ascertained that C. R. Das

and Pandit Motilal would favour negotiations for a settlement

on such a basis. Gandhiji, however, after some initial parleys,

held out, insisting upon the immediate release of the Ali Brothers.

That for some reason was considered too heavy a price by the

European members of the [Executive Council, and the discussions

ended tn abrupt failure.

The situation drifted quickly from bad to worse as the boycott

of the Prince of Wales was intensified by Gandhyi. His six years’

imprisonment came not long after, preceded a little carlicr by Mr.

Montagu’s resignation from the Lloyd George Cabinct. Sir Tey

Bahadur resisted, from inside the Government, Gandhyt’s trial and

imprisonment as a step in the wrong direction; and finally, after

Mr. Montagu’s resignation, he decided to quit the Viceroy’s FExe-

cutive Council.

But the two years or so during which he had known the func-

tioning of the Central Government from within had given him an

invaluable knowledge of the administration. He was convinced that

emphasis was essential on immediate responsibility at the Centre

even more than in the provinces. Sir Tej Bahadur was the first

man in India to point out that the India Office in London was the

real citadel of reaction, and until the Government of India was freed

from the stranglehold of the control, progress in constitutional

reform would be without real significance.

Even before his formal withdrawal from office, Sir Tey Bahadur

and Mrs. Besant had got together in Simla to work out the pro-

cedure for a National All-Parties’ Convention to draft India’s Cons-

titution. Much constructive work was done in spite of Congress

abstention, and the Commonwealth of India Bill on the basis of

Dominion Status (which the late Mr. George Lansbury sponsored

in the House of Commons in 1926) was the result. At the time

it seemed a futile effort, foredoomed to failure. But the experi-

ence proved instructive. The report of the Nehru Committee

in 1928—a reply to the challenge of the Simon Commission—
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was in considerable measure, both in conception and execution,

the result of Sir Te} Bahadur’s efforts, enriched by his carlicr ex-

pericnce, on the Commonwealth of India Bill.

Pandit Motilal Nehru, as the President of the Calcutta Cong-

ress in December 1928, made a valiant effort to secure the support

of the Congress for the Nehru report. Left-wing opposition,

however, led by the champions of immediate independence—

Jawaharlal Nehru, S. Srinivasa Iyengar and Subhash Chandra

Bose—proved formidable and the final decision was deferred,

as a compromise, for another year. Undeterred by this setback,

Sir Tej Bahadur brought some of the Congress leaders (including

Pandit Motilal) into direct contact with Lord Irwin who had,

meanwhile, made a hopeful declaration of British policy under

instructions from the new Labour Government. The negotia-

tions with the Viceroy ended suddenly, with the Lahore Congress

favouring complete independence and a severance of the British

connection with India.

At the Round Table Conferences in London in the following

two years, Sir Tey Bahadur was easily the most outstanding dele-

gate. His close contacts with many of the Indian princes and

their faith in his integrity and soundness of judgment enabled him

to place before the British (Labour) Government a scheme, with

the support of the princes, for an All-India federation. Some

other delegates even at the Conference table (like Mr. Srinivasa

Sastri) were inclined to question its immediate practicability, and

certainly the suggestion of the separation of Burma from India (to

which Sir Tey) Bahadur seemed to have more or less committed

himself) was an error of judgement. But the Prime Minister (Mr.

Ramsay MacDonald) was persuaded to close the first Conference

with a promise of Dominion Status as the outcome of its

deliberations.

With a settlement on Mr. Ramsay MacDonald’s terms, India

would have been a Dominion in 1935, instead of twelve years later,

without the second and far more serious partition—that of Burma

being the first—-as the price of freedom that we paid in 1947. But

the fates were against us. Pandit Motilal Nehru’s death early in

1931 and Mr. MacDonald’s virtual disappearance after the general

elections in Britain later in the same year created a new situation.
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The tide turned strongly against us. Gandhiji seemed, at’a later

stage of the Second Round Tiable Conference, surprisingly to be

in favour of progress by instalments : full provincial autonomy he

was willing to accept as a first step, the structure at the Centre to

be moulded later in consultation with the new provincial govern-

ments. It was, I think, more of a tactical move than a compromise.

But Sir Tej Bahadur led a resolute—and_ successful—opposition to

such a proposal.

The ultimate result was distressing for everyone. An All-

India federation of a sort was given concrete shape under the 1935

Constitution, loaded with reservations, while the Congress lcaders

languished in prison. Sir Tej Bahadur was almost alone among

its Indian sponsors in holding the view that such reservations could

not for long remain obstacles in the way of our achieving complete

freedom. How the federal structure at the Centre would have

developed had not the Second World War brought about a comp-

lete change in the situation in 1939 remains in the realm of spe-

culation.

In the closing week of 1940 Sir Te} Bahadur Sapru and a number

of other prominent leaders not belonging to the Congress issued

a joint appeal* addressed to the major parties in India as well as

to the British Prime Minister, pleading for a friendly settlement

which would preserve the country’s unity and be “consistent

with her dignity and honour’.

For ten years thereafter, in rapidly tailing health and as a some-

what lone figure in Indian politics, Sir Tey Bahadur strove to make

his contribution towards a post-war solution. He was content

to give advice and guidance whenever they were sought. At a

difficult point in the unsuccessful Cripps negotiations of 1942,

with the help of Sir B. N. Rau and Mr. Rajagopalachari, he pro-

duced a formula for transitional arrangements in regard to defence

which might have overcome that particular difficulty. When a

deadlock over defence seemed inevitable, he and Dr. Jayakar

made a joint¥statement in the following terms :

It would be a tragedy if Sir Stafford Cripps’ mission failed, for

* The text of the appeal is given in Appendix III.
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it would produce a keen sense of disappointment and _ frus-

tration and provoke antagonisms which, in our _ opinion,

would be disastrous in this hour of crisis. The terms of the

Draft Declaration by His Majesty’s Government make it clear

that after the war India will not have to struggle for the re-

cognition of its constitutional and international status.

We regret that more emphasis has been laid on the Constitu-

tion of the future than on the immediate needs. We think, there-

fore, that if a satisfactory formula could be devised in respect

of the defence portfolio, the mission of Sir Stafford Cripps

might still succeed. It is not probably realised in England

and the Allied countries that Indian opinion cannot look upon

any transfer of power as real unless the Government of India

is sO constituted as to give an effective share to the country

in the management of its defence, and thus to increase immense-

ly, and without delay, the military strength of the country to

defeat the threatened agpression. We would, therefore, urge that

immediate attention be concentrated on this question.

After the arrests of Gandhiji and the Congress leaders in August

1942 the initiative for resolving the deadlock was taken up by a

group of men led by Sapru. In October 1942, with Sapru’s ap-

proval, I circulated a memorandum to a number of distinguished

Indians on possible improvements in the Cripps plan.

In December 1942 Sapru invited a number of prominent per-

sons in public life who had organised a non-party leaders’ con-

ference to a special meeting at Allahabad. There were present

one or two members of the Congress like Mr. Rajagopalachari

(who had not subscribed to the Quit India resolution and were,

therefore, out of prison), and representatives of the Hindu Maha

Sabha, the Christian Conference, the Trade Union Congress, the

Liberal Federation, the Communist Party, the Akali Party and the

Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce.

These persons met in their individual capacities on 12th and
13th December 1942 to consider the situation. No formal reso-

lution was adopted since the primary object was to explore the

possibilities of holding an All Parties Conference, and the members

had earlier made it clear that they had no mandate from their
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respective organisations to commit themselves to any definite

course or policy.

After the two-day discussions, Sapru declared that there was

both a widespread anxiety to reach a solution of the political

deadlock and a basis of agreement likely to prove generally accept-

able. The details of such an agreement could not assume final

shape until those present at the Conference had an opportunity of

discussing them with their respective organisations. Therefore,

at that stage, he could only say that an early summoning of an

All Parties Conference including therein the two major parties

in the country, namely, the Congress and the Muslim Leaguc,

scemed to be imperative for rcaching a settlement.

Sapru also revealed to the Conference that Gandhiji was ear-

nestly anxious shortly before his arrest to be co-opted for the

deliberations of such a Conference. Jinnah too had repeatedly

declared his willingness to discuss with leaders of other parties

the details of a possible solution.

In order, however, to ensure the success of such a Conference,

Sapru and those associated with him considered it essential that

the British Government should announce forthwith :

(1) that the provisional Government of India, to be formed as

a result of a general agreement, would be endowed with

full powers and authority over the administration, subject

only to the position of the Commander-in-Chief being duly

safeguarded in order to promote the efficient prosecution

of the war; and in its relations with Britain and the Allies,

enjoying the status of a Dominion and entitled to all the

rights and privileges associated with such status;

(2) the release of Mahatma Gandhi and all Congressmen to

enable the representatives of the Congress to participate in

the All Parties Conference.

These two steps were essential for the creation of a proper

atmosphere in which the Conference could conduct its delibera-

tions and reach a successful conclusion. The tragic chapter of

events of the previous four months, in particular the decision of

the Congress to launch a civil disobedience movement, no less
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than methods adopted by the Government to suppress the dis-

turbances in several parts of the country, must be ended without

delay (it was urged) if bitterness and resentment were to be pre-

vented from assuming dangerous proportions.

Sapru concluded the statement in the following terms :

As men anxious to see India throw all her resources into the

war effort we ask the British Government to make this positive

contribution towards the success of the All Parties Conference.

Sapru, on his personal responsibility, sent an appeal, on behalf

of those who were associated with him in the preliminary Allaha-

bad Conference, to the Prime Minister, Churchill, pleading for a

fresh effort. The appeal read as follows :

The gravity of the international situation compels some of us

who have spent long years in the public life of India to make

this appeal to you, Prime Minister, to realise the urgent neces-

sity for transforming the entire spirit and outlook of the ad-

nunistration in India. Detailed discussions of the question

of the permanent Constitution may well wait for more pro-

pitious times, until after victory has been achieved in this

titanic struggle against the forces which threaten civilisation.

But some stroke of courageous statesmanship is called for

without delay in India, at this hour of growing danger to her

safety, to enlist her wholehearted and active co-operation in

intensifying the war effort. Millions of men and women are

required for the adoption of effective measures designed to

protect the civilian population. The heart of India must be

touched, to rouse her on a nation-wide scale to the call for

service, undistracted by internal and domestic differences.

Is it not possible for you to declare at this juncture that India

will no longer be treated as a Dependency to be ruled from

Whitehall, and henceforth her constitutional position and

powers will be identical with those of other units in the British

Commonwealth? Such a declaration should, we suggest,

be accompanied by concrete measures calculated to impress
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the people that in co-operating with the war effort shey are

safeguarding their own freedom. ‘The measures are :

(1) the conversion and expansion of the Central Lxecutive

Council into a truly National Government, consisting en-

tirely of non-officials of all recognised partics and commu-

nities, and in charge of all portfolios, subject only to the

responsibility to the Crown;

(2) the restoration, in provinces now ruled autocratically by

Governors in accordance with section 93 of the Govern-

ment of India Act, of popular governments broad-based on

the confidence of different classes and communities; failing

this, the establishment of non-official Executive Councils;

(3) the recognition of India’s right to direct representation

through men chosen by the National Government in the

Imperial War Cabinet (should such a body be set up), in all

Allied War Councils, wherever established, and at the

Pcace Conference;

(4) consultation with the National Government, _ precisely

on the same footing and to the same extent as His Majesty’s

Government consult the Dominion Governments, in all

matters affecting the Commonwealth as a whole and India

in particular.

These are war measures whose adoption need in no way pre-

judice the claims or demands of different partics in regard to

India’s permanent Constitution. But knowing intimately

the feclings and aspirations of our countrymen as we do, we

must express our conviction that nothing less than the in-

auguration of this policy can resolve the crisis in India. The

urgency of immediate action cannot be over-emphasized. We

appeal to you, in al] sincerity but with the greatest emphasis,

to act while there is still time for such action, so that India

may line up with the other anti-Axis Powers on a footing of

absolute equality with them in a common struggle for the

freedom of humanity.

In 1946, when the Cabinet Mission visited New Delhi, the

members insisted on calling on Sapru at my house, because of his.
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feeble health. Lord Wavell, Lord Pethick Lawrence, Sir Stafford

Cripps and Lord Alexander spent nearly an hour with him, dis-

cussing the details of a settlement. Gandhiji, not to be outdone

in graciousness, followed their example the following morning

by paying him a personal visit.

When the Constituent Assembly was formed, he was Gandhiji’s

first choice for membership of that body; and he would probably

have been its President, if ill-health had not prevented him from

active participation. His advice was valued and sought especially

in framing the provisions relating to the judiciary.

No one has yet attempted an assessment of his many-sided con-

tribution to our progress. When I look back through all the

years that I was privileged to know him, I cannot think of any other

Indian who had the vision to see the solutions of so many of our

political problems and the courage to stand by them. The like

of him India will not see for many years.

97



8

Ramsay MacDonald

Two men stand out in British public life whose careers a strange

destiny seemed to link closely with the problem of India.

One of these outstanding men was Edwin Montagu, with an

attachment to India almost amounting to a passion. In a short,

brilliant but stormy career, Montagu had the satisfaction of plant-

ing India firmly on the road to responsible government in the

middle of the First World War. He had the vision of a unified and

free India, with provinces and princely States, welded together

into a federal structure.

The other was Ramsay MacDonald, who came on the political

scene soon after Montagu’s eclipse, with the advantage of an inti-

mate knowledge of India’s administrative needs and her political

limitations. As a member of the Royal Commission on Public

Services (with Gokhale as a colleague), he had learnt much that

later proved to be of value. He was able, as Prime Minister 1n

the first British Labour Government in 1924, despite its minority

position, to make a_ bold declaration on India’s ultimate destiny

in the Commonwealth.

His Government’s tenurc in 1924 as a minority administration

was precarious and brief, less than ten months. But in that

short period MacDonald committed the Government to a far-

reaching policy statement on India. ‘Dominion Status for India”,

he declared, “‘is the idea and the ideal of the Labour Government.”

In the following year, the Labour Party, by that time out of office,

was more explicit in the resolution adopted at its annual Conference,

cat a
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recognizing “the right of the Indian people to full self-determina-

tion”.

The Conference welcomed “the declarations of representative

Indian leaders in favour of free and equal partnership with the

other members of the British Commonwealth of Nations”, This

was only eight years aftcr Lord Pentland had sent Mrs. Besant into

detention for preaching the same doctrine.

The significance of the resolution of the Labour Conference

was somewhat obscured in the following four ycars by MacDo-

nald’s nomination of Mr. (later Tord) Attlee as the Party’s repre-

sentative on the Simon Commission. ‘Vhe boycott of the Com-

mission by practically all political groups of any importance in

India represented only one phase of the national movement.

Almost unnoticed at the time, much constructive thinking

had gone into the framing of the Commonwealth of India Bill—

the product of three years’ sustained labours in committecs and

confercnces—-before its formal first reading in the House of Com-

mons in 1926. But it was a private membcr’s Bill, introduced by

George Lansbury, a large-hearted, genuine fricnd of India. Mrs.

Besant had striven hard but without success to persuade MacDo-

nald to Iet it be an official Labour Party measure. He was un-

willing to commit the party to all its provisions: possibly he was

influenced to some cxtent by criticism from some of the left-

wingers of the graded franchise in the Bull, universal for village

panchayats but increasingly restrictive for the Icgislatures.

Another consideration that seemed to have weighed with

MacDonald was the absence of positive Congress support for the

Commonwealth of India Bill. C. R. Das, whom Mrs. Besant went

to see at Darjecling a few days before his death in 1926, was pre-

pared to support it if on her side she would agree to civil dis-

obedience in the event of its rejection by the British Government.

Mrs. Besant, however, with her strong convictions against civil

disobedience as a movement which was bound to weaken the

general respect for law and order and, therefore, dangerous to

the very structure of the State, did not find it possible to accept

the proposal. Gandhiji had taken the line in an article in his

weekly, Young India, in 1922 long before the publication of the

final draft of the measure:
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Swaraj means undoubtedly India’s ability to declare her in-

dependence, if she wishes. Swaraj, therefore, will not be a

free gift of the British Parliament. It will be a declaration of

India’s full self-expression. That it will be expressed through

an Act of Parliament is true. But it will be merely a courteous

ratification of the declared wish of the people of India, even as

it was in the case of the Union of South Africa. Not an un-

necessary adverb in the Union scheme could be altered by the

House of Commons. The ratification in our case will be

by a treaty to which the British will be a party.

MacDonald agreed, as a compromise with Mrs. Besant, to the

Commonwealth of India Bill being sponsored by a prominent

member of the Labour Party’s executive, George Lansbury. The

first reading in the Commons was as far as it went. Its failure to

make further progress seemed, however, to matter little : Pandit

Motilal Nehru utilized the experience for the completion of the

report associated with his name. One of his most valued colla-

borators in this task was Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru, the main archi-

tect of the Commonwealth of India Bill.

The Nehru report, pointing definitely to Dominion Status

for India in her external relations and an all-India federal structure

including the princely States, had an obvious impact on MacDo-

nald on the eve of his assumption of office for a second time in

1929 as Prime Minister.

He had declared in the previous year at the Commonwealth

Labour Conference that India’s attainment of Dominion Status was

imminent. MacDonald’s reference was in the following terms :

I hope that within a period of months rather than years, there

would be a new Dominion added to the Commonwealth

of our nations, a Dominion of another race, a Dominion that

will find self-respect as an equal within the British Common-

wealth; I refer to India.

One of the first steps taken by the Labour Government on

its assumption of office for a second time was to invite the Viceroy

Lord Irwin (Jater Lord Halifax) to London for a discussion of the
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policy to be pursued in regard to India. Irwin was authorised tc

say on his return to India that in the judgement of the British

Government, the natural issue of India’s constitutional progress was

the attainment of Dominion Status.

It was not the Nehru report alone that provided him with

guidelines for action as the head of the new Labour Government,

though again as a minority administration. The concept of a

Round Table Conference was Motilal Nehru’s practical suggestion

for solving the Indian problem, reiterated in his speeches in 1924-25

in the Central Legislative Assembly. His argument in favour

of such a settlement on the basis of the procedure first adopted

by Australia and later copied by South Africa in the first decade

of this century—with a scheme prepared by a National Conven-

tion and only formally ratified by the British Parliament—had

moved Sit Malcolm Hailey, the Government of India’s main

spokesman in the debates, to raise points that appeared to indicate

an open mind. Hailey had posed certain questions which carried

with them important implications. (1) Was Dominion self-govern-

ment to be confined to British India only or was it to be extended

to the Indian States; and under what terms were they to come in?

(2) Were they to be dependent on the Crown or to accept the

control of the new Government responsible only to the Indian

Legislature, instead of to a Government responsible to the British

Parliament ?

MacDonald’s first instinct, as Britain’s Prime Minister, appeared

to be in the direction urged by Motilal Nehru. He vacillated at

times in his Indian policy (because of the minority position of his

Government) and was not always firm or consistent in his dec-

larations.

But one must bear in mind, in judging his record, the perils he

faced at the hands of the Tory Party, formidable in numbers and

in debating power in the House of Commons. It was no small

risk he took in authorizing the Viceroy, Lord Irwin, to declare,

even before the first session of the Round Table Conference,

that “it was implicit in the declaration of August, 1917, that the

natural issue of India’s constitutional progress as there contemplated

was the attainment of Dominion status”.

The Prime Minister improved on it in inaugurating the ple-
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nary session of the first session of the Round Table Conftrence

in London with the following assurance :

The attendance of representatives of the Dominion Govern-

ments is an earnest of the interest and goodwill with which

the sister States in the Commonwealth of Nations will follow

our labours. Nor is it without significance that we, who

though not of India, also seek India’s honour, are drawn from

all three parties in this Parliament.

With an eye on Gandhiji and the Congress leaders then in

detention, but hopeful of their active participation in the

subsequent proceedings of the Conference, MacDonald went

somewhat further in his elaboration of that assurance in his con-

cluding speech at the end of the first session of the Conference :

The view of His Majesty’s Government is that responsibility

for the Government of India should be placed upon the

Legislatures, Central and Provincial, with such provisions

as may be necessary to guarantee, during a period of transition,

the observance of certain obligations and to meet other, spectal

circumstances, and also with such special guarantees as are

required by minorities to protect their political liberties and

rights. In such statutory safeguards as may be made for

meeting the needs of the transitional perio, it will be a

ptimary concern of His Majesty’s Government to see that

the reserve powers arc so framed and exercised as_ not to

prejudice the advance of India through the new Constitution

to full responsibility for her own government.

MacDonald coupled it with a personal assurance which went

even further :
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The immediate reaction in India to this statement was a

strengthening of the impression that India would be endowed with

a Constitution that would mean, except for a few reservations of

a temporary character in regard to defence and foreign affairs,

full responsible government, and that the removal of even these

reservations would rest with the Indian Federal Government of

the future.

At no point in India’s freedom campaign did success appear

sO near as immediately after the termination of the first Round

Table Conference carly in 1931. MacDonald’s declaration to the

final meeting was obviously intended to conciliate Gandhiji and

his collegues and bring the main section of the Congress into the

subsequent deliberations of the Round Table Conference. Nego-

tiations were opened in India between the Viceroy and Gandhijt,

resulting in the famous Irwin-Gandhi pact of 1931, of which two

cardinal features were: (1) civil disobedience to be called off by

the Congrcss; (2) the Congress to participate in the second session

of the Round Table Conference. There was also a clear under-

standing of the basis on which discussions were to take placc.

As regards constitutional questions, the scope of future dis-

cussion is stated, with the assent of His Majesty’s Government,

to be with the object of considering further the scheme for the

constitutional Government of India discussed at the Round

Table Conference. Of the scheme there outlined federation

is an essential part; so also are Indian responsibility and reser-

vations or safeguards in the intcrests of India, for such matters

as, for instance, defence, external affairs, the position of mi-

norities, the financial credit of India and the discharge of

obligations. (The reference here was to the imposition of

such conditions as would ensure the fulfilment of the obli-

gations incurred under the authority of the Secretary of State.)

A general election in Britain during the Second Round Table

Conference resulted in a disaster for the Labour Party. MacDonald

continued to be the Prime Minister at the head of a National

Government but it was now a predominantly Conservative House

of Commons.
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Nevertheless, at the end of the Conference, despite Conser-

vative members occupying key positions in the new Government,

MacDonald was able to repeat the pledge he had earlier given

on behalf of the Labour Government at the end of the first session.

Subsequent events, however, gave rise to the fear that in effect

the British proposals would be whittled down. Immediately

on the termination of the Conference, there was a debate on India

in the House of Commons on December 2nd and 3rd, 1931, in

which not only the Prime Minister but Samual Hoare, John Simon,

Stanley Baldwin, Winston Churchill and other leading members

took part. Churchill sought to add three general reservations

to the Government’s motion endorsing its India policy: (a)

nothing in the policy would commit the House to the establish-

ment in India of a Dominion Constitution as defined by the Statute

of Westminister; (b) the policy would effectively safeguard British

trade in and with India from adverse or prejudicial discrimination;

and (c) no extension of self-government in India at that juncture

would impair the ultimate responsibility of Parliament for the

peace, order and good government of the Indian Empire.

In his speech in the Commons debate, Churchill maintained

that though India might have been promised Dominion status,

‘status’ applied only to rank, honour and ceremony.

In a vain effort to conciliate Churchill, the Prime Minister

gave the assurance that the Government’s policy would not bring

India under the Statute of Westminster unless a specific amend-

ment was made to the Statute in Parliament adding India to the

list. It was embarrassing for the Prime Minister later in the same

debate to have to shift his position to the other side under pres-

sure from his former colleagues in the Labour Government. He

assured Clement Attlee (in order to neutralize the effect of his

concession to Churchill) : “Obviously, the Round Table Con-

ference will remain and, in the end, we shall have to mect again

for a final review.”

The third and final session of the Round Table Conference,

though promised by MacDonald for a final review, might never

have been held but for vigorous protests from Tej Bahadur Sapru.

It was a much smaller body than its two predecessors, with

Gandhiji and several other Congress leaders again in detention.

1u4



Ramsay MacDonald

It met in an atmosphere of increasing suspicion on the Indian side

that the promises made at the first and second sessions might not

be fulfilled. MacDonald, who had played a prominent part in

the two carlier conferences, was conspicuously in the background

in the third and did not address the Conference even once in the

course of its proceedings.

It was India’s tragic misfortune that Motilal Nehru did not

live to participate in the later stages of the Round Table Confe-

rence. Gandhiji was, no doubt, the soul of responsiveness as

the Congress representative at the second session in 1931. Never-

theless, it is my conviction that Motilal Nehru’s presence would

have made a considerable difference to the final shape of the Go-

vernment of India Bill.

A vivid recollection of a conversation at 10 Downing Street,

the Prime Minister’s official residence 1n London, comes to my

mind, which throws light on MacDonald’s mood after the Labour

Party’s crushing defeat in the general elections of 1931. Many of

his erstwhile colleagues had found it hard to forgive him for nego-

tiating with the Tory leaders, without their knowledge, the terms

of a coalition to tide over the country’s financial worries. I was

an invitee to one of the Junch parties given by the Prime Minister

at his official residence to delegates to the Round Table Con-

ference. As we gathered round MacDonald, the Maharaja of

Nawanagar (Ranji of immortal fame) made a casual reference to

the fate that had overtaken the Labour Party in the general

elections. In a tone betraying deep sadness MacDonald remarked:

“Do you know how it feels when you want to keep a man

quiet and hit him on the head but find him dead ?”

THat remark explains a great deal. MacDonald was never

again the confident head of the Government that he was at the

first session of the Conference. It is to his credit that at the end

of the second session he was able, despite the heavy odds against

him, to repeat the assurance given to India a year earlier. But

the spirit of the first session had’ departed from St. James’ Palace.

In the Tory Party, returned to Westminster in a massive majo-

rity, were men like Churchill, ready to pour contempt on the new

Prime Minister, whom he described, in a Commons debate on

India, in an outburst of devastating criticism as ‘a boneless wonder”.
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MacDonald had, perhaps, wandered somewhat far in the thir-

ties from the robust idealism of his earlicr years. But it would

be uncharitable to suggest that the glitter of office blinded him

to the requirements of loyalty, to the principles that had brought

him and the other members of the British Socialist movement

together in tackling the many problems thrown up by the First

World War—India easily one of the most urgent amongst them.

It must have been painful and humiliating to him, isolated as

he was from his former colleagues, to watch the Torics convert

the decisions of the Round Table Conference into legislative pro-

posals, whittling down in the process much that he had stood

for. The safeguards ‘in the mutual interests of India and Bri-

tain” (the words of the Irwin-Gandhi Pact) had finally emerged,

in Neville Chamberlain’s description, as “all that the wit of man

could devise’”’ to protect British financial and economic interests.

MacDonald died at sea, a lonely figure, before the final passage

of the Government of India Act of 1935. But whatever blemishes

in his record contemporary criticism may have found, India

cannot forget—and history will certainly not overlook—Mac-

Donald’s great vision and courage in chalking a course which,

with all its turns and pitfalls, led finally to her freedom. That

course might have been shorter and more direct if mistaken tactics

had been avoided by both sides, Britain as well as India.
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An unusual incident in the early years of my journalistic career

brought me into close personal relationship with Pandit Motilal

Nehru. The Swaraj Party of which he was the leader had entered

the Central Legislative Assembly for the first time in 1924. In

the summer of that year Pandit Motilal was the guest of honour

at a dinner at the Cecil Hotcl in Simla given by a foreign delega-

tion. In a speech full of delightful sallies, Pandit Motilal, who

had the gift of being able to laugh at himself, referred to the drinks

served during the meal and justified his partaking of them by quot-

ing a Persian couplet: translated, it meant that when wine was

served free, even a Qazi might drink. Reports of the speech ap-

peared in many papers and Gandhyi was distressed that the leader

of the Swaraj Party should have deviated on that occasion from the

path of puritanical virtue.

I was among the few correspondents who had not commented

on that part of Pandit Motilal’s speech and he had noticed my

omission. Mceting me on the Mall at Simla about a fortnight after

the function, he said : “What sort of a correspondent arc you that

you should have missed the best point in my speech?” I explained

that Mrs. Besant had trained me for journalism and she would not

have approved of my making political capital out of a social func-

tion. This incident resulted in a privilege for me which I greatly

valued during all the years that Pandit Motilal was active in poli-

tics. I could discuss with him in the privacy of his room with
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complete frankness any point on which I wanted his personal

reactions on important political topics.

Pandit Motilal’s active political life was compressed into about

fifteen years of work. The enquiry into the martial law adminis-

tration in the Punjab immediately after the First World War over

jwhich he presided must have given him a more vivid glimpse into

ts horrors than were available from reports in the Press. By

temperament a hard-headed statesman, he was not easily swayed

in his decisions by emotional pressures. Of the Montagu-Chelms-

ford scheme of reforms—Britain’s niggardly response to India’s

claim to equality of status with the Dominions—he was a severe

critic as the President of the Congress; but his initial advice was

essentially on Lokamanya Tilak’s principle of taking what was

offered in order to fight more effectively for the rest.

When Gandhi’s call for sacrifice came in the first non-co-opera-

tion movement, Pandit Motilal was one of the earliest to join,

throwing away an enormous practice at the Bar. In detention

in a Calcutta prison, he and Desabandhu C. R. Das were eager to

accept in 1921 a compromise solution offered by Lord Reading

(India’s Viceroy at the time) through Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru’s

mediation. Virtual autonomy in the field of provincial adminis-

tration with the door opening towards a measure of Central res-

ponsibility was the price that the Viceroy was willing to pay for

the withdrawal of the boycott of the Prince of Walcs’ visit to

India.

Acceptance of such a settlement might have shortened the

struggle for complete freedom. It is futile to discuss after an

interval of some decades the consequences of Gandhiji’s reaction

to Lord Reading’s terms. C. R. Das and Pandit Motilal were

not willing to continue the boycott of the new Legislatures; after

a strenuous fight within the Congress, Pandit Motilal led the

Swaraj Party in the Central Legislature after the second elections

in 1924. Gandhiji, wise in compromise, reconciled himself to

the Swaraj Party being the Legislature wing of the Congress.

Motilal Nehru, who was essentially a constructive statesman,

watched the fortunes of the Commonwealth of India Bill with

keen interest. Ramsay MacDonald’s bold declaration in 1924

on the right of the Indian people to self-government and self-
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determination encouraged him to demand radical changes in the

Indian Constitution. He moved a resolution in the Legislative

Assembly to reiterate an earlier demand urging the Government of

India to constitute, “in consultation with the Central Legislative

Assembly, a Convention, a Round Table Conference or other suit-

able agency, adequately representative of all Indian, European and

Anglo-Indian interests, to frame, with due regard to the interest

of minorities, a detailed scheme for the prior approval of the Legis-

lative Assembly before submission to the British Parliament for

adoption as a statute’’.

The dissolution of the Central Legislature was (under his plan)

to follow the preparation of such a Constitution, so that a newly-

elected Legislature might give its approval before the submission

of the scheme to the British Parliament for its sanction. The very

basis of the Government of India Act was, in Motilal Nehru’s

view, open to the challenge that the British Parliament and _ its

agent, the Government of India, were entitled to satisfaction

before recommending a further advance. The problem of the

Indian States coming into the structure of an All-India government

was contingent on the results of negotiations with them. Motilal

Nehru observed in the course of the debate :

We have come here to offer our co-operation, non-co-operators

as we are, if you will care to co-operate with us. That is why

we are here. If you agree to have it, we are your men; if you

do not, we shall ltke men stand upon our rights and continue

to be non-co-operators.

There was little common ground on the fundamental basis

of the positions as expounded respectively by the spokesmen of the

two sides. The Indian leader’s assertion of India’s right to make

her own constitution without reference to the British Parliament

was a view which the British Government declined to accept,

because of its clear implication that the function of the latter would

only be to ratify India’s wishes. Hailey, in his reply on behalf of

the Government, said that nothing either in political equity or in

the history of the Dominions could justify such a claim without

any other reference to the British Parliament than that it should

be ratified. He added:
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If it is really intended that this Conference should now be one

to find a remedy for the problems which beset our future but

should only ratify the demands of himself (Motilal Nehru)

and his friends for immediate self-government, then I say it

is not a Conference in which any representative of the British

Crown could or would take part.

Actually, as was clear during the debate, the procedure adopted

in 1900 in the case of Australia and somewhat later in South

Africa, had influenced the Swaraj Party’s leader in formulating his

policy. He specifically referred to Joseph Chamberlain’s speech in

1900 on .\ustralia’s example. The Secretary of State for the

Colonies had said on the occasion of introducing the Common-

wealth of Australia Bill in the House of Commons :

On the one hand, we have accepted without demur, and we

shall ask the House of Commons to accept, every point in this

Bill, every word, cvery linc, cvery clause, which deals caclu-

sively with the interests of Australia..... Wherever the Bull

touches the interests of the Empire as a whole, or Her Majcsty’s

possessions outside Australia, the Imperial Parliament occu-

pies a position of trust which it is not the desire of the Empire,

and which I do not believe for a moment it is the desire ot

Australia, that we should fulfil it in any perfunctory or formal

manner.

Motilal Nehru’s proposal was carried by 76 votes to 48; but

the opponents consisted only of the entire b/oc of 26 official mem-

bers, the representatives of British commerce and a small number

of members nominated by the Government.

A strong supporter in the Central Legislative Assembly of

Pandit Motilal’s proposal, interestingly, was Mr. Jinnah.

I can still recall the vigour and skill with which Pandit Motilal

marshalled his forces inside the Assembly. By temperament and

training legalistic in his approach, he was, nevertheless, a sound

debater. He was fortunate in having in his team*a number of

talented men on whom he could rely for presenting the Opposition

case in all its strength. His own contribution often represented
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little more than a lucid summing-up of a problem the features of

which had already been dealt with by his lieutenants. But his

ptesentation had a quality which attracted the attention of the

Government’s spokesmen. He could hit hard in a debate with-

out bitterness and thus retain the esteem and goodwill of the

British officials called upon to play the novel role of Parliamen-

tarians.

The opportunities for quickening the country’s progress

towards full freedom were limited tn the twenties. In such cir-

cumstances Pandit Motilal neglected no opportunity of moving

into a position of comparatively greater advantage of strength.

Ife nearly accepted a place on the Muddiman Reforms Committce

in 1924 which considered the question of a swifter advance in the

provinces and at the Centre. He served for a brief term as a mem-

ber of another Committee a little later dealing with the problem

of Indianising a number of army units.

I have no doubt that Pandit Motilal was essentially a parlia-

mentarian, at his best in a Icgislature rather than in an agitational

movement. He did not limit his activity to the Central Legis-

lature. The Congress at its Madras Session of 1927 had condemned

the appointment of the Simon Commission and recommended

all possible measures for boycotting it. In the same _ session,

the Congress, in answer to Lord Birkenhead’s challenge to India

to produce a generally acceptable Constitution, authorized its

Working Committee to confer with other similar committees

appointed by organizations, political, labour, commercial and com-

munal, to draft a Swaraj Constitution for India. The proposal to

adopt the formula of full responsible government was accepted

by the Committee of which Pandit Motilal Nehru was the Chatr-

man, with a clear understanding that those who believed in in-

dependence would have full liberty to work for it.

The Motilal Nehru Committee strongly objected to the main-

tenance of scpatate or communal electorates as a hindrance to the

minority concerned. It favoured the reservation of scats for mino-

rity communities in some Provinces under a system of mixed or

joint electorates, as an inevitable compromise for a period of ten

years.

The Committee dealt at length with the relations between British
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India and the Indian States. At that time the problem of Indian

States was being examined in all its aspects by an official com-

mittee presided over by Sir Harcourt Butler. The Motilal Nehru

Committee had before it the suggestion of an All-India federation.

Though the attitude of the Princes was still in some doubt, it adop-

ted the line that

It would be a most one-sided arrangement if the Indian States

desire to join the federation, so as to influence by their votes

and otherwise the policy and legislation of the Indian Legis-

lature, without submitting themselves to common legislation

passed by it. It would be a travesty of the federal idea. If

the Indian States would be willing to join such a federation,

after realizing the full implications of the federal idea, we shall

heartily welcome their decision and do all that lies in our power

to secure to them the full enjoyment of their rights and pri-

vileges. But it must be clearly borne in mind that it would

necessitate, perhaps in varying degrees, a modification of the

system of government and administration prevailing within

their territories.

The most significant conclusion of the Butler Committee that

‘paramountcy must remain paramount’, had not officially emerged

during the deliberations of the Motilal Nehru Committee. But

enough was known of the trend of official opinion to justify the

assumption that neither the British Government nor its agent,

the Government of India, would countenance the idea that the

subject of relations with Indian States would be handed over to

a responsible government at the Centre.

The Nehru Committee (as the All Parties Committee was called)

laid down that in regard to the Indian States,

the fact ought not to be overlooked that the Government of

India as a Dominion will be as much the King’s Government

as the present Government of India is, and there is no consti-
tutional objection to the Dominion Government of India

stepping into the shoes of the present Government of India.
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In producing a generally acceptable Constitution Pandit Motilal,

as the Chairman, had the benefit of the assistance of Sir Tej Bahadur

Sapru as one of its most active members. The Nehru Report,

as the document produced by the Conference was called, was in

many respects an improvement on the Commonwealth of India

Bill. It was based on Dominion Status as a compromise measure

of maximum agreement among the constituent parties and brought

into focus for the first time the ideal of a federal union between

the Provinces and the Princely States. It was a great achieve-

ment against formidable odds. In failing health he successfully

fought for support for the report in the Calcutta Congress of 1928

against the champions of complete independence, Jawaharlal

Nehru, Subhash Bose and S. Srinivasa Aiyangar.

There were other complications which prevented the adoption

of the Nehru Report by the different political groups outside the

Coneress. At a Conference of leaders which met at Dr. Ansari’s

house in Delhi for the purpose, Mr. Jinnah G@vho seemed to have

had some prior understanding with Mr. Srinivasa Aiyangar) wanted

rescrvation of scats for the Muslims in all the Legislatures, Pro-

vincial and Central. Pandit Motilal was prepared for such a con-

cession in Provinees in which the Muslims were in a minority;

but not in Bengal and the Punjab where they formed a majority

of the population. Mr. Jinnah walked out of the Conference in

protest, and the general boycott of the Simon Commission would

have been seriously weakened by Mr. Jinnah’s changed attitude.

It was a perplexing situation and Pandit Motilal turned to Mrs.

Sarojint Naidu for help. “Persuade Jinnah to come back to the

Conterence,” he told her, and as she left to make the effort, Sri-

nivasa sAtyangar alone looked unconcerned: rightly or wrongly,

Pandit Motilal felt he had given Jinnah cncouragement to make

such an extravagant demand. These two leaders were tempera-

mentally and otherwise cast in different moulds, and their diffe-

rences oftcn simmered to the surface at meetings of the Swaraj

Party. ‘‘Srinivasa,” said Pandit Motilal with biting sarcasm, “I

can convert you to Dominion Status in five minutes.” “How,

Panditji, how ?” asked the other, intrigued by the suggestion.

“I will call a public meeting this evening,” said Pandit Motilal,

“and declare that after much deliberation I have seen wisdom in
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the ideal of complete independence. Five minutes later yofi are

bound to tell the meeting that you have been won over to Domi-

nion Status.”

With the advent of a Labour Government in Britain in 1929,

hopes rose again of a negotiated settlement. Lord Irwin’s dec-

laration, after consultations with the new Cabinet, that the goal

of British policy in India was Dominion Status, coupled with

Mr. Ramsay MacDonald’s categorical statement on the same lines

but in stronger terms, created a hopeful atmosphere. Sir Tej

Bahadur Sapru took the initiative (with Pandit Motilal’s know-

ledge and with his concurrence) in bringing the Viccroy and

Pandit Motilal and afew other leaders together for direct talks.

But a considerable section of the Congress had meanwhile moved

further away from a solution on an agreed basis. That was the

period during which the Congress had become affiliated to the

League against Imperialism and altered its goal to complete

independence.

The first session of the Round Table Conference met in Lon-

don in 1930. Ramsay MacDonald (Prime Minister for a sccond

time) made an official policy statement at the end of the Con-

ference on fanuary 19, 1931 (quoted earlicr) offering that rcs-

ponsibility for the Government of India should be placed upon

the Legislatures, Central and Provincial, with provisions to gua-

tantce, during a period of transition, the observance of certain

obligations to minorities to protect their political liberties and

rights. But he hastened to give the assurance that it would be

a primary concern of His Majesty’s Government to sce that the

resctved powers were so framed and exercised as not to prejudice

the advance of India through the new Constitution to full res-

ponsibility for her own government.

It is my conviction that Pandit Motilal’s death prevented India

from reaching a final settlement with Britain after the Second

Round Table Conference in London. No one can tell how India’s

destiny and the course of world events might have been influ-

enced if freedom had come to us then, jfiftcen ycars earlier than it

did.

It is given only to a fortunate few to serve a cause and to achieve

final success, Others have to be content with fighting a combi-
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nation of adverse circumstances, sustained by an unflinching

faith in the ultimate triumph of justice. Among those who la-

boured in this spirit Pandit Motilal will always have an eminent

place. He had courage of a type which is rare in India—

courage not only to fight the British, but courage also to differ

from Gandhiji and Jawaharlal Nehru wherever his own convic-

tions so impelled him, and to steer an independent course.
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Sir P. S. Sivaswamy Alyar

I have had, as a journalist, direct knowledge of the working

of India’s Central Legislature from the time of the inauguration

of the Montagu-Chelmsford reforms at the end of the FPirst World

War. Madras could well be proud of her representatives during

these four decades. In the twenties there were stalwarts of the

calibre of Sir Stvaswamy Aiyar, the Rt. Hon. V. S. Srinivasa Sastri,

T. Rangachariar and T. V. Seshagiri Atyar; after the Swaray Party’s

decision in 1924 to enter the Legislatures, came A. Rangaswam!

Aiyangar, S. Srinivasa Iyengar and R. K. Shanmukham Chetty;

to a still later period belong S. Satyamurti, A. Ramaswami Muda-

liar and Dr. C. P. Ramaswami Atyar and finally, of course, Mr.

C. Rajagopalachari.

Where, onc may ask, would Sir Sivaswamy Atyar be placed

in a galaxy of such talent and parliamentary ability and experience?

He was not gifted with Mr. Sastri’s remarkable eloquence; nor

with the flair for quick-wittcd repartee which Satyamurti and

Shanmukham Chetty possesscd in abundant measure. On the

other hand, Sir Sivaswamy Aiyar’s handicaps in a legislative

forum were almost painfully obvious: a husky voice that could

be heard only with some difficulty except by those near him, a

halting delivery and a temperamental incapacity to touch the

emotional chords of his audience.

Nevertheless, in all these decades, I can think of no parliamen-

tarian with higher standards of performance than Sir Sivaswamy

Aiyar. His speeches, whatever the theme, were models of closely
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reasoned argument based on a careful study of all the facts of

a case. The Government spokesmen, during the period Sir Siva-

swamy Aiyar functioned as a member of the Central Legislature,

were an exceptionally able team, including Sir Malcolm (later

Lord) Hailey, Sir William Vincent, Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru and Sir

Charles Innes. But official replies to his criticism, which was all

the more effective because of the studied restraint and moderation

of his language, seemed poor and unconvincing in comparison.

I recall an incident in the Budget Session of the Central Legis-

latrve Assembly in 1922, when Sir Sivaswamy Aiyar subjected

the Government’s expenditure proposals, both on civil adminis-

tration and on defence, to a searching analysis to draw the irresis-

tible conclusion that there was large-scale extravagance. The

sequel was unusual and scldom witnessed in a legislative chamber :

Sir Malcolm Hailey, the Finance Member, before replying to the

debate, walked across the floor to Sir Sivaswamy Aiyar’s seat and

asked for a copy of his speech. The Government had, of course,

no suitable reply to give, beyond a promise (implemented later)

that all the points in the speech would be closely examined by

a Retrenchment Committee. On another occasion, he startled

the Government with a speech on the need for a progressive

policy of reforms in the North West Frontier Province. He

argued the case on the basis of such an array of irrefutable facts

that there was no official, even with personal experience of that

region, who could adequately meet his arguments.

Sir Sivaswamy Aiyar entered the Central Legislative Assembly

after having served a term of office as an Executive Councillor

in Madras during a period of acute controversy in the First World

War. He thus knew from personal experience in Madras the tech-

nique of administration under the Minto-Morley scheme. It was

my privilege to be in intimate contact with him through all the

years that he was in the Central Assembly and to win his friend-

ship—if such an expression is permissible to describe a relation-

ship between two men, one at the peak of the career and the other

a young and inexperienced journalist. It took me some time

to break through his reserve and persuade him to speak of his

earlier official life in Madras; only then did I realise, when he re-

ferred to episodes like Mrs. Besant’s internment for her home
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rule campaign in 1917, how cruelly many of us had mifjudged

him and his attitude as a member of Lord Pentland’s Executive

Council.

Strange as it may sound, Sir Sivaswamy Aiyar, for all the ap-

pearance he gave of being a Moderate, was not hesitant in drawing

conclusions, however radical they might be, to which his well-

ordered, capacious imind led him. All his life he was a distinguished

member of the Liberal party, never deviating from the _ strict

path of its programme and principles. But I doubt if among his

colleagues there was another whose convictions in regard to many

things were so refreshingly progressive in the fullest sense of the

term. A voracious reader, he retained to the end of his life

a receptive mind, open always to new ideas and influences.

During the sittings of the Muddiman Reforms Committee in

1924, I had opportunities, as Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru’s secretary,

of discussing some points (contained in the minority report) with

Sir Sivaswamy Aiyar who was also a member of the Committee.

Illness had prevented him from _ participating in the detailed

discussion of the draft of the minute of dissent of the minority,

the other three being Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru, Dr. R. P. Paranjpye

and Mr. Jinnah. I was authorised to give him the substance of

the draft and obtain his reactions. The clarity of his mind and

the precision with which he outlined his views made a deep im-

pression on his three colleagues.

Sit Sivaswamy Aiyar was associated with the National Con-

vention which framed the Commonwealth of India Bill. In

one or two important matters he did not agree with its provisions.

He was not in favour of including a list of fundamental rights in

India’s Constitution on the ground that the rule of law was so

firmly established in English Jurisprudence (applicable to India)

that the danger of encroachment by the executive authority on

the rights of individual citizens was hardly existent. Moreover,

in his view, such declarations were not beyond the reach of the

ordinary legislature. Therefore, he took the view that “the

inclusion of a declaration of rights in a constitution must be held

to be unnecessary, unscientific, misleading and either legally in-

cffective or harmful”.

The rich experience of his long and distinguished public life
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Sir Sivaswami Aiyat summed up in his Krishaswamy Aiyar Memo-

rial lectures before the Madras University in the late twenties.

The terms which he prescribed for a satisfactory evolution of an

all-India federation, to include British provinces and the Princely

States—at that time a topic of vital interest—would have done

credit to the most advanced thinker of that generation.

The relations between the Paramount Power and the States

were laid down clearly and authoritatively by Lord Reading in his

official reply to the Nizam of Hyderabad in the controversy of the

retrocession of Berar. ‘The principles laid down by the Viceroy

were: (1) The sovercignty of the Crown being supreme in India no

ruler of a State could justifiably claim to negotiate with the British

Government on an equal footing. Such supremacy was based not

only on treatics and engagements but existed independently and

quite apart from the Crown’s prerogative in matters relating to

foreign powers and policies. (2) It was the right and the duty of

the British Government, while scrupulously respecting all treaties

and engagements with the States, to preserve peace and order

throughout India. From this latter principle certain corollaries

were drawn namcly: (a) no succession to the Muxsand would be

valid unless it was recognised by the King and the British Govern-

ment was the only arbiter in cases of succession ; (b) the right of

the British Government to intervene in the internal affairs of the

Princely States, of course only for grave reasons of internal and

external security, flowed from the protecting power of the British

Government.

After the introduction of the Montagu-Chelmsford Reforms

in 1921 the Chamber of Princes came into being as a consultative

body to enable the Princes to express their views on problems

affecting their order as a class, ot relations between the States and

British India. The more important Princes (such as Hyderabad,

Mysore and Indore) kept out of the Chamber. The question came

to the fore, however, as a result of the British declaration after

the First World War of the ultimate goal for British India and of

the voice to be given to the Princely States in the determination of

questions of common conceen. With the introduction of tes-

ponsible government at the Centre, however distant might be

the prospect, it would become necessary to distinguish between
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the Viceroy as the representative of the British Crown apd the

Governor-General as the executive head of the government of

British India.

Sir Sivaswamy Aiyar questioned the validity of the contention

that the treaties were entered into with the Crown irrespective

of the sovereignty of British India. The Crown acted not as

sovereign of England but as ruler of British India. He refused

to accept the view that the treatics were a mere personal right

or obligation; they imposed, according to him, obligations on

the rulers for the time being of the States, in favour of the autho-

rities, again for the time being in charge of the Government of

India. He pointed out:

It would be an unthinkable constitutional absurdity that the

right to enforce the treaties should vest not in the authorities

for the time being charged with the administration of India,

but in some other authority.

On this matter he differed from the opinion of Prof. A. B.

Keith in his ‘Constitution, Administration and Laws of the British

Empire’, and in his ‘Responsible Government in the Dominions’.

What was to be the nature and the extent of co-ordination

between the States and British India in vicw of the goal of res-

ponsible government for the latter? If the States were to be

organically associated with British India, it could be in only one

of two ways: “either by becoming part of the unitary government

of India on the same footing and with the same powers as the

British provinces, or by a federal union with British India.”

The first alternative of absorption into British India being

inconceivable at that stage, there remained the second possibility

of a federation with British India. Here again federation could

take one of two forms: one with British India as one entity and

all the States as separate entities. Such a federation would have

faced numerous difficulties. British India could not possibly agree

to the principle of equality, not only with individual States but

even with all the States taken together.

Apart from the constitutional anomaly that such a federation

would have brought into being, there would have been for British
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India no compensating advantage; nor would the States on their

part have accepted the decisions of the legislature as binding on

them.

Responsible government for British India meant and could

only mean responsibility to her legislature and of the legislature

to a popular electorate. The creation of a federal body as dis-

tinct from the Indian Icgislature would have made the political

machinery cumbrous, slow and inefficient. He came to the con-

clusion that “a self-governing British India enjoying Dominion

Status cannot agree to the creation of any Central Government or

authority superior to her own Iegislature and not responsible

to her’.

Would a federal constitution of the genuine type be suitable

and practicable? After analysing the conditions essential for

such a form of government, he came to the conclusion that a fede-

ral structure of the genuine type would be unacceptable to the

Princes. At that time the Princes were not willing to submerge

their individualitics.

Federation of any type being thus rejected as inconceivable,

the next question was whether subjects of joint interest could

be discussed in such a way as to give the States a voice. The

Montagu-Chelmsford Report had referred to the interest of the

Indian States in some matters common to British provinces,

such as defence, tariffs, exchange, opium, salt, railways, posts

and telegraphs. The Chamber of Princes, in the view of the au-

thors of the joint report, could be utilised for the purpose of giving

opportunities to the princes for joint deliberation and discus-

sion.

Sit Sivaswamy Aiyar rejected as invalid the claims of the States

share in the revenues of British India arising out of the subjects

for any cnumerated above. The Chamber of Princes was obviously

not representative to an adequate extent. The connecting link bet-

ween the Chamber of Princes and the Indian Legislature was the

Government of India. He had no objection to informal discus-

sions between representatives of the Chamber on the one side

and of the Indian legislature or. the other. He was even prepared

to go a little further and agree to the nomination of a few represen-

tives of the States to the Central Legislative Assembly, not exceed-
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ing five per cent of the strength of the Assembly, with their rights

limited to matters of common interest.

The question was also discussed by Sir Sivaswamy Aiyar of the

relations between self-governing British India and the States,

especially during a transition stage. In regard to topics relating

to the external affairs of the States, he took the view that they could

be dealt with by responsible Ministers even in the transition period.

Regarding matters of internal administration, or questions of dy-

nastic or personal concern of the Princes, the population of British

India was not directly concerned with them. During the transi-

tion period he was prepared to concede that these topics could

be left in the hands of the Governor-General, as distinct from

the Governor General-in-Council. Even as regards this, he

made the qualifying suggestion that the Governor-General could

have two members in the Executive Council, both non-offictal

Indians, one chosen from amongst the retired Dewans of the States

and the other from among retired members of the Executive

Councils, or Ministers, to take charge of the Political Department.

Subject to these conditions, he was prepared to exclude such

topics from the legislature.

The Montagu-Chelmsford report had referred to the point

raised by the more enlightened and thoughtful of the Princes

tegarding their own share in any scheme of reforms. Sir Siva-

swamy Aiyar drew a distinction between the personal interests

of the Princes and the need for internal reforms in the States. He

laid down a number of conditions which he regarded as the mini-

mum standards of good administration. Professor Westlake

(in his Principles of International Law) had taken the view that the

British Government “was not only preponderant in India, but

paramount; not merely the strongest power, but the rightful

superior, and that all treaties and grants of whatever date were to

be construed as reserving the exercise of that superiority when

needed for certain beneficent purposes”’.

Sir Sivaswamy Aiyar’s conclusions were :

The hard facts of the present situation, which the Princes have

to recognise and adapt themselves to, are : (1) the paramountcy

of the British power and the growth of Imperial authority;
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(2) the overwhelming preponderance in population of the

Provinces of British India by which they are encompassed : (3)

the comparative political progress of British India and the pledge

of responsible Government given to British India by Par-

liament with all its implications; and (4) the progress of the

democratic idea and the spirit of nationalism which have fol-

lowed in the wake of Western education and intercourse with

the West.

A strong and united Indian nation enjoying self-governing

status like the other Dominions, he was convinced, could not

afford to speak in an international body like the League of Na-

tions with more than one voice: “The one thing that is necessary

on the part of all is to keep a clear eye on the goal and take

no steps that will encourage centrifugal forces or discourage the

action of centripetal forces.”

Sir Sivaswamy Aiyar belonged to a generation which would

probably feel out of place in the conditions that have prevailed

later in free India. His political beliefs and activities were moulded

by a faith unshaken by disappointments in the British sense of

justice and fair play. There was no room in the philosophy of

such a man for the technique that Gandhiji introduced on

assuming the direction of the freedom movement.

Of Sir Sivaswamy Aiyar it may be said with complete truth

that he served India with no less zeal and earnestness than others

who came in a succeeding generation to follow a different path.

The quality of that service was greatly enhanced by the most

exacting standards of personal integrity worthy of emulation in

all circumstances. The impact of such a man left an indelible

impression on India’s public life.
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15th August 1947, India’s Independence Day, 1s, for those who

lived through that exciting period following the end of the Sec-

cond World War, inextricably linked with the partition of the

sub-continent. The final chapter of that story was written in the

blood of hundreds of thousands of innocent persons who were

victims of large-scale riots in many parts of northern India. Jin-

nah, who could have played a great part in making the freedom

struggle a saga of unmixed splendour, preferred the way of parti-

tion. Uncompromising in negotiation and unhappy and bitter in

the end, he had ‘‘a truncated and moth-eaten Pakistan” thrust into

his unwilling hands.

Much has been written on the circumstances that converted

him from an ardent nationalist to a fanatical adherent to division;

and much will continue to be written as more details come to

light to explain the basic reasons for the change.

Jinnah’s political career falls into two distinct and, in some

essential respects, contradictory phases: the first until 1937, as a

staunch Liberal in his political principles, keen on Hindu-Muslim

unity, and anxious to see India emerge as a self-governing Domt-

nion; and the second as the ambitious leader of the Muslim League

whose membership registered between 1937 and 1940 a pheno-

menal rise (but singularly little through his personal efforts), vying

with the Congress in the adoption of a radical programme and

committed to the creation of Pakistan as a separate independent

State.
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With Jinnah in his first phase I had intimate contacts going

back to 1917, when I went to see him for the first time in his Bom-

bay home to seek his advice : he was then the President of the Home

Rule League in Bombay. Mts. Besant was in internment at

Ootacamund for her home rule activities and Gandhiji was con-

templating a march of volunteers from Madras—a distance of

350 miles—to enforce her release. Jinnah called a few friends

to his house for a discussion: Tilak, Horniman, Syed Hussain,

Jamnadas Dwarkadas, Omar Sobhani and Shankerlal Banker

(apart from myself). Tilak was a little late in coming, and Jinnah

utilised the time to explain to Horniman that the sect among the

Muslims to which he belonged believed in the ten Avataras

and had much in common with Hindus in their inheritance laws

and social customs. The main point of discussion—Gandhiji’s

proposal---took little time. Tilak promptly rejected it as imprac-

ticable and Jinnah and Horniman agreed with that view.

Latcr, I saw him in connection with Mrs. Besant’s Common-

wealth of India Bill in the carly twenties. T was going round the

country and had secured over a hundred signatures of Icading

personalities all over India, including Jinnah’s. He spoke with

unreserved candour when I called on him in his chamber in the

Bombay High Court. Gandhyi’s non-co-operation movement

he considered to be dangerous for the same reason that Mrs.

Besant and the Liberals did; and he was particularly apprehensive

about the repercussions on Indian Muslims of the Khilafat Move-

ment. The enrolment of ignorant and fanatical Muslims in the

movement struck him as extremely unwise.

I got even closer to Jinnah in 1924 when he was a member of

the Central Legislative Assembly. Both he and Sir Tej Bahadur

Sapru were convinced early in the proceedings of the Muddiman

Reforms Committee (of which they were members) that unanimity

was not possible; a minority report became inevitable, with Sir

Sivaswamy Aiyar and Dr. R. P. Paranjpye willing to lend the

weight of their support. Jinnah frequently walked over from

Maiden’s Hotel in Delhi to Metcalfe House where Sapru was stay-

ing (with me as his Secretary). After dinner, they would discuss

Sapru’s first draft of the various chapters. There were negligi-

ble differences in their standpoints, easily resolved by a little
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give-and-take. ‘‘Sapru,” he said one night, “I think I have a sdlu-

tion for the Hindu-Muslim problem. You destroy your orthodox

priestly class and we will destroy our Mullahs and there will be

communal peace.”

The fact is that Jinnah, despite all his differences with Gandhiyi,

retained his nationalist viewpoint and his deep faith in Liberal

principles certainly until 1937. It was in 1925 (or perhaps the

following year) that, in supporting Pandit Motilal Nehru’s reso-

lution inviting the British Government to summon a represen-

tative Round Table Conference to solve the Indian problem,

Jinnah ridiculed the two-nations theory in his speech :

India is not a nation, we are told. We were a people when

the Great War was going on and an appeal was made to India

for blood and money... We are not a people nor a_ nation

when we ask you for a substantial advance towards responsi-

ble government and parliamentary institutions.

No Muslim leader was more genuine in endorsing the national

demand than Jinnah was in the twenties. His vanity was some-

what hurt by the preference shown by Gandhiyi and the other

Congress leaders for the Ali Brothers and other Muslims in the

Congress. To retain his nuisance value, he thought it would be

better tactics to step up the Muslim demand for scparate and pri-

vileged treatment. At the All-Parties Committee meeting at

Dr. Ansari’s residence in Daryaganj (Delhi) in 1928, Jinnah put

forward for the first time a claim for reservation of seats in all the

Provincial Legislatures, including the Punjab and Bengal, where

the Muslims constituted a majority of the population. Pandit

Motilal’s prompt rejection of the latter part of the formula led to

an abrupt termination of the Conference. It was a delicate situa-

tion : Jinnah’s withdrawal could mean the sabotage of the national

boycott of the Simon Commission. “Sarojini,” said Pandit Moti-

lal in his dictatorial way, “it is your business now to bring Jinnah

back.” She was not entirely successful in her appeal to him;

Jinnah did not break away from the boycott of the Commis-

sion.

Later, at the first Round Table Conference in London in 1930,
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Jinnah expressed the hope that out of its deliberations would em-

erge the Dominion of India. At the first Round Table Conference,

he took me aside one morning, while a plenary session was in pro-

gress, and said, “Burma is not on today’s agenda, but Ramsay Mac-

Donald is going to spring a surprise on us towards the end of

the day’s proceedings by rushing a proposal through for Burma’s

separation without a discussion. Some leading Indian delegates

have already agreed to such a procedure.” He suggested that I

should raise an objection and ask for a Committee to examine the

proposal. I consulted H. P. Mody and C. Y. Chintamani, the

editor of the Allahabad Leader, and sought their support for my

proposal of a separate Committee on Burma. The plan worked

and a Committee came into being, though MacDonald showed

considerable annoyance at my raising the point.

The episode affords convincing evidence that Jinnah at that

time believed in a united India, even including Burma. The

scheme of partition was not then in the air, and so far as Jinnah

was concerned, he was more uncompromising in the Round

‘Table Conference on such matters as Army Indianisation and the

structure of the All-India Federation than Sapru or Jayakar.

Jinnah was morc or less an isolated figure at the Conference table.

For the British Conservatives Sir Muhammad Shafi and Sir

Zafrullah Khan proved much more useful than Jinnah. The

end of the three sessions of the Round Table Conference found

Jinnah completely cut off from the mainstream of Indian public life.

In disgust he settled down for a while in London to practise in

the Privy Council.

A strange incident (which Sarojini Naidu, who was in London

during the Round Table Conference period, told me) deserves

to be recorded here. A palmist who read Jinnah’s hand prophesied

for him the headship of an independent State at the end of his

career. Jinnah laughed at the suggestion as absurd; but the memory

of it might have lingered and served over the years as an activating

agent on his sub-constious mind.

The Privy Council experience did not prove encouraging and

the inauguration of the 1935 Constitution appeared to revive Jin-

nah’s interest in Indian politics. He returned to India to organise

the Muslim League for the general elections in the spring of 1937.
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The sharp cleavage of opinion in the Congress, with the left-wing

committed to ‘the wrecking of the Constitution from within’,

was a negative factor in his favour. His initial efforts, however,

proved a dismal failure. Sir Sikandar Hyat Khan in the Punjab

preferred to be his own master as the Ieader of the Unionist Party;

in Bengal Mr. Fazlul Haq had his own affiliations with the Krishak

Praja Party; in the U.P., Muslim landlords ignored his appeal and

sailed under the banner of the National Agriculturists’ Party.

The gencral elections, contrary to all calculations, gave the

Congress a majority in six provinces while it emerged as the largest

Party in another. The Muslim League’s performance, in sharp

contrast, was disastrous, its tally in all the provinces being only

109 out of 482 seats reserved for the Muslims. After the clec-

tions, a much chastened Jinnah made a public appeal to Gandhijt

for an honourable Hindu-Muslim settlement. It needs to be

reiterated that in 1937 there was no demand for a separate Pakts-

tan from any quarter, barring the distinguished personality of

Sir Muhammad Iqbal. Zafrullah Khan and all the leading Mus-

lims, who had figured in the Round Table Conference and in the

Joint Parliamentary Committee, had turned their backs on Pakistan

as ‘‘a student’s scheme which no responsible Muslim would touch”.

(Zafrullah Khan went even further in characterising it as chimeri-

cal and impracticable.)

The rapid growth of the Pakistan cult between 1937 and 1940

is one of the unexplained (but not inexplicable) phenomena of our

recent history. Much was made of ‘Congress atrocitics’ at that

time in some of the northern provinces 1n which its Ministrics

functioned. Lord Linlithgow rejected a proposal which I made

to him in the course of an interview, after sccuring Gandhiji’s ap-

proval, for a Committee of Enquiry headed by Sit Maurice Gwyer,

the Chief Justice of the Federal Court. How could such a Com-

mittee be appointed, the Viceroy asked me, when the Governors

of the Provinces concerned had brought no complaints of unjust

treatment of the Muslims to his notice? In 1937 at a Conference

in London, Sir Francis Wylie, a former Governor of the United

Provinces dismissed the atrocity stories as ‘moonshine’.

The reasons for the growth of the Pakistan movement appear

to lie elsewhere, and have been discussed in the opening chapter.
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Important among these was the disappointment of the League at

the Congress going back on the understanding, prior to the 1937

elections, that it would form a coalition with the League in the

United Provinces, and the growing interest of feudal elements in the

League as a rallying point against the radicalism of the growing

Congress left. With the Federal elections scheduled for 1938

or 1939, all parties opposed to the Congress and, in particular,

to its pro-Socialist clements—the ruling Princes, landlords and

industrialists, whether Muslim, Hindu or Sikh—felt the imperative

need fora rallying point. That was supplied by the Muslim Lea-

gue. In some of the byc-cclections after the 1937 elections such

a coalition round the League had seemed to work. Evey Muslim

in the various legislatures, clected or nominated, was ecouraged

through official hints to join the League. An astute politician,

Jinnah was the tactical advantage of assuring the Princes well be-

fore the federal elections that the League would not interfere in

the internal affairs of the States.

Fed by such different sources for different reasons, the Muslim

League rapidly grew in strength and influence. It may seem a

small point today, but Jinnah discarded his western clothes for the

baggy trousers of the Punjabi Muslim, an achhkan and a Turkish

cap. The League, following the example of the Congress, adopted

complete independence as its goal. The two-nations theory (de-

nounced in caustic terms by him in the twenties) was made the

basis for the new demand of the League, but not yet crystallised

in the concept of Pakistan. Possibly, if the left-wing of the Cong-

ress had played a less intransigent role on the outbreak of the

Second World War and permitted the party Ministers to continue

in office, the Viceroy might have been persuaded to attempt a

war-time federation with some conventions introduced to confer

on the Executive Council the status and even some of the functions

of a National Government.

Outside these domestic considerations was the obvious fact

that Lord Linlithgow did not enjoy the confidence of the new

British Prime Minister, Winston Churchill. In the early weeks

of the war, when I pointed out in an interview with the Viceroy |

that a good deal of responsibility could be passed on to the Exe-

cutive Council through the establishment of suitable conventions,
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he said, “Yes, it would be possible if all the Congressmen were like

Mr. Rajagopalachari and Pandit Pant. You cannot afford during a

war to have a crisis created in the Executive Council every few

days by Mr. Nehru.” ‘Moreover’, added the Viceroy, “any

new move in India must have Mr. Churchill’s approval.”

The political stalemate continued, though in a somewhat sub-

dued key, because both in the Congress and in the Muslim League

were sober elements anxious to get together for a transitional

war-time National Government. Gandhiji himself, Rajaji and

Maulana Azad (and there were others) strove for about two ycars

for such a settlement in the early stages of the World War. On the

side of the Muslim League was Sir Sikandar Hyat Khan, unhappy

under Jinnah’s leadership and initiating new proposals from time

to time for a settlement with these Congress leaders. In lebruary

1940, after evolving a formula which was acceptable to Rajaji,

Sir Sikandar sadly confessed to me at Lahore that he was not free

to break away from Jinnah.

To do Jinnah justice, he was too hard-hcadcd a politician to

subscribe readily to the concept of a separate Pakistan. The

League had become by 1940 a formidable Muslim mass movement,

with a momentum he could not resist. Suhrawardy (whom he

did not trust) declared at a League session, “Pakistan is only our

latest demand, but not the last one”. Jinnah, if Khaliquzzaman’s

record (in Pathways to Pakistan) is authentic, had doubts at the start

about Pakistan being a workable scheme. He had sown the wind

but was being forced by circumstances, over which he had hardly

any control, to face the whirlwind. Early in 1940 the Viceroy

said to me, “Jinnah is coming to see me next week. I am going

to tell him, a negative attitude—no, no, to everything coming

from the Congress side—won’t help him. He must have a

positive scheme of his own.”

This, in my view, gives a glimpse of the forces at work. Jin-

nah, for long years the leader of a minority party and after the

Round Table Conferences with little influence even on the Mus-

lims, seemed to enjoy the experience of being on the crest of

a wave which he certainly did not create and about whose direc-

tion he was uncertain. For Churchill it was a Godsend to have

the Muslim League adopting an uncompromising position. He
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argued with President Roosevelt (who was pleading from across

the Atlantic for a quick and honourable settlement with India so

that she could come whole-heartedly into the war): whom does

the Congress represent, without the princely States (120 million

people), without the Muslim League (90 million), without the Un-

touchables (60 million), not to mention the other minorities ?

This over-simplified analysis, Churchill professed seriously to

believe, summed up the Indian situation during the Second World

War. It was good as a debating point against Roosevelt’s moves

for an immediate solution of the Indian problem.

By the time the war came to an end, Roosevelt was dead and

Churchill was out of office. Attlee, the new British Prime Muinis-

ter, did his utmost to hasten a settlement in India, assisted by two

men with knowledge of Indian conditions and deeply sympathetic

to our aspirations—Pethick-Lawrence and Stafford Cripps. But

they could not, on the Indian problem, overlook the direct con-

sequences of Churchill’s sit-pretty policy. Forces had arisen in

India during the war years, which neither they nor the Congress

could ignore. Jinnah seemed to keep an open mind on the issue

of Pakistan, as is apparent from his ten-point memorandum to

Sir B. N. Rau after the election of the Constituent Assembly in the

late summer of 1946. But the pressure on him was too great to

resist. He subscribed to all the doctrines he had earlier denounced

with conviction—direct action, the two-nations theory and a

homeland for the Muslims.

On the eve of the transfer of power one witnessed on the part

of the British Government the rapid abandonment of positions

which it had held earlier. The British Cabinct Mission had care-

fully considered the Muslim League’s demand for Pakistan and

drawn the conclusion that in regard to the Muslim majority areas,

the setting up of a separate sovereign State of Pakistan would

not solve the communal minority problem; nor can we see any

justification for including within a sovereign Pakistan those

districts of the Punjab and of Bengal and Assam in which the

population is predominantly non-Muslim. Every argument that

can be used in favour of Pakistan can equally be used in fa-

vour of the exclusion of the non-Muslim areas from Pakistan. . .
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We have, therefore, been forced to the conclusion that neither

a larger nor a smaller sovereign State of Pakistan wéuld pro-

vide an acceptable solution to the communal problem. Apart

from the great force of the foregoing arguments, there are

weighty administrative, economic and military considerations

(against the creation of Pakistan).

This was in May 1646; and yet, only nine months later, in

February 1947, the British Prime Minister was compelled to make

a declaration that the British authority over India would be with-

drawn not later than June 1948, stipulating, however, that “the

question would have to be considered to whom the powers of the

Central Government in British India should be handed over on

the due date—whether as a whole, or in some form of Central

Government in British India, or in some areas of the existing

provincial governments or in such other way as may seem most

reasonable and in the best interests of the Indian people’.

This major shift in British policy was followed on June 3,

1947, by another policy statement by Lord Mountbatten, the new

Viceroy, who advanced the date of British withdrawal from India

from June 1948 to 15th August, 1947. He announced on behalf

of the British Government that legislation would be immediately

introduced in the House of Commons for the transfer of power

on 15th August on a Dominion Status basis to one of two suc-

cessor authorities, according to the decision to be taken as a te-

sult of the announcement. The way, he said, was thus open to

an arrangement by which power could be transferred many months

earlier than the most optimistic had thought possible, at the same

time leaving it to the people of India to decide for themselves on

their future.

Mr. Nehru accepted this declaration in a spirit of resignation.

In a broadcast to the nation, he said:

It is with no joy in my heart that I commend these proposals

to you, though I have no doubt in my mind that this is the

right course. For generations we have dreamt and struggled

for a free and independent united India. The proposal to
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allow certain parts to secede, if they so will, is painful for any

of us to contemplate. Nevertheless, I am convinced that our

present decision is the right one even from the larger view-

point. The united India that we have laboured for was not

one of compulsion and coercion but a free and willing asso-

ciation of a free people. It may be that in this way we shall

reach that united India sooner than otherwise and that she

will have a stronger and more secure foundation.

So Pakistan came into existence, consisting of regions which had

steadily opposed separation from India —and carved by a man who,

except for the last decade of his life, was a more ardent Nationalist

than any Muslim of his generation. It started as a movement with

no positive goal except opposition to the Congress, vitalised by

forces that had no real interest in India’s partition and utilised by

Churchill for indefinitely postponing India’s freedom. Too late

the Congress leaders realised the price they were being compelled

to pay for their failure to be accommodating when Jinnah was

prepared to be reasonable, and could control the forces that adopted

his banner. Opportunism on all sides had exacted a terrible price.
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Jawaharlal Nehru

My first glimpse of Jawaharlal Nehru was in a crowded hall in

the heart of Bombay in 1917. A Home Rule Leayue meeting was

in progress, with Jinnah (at that time an ardent nationalist)

in the chair to protest against the internment of Mrs. Besant and

two of her associates for championing the cause of India’s freedom

in the middle of the First World War. A young man in western

clothes quietly walked into the hall and took his seat on a back

bench: it was Jawaharlal Nehru, drawn into the movement for

India’s freedom initiated by Mrs. Besant and Lokmanya Tilak dur-

ing the First World War.

For about two decades thereafter I saw him only occasionally,

either at meetings of the Congress or of the All-India Trade Union

Congress,

I can recall, as though it happened yesterday, a stormy scene

at the Calcutta Congress in 1928 with Pandit Motilal Nehru as

President. Mrs. Besant had asked me to ascertain whether he

proposed to secure the support of the Congress for the All-Parties’

Report (the Nehru Report) as the nation’s reply to the Simon

Commission’s scheme. “Tell her,” said Motilalji, “I do not know

if I will continue as President tomorrow.” A strong challenge

had come from the advocates of Independence—Subhas Bose, S.

Srinivasa Iyengar and Jawaharlal Nehru—-and the decision seemed

to be in doubt and, with it, his own position as the President.

The move was defeated, but what fixed the episode in my

memory was the manner of its defeat. After a bjtter and pro-
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longed debate came the vote, declared at first in favour of the

leftwingers. Jawaharlal Nehru, however, was not satisfied that

the procedure adopted for counting the votes was correct. On

a recount the majority went to those who favoured the Nehru

Report. Jawaharlal Nehru accepted defeat, preferring it to a

triumph obtained in suspicious circumstances.

In the thirtics, when there was a controversy over the issue of

acceptance of office under the 1935 Constitution, he did not con-

ceal his disapproval of my efforts to facilitate a solution based on a

compromise between Lord Linlithgow and Gandhiji.

After Motilalji’s death in 1931, the struggle inside the Congress

continued, with Gandhi seeking a compromise solution. Nehru

was distressed by the Congress acceptance of office under the

1935 Constitution on a formula for which Gandhi was primarily

responsible; and he seemed relieved two years later, when the

Congress ministries resigned, shortly after the outbreak of hosti-

lities.

The Second World War posed for him a dilemma of deeper

significance than in any previous situation. No man in Europe

or Asia had seen earlier or more clearly than he had done the rise

of Nazism and Fascism to menacing proportions. With a promise

of Indian independence after the war, I think he would have com-

mitted the country to whole-hearted support for the Allied cause.

Towards the end of 1939, at Wardha, I had my first real inter-

view with Nehru. Earlier, in New Delhi I had given Sir Stafford

Cripps a memorandum*® indicating the lines on which, it seemed

to me, a Constituent Assembly could be brought into existence

at the end of the Second World War 1(o frame India’s permanent

Constitution. Attracted by the suggestion, Cripps suggested

that I might discuss it with and secure the reactions of the three

most important leaders : Gandhi, Nehru and Jinnah. It was at

Jamnalal Bajaj’s house in Wardha that I discussed the scheme with

Nehru during my first extended meeting with him.

In 1940, Gandhiji startéd the non-co-operation movement

so as to put the claim about India’s ‘voluntary war effort’ to the

test and incidentally provided his followers with an outlet for their

* Reproduced in Appendix IV.
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long pent-up resentment against the British. There was a certain

amount of criticism on the ground that it rested on a false basis

of raising the issue of freedom to preach non-violence. In fact

the movement was started in view of the growing restlessness in

the Congress over British obstinacy in shelving the Indian pro-

blem. It was to be restricted to selected individuals and not

Jaunched on a mass scale. Nehru very clearly explained his own

position in a statement during his trial at Gorakhpur on 3rd Novem-

ber, 1940. He told the Magistrate in the course of his statement :

I am convinced that the large majority of the people of Ling-

land are weary of Empire and hunger for a real new order. But

we have to deal not with them but with what their Govern-

ment aims at. With that we have nothing in common and we

shall resist it to the uttermost. We have therefore decided to be

no party to their imposed war and to declare this to the world.

This war has led already to widespread destruction and will

lead to even greater horror and misery. With those who suffer

we sympathise deeply and in all sincerity. But unless the war

has a revolutionary aim of ending the present order and substi-

tuting something based on freedom and co-operation, it will

lead to a continuation of wars and violence and uttermost des-

truction.

This is why we must dissociate ourselves from this war and

advise our people to do likewise and not help in any way with

money or men.

Little happened of any great significance for over two years,

because of Cripps’ absence in Moscow as British Ambassador to

the Soviet Union. In March 1942, he returned to India, this time

as a member of the Churchill Cabinet, with the famous offer*

associated with his name, of a war-time scttlement with India, to

be followed at the end of the hostilities by the formation of a

Constitution-making body.

Among the leaders of the Congress, Nehru and Rajaji were the

* The terms of the proposals made by Sir Stafford Cripps are repro-

duced in Appendix V.
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keenest on a settlement but found that Cripps was unable to agree

on behalf of the British Cabinet to strengthen some of the weak

points in the offer. A message came to me from Shri Aurobindo

(at that time in retirement in Pondicherry) to be conveyed to

Gandhiji and Nehru, that the offer should be accepted in its en-

tirety without any bargaining. Since by that time Gandhiji had

returned to Sewagram in a mood of frustration and disappoint-

ment, I conveyed the message to Nehru and Rajaji.

With a crisis approximating a breakdown developing over the

Cripps proposals regarding the transition arrangements for the

administration of the Defence Department, Col. Louis Johnson,

President Roosevelt’s Personal Envoy, intervened in a dramatic

manner. I became his channel of communication with Nehru

in a seties of developments which are narrated in the next

chapter.

A major reversal of roles seemed to have occurred between

Gandhiji and Nehru after the failure of the Cripps Mission. By

temperament Gandhiji was constructive and accommodating in his

policies and outlook. He had for some years supported the sec-

tion of the Congress represented by Rajagopalachari, which was

keen on making use of the powers conferred on India by the 1935

Constitution, In the early stages of the Second World War,

he was for India’s unconditional support of Britain and her Allies,

consistently with his creed of non-violence. He encouraged

more than one effort in 1940 and 1941 designed to establish a

transitional war-time federation with the cooperation of Sikandar

Hyat Khan and States like Baroda and Jaipur. But from 1941

his faith in the sincerity of British promises and assurances weak-

ened, and was practically extinguished by the fate of the Cripps

Mission.

On the other hand, Nehru, who had no use for the 1935 Cons-

titution, except for ‘wrecking it from within’, saw in the rapid

rise of the Nazi and Fascist movements in Europe a grave menace

to India and the rest of the world. With the Allied Power

facing a crisis, especially after Japan’s entry into the Second World

War and her spectacular successes in South-East Asia, Nehru’s

tactics underwent a complete transformation. The failure of the

Cripps Mission had much less of an impact on him than on Gandhiji.
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The imminence of Japan’s attack on India was for him a °com-

pelling reason to do fresh thinking on Indo-British relations.

In the fateful days following the departure of Cripps it was Nehru,

assisted by Azad, who exercised a sobering influence on Gandhiji,

and prevented him from plunging the country into ‘anarchy and

chaos’. On their insistence the resolution of the All-India Cong-

ress Committee adopted at Allahabad in May 1942 underwent modi-

fications. While demanding that Britain must ‘abandon her hold

on India’”’, and adopting non-violent non-cooperation as its policy,

the resolution kept the door open for further ncgotiations, 1f

possible, with the British Government; it asserted that India

could deal with the British only on the basis of independence.

Nehru met Gandhiyi at Wardha in the late summer of 1942 after

a lapse of two months. Much had happened in that interval

—he succeeded in getting Gandhiji to modify his view-point and

to agree to three major points: (1) no action against Britain which

might even indirectly assist Japan against China; (2) a treaty between

the Allies and free India permitting the use of India as a base for

Allied operations against the Japanese; (3) avoidance of conflict

with the British Government if at all possible.

The failure of the Cripps negotiations with its tragic sequel

I regard as the greatest tragedy of the war, culminating in the

adoption of the ‘Quit India’ resolution by the A.I.C.C. at Bom-

bay on 8th August, 1942.* Nehru was an unhappy man in August

1942, as he faced the prospect of another futile term in prison. I

interviewed him in Bombay for the Manchester Guardian a few hours

before his arrest. He made it abundantly clear that, provided there

was a firm promise of independence at the end of the war, India’s

support for the Allies would be active and full, and she would at no

stage think of a separate peace. The gesture proved ineffective

and came too late, and he disappeared the next day into the

void of prison life for three fateful years.

Thereafter, for the rest of the war period a kind of darkness

descended on the political scene in India. Nothing came out of

the efforts of non-party leaders led by Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru to

revive and improve on the Cripps plan; these cfforts included a

* The text of the ‘Quit India’ resolution is reproduced in Appendix VI.
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memorandum on an interim war-time solution which I circulated*

with Sapru’s approval, to a number of distinguished Indians.

In San Francisco in the spring of 1945 some of us who had

gone to campaign for India’s freedom at the U. N. Conference

—Mrs. Vijayalakshmi Pandit, J. J. Singh, Syed Hossain, Krishna Lal

Sridharani, Dr. Anup Singh and a few others including myself—

felt that the new world organisation would be heavily weighted in

favour of Europe and America. Asia, we felt, would be grossly

underrepresented, and, therefore, something had to be done at

once to make Astia’s voice felt in the post-war reconstruction of

the world.

On my return to India in the latter half of 1945, I placed the

proposal for an Asian Conference before the Indian Council of

World Affairs. The Council welcomed the idea but considered

Nehru’s active participation essential for its success. Nehru, I

found, was warmly responsive to the suggestion. With Nehru

practically assuming the leadership, the initial project of a small

deliberative Conference was abandoned. The task of organising

a large-scale Conference, representative of all, or at any rate, of

most Asian countries meant careful planning of an enormous.

number of details—and, of course, adequate funds. Fortunately

for us, the originators of the idea, Nehru became the head of a

transitional Government before many months had passed. The

attitude of the External Affairs Department underwent a remark-

able transformation in this new atmosphere—from one of indif-

ference and even veiled hostility towards an Asian Conference

to one of willing and active co-operation. The Conference took

place eventually in the spring of 1947.

Gandhiji was at first reluctant to participate in the Conference,

strangely diffident about getting involved in an international

movement. With Nehru’s approval, I approached him to

suggest that his absence from an Asian Conference meeting in New

Delhi would be open to misunderstanding. He had his mis-

givings about being committed to decisions or conclusions with

*'The text of the memorandum, together with the comments of Sir

Mirza Ismail, Sir Ardeshiy Dalal, Sir Sivaswamy Aiyer and the Rt. Hon.

V. S. Srinivasa Sastri, is reproduced in Appendix VII.
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the back-ground of which he was not completely familiar. That,

I pleaded, was not necessary; we would be content with a message

from him to a plenary session of the Conference. He saw no

objection to my suggestion and gave his blessing to the Conference

in a memorable utterance.

A few weeks later, on Christmas night in 1945, Nehru and I

sat after dinner in his Allahabad home until midnight, working

out the details of the Conference. During the three years he had

spent in Ahmednagar prison he had evolved some clear ideas on

Asia’s position in the post-war world. He visualised a federation

of the countries of Southern and South-Eastern Asia with defence,

foreign policy, trade and a few other subjects of common con-

cern. It was not a move, he assured me, against Europe and the

West, but only for the security of Asian countries. On that occa-

sion I had a lengthy interview with him, which I published in full

in The Hindu of Madras and in a summarised form in the Maa-

chester Guardian.” He was thinking in terms of a federation of the

countries of South Asia as a possibility at the end of the Second

World War. He was not sure at that time that the U. N. would

succeed in eliminating imperialism and colonialism.

During the next eighteen months Nehru took an active part

in organising the Asian Relations Conference in New Delhi. As

the date of the Conference was approaching, he asked me to per-

suade Gandhiji to take an equal interest. I was successful only

to the extent of getting him to address the plenary session of

the Conference amidst the picturesque ruins of Purana Quila.

Seldom have I heard Nehru speak in terms of such wisdom and

far-seeing idealism as he did in his address to the Asian Relations

Conference. He told that vast gathering:

Standing on this watershed which divides two epochs of human

history and endeavour, we can look back on our long past

and look forward to the future that is taking shape before our

eyes. Asia, after a long period of quiescence, has suddenly

become important again in world affairs...

A change is coming over the scene now and Asia is again

* Extracts from the interview are given in Appendix VIII.
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finding herself. We live in a tremendous age of transition

and already the next stage takes shape when Asia takes her

rightful place with the other continents...

We have no designs against anybody; ours is the great design

of promoting peace and progress all over the world. For too

long we of Asia have been petitioners in the Western courts

and chancelleries. That story must now belong to the past.

We propose to stand om: our own feet and to co-operate with

all others who are prepared to co-operate with us. We do not

intend to be the playthings of others.

After independence, Nehru sent me on the Indian delegation

to the U.N. General Assembly for five consecutive years. I

dealt, as India’s representative, with the colonial problems which

came before the U.N. and its Committees—a subject close to

Nehru’s heart. In 1948, at the Paris session of the General As-

sembly, which Nehru addressed as India’s Prime Minister, I sought

an occasion for placing before him a proposal. After Gandhiji’s
tragic assassination early in that year, a large fund had been col-

lected to perpetuate his memory. I said to Nehru in Paris (after

having first scrutinised the memorandum of association and the

programme of activities of the Carnegie Endowment for Peace)

that two or three crores of rupees of the fund could appropriately

be set aside for a similar Peace Foundation named after Gandhiji

to function on a world basis.

Nehru’s response was positive and immediate. From the

External Affairs Ministry he thought he could provide a grant

equal in amount to the interest on the Gandhi Peace Fund for

calling periodical Peace Conferences in India under the auspices

of such a Foundation. I did not get the same reaction however

from some of the other leading members in India who were in

charge of the fund. The proposal was, therefore, not pursued on

the lines that I had suggested to Nehru.

My contacts with Prime Minister Nehru thereafter became fre-

quent and touched many points. No human problem was too

small or insignificant for him. The rchabilitation of refugees

immediately after partition was a subject which engaged much
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of his attention. I had placed before him a scheme for budding

cheap houses in townships like Faridabad.

In June of that year I wrote to the Prime Minister that special

arrangements were necessary in Indian Universities for Indian stu-

dents from abroad, particularly from East Africa. He promptly

replied that he was perfectly prepared to write to the Chief Minis-

ters of States about reservation of more seats for students from

overseas, but he doubted if they could go far in this direction,

since the pressure in India on Universities was great.

Shortly afterwards I made a passing reference in a debate

on the External Affairs Ministry in the Lok Sabha in 1952 to the

French and Portuguese possessions in India. In a personal letter

subsequently I told the Prime Minister that I was distressed

by the large-scale smuggling through Marmagoa and Pondi-

cherry. A joint conference of the officials of the Ministries of

External Affairs, Finance and Commerce could (I told him) devise

an effective policy.

He replied :

We have considered this question of Goa on many occasions

from the economic point of view. In the past it was felt that

any steps that we might take would bring more distress on the

Goans in India than on the Goans in Goa. However, I agree

with you that the time has come for us to revise our policy.

I had taken a keen interest in the strengthening of Staff Councils,

which had been established in the Central Secretariat to deal with

numerous service problems. I wanted a joint meeting of all the

Staff Councils to be addressed by the Prime Minister so as to infuse

vitality into the Councils. I knew from talks with representatives

of these Councils that they were deeply dissatisfied with the manner

of their functioning. Also, I pointed out ina letter to the Prime

Minister, there was need for a prompt settlement of pension claims

of retired Government servants. There were several thousand

cases of prolonged delays in coming to a decision.

Nehru who never failed to respond to such appeals, acted

promptly in appointing a Committee with Vishnu Sahay

(at that time the Cabinet Secretary) as its head to review the pro-
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cedure governing the settlement and payment of pension claims,

both at the Centre and in the States. The Committee, in fact,

considered another relevant matter, though I had not directly

raised it in my letter to the Prime Minister, namely, the settle-

ment of pensions due to Government servants who had been

on a temporary basis for several years. The report of the Com-

mittee gave considerable satisfaction to retired Government ser-

vants all over the country.

Shortly after I had ceased to be a Member of Parliament in 1960,

there was a general strike of Government employees in the

Central Secretariat. For some years I had attempted, in cor-

respondence with Nehru, to have ‘Whitley Councils’ on the British

model established for negotiating prompt settlement of service

problems. The proposal had the strong backing of the Second

Pay Commission. I congratulated him on the admirable tone

of his broadcast to the strikers to resume work; but strikes by

Government servants were practically unknown in the U. K.

(I added) because of the existence of “Whitley Councils’.

Nehru gave me the assurance, even while the strike was still

in progress :

I am anxious that adequate machinery should be established for

the settlement of any problems that might arise. I think you

are right in saying that we have delayed this matter. <As

a matter of fact, some ycars ago, we referred a recommenda-

tion of the Pay Commission in regard to Whitley Councils

and the like to a Committee for their report. We shall now

expedite this matter.

In September, 1962, I accompanicd C. Rajagopalachari (Rajajt)

and R. R. Diwakar asa member of a delegation to Washing-

ton, New York and London on a goodwill mission sent by the

Gandhi Peace Foundation, to strive for a treaty for the suspension

of nuclear tests. Rajaji made sueh a deep impression on President

Kennedy in the course of our talk with him at the White House

that Jater the President remarked to one of his intimate advisers

that his (Rajaji’s) impact on him had proved to be one of the

most civilising influences he had experinced after assuming office.
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The reaction was more or less the same on the senior offctals of

the State Department in Washington and on the Icaders of several

delegations to the U. N. in New York, with all of whom he pleaded

for the immediate acceptance of even a limited treaty, leaving

underground tests for a separate agreement at a later stage.

Bearing this in mind, I wrote to Nehru in July 1963, suggesting

that Rajaji should be sent as India’s representative to the Geneva

Disarmament Conference, and also to the U.N. General Assembly,

as a special adviser on disarmament, including, of course,

nuclear weapons. He said he had “carefully considered the sug-

gestion and consulted some colleagues about it also. I do not

think it will be advisable for us to request Rajaji to go to Geneva

to represent Government in the Disarmament Conference. No

one doubts Rajaji’s great ability and his devotion to the cause

of nuclear disarmament; but still, the reasons for his not being

appointed as a representative of Government for this purpose are

also obvious.”

His last letter to me (from Dehra Dun) was written only three

days before his death. I had asked him for a foreword to a five-

volume study of the work of India’s Constituent Assembly, which

some of us had undertaken on a suggestion which had the warm

support of Dr. Rajendra Prasad. Nehru had told me in the

previous year that this study should be of “‘enduring value’. He

repeated in his last letter to me how useful it would prove to

students of the Indian Constitution. About writing a foreword,

however, he could not promise it, but would give it a thought

later in the year.

Of the very many tributes paid to Nehru, at different times

in his career, the briefest—and the most striking—was the one

attributed to Churchill. These two men had never met before

and a meeting was arranged in London towards the end of 1949,

when Nehru was on his way back home after his first trip to the

U.S.A. It must have been an extraordinarily interesting scene,

this meeting between the most stubborn opponent of India’s

freedom and its most uncompromising champion.

One of Sir Winston’s first remarks, after the exchange of for-

malities, was (according to my informant), “I wish I had been

with you in America to introduce you to her people.”
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“And what would you have said °”, Nehru is reported to have

enquired, with a mixture of amusement and curiosity. “Just this’,

came the answer from the former war-time Prime Minister of

Britain, “‘here is a man without malice and without fear’’.

What prompted Churchill thus to describe his distinguished

visitor, one may infer from a remark he is said to have made to

a friend much later. He had met Nehru after India had taken the

decision to become a Republic, but continue her association with

the Commonwealth, no longer labelled British. Nothing had

impressed him more, he confessed, than that a man who had gone

to prison nine times in his life to achieve complete independence

for his country should have deliberately advised his country-

men, when the opportunity came to make a free choice, without

any sort of external political pressure, to accept membership of

the Commonwealth. Nehru’s personal reaction to Churchill’s

remark is not recorded—nor is it relevant.

I have pondered frequently in retrospect over the strange

carecr of our first Prime Minister. For twenty years he was an

ardent crusader for India’s complete freedom; more than once in

that period when a settlement seemed possible on the basis of

Dominionhood for India. he spurned every effort at a compromise,

opposing even Gandhiji and Pandit Motilal Nehru. Yet he was

magnanimous in victory, and advised free partnership with the

former rulers.

When independence came to India, it was loaded with a number

of problems of baffling magnitude and complexity. No man

could have taken office as Prime Minister, for the first time in his

life, in less propitious circumstances. A divided India, economi-

cally disabled by a long and exhausting war and torn by acute

communal conflict, came into his charge.

The mood in which he took office was characteristic of the man.

Accepting the Mountbatten plan in the summer of 1947 and des-

cribing it as another historic occasion when a vital change affecting

the future of India was being proposed, Nehru said :

This announcement lays down a_ procedure for self-determi-

nation in certain areas of India. It envisages, on the one hand,

the possibility of these areas seceding from India; on the
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other, it promises a big advance towards complete igdepen-

dence; such a big change must have the full concurrence of the

people before effect can be given to it, for it must always be

remembered that the future of India can only be decided by

the people of India and not by any outside authority, however

friendly. These proposals will be placed soon before re-

presentative assemblies of the people for consideration.

Though the partition of India made Nehru sad, he hailed the

dawn of independence on 15th August, 1947, as India’s, “‘tryst

with destiny”. It was an hour-long speech by the new Prime

Minister of India. Never before—or since-—-have I heard him

speak with such moving earnestness and spontaneous eloquence.

Outlining the faith that was in him he said:

These dreams are for India; but they are also for the world,

for all nations and peoples are too closely knit together today

for any one of them to imagine that it can live apart. Peace

has been said to be indivisible; so is freedom; so 1s prosperity

now; and so also is disaster in this One World that can no

longer be split into isolated fragments.

Partition, with its terrible after-math culminating in the assas-

sination of Gandhiji, had multiplied the problems of the new

Government a hundred-fold. Nevertheless, for seventeen years

he laboured incessantly for the fulfilment of his dreams for India

in the spirit of the above-quoted passage. In the carly years of his

Prime Ministership he recetved valuable help and support from

Sardar Patel, who changed the face of India beyond recognition

by the integration of the Princely States, an achievement for which

posterity will ever remember him.

Nehtu always seemed to me to be a somewhat lonely man.

I have a picture of him which I cherish more than any other:

it was taken from a strange angle on a memorable occasion. One

sees only his back as he watched, with no one by his side, Gandhi-

ji’s ashes being immersed at the ‘Sangham’ at Allahabad, where

the waters of the Ganga and the Jamuna mingle. What thoughts

passed through his mind as the last remains of his Master dis-

146



Jawaharlal Nehru

appeared in the waters that winter’s morning in 1948 one cannot

even guess, because the face is not visible. But there is some-

thing deeply touching about that posture, standing erect facing

all his problems, with the source of his life’s inspiration reduced

to a sacred memory.

Few outside the circle of his close associates probably knew

the range and the intensity of his daily activities. Before eight

in the morning he was ready to sign all the letters and notes dic-

tated to his secretaries the previous night. Seldom did he leave

his house without a group of villagers, who had come from far

or near with petitions and representations, being given an op-

portunity to hand them over to him personally. From 9 a.m.

to 6 p. m. or later followed interviews at the External Affairs

Ministry to senior officials, diplomats, visitors and ministerial

colleagues, the venue shifting to Parliament House during sessions

of Parliaments after 11 a.m. Lunch and dinner nearly always meant

a discussion with an important diplomat, or colleague, or a visit-

ing delegation. In the late afternoon, there was probably a party

mecting of the Congress Executive or a public function of some

sort; or it might be a Cabinet meeting. Brief intervals between

engagements gave him time to look through important telegrams

and papers and to dictate replies. Every minute of the day was

thus filled with purposeful activity.

After dinner one would imagine that the Prime Minister would

have been too exhausted for any serious work. But not he: when

the last of his guests had left, he returned to his study. And until

midnight (or even later) he was busy reading reports from India’s

representatives in different capitals, dictating replies, dealing

with urgent State matters that could not brook delay, passing orders

on a petition from an obscure person in some corner of India, or

writing a personal letter to a group of children ina distant land,

who had asked him for the gift of an elephant or a message for

their school magazine. By his bedside was a bunch of cuttings

from periodicals and newspapers marked for his perusal before

the light went out for the rest of the night.

This happened day after day and all the days of the year. How

he obtained his astonishing vitality is a mystery—unless he drew
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on the affection and goodwill of millions, not only in India but

all over the world.

No man who had been through such vicissitudes in his long

public career and figured in so many controversies as Nehru did

could expect the verdict of history to acclaim his judgment in

every instance to have been infallible. Estimates of this dynamic

and warmly human personality must necessarily vary; but the

best tribute to him and the one that will remain true for all time is

Churchill’s : ‘a man without malice and without fear’.
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Subhash Chandra Bose

Of all the stalwarts of India’s freedom struggle, Subhash

Chandra Bose came lIcast under the influence of Gandhiji and his

teaching. Subhash Bose stepped into the void in Bengal’s political

leadership created by C. R. Das’s premature death in 1926, carrying

with him the tradition of differing from Gandhiji, even on prin-

ciples. If C.R. Das had broken away from Gandhiji on an item of

comparative insignificance, vz. that he did not adopt Gandhiji’s

programme for the boycott of the legislatures, Subhash Bose went

much further : for him the elimination of British Imperialism

from India was an objective of such vital importance that the means

adopted receded into the background as a matter of relatively

little interest.

Early in life he was greatly influenced by the teachings of Rama-

krishna and Vivekananda and later of Aurobindo. Until politics

and Indian freedom became an all-absorbing passion with him,

he was moved in his youth by an intense interest in the varieties of

religious experience.

“Why do I believe in Spirit >” Subhash asked, analysing his

philosophical faith, and himself provided the following answer:

“Because it is a pragmatic necessity. My nature demands it.

I see purpose and design in nature; I discern an increasing pur-

pose in my own life. I feel that I am not a mere conglomeration
of atoms. I perceive, too, that reality is not a fortuitous com-

bination of molecules. The world is a manifestation of Spirit,

and just as Spirit is eternal so also is the world of creation. Crea-
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tion does not and cannot end at any point of time. This View is

similar to the Vaishnavite conception of Eternal Play (Nitya Leela).

For me, the essential nature of reality is LOVE! LOVE is the

essence of the Universe and is the essential principle in human life.”

He went to Cambridge for higher education and passed the

Indian Civil Service examination in 1920, But all the time he was

preparing himself for a prominent role in the struggle against for-

eign domination in India and for a life of sacrifice and dedication.

His high rank in the ICS examination came as a surprise to him, but

he had already made up his mind not to accept the position in the

Service and become part of the British bureaucracy in India. In

deference to his family’s wishes (including that of his brother

Sarat Bose) he joined as a probationer and continued for seven

months but he was continuously trying to persuade his family to

let him resign. The sacrifices of C.R. Das and the example of

Aurobindo Ghosh, whom he expected back in politics in a few

yeats, were prominently before him. He took the final step in

April 1921 and resigned from the Service.

At the Calcutta session of the Congress in December 1928,

over which Pandit Motilal Nehru presided, the Independence

League, with S. Srinivasa Iyengar, Jawaharlal Nehru and Subhash

Bose as its main exponents, was a source of much concern to both

Gandhiji and Pandit Motilal Nehru. Following a vigorous debate

on the endorsement of the Nehru Report, a vote was taken on the

issue of Dominion Status versus complete independence, the result

of which seemed to be in doubt until the final stage of the counting.

The opposition, led by Subhash Bose in favour of complete indepen-

dence, seemed formidable, and the large number of votes cast

against veteran leaders like Gandhiji and Motilal Nehru showed

the rising strength of the extremist opinion. On a quip by

Dr. Pattabhi Sitaramayya, in declaring the result, that in the

process of voting some dead members had apparently come to life,

Gandhiji delivered one of the sharpest rebukes I have heard

him utter on standards of behaviour in public life.

There was, in fact, little in common between Gandhiji and

Subhash Bose beyond their whole-hearted devotion to the cause

of India’s freedom. Non-violence—an article of faith with the

one—was only a weapon for the other, to be used gr discarded
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according to the necessitics of the situation. Through the thir-

ties, until the eve of the Second World War, Subhas Bose found

points of contact with the left-wing of the Congress. He was

bitterly opposed to the 1935 British-imposed Constitution and

to acceptance of office under any conditions.

In one respect, however, he was cast in a mould different from

that of Jawaharlal Nehru. The latter’s keen awareness of the

danger to world peace from the growth of Fascism and Nazism

in Europe Iecft Subhash Bose completely unimpressed. No

ideological inhibitions handicapped him in his search for colla-

borators to overthrow British Imperialism. Ona visit to Europe

just before the commencement of the Second World War, he made

an unsuccessful attempt to secure Hitler’s support for India’s

freedom movement. “Vhe Nazi leader was at that time in no

mood to challenge the British Empire or even to weaken its hold

on any part of the world. In Me: Kempf he had written with un-

concealed scorn of his Indian admirers as “those Oriental mounte-

banks each one of whom claims to represent all his countrymen”.

It was inevitable that Subhash Bose, with the heavy sacrifices

that stood to his credit and with his radical views, should have

the honour that had earlicr gone to Jawaharlal Nehru—namely,

the Presidentship of the Congress. The Haripura session (1938)

was his acknowledged right, as it were. But Gandhiyi was not

happy about some of the behind-the-scenes activities reported to

him from Bengal. The terrorist movement was showing signs of

renewed lifc, dramatised by the unsuccessful attempt by a girl

at point-blank range on the life of the Governor of the Province,

Sir John Anderson. Anderson, with his background of experi-

ence of the Sinn Fein movement in Ireland, was firm in dealing

with the Bengal terrorists.

Meanwhile, with another session of the Congress approaching

at Tripuri in 1939, Subhash Bose was looking forward to a renewed

term as its President. This time, however, the members of the

Working Committce (including Sardar Patel, Dr. Rajendra Prasad

and Acharya Kripalani) made public declarations against the pro-

posal. Gandhiji let it be known that Dr. Pattabhi Sitaramayya_

was his choicc for the Presidentship. Nevertheless, Subhash

Bose won a keenly fought contest by the small margin of 95 votes.
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Gandhiji’s reaction was prompt and characteristic : Subhash Bose
(he said) was not only entitled to congratulations on his triumph;

but he had earned in addition the right to nominate his own

Working Committee to form a homogeneous Cabinet. It was

clear that Subhash Bose’s victory was at the cost of the

support of many of his former colleagues and—most significant

of all—of Gandhiji. On the outbreak of the Second World War,

he was one of the first against whom action was taken under

the Defence of India Rules. After spending some time in deten-

tion he decided to warn the authorities that a fast unto death

was imminent, unless his release was effected without delay. The

Bengal Government took the risk (small as it appeared) of comp-

lying with his request, maintaining close surveillance on his move-

ments and activities.

The mystery surrounding his escape from India, despite ela-

borate security restrictions in the early part of 1941 (apparently

through Peshawar and Kabul to Berlin) has never been satisfac-

torily explained. This time he evoked a positive response from the

Fuhrer who saw possibilities of developing new pressure against

Britain and her Allies. Subhash Bose spent some time in Ger-

many organising the Indian prisoners of war captured by the

Germans, and gained valuable experience in the process.

With Japan’s entry into the war, and after Pearl Harbour and

her spectacular success in South-East Asia, it was felt that he would

be more useful in this region and could take over from Rash

Behari Bose* the responsibility of building up a new front against

the British. After an adventurous submarine voyage of about

30 days in October 1943, Subhash Bose established the provisional

Government of Azad Hind. The rapidity of Japan’s advance

through Malaya and Burma had led him to the belief that the int-

tiative in the war was passing into the hands of Germany and its

partners and that he could, with their assistance, play a valuable

role in the release of India from British control.

* Rash Beha Bose left India in 1915, mariied a Japanese girl and

became a Japancse citizen. He however continued to work for India.

It was owing to his effort that a conference was held at Tokyo in March

1942, leading to the resolution to form an Indian National Army.

6
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On assuming the command of the Indian National Army which

he had formed in Malaya, he issued a proclamation in the course

of which he observed :

This is for me a matter of joy and pride, because for an Indian

there can be no greater honour than to be the Commander of

India’s army of liberation. But I am conscious of the magni-

tude of the task that I have undertaken and I feel weighed down

with a sense of my responsibility. I pray that God may give

me the necessary strength to fulfil my duty to India under all

circumstances however difficult or trying they may be. I

regard myself as the servant of 38 crores of my countrymen

who profess different religious faiths.... It is only on the

basis of undiluted nationalism and perfect justice and impartia-

lity that India’s army of liberation can be built up. We must

weld ourselves into an army that will have only one goal, namely

the freedom of India, and only one will, namely to do or die

in the cause of India’s freedom. When we stand, the Azad

Hind Fauj has to be like a wall of granite; when we march, the

Azad Hind Fauj has to be like a steam-roller.

In the course of a few weeks, Subhash Bose secured recognition

for his provisional Government from several Powers : among them

were Japan, Germany, Italy, and other regimes allied to them.

From Nippon he received the assurance of “whole-hearted co-

operation, so that the struggle for liberating India would ulti-

mately be crowned with success”. ‘Thailand expressed through

her Prime Minister “full sympathy with the high aspirations of

the freedom-loving Indians’’.

The war with Britain, he had warned his troops, would be long

and hard. At last, on 18th March, 1944, the I.N.A. crossed the

Burma border and stepped on Indian soil in Manipur. It wasa

great moment in his life. The fight for India’s liberation had

actually commenced. With pride he addressed his soldiers :

Inspired by the righteousness of our cause, we have en-

countered the numerically superior and better equipped but

heterogeneous and dis-united forces of the enemy and defeated
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them in every battle. Our units, with their better tfaining

and discipline and unshakeable faith in Indian’s freedom have

established their superiority over the enemy whose morale

deteriorated with its defeat... With their blood sacrificed, these

heroes have established traditions which the future soldiers

of free India shall have to uphold.

Just when an advance on Imphal was about to begin, Nature

in one of her most perverse moods baulked the I.N.A. of posst-

ble victory. Rain, torrential and unseasonable, converted the

region into a quagmire. Retreat became inevitable and, under

circumstances of increasing difficultices—shortage of supplics,

harassment by American bombers ctc—the I.N.A. fell back

first on Mandalay, then on Rangoon and finally made for Bangkok.

The rest is a sad story of disillusionment and of hope turning

to dust and ashes just as it was near fulfilment. Desertions

became frequent and Subhash Bose felt compclled to issue an

order for summary trial and death in all cases of cowardice and

treachery. News reached him in August 1945 of Germany’s col-

lapse in Europe. Where could he turn next for help? Perhaps

Russia, he thought, since until then it had remained neutral in the

War against Japan. Moscow could be sounded tactfully through

Japan, though he had misgivings about the response in view of

his friendly relations with Hitler. He did not have to remain in

suspense for long. With Japan’s difficulties multiplying after

Germany’s collapse, Russia declared war against Nippon.

Every circumstance thus seemed to conspire against Subhash

Bose. No longer was he an asset to the Japancse but a heavy

liability. But even in adversity his courage did not desert him.

In the final stage there were recriminations about the composition

of the Indo-Japanese War Council. Other difficulties too were

arising, and the Japanese, fighting for their own survival, had no

thought to bestow on India’s liberation.

The end came with tragic suddenness. A group of Japanese

approached Subhash Bose and some of his close lieutenants some-

where in Malaya. A plane was in a near-by field (they assured

him) ready to take off and he could have a seat. What was the

destination? The reply was vague. Could one of his liecute-
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nants accompany hime No, the plane (he was informed) was

full, though actually some seats went empty. Taking faith in

the future for his guide, he accompanied them, alone. A few

days later a Japanese naval officer announced to his anguished

friends, “‘Netaji is dead.” So that no doubt might linger as to

his meaning, he added, “His Excellency Subhash Chandra Bose

is dead.”

So a meteoric career ended, leaving behind a memory which

will linger in the hearts of all his admirers and followers. Subhash

Bose will be gratefully remembered by his countrymen for his pas-

sionate love of freedom and his dauntless courage.

The celebrated trial of three officers of the Indian National

Army at Delhi’s historic Red Fort in 1946, ending in their acquittal,

was a vindication of Subhash Bose’s heroic effort.

The three accused placed on trial for “waging war against the

King” were Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan (1/14 Punjab Regiment);

Capt. P. K. Sehgal (2/10 Baluch Regiment); and Lieut. Gurbaksh

Singh Dhillon (1/14 Punjab Regiment)—all of them Indian Com-

missioned Officers. The defence was conducted by a number of

lawyers led by Bhulabhai Desai.

B. N. Rau suggested two distinct lines of defence in a memo-

randum which he prepared for Bhulabhai Desai. The first

was that, broadly speaking, when circumstances offer no choice

except between two evils, it is not a crime to choose the lesser

of the two. For instance, under Section 81 of the Indian Penal

Code, the captain of a ship running down a boat containing two

passengers in order to avoid running down another boat con-

taining 30 commits no crime.

The situation in which these officers found themselves in 1942

and 1943 was most abnormal in character. Japan was advancing

with lightning rapidity. Malaya had been evacuated. Singapore,

regarded as almost impregnable, had surrendered under circum-

stances that were not fully disclosed. Burma was being eva-

cuated. Even Madras was almost evacuated (in April, 1942) in

panic. There were also rumcurs of plans for the evacuation

of various other parts of India. Charges of discrimination during

evacuation had been made because of special arrangements made

for Europeans,
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The question therefore arose: who was to protect “Indian

lives and Indian property in the areas evacuated or about to be

evacuated? Protection was sorely needed from enemy violence

and looting and—in Burma and Malaya—also from unruly elements

of the local population. But there was another, even more pres-

sing, need. Japan was threatening to send a large number of

Indian prisoners of war to starvation and death in the South-West

Pacific region unless they formed an I.N.A., and she had actually

carried out the threat on some occasions. This kind of mass

murder had to be stopped.

The I.N.A. had, therefore, to be formed for these two main

purposes: (1) to prevent mass deportation and marooning of

Indian POWs; and (2) to protect Indian lives and property in

the territories evacuated or about to be evacuated by the forces

of the Crown. But obviously such an organisation could not

function—Japan would not have allowed it to functjon—unless

it kept up at least an appearance of collaboration in her war effort.

A minimum degree of collaboration was, therefore, found neces-

saty—both in word and deed—hence the speeches and slogans.

But even so, it may be noted that: (a) every opportunity was given

to those who, on any ground, did not wish to go into action on the

Japanese side, and (b) even in the speeches made, POWs joining

the I.N.A. were told that they might have to fight against Japan if

necessary. It is thus clear that collaboration was to be kept down

to the minimum possible.

It must not be imagined—it would indeed be disingenuous to

pretend—that (1) and (2) were the only motives that influenced

the organisers. But they were the only motives of egal signi-

fitance. The conduct of the accused was to be judged, not in the

light of the circumstances existing in 1946, but in the light of

those existing at that time.

The second line of defence suggested by B. N. Rau, was as

follows. The charges against the accused were under the Indian

Penal Code, but that Code must be read subject to the principles

of international law whenever possible. For example, a Japanese,

normally caught bombing any part of India, would be chargeable

under the Indian Penal Code; but obviously if this was done during

a war, he would be treated as a POW and so not chargeable.
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After citing a number of cases (such as MacLeod vs. the United

States and MacLeod vs. Attorney-General for New South Wales),

it was argued that if, under the recognised principles of interna-

tional law, the accused were POWs, the Indian Penal Code did not

apply to them. Phillimore, a great legal authority, cited the case

of General Lee in the war between England and the rebellious

American colonies in 1776. General Lee was released because

the American contention that he was entitled to be treated as a

prisoner of war ultimately prevailed. Phillimore himself apparently

considered Lee’s temporary detention to be a ‘melancholy example’

of unwarranted severity.

There was another reason why the act could not be described

as voluntary. The prisoners Jde/eved that their duty of alle-

giance to the Crown had ceased when they were formally handed

over to the Japanese by Col. Hunt. They thought that they were

from that time subject to the orders of the occupying Power. They

might have been wrong in so thinking; but if they had honestly

thought so, the point had a bearing on the question of mens rea;

it would show that they had not é#fentionally committed any breach

of allegiance to the Crown and that they had merely carried out what

they considered to be the lawful orders of the occupying Power.

There is a widespread notion—not confined to laymen—that

protection by the Crown and allegiance to the Crown go hand in

hand, so that when the one ceases, so does the other. In a state-

ment to the Press, Sir Hari Singh Gour had once said: “The

theory of allegiance to the Crown postulates fulfilment of the

Crown’s duty towards its subjects of safety and protection, both

of person and property. When on account of its defeat in war this

protection is no longer possible, international law takes the course

of inter arma silent leges—wat suspends the law.” The I.N.A,

accused also believed so, particularly after Col. Hunt handed them

over to the Japanese, and therefore their collaboration with

Japan—so far as it went—was not a voluntary breach of allegiance

to the King. If the accused were not ‘deserters’, the only

ground for regarding them as beyond the pale of international

law disappears and they were entitled to be treated as prisoners

of war and not as ordinary criminals. Assuming for the moment

that these young officers were technically rebels, nevertheless,
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the circumstances were so peculiar that a general amnesty might

well have been declared, especially after the war had been brought

to a successful close.

Rebellion is an ugly word, but let us not forget that Washington

was a rebel—fortunately for him, a successful one. At one time,

the British view was that the Boer War was also a rebellion, since

the Transvaal Republic was under the suzerainty of the Queen;

in this view, General Smuts was a leader of the rebels. De

Valera was a rebel. Michael Collins and his associates, with whom

Lloyd George’s Government (which included Sir Winston Chur-

chill) concluded a treaty in December 1921, were all rebels. Pa-

pinean was the leader of a rebellion for self-government in Lower

Canada in 1835. The revolt failed and Papinean became a refugee

in the U.S.A.; but Canada obtained self-government in the end and

Papinean’s great-grandson died in action fighting on the Allied

side in 1917, earning the M.C. for gallantry in 1915. In the Ameri-

can Civil War, the Confederate Army was an army of rebels, but

after it had surrendered there was an amnesty; not a single officer

or man was tried or punished.

It is of minor significance which of the above arguments finally

prevailed with the court—the legal arguments or the appeal to

statesmanship. The three accused were acquitted by the court

at the end of the lengthy and sensational trial whose outcome was

a fitting commemoration of the role of Subhash Bose in India’s

freedom struggle.
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Sir Stafford Cripps

T came into contact with Sir Stafford Cripps for the first time

in New Delhi in December 1939. He was at that time a private

Member of the House of Commons, unattached to any political

party. Ile seemed to me a genuine friend of India, keenly

interested in the solution of her political problems, both imme-

diate and long term.

At a press conference in New Delhi at which I was present,

he made a statement to the effect that he had come to India after

discussing with men having intimate knowledge of India

posssible solutions for the deadlock which had been caused by the

resignation of the Congress Ministries from the Provinces tn which

they had held office from the summer of 1937. Before leaving

London, he told the press conference that he had had discussions

with Lord Hailey, Sir Findlater Stewart, and one or two other 1m-

portant officials of the India Office. He was in search of a solu-

tion to enable, as a first step, the resumption of office by the

Congress Ministries.

At the end of the press conference, Cripps and I had a short

discussion, in the course of which I told him about the efforts I

had made to bring about a settlement. I referred to the suggestion

I had made, through The Hindu and the Manchester Guardian, of

a substantial advance within the framework of the 1935 Consti-

tution. The acceptance of ray suggestion would have resulted

in the formation of an Executive Council consisting of India’s

national leaders functioning by convention, though not by sta-
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tute, In a spirit of responsiveness to the Central Legislature. 1

also told Sir Stafford about the memorandum I had draw nup

for the summoning of a Constituent Assembly or a National Con-

vention at the end of the War as a long-term solution of India’s

problem. I explained to him that this memorandum was drawn

up on the basis of my experience of the procedure adopted by the

National Convention of 1922-23, of which Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru

and Mrs. Annie Besant were joint sponsors. The memorandum

had been revised by Sir B. N. Rau who was then in the Reforms

Office of the Government of India. Cripps seemed to be greatly

attracted by my suggestion and we met again the following day

when I gave him the memorandum.

We discussed the contents of the memorandum, and he showed

great interest in the proposals made. He retained a copy with

him to be shown to Mahatma Gandhi and Pandit Nehru at Wardha

where he was going on an invitation from the Congress Working

Committee in the middle of December 1939. He suggested

that I should also proceed to Wardha va Bombay where I would

meet Mr. Jinnah and discuss with him if possible the contents of

my memorandum.

Acting on Cripps’ suggestion I went to Bombay and met Mr.

Jinnah for such adiscussion. His reaction was, to my agreeable

surprise, somewhat favourable. He expressed his willingness to

give serious attention to the points contained in the memorandum.

On arrival at Wardha I communicated Mr. Jinnah’s reaction to

Cripps, who presumably had discussed it with Mahatma Gandhi

and certainly with Pandit Nehru. At Wardha station, where

Pandit Nehru and I saw him off on his way to Calcutta, Cripps,

in bidding good-bye, asked Nehru to discuss the scheme in detail

with me. It was a memorable three hours’ discussion I had with

Nehru that night, walking up and down under a full moon in

Seth Jamnalal Bajaj’s compound.

Cripps was shortly afterwards appointed British Ambassador

to Moscow, where he remained until the early part of 1942. Early

in March of that year, the British Prime Minister, Mr. Churchill,

announced in London his intention to send Cripps (now Lord

Privy Seal and a member of the war Cabinet) on behalf of the
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British Cabinet, with concrete proposals for the solution of the

Indian problem.

Cripps arrived in New Delhi on 23rd March. Three days be-

fore his arrival, at a party given by a high-placed Indian official,

the following reference was made to the Cripps Mission within

my hearing. Said a British official: “Isn’t it comic that Cripps of

all people should be sent to India to settle the Indian problem ?”

An Indian official replied : “Not comic; there is a plan behind it.

Cripps is ambitious and has his cye on the Prime Ministership.

If the mission fails, his political career will suffer.” A second

British official (connected with the Indian States) commented :

“How can he succeed? Will the Muslims, the Princes and

the Depressed Classes ever accept the plan he is bringing ?”

The details of the Cripps offer were not revealed in advance

to the members of the Government of India, not even to the

Governors of Provinces. The Executive Council was taken into

confidence at a special mecting a day after his arrival, and later the

contents of the document were divulged to the Governors of

Provinces who visited New Delhi.

One of the Indian HExccutive Councillors told me what he

thought of the proposals. He said: “We all heaved a sigh of re-

lief when Cripps revealed them to us last night. I said to a col-

league next to me, these will never be accepted by the Congress.”

The Exccutive Council was resentful that it had not been taken

into confidence until almost the commencement of the nego-

tiations. Through all the following weeks, members of the

Council saw Cripps but once during the negotiations and collec-

tively again only after the final breakdown. They were very

touchy on this point, particularly after their experience of the

Chiang Kai-Sheks’ visit to New Delhi. The Chinese visitors

had given Nehru and his sister, Mrs. Vijayalakshmi Pandit, several

hours of their time every day, and dismissed members of the

Executive Council with a fifteen minutes’ interview each.

The atmosphere in India did not seem to be favourable from

any point of view for a positive settlement. Sir Frederick Puckle,

the Secretary of the Information Department, told a press con-

ference, before Cripps’ arrival, that he (Cripps) would discuss the

political problem with Indian leaders, and the military situation
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with the Viceroy and General Wavell. He asked correspondents

to say that the Viceroy, far from resenting this arrangement,

was ‘delighted’, because for a few weeks at least he would be free

from the preoccupations of the political problems, and could

give all his time to the prosecution of the war.

Cripps, after spending a few days in Viceroy’s House, moved

into a separate residence (3, Rajendra Prasad Road) to meet

Indian political leaders by himself without the Viceroy being pre-

sent. Lord Linlithgow must have greatly resented the procedure

which virtually ignored him. After Cripps had returned to

London, I was invited to an interview with the Viceroy, when he

discussed with me the contents of the cable I had sent to the

Manchester Guardian in the course of which I had observed

that with greater cooperation from the Viceroy, Cripps might

have been successful in his Mission. With obvious irritation,

Lord Linlithgow said to me : “You are old enough to remember

the time of the Montagu-Chelmsford tour of India. Did Mr.

Montagu ever see any Indian leaders without the Viceroy being

present on every occasion ?”

The reception on the official side that Cripps had in New Delhi

was, from the start, anything but cordial. After the first press

conference on 23rd March, he took me aside for a moment and

said, “So you think I will succeed?” I replied : “It all depends

on the nature of the proposals; but India is anxious for a settle-

ment and the press will give you every support.”

I met him again on the following day, and had a long discussion,

in the coutse of which we reviewed the situation in all its bearings.

At the outset I told him that there was a great deal of race feeling

in India on account of the treatment meted out to Indian eva-

cuees from Malaya and Burina. These evacuces had gone to all

parts of India, and with them had spread accounts of neglect and

even ill-treatment. I pointed out that such race feeling had not

existed in India since the days of Amritsar in 1919. Just at this

juncture, when the Japanese were using the race argument pro-

minently in their broadcasts, the existence of this feeling in India

appeared to me to be dangerous beyond measure.

We then turned to the political situation. I said that it had

.changed fundamentally since his last visit to India two years
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earlier. At that time the Congress seemed to attach much more

importance to a declaration of India’s position after the war,

than to interim arrangements at the Centre and in the provinces.

Now the emphasis was almost entirely on the present and not on

the post-war future. There should be an immediate and com-

plete transfer of power to a provisional National Government.

I was asked by him what I meant by the phrase ‘National

Government’. I answered that within the framework of the

existing Constitution a great deal could be done to alter the cha-

racter and functions of the Executive Council and also of the Le-

gislature. As I read the Act, there was nothing to prevent the

Legislature from being made an elected body, though the Execu-

tive Councillors and Parliamentary Secretaries (whose appoint-

ment I recommended) would technically be officials nominated by

the Governor-General. Nevertheless, the two Houses of the

Central Legislature could be made, in reality, almost completely

elected bodies by rules under the Act. I also said that the Go-

vernor-General should choose members of the Executive Council

in consultation with the leaders of the two biggest groups, the

Congress and the Muslim League, if they came in. The Governor-

General could establish a convention of consulting the Executive

Council even in regard to matters in his discretion.

I also made a passing reference to the Princely States and said

that the National Defence Council could be reconstituted on the

basis of Provinces’ and States Governments’ representation, with-

out a non-official element. Another suggestion J made was that

in the formation of the Executive Council the choice need not be

limited only to British India but could be extended to the States.

The question then arose about Defence. General Wavell

had told India two weeks before that the defence of the country

rested on three factors : (1) planes, (2) guns and tanks, and (3)

civilian morale. Of these Wavell regarded the last as the most

important. Cripps thought there might be serious difficulties in

the way of transfer of defence to an Indian Defence member just

then, during a critical phase of the war. Would there be inter-

ference with the movements of troops, for example? I replied

that ifa suitable Indian was appointed, there need be no appre-

hension. No Indian Defence member would be so foolish as to °
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interfere with the movement or disposition of armed forces during

a war. He would certainly concern himself with recruiting, and

do his best to obtain young men of character and courage and

enterprise for the defence forces; he would ascertain if there was

sufficient equipment for India’s defence forces and whether produc-

tion was receiving adequate attention. In fact, not only would

he not hinder the Commander-in-Chief, but he would prove to be

of positive and great assistance to him in a variety of ways.

I suggested, therefore, that the problem should be looked at

differently : how best to secure fullest cooperation between the

Defence member and the Commander-in-Chief.

I asked him to look at the problem from another standpoint :

what were Indian leaders to tell the country—that while India’s

youth must be prepared to make sacrifices, even to lay down

their lives in this war, the British were not prepared to trust them

to the extent of appointing an Indian Defence Member, in spite of

assurances that there would be no interference with the authority

of the Commandct-in-Chief? That point, I stressed, had a great

psychological value at that juncture. The Japanese were making

attractive offers of independence to India, which a great many

people doubtless believed. What would be the strength of an

appeal by Indian leaders to India’s people not to attach any im-

portance to such promises—unless they could say, “We have

already achieved almost complete freedom.” Cripps expressed his

gratitude to me for putting the matter so clearly to him.

Cripps created an excellent atmosphere for the reception

of his proposals. On March 23, he broadcast :

We believe that a generally acceptable line of practical action

can be laid down now, and that thus the main obstacle to

India’s full co-operation in her own defence will have been

removed. We feel confident that with the political atmosphere

thus clarified, the leading political organisations will be enabled

to put forward their maximum effort in preserving their country

from the brutalities of aggression.

I want to play my part as a member of the War Cabinet in

reaching a final settlement of the political difficulties which

have long vexed our telationship. Once these questions
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are resolved, and I hope they may be quickly and satisfac-

torily resolved, the Indian peoples will be enabled to associate

themselves fully and freely, not only with Great Britain and

the other Dominions, but with our great Allies, Russia, China

and the United States of America, so that together we can as-

sert our determination to preserve the liberty of the peoples

of the world. ,

Two days later, he saw the Congress President, and handed

over to him a copy of the proposals. The conversations have

not been recorded, but Maulana Azad in reply to the point made

by Cripps that the formation of a National Government was sprung

upon him by Congress leaders in their interview on April 9 as

a last-minute surprise, said:

It is difficult to appreciate the point that the Congress

leaders waited till the last moment to demand the formation

of a National Government. The final interview with them took

place on April 10. But the resolution of the Working Com-

mittee was rcady on April 2, and communicated to him with-

out delay. It was at his request that publication was with-

held until the end of the negotiations. Gandhiji was present

at the discussions preceding the adoption of the resolution

and left Delhi obviously dissatisfied on April 4. The Cong-

ress Party’s main criticisms of the British offer were: (1) the

Cabinet’s proposals related principally to the future, upon the

cessation of the hostilities; and they suffered from two serious

defects, namely (a) denial of the right of representation to

90 million people of the Indian States, and (b) the novel prin-

ciple of non-accession of a province which, in the Congress

view, was ‘a severe blow to the conception of the unity of

India and an apple of discord likely to generate trouble among

the provinces’; (2) the vagueness of the ‘w/erim arrangements,

and the absence of an assurance of vital changes in the pre-

sent structure of the Constitution.

The Working Committee thus explained its position :

It has been made cleat that the defence of India will in any

event remain under British control. At any time defence is
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a vital subject; during war time it is all important and, covers

almost every sphere of life and administration. To take away

defence from the sphere of responsibility at this stage is to re-

duce that responsibility to a farce and nullity, and to make it

perfectly clear that India is not going to be free in any way and

her Government is not going to function as a free and indepen-

dent government during the pendency of the War. An

essential and fundamental pre-requisite for the assumption of

responsibility by the Indian people in the present is their rea-

lisation as a fact that they are free and are in charge of main-

taining and defending their freedom. What is most wanted

is the enthusiastic response of the people which cannot be

evoked without the fullest trust in them and the devolution of

responsibility on them in the matter of defence. It is only

thus that even at this grave eleventh hour it may be possible

to galvanize the people of India to rise to the height of the

occasion.

Cripps had, at the start, placed a generous interpretation on

the implications of the Cabinet’s offer: a National Government

like that in Britain, with the Viceroy occupying the position of

the King. Congress leaders were impressed with the liberal cha-

racter of the offer on the civil side of the administration, though

their resolution (of April 2) complained of the absence of any vital

change in the structure of the Government. But they were

anxious, for the reasons set forth in the resolution, to secure a

real measure of power over Defence.

Another point must be remembered. The proposals were

released to the press in India on March 29. Explaining the pro-

posals to the press, Cripps said that the object was to give the

fullest measure of government to the Indian people consistent

with the possibilities of the Constitution which could not be

changed till the end of the war. But he did not rule out some

small changes with regard to the composition of the Executive

Council, particularly the elimination of the condition that there

should be three Service members of at least ten years’ standing.

He added, “the intention of the document as far as possible, subject

to the reservation of Defence, is to put power into the hands of
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Indian leaders”. At the same time, he made it clear that “the

scheme goes through as a whole or is rejected as a whole”.

The resolution of the Congress was ready on April 2, and

handed over to Cripps on that day. But the negotiations conti-

nued. Defence (to which the Working Committee attached the

greatest importance) was the first and main obstacle. On April

4, the Congress leaders met General Wavell and discussed the

situation with him.

A great deal was said by Cripps later in London to suggest

that Gandhiji after leaving Dclhi directed the Congress Working

Committee to reject his offer. Why Gandhiji’s view should have

commanded greater respect from Congress leaders after his depar-

ture than when he was there is an unexplained point.

Col. Johnson, President Roosevelt’s personal envoy, had

arrived in New Delhi on 3rd April. I saw him at Cochin House,

the headquarters of the American Mission in New Delhi, within

a few hours of his arrival. He was most friendly and cordial

and spoke of the valuable part journalists sometimes played in

America from behind the scenes in facilitating agreements.

A settlement of the Indian problem, he said very frankly, was

essential for success in the war which America, not Britain (he

asserted), was really fighting. America was anxious to see

China and India occupy dominant places in Asia in the post-

war era, The question arose whether and how he could

help.

I gave Johnson the main features of the crisis which had deve-

loped over the defence provision in the Cripps offer. His im-

mediate intervention, I suggested, was desirable to avert a comp-

lete deadlock.

“Can I see Nehru?” he asked me, “at once, if possible °”

Johnson was staying at Viceroy’s House with Lord Linlithgow.

“Today,” I said, “might be difficult, and certainly not at Vice-

roys House.”

“Perhaps tomorrow ?” he queried.

“No, better today,” I told him.

Johnson offered to go to Nehru’s residence, if necessary. That

I ruled out as impracticable, with the American flag flying on

the bonnet of his car; success would depend on the utmost secrecy

167



India’s Freedom Movement

and there would always be journalists hovering arounds Nehru’s

house.

For the rest of the time that I was with him, I gave Johnson an

account of the Congress leaders’ views and general attitude towards

the war. Nehru would have been co-operative on the basis of

a firm promise of full freedom at the end of the war, and his co-

operation might have meant India’s active participation in its

prosecution. Gandhiji, with his creed of non-violence, of course,

viewed the situation from a different standpoint. He did not

believe in making a conditional offer of support to Britain in her

fight with Germany; his support would have been moral, not ac-

tive. It was a baffling problem for men like Nehru, but I was

sure that with the support of his colleagues, Sardar Patel and Raja-

gopalachari, he would have had his way, if Churchill had been a

little more accommodating.

Johnson seemed interested in my summing-up of the situation.

“About two things the President is keen,” he said finally : “Wall

India agree (of course with a settlement that would satisfy Nehru

and his friends) never to make a separate peace with Japan ahead

of all the other Allies; and, secondly, will the Hindus be just,

in a settlement, to the Muslims and the Untouchables >?”

On both these points I felt I could, without hesitation, indicate

Nehru’s willingness to agree without any sort of reservation.

I was not aware until that morning that President Roosevelt at-

tached such vital importance to India’s immediate freedom as part

of the grand strategy for winning the war. I felt grateful that it

was given to me to bring Johnson and Nehru together. Out of

that meeting, I felt, might emerge a solution of India’s difficulties

with Roosevelt’s help.

From Johnson I went straight to Nehru and urged him to go

to Cochin House that same afternoon for a frank talk with the

President’s envoy. I briefly summarised Johnson’s views and

stressed Roosevelt’s anxiety and determination to sec an imme-

diate settlement with India. Nehru’s first reaction was one of

hesitation : could he commit himself to meeting Johnson without

first consulting the Congress President Azad and all his colleagues ?

I begged him to see the advantage of getting America’s full back-

ing for India’s freedom movement. There was no time to be
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lost, with the deadlock over defence threatening to wreck all

negotiations. Nehru made up his mind quickly and, in order to

avoid publicity, agreed to use my car for going to Cochin House

in the afternoon.

All went well, and tor about two hours Nehru and Johnson

had a full and frank discussion of the Indian problem in all its

aspects. Meanwhile, his colleagues of the Congress Working

Committee were making frantic enquiries all over Delhi to as-

certain Nehru’s movements.

What the sequel to this discussion might have been one cannot

say, if the SZafesman’s representative had not, by the merest acci-

dent, traced Nehru to Cochin House. Sensing that some big news

was in the making, he waited paticntly outside until the talk was

over and rushed to his office to issue a special edition of the paper

that evening to announce the Johnson-Nehru talks.

That blasted all hopes of an informal and quiet approach by

Johnson to facilitate a settlement. The premature disclosure of

his meeting with Nehru greatly increased the complexities of the

problem. Churchill was not going to lend colour to the inevi-

table impression that Britain was yielding on India to American

pressure—the Prime Minister who had said, shortly after assum-

ing office, “I have not become the King’s First Minister to preside

over the liquidation of the British Empire.”

Col. Johnson’s intervention following his interview with

Pandit Nehru resulted in a formula which he published as his

proposal : (1) the appointment of an Indian Defence Meinber who

would hand over such functions to the Commander-in-Chief (to be

cdlesignated War Member) as were not retained by himself; (2) a

list of agreed subjects to be prepared for administration by the

Defence Member.

Whether the Viceroy or Cripps knew about it, before Col.

Johnson and Nehru met, I don’t know. Cripps himself, after the

failure of his mission and his return to Britain, during a speech

he made in the House of Commons on April 28, explained that

Col. Johnson’s first interview with the Congress leaders was

arranged in consultation with the Viceroy and 1n accordance with

his advice. He said:
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On my suggestion, and in accordance with his own personal

desire to be of any assistance that he could, he had other inter-

views which were of great help in clarifying the situation.

At no time did he act otherwise than in a purely personal capa-

city, and he, like two or three of my good Indian friends,

merely did his best to give what help he could to the parties.

I am personally most grateful to him, and I am sure that Ica-

ders of Congress are similarly so. But I wish to make it

abundantly clear that there was no question of any American

intervention, but only the personal help of a very able Ame-

rican citizen.

The background of the Cripps negotiations should be borne

in mind: a radical and sincere friend of India coming with

proposals enjoying the unanimous backing of the War Cabinet;

America determined (as the Congress leaders were encouraged to

believe) to seek a satisfactory settlement through Col. Johnson

who was obviously impressed with Nehru’s point of view and the

reasonableness of the Congress demand; the Japanese advancing

through Malaya and Burma and preparing to attack India. |

After a good deal of discussion, Cripps wrote to Maulana

Azad, on April 7, that the British Government “would do their

utmost to, meet the wishes of the Indian people and to demons-

trate their complete trust in the cooperative efforts of the two

peoples, British and Indian, which they hope may reinforce the

defence of India. They also appreciate the force of the argu-

ments that have been put forward as to the necessity of an effec-

tive appeal to the Indian peoples for their own defence.”

Cripps proposed, on behalf of the Cabinet, the following for-

mula :

(a) The Commander-in-Chief should retain a seat in the Vice-

roy’s Executive Council as “War Member’ and should

retain his full control over all the war activities of the

armed forces in India, subject to the control of His

Majesty’s Government and the War Cabinet, upon which

body a representative Indian should sit with equal powers

in all matters relating to the defence of India. Member-
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ship of the Pacific Council would likewise be offered to

a representative Indian.

(b) An Indian representative member would be added to the

Viceroy’s Executive, who would take over those sections

of the Department of Defence, which could organiza-

tionally be separated immediately from the Commander-

in-Chief’s War Department and which were specified in

an annexure. In addition, this member would take over

the Defence Co-ordination Department which was directly

under the Viceroy, and certain other important functions

of the Government of India which did not fall under

any of the other existing departments and which were

also specified under head (il) of the annexure.

Cripps added that this formula, if it proved acceptable to the

Congress and “other important bodies of Indian opinion”, would

enable the Viceroy “to embark forthwith upon the task of form-

ing the new National Government in consultation with the leaders

of Indian opinion”’.

Negotiations continued thereafter unt/] April 10, when Mau-

lana Azad, in the course of a final letter to Cripps, explained the

Congress point of view : “We cannot accept them (the long range

proposals) as suggested.” At the same time he added, “the

ultimate decision... would be governed by the changes made

in the present”. Elaborating this point, the letter went on:

The over-riding problem before all of us, and more especially

before all Indians, is the defence of the country from aggres-

sion and invasion. The future, important as it is, will depend

on what happens in the next few months and years. We were,

therefore, prepared to do without any assurances for this uncer-

tain future, hoping that through our sacrifices in the defence

of our country we would lay the solid and enduring founda-

tions for a free and independent India. We concentrated,

therefore, on the present.

Regarding proposals for the present, the criticism was that

they were vague and incomplete,
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except in so far as it was made clear that His Majesty’s Go-

vernment must inevitably bear the full responsibility for the

defence of India. These proposals, in effect, asked for parti-

cipation in the tasks of today with a view to ensure ‘the future

freedom of India’. Freedom was for an uncertain future, not

for the present; and no indication was given in clause (e) of

what arrangements or governmental and other changes would

be made in the present.

On Defence, the Congress pleaded that without control over

it a National Government could function only ina very limited

field.

The chief function of a National Government must necessa-

rily be to organize Defence both intensively and on the widest

popular basis and to create a mass psychology of resistance

to an invader. Only a National Government could do that,

and only a Government on whom this responsibility was laid.

Popular resistance must have a national background, and

both the soldier and the civilian must feel that they are fight-

ing for their country’s freedom under national leadership.

It is necessary to examine in some further detail the Congress

attitude towards defence.
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The question (said the letter) was one not of just satisfying

our national aspirations, but of effective prosecution of the

war and fighting to the last any invader who set foot on

the soil of India. On general principles, a National Govern-

ment would control Defence through a Defence Minister, and

the Commander-in-Chief would control the armed forces and

would have full latitude in the carrying out of operations con-

nected with the war. An Indian National Government should

have normally functioned in this way. We made it clear that

the Commander-in-Chief in India would have control of the

armed forces and the conduct of operations and other matters

connected therewith. With a view to arriving at a settlement,

we wete prepared to accept certain limitations on the normal
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powers of the Defence Minister. We had no desire to upset

in the middle of the war the present military organization or

arrangements. We accepted also that the higher strategy of

the war should be controlled by the War Cabinet in London

which would have an Indian member. The immediate object

before us was to make the Defence of India more effective, to

stengthen it, to broadbase it on the popular will, and to reduce

all red tape, delay and inefficiency from it. There was no question

of our interfering with the technical side. One thing, of course,

was of paramount importance to us : India’s safety and defence.

subject to this primary consideration, there was no reason why

there should be any difficulty in finding a way out of the present

impasse in accordance with the unanimous desire of the Indian

people, for in this matter there are no differences amongst

us.

Congress leaders were not satisfied with the classification of

subjects for administration by the Defence and War Members res-

pectively. They described it as ‘a revealing Ist’, assigning to

the Indian Defence Member ‘relatively unimportant subjects’.

Nevertheless, they continued the negotiations in the hope that

when the picture was completed, it would represent a substantial

measure of advance, particularly in the field of civil administration.

In the final stages of the negotiations, however, the Congress

leaders were disappointed with the explanations given by Cripps.

Maulana Azad revealed :

You had referred both privately and in the course of public

statements to a National Government and a ‘Cabinet’ consist-

ing of ‘Ministers’. These words have a certain significance

and we had imagined that the new Government would func-

tion with full powers as a Cabinet with the Viceroy acting as

a constitutional head. But the new picture that you placed

before us was really not very different from the old, the diffe-

rence being one of degree and not of kind. The new Govern-

ment could neither be called, except vaguely and inaccurately,

nor could it function as a National Government. It would

just be the Viceroy and his Executive Council with the Vice-
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roy having all his old powers. We did not ask for any legal

changes but we did ask for definite assurances and conventions

which would indicate that the new Government would function

as a free government the members of which act as members

of a Cabinet in a constitutional government. In regard to the

conduct of the war and connected activities, the Commander-

in-Chief would have freedom, and he would also act as War

Minister.

The Congress leaders were informed that the question of suit-

able conventions could be discussed at a later stage with the Vice-

roy (though that stage was never reached for no fault of theirs).

It was pointed out to them that resignation was always a possi-

bility to enforce a popular decision. But they rejected the sug-

gestion as an inappropriate approach. They wanted the Govern-

ment to proceed by agreement, not by threats of conflict and dead-

lock.

The question may be asked, was it necessary for the Congress

leaders to demand in advance certain assurances from the Vice-

roy? Under the Constitution, he was bound to accept the

decisions of a majority of his Executive Council, unless such

acceptance was likely to imperil the safety or tranquility of the

country or any part of it. No Viceroy would have lightly set

aside majority decisions and risked conflicts, especially in the

middle of a war.

But the Congress was faced with a real difficulty. Five years

earlier, in 1937, the point had arisen whether the Congress should

form Ministries in the seven Provinces in which it had obtained

substantial majorities at the general elections held at the beginning

of that year. The Ministries were responsible under the Govern-

ment of India Act to the Legislatures, and they were constituted

as single-party Governments. Even under those circumstances,

the Congress had decided to ask for certain assurances that the

Governors, through resort to their special powers, would not

stand in the way of their Ministers carrying out their programmes.

The Congress argument in the final stages of the Cripps nego-

tiations may broadly be stated thus : we asked for assurances from

Governors five years ago despite the fact that (a) the Ministries
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were responsible to the Legislatures; and (b) the Congress alone

would form the Cabinets. Those assurances were given by the

Viceroy, with the support of Lord Zetland, the Secretary of State

for India. But here, at the Centre, there was no responsibility

to the Legislature, the Viceroy being supreme; and no party majo-

rity in the Executive, let alone a party Cabinet. ‘Therefore, the

case in favour of assurances being given was immeasurably stronger.

The Viceroy possessed vast powers. Mr. Churchill, when

in the Opposition, had described them in 1934 as such that they

might well be “the envy of Mussolini”. The Viceroy was not only

Governor-General as in the Dominions : he was, besides, his own

Prime Minister and Foreign Minister; he could, sometimes acting

with an Executive Councillor, but sometimes alone, take decisions

in the name of the Government of India; he represented the King

in the capacity of Crown Representative; and there were several

other matters ‘in his discretion’ regarding which he need not

consult the Executive Council.

Moreover, during the Cripps negotiations, certain Members

of the Executive Council had intimate talks with one or two

leading members of the Congress Working Committee and had

pointed out that the autocracy of the Viceroy needed some checks.

There was no doubt that Lord Linlithgow had interpreted the

Constitution in a narrow, illiberal way, almost always to his own

advantage, and unduly limited the powers and authority of the

Exccutive Council.

So far as the Congress leaders were concerned, they felt that

in demanding these assurances, they were relying on their own

experience five years earlier in the Provinces, fortified by first-

hand knowledge of the actual working of the Executive Council

on the part of some of the present members. And after all, such

assurances having been given in the Provinces could be repeated

at the Centre. Another point was that if they did not demand

them, the All-India Congress Committce would have been enti-

tled to an explanation from the leaders for their omission.

In a final revicw of the picture as presented, the Congress

leaders felt : we have been very moderate in our demands; in

regard to defence, we have asked for much less than what a Do-

minion enjoys; we have the powerful support of America through
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Col. Johnson who has already given evidence of his libesal ap-

proach to our problems; therefore, even an initial refusal by Sir

Stafford Cripps in regard to transfer of power on the civil side

need not be taken too seriously, particularly after the generous

intentions expressed by him in the earlier stages.

Right up to the last moment, there was optimism among Cong-

ress leaders that there would be a settlement. But misgivings

were expressed on the official side in Delhi. On April 8, an

Executive Councillor told me that Congress leaders were only

manoeuvring for position and had no intention of coming into

the Government. On the following day a report appeared in the

press that Lord Halifax had announced in a specch in Washington

the breakdown of the Delhi negotiations.

Cripps was showing signs of weariness. There were indi-

cations of an early summer and he found the temperature of

Delhi disagreeably high. He was also anxious about developments

in England. He asked me more than once if the Congress leaders

were really keen on a settlement. I told him that while I could

not generalise, I was certain that Azad, Nehru, Rajagopalachari

and that section which they represented were anxious for one.

I asked him repeatedly if he could not bring Rajagopalachari into

the discussions. He said he would have had no objection; but it

was for the Working Committee to send him. I had suggested on

an earlier occasion, and repeated in my final talk with him, that

he should summon together six or seven of the men he had been

seeing separately—not only Congress leaders, but Jinnah, Te}

Bahadur Sapru, Rajagopalachari and Ambedkar—and reach a

general agreement. He gave me the impression he had it in

his mind.

The last time I saw Cripps was on April 9. Events moved

very quickly from that date. On April 10, I was informed by one

of his Secretaries that the breakdown seemed final, the Congress

leaders had rejected everything and Cripps was bitterly disappoint-

ed. I urged his Secretary, whom I saw, to request Cripps to

postpone his departure by a few days because a settlement, once

almost in sight, could not be so difficult to reach. In any event,

I said, it would be tactful not to announce a final breakdown,
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but merely to say that certain new points had arisen necessitating

a personal discussion with the British Cabinet.

I was afraid that the effects of a failure might further complicate

the situation. Japanese planes had bombed, in that week, two

of India’s coastal towns on the Madras coast and also Colombo.

British losses in a naval encounter in the Indian Ocean had been

heavy. But for some reason Cripps was not willing to stay on.

He left Delhi by air on April 12. Before going he broad-

cast to India giving the reasons for his failure. The effect was

devastating. He blamed the Congress leaders for the breakdown

and gave two reasons which no one who had followed the nego-

tiations with care could appreciate : (1) that they had demanded an

immediate change in the Constitution, a point (he said) raised at

the last moment; (2) that they had asked for a true National Go-

vernment untramelled by any control by the Viceroy or the British

Government. Hc interpreted the second point as a system of

Government “responsible to no Legislature or electorate, incap-

able of being changed and the majority of whom would be in a

position to dominate large minorities’. He went on to say that

the minorities would never accept such a position, nor could the

British Government consent to a breach of its pledge to the mino-

rities,

The Congress point of view was very different. Explaining

the cause of the breakdown, Mr. Rajagopalachari said :

We were procceding all along under an impression that the

National Government to be set up would be a Cabinet func-

tioning as in a constitutional government, that is to say,

the Governor-General would accept the advice of Minis-

ters and that the only reservation was the authority of the

Commander-in-Chief and of the British War Cabinet, but we

were aghast when we wete told that all the new Members of

the Government would only function like the present Exe-

cutive Council members and not as Ministers in a constitu-

tional government. When we protested, we were told that

we could threaten to resign and otherwise use our strength

against the Governor-General and , the Secretary of State

for India, but there was to be no agreed understanding on the.
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subject to prevent such conflicts. On this single ifsue the

negotiations finally broke.

The negotiations did not reach the state when the composition

or the manner of the formation of the National Government

were to be discussed. The whole thing broke on an _ issue

which was not understood by anyone as having anything to

do with the communal problem.

Jawaharlal] Nehru and Maulana Azad made similar statements,

expressing astonishment that Cripps should have thrown no

them the responsibility for the breakdown.

Looking back over that period, one can point to many things

which made a settlement difficult, almost impossible. The per-

sonal factor loomed very large. It was very clear that Cripps’

procedure of seeing the Indian leaders without the Viceroy being

present was greatly resented. The Viceroy said to me that he

had offered such loyal cooperation to Cripps as he could from

the outside; but that he could not intervene in the way I suggested

(about his power of veto), because that point was never put to

him! The reference to Montagu not seeing Indian leaders in

1917 without the Viceroy also being present was extremely signi-

ficant.

Secondly, did Louis Johnson’s intervention help or compli-

cate the situation? Did Cripps really welcome it, or did he feel

embarrassed that Johnson should have come right into the nego-

tiations? Thirdly, would Nehru have been quite so firm in his

demands, if in his many talks with Johnson he had not felt en-

couraged to think that America would insist upon a settlement

by agreement? Jinnah’s opposition, Johnson was from the

beginning inclined to regard as a minor obstacle. If Nehru and

the British could come to terms, he told me several times, Jin-

nah could be brought round by the British in half an hour.

Apart from this, the Executive Council was in no mood to be

helpful. I saw, later, a memorandum prepared by some of the

Indian members in which they complained in strong language

about having been ignored by Cripps throughout the period of the

negotiations. They felt,that their prestige had been undermined,

and Cripps had shown no consideration for the manner in which
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they had at a critical moment come to the assistance of the Viceroy.

Then there were the Princes. Some of them were dis-

appointed that the Cripps scheme would not permit the States to

form a Dominion of their own; and also that they could not,

after joining the Indian Union, retain direct relations with the

British Government. Two Princes saw Cripps by themselves,

and were told by him in effect: “The British will quit India after

the war; why don’t you (Princes) make up with Gandhi and the

Congress?” The conversation and its sequel were conveyed to

me by a Minister of one of these Princes. Two of them went

to the Viceroy, it seems, and wanted a report sent at once to the

Prime Minister. The Viceroy asked for a written record of the

conversation. The two Princes considered on reflection that

this might be a risky undertaking, particularly as they were

watned by their advisers that Cripps might one day be Britain’s

Prime Minister.

It was apparent that Cripps had not been entirely tactful in his

handling of the situation in Delhi. Congress leaders he alien-

ated by making unfounded charges in his final broadcast, and

non-Congress elements he made no attempt at any time to win

over. The officials were never his friends. He made the posi-

tion worse by varying his explanations for the breakdown. In

Delhi he said that the Congress asked for constitutional changes

and majority rule in the Executive. That was promptly denied.

Later, he said that Gandhiji had raised the issue of violence and

non-violence. Later still (after Gandhiji’s arrest) he suggested that

he sabotaged the negotiations after leaving Delhi on April 4.

That was categorically denied by Rajagopalachari who was in

the Working Committee from the beginning to the end of the

discussions. I had also a report froma British friend of Gandhi-

ji’s (who spent a day at Sewagram with him in July) that Gandhiji

definitely said he had no communication with the Working

Committee after leaving Delhi.

While these charges were made from the British side, there

wete suggestions, on the other hand, that Cripps’ instructions

were altered in the final stages and therefore he could not carry

out the promises he had made earlier. Whether this was true or

not, no one can say with authority. Johnson asked me, soon
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after Cripps’ departure, whether I had heard that Cripps’ attitude

definitely changed after he had received a cable from Churchill
on April 7.

Circumstantially, however, there was a good deal to support the

suggestion that Cripps was not as free to negotiate at the end as

he was at the beginning. Churchill’s first announcement made

it quite plain that Cripps alone would discuss the political situation

with the Indian leaders. A week after his arrival in Delhi,

Cripps told a press conference that he would stay for two months

in India if necessary (with the Cabinet’s permission), and put

through the settlement in all details. When there was a hitch

over Defence, he brought the Congress leaders and General Wavell

together for a discussion. But in regard to the Viceroy’s power

of veto, the point over which the breakdown occurred, he would

not have a similar discussion in the presence of the Viceroy.

I was told as a press correspondent that no suggestion of inter-

ference with Cripps’ freedom of negotiations would be permit-

ted in my cables. It was significant, however, that Cripps found

it necessary to deny at a press conference in the second week of

his stay in Delhi, that any Generals or high officials had threatened

resignation, or that the Viceroy was making difficulties. Des-

pite the denial, the report persisted that he was not having things

his own way and could not agree to anything which had not the

approval also of the Viceroy and of General Wavell.

Leaving aside these reports, it was beyond dispute that Cripps

did use the terms ‘National Government’ and ‘Cabinet’ in the

early stages; he had talked of the abolition of the India Office and

the removal of the three service members of the Executive Coun-

cil, Maulana Azad referred in his letter to the “‘growing deterio-

ration” in the atmosphere as the negotiations proceeded, Cripps

“explaining away” these earlier promises.

It is on record that when Cripps left London with the scheme,

certain details regarding the interim arrangements were left deli-

berately vague, to be specified in the final stages. He seemed

confident of securing the consent of the Congress for the post-

War arrangements, bearing in mind the impressions he had formed

on his previous visit in 1939. I think he gambled on this and lost.

In order to win over the Congress to his side, he went too far in
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talking about a National Government arguing to himself that once

he got the Congress to agree, Jinnah could not afford to stand

out; and the consent of both the major parties thus secured, he

could then afford to take a bold line in regard to the immediate

ptesent—bolder than what the British Cabinet would otherwise

have sanctioned. His calculations went wrong from the begin-

ning in almost every respect; and he found that his earlier expla-

nation of the implications of the scheme for the immediate

future was his main embarrassment.

It may be of interest to note Nehru’s view of the failure of

the negotiations. At a press conference held on April 12 (within

a few hours of Cripps’ departure from Delhi) he was asked as to

who was responsible for the breakdown. In answer he explained in

detail the various stages of the negotiations. If he had been asked

just before his last interview with Cripps he would have said

that the chances of coming to an agreement were about 75 per cent.

At that interview, however, the full picture which Cripps, sud-

denly and for the first time, put before them of the proposals was

such that he could not agree to it. “A big change had occurred

somewhere in the middle,” he said. It was obvious that there

was some trouble between Cripps and others. He went on to say,

““While it was my extreme desire to find a way out and make India

function effectively for defence and make the war a popular effort

—so great was my desire that some things I have stood for during

the last quarter of a century, things which I could never have

imagined for a moment I would give up, I now agreed to give up

—I am convinced personally that it is impossible for us to agree

to the proposals as they eventually emerged from the British

Government’s mind. I am in complete and whole-hearted agree-

ment with the Congress resolution and the letters of the Cong-

ress President.”

After pointing out that Cripps, in his final interview on

April 9, went back completely on his earlier assurances about a

National Government and the Viceroy being only a constitutional

head, Nehru declared : “I was amazed. It might be that he had

been pulled up by his senior partner in England or someone

here.”” He added:
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If our approach had not been one of sympathy, our ‘attitude

would have been one of direct embarrassment, and we could

have broken the whole war effort in India, both in regard

to production and even in regard to the army proper. We

did not do that because of wider sympathy for the larger

cause. While we wanted to dissociate ourselves from the

activities of the British Government, nevertheless we did

not embarrass them. In regard to the Japanese invasion,

we are out to embgrrass them to the utmost. There is a

difference because there is a difference between a new in-

vasion and old, but there is another difference also. So far

as I am concerned, in spite of the language of high authority

it uses, the Japanese invasion is a played-out affair; but ulti-

mately our attitude is governed by our ideological sympathy

with certain causes. It is a hateful notion that after five

years of war China should be defeated. It is a hateful notion

that Russia, which represents certain human values which

mean a great deal to human civilization, should be defeated.

But ultimately, naturally, I have to judge every question from

the Indian viewpoint. If India perishes, I must say—sel-

fishly, if you like to call it—it does not do me any good if

other nations survive.

About Japan, Nehru was equally explicit :

The fundamental factor today is distrust or dislike of the

British Government. It is not pro-Japanese sentiment. It is

anti-British sentiment. That may occasionally lead individuals

to pro-Japanese expression of views. This is shortsighted.

It is a slave’s sentiment, a slave’s way of thinking to

imagine that to get rid of one person, who is dominating

us, we can expect another person to help us, and not do-

minate us later. Free men ought not to think that way.

It distresses me that any Indian should talk of the Japanese

liberating India. The whole past history of Japan has been

one of dominating others. Japan comes. here either for Im-

perialist reasons straight out, or to fight with the British Go-

vernment. Anyhow, whatever the reason, if it comes here,

it does not come here to liberate.

Nehru was anxious that, regardless of the failure of the
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Cripps Mission, India should maintain the same attitude towards

the war. He strongly favoured the adoption of a scorched-earth

policy, and guerilla tactics against the Japanese; and in these

respects he did not hesitate to hold views different from Gandhiji’s.

Between April 12 when Cripps left India and August 9 when

the Congress leaders were arrested, there were three important

meetings of the Congress Working Committee, the first in the last

weck of April at Allahabad, the second inthe middle of July at

Wardha, and the final one carly in August in Bombay.

Nehru left Delhi shortly after Cripps’ departure and visited

Bengal and Assam before returning to Allahabad in time for

the meeting of the Working Committec. Before Jeaving, he told

a Press Conference :

The whole approach was one of lighting a spark in hundreds

of millions of minds in India. It was not an easy responsi-

bility for anyone to undertake. Nevertheless, we felt that

circumstances demanded it and whatever our grievances with

the British Government, whatever the past history of our re-

lations, we could not allow that to come in the way of what

we considered a duty to our country at present.

But this tour made a definite impression on him. He discovered

that his point of view did not rouse enthusiasm among his

audiences in Bengal and Assam. Cripps’ statement after the

breakdown had created a great deal of resentment. Moreover,

thousands of Indian evacuces trekking from Burma over the As-

sam frontier were full of bitter complaints about the negligence

and callousness of British officials in charge of the camps and

the racial discrimination between British and Indian evacuees in

regard to the arrangments for evacuation and em” route. Nehru

was moved to issue a strongly worded condemnation of British

inefficiency.

These reports were also reaching Gandhiji at Sevagram. Harsh

measures were being adopted, aggravating the sad plight of

villagers in East Bengal and Assam who were being compelled, at

extremely short notice and with very inadequate compensation, to

vacate their villages for military purposes. Gandhiji began to
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receive complaints from men, in whose words he had confidence,

of loot and rape by soldiers in these areas.

Then there was the war situation. Almost a week after

Cripps’ departure, a report spread one afternoon in Madras that

the Japanese fleet was approaching the city. The provincial

Government and most of the British officials and residents of

Madras fied to different parts of the province. It was a pathctic

exhibition of panic.

Such was the background of the Allahabad meeting of the

Congress Working Committee at the end of April. The reactions

of the different Congress leaders were characteristically differcnt.

Rajagopalachari, for instance, coming from Madras, reached quick

but far-reaching decisions. He was convinced that the British

would not resist the Japanese and the people had not the means

for effective resistance. Only a National Government could

save the country; but the British were not willing to part with

power. Therefore, power had to be wrested from them.

How could it be done? Only, he argued, by coming to terms

with Mr. Jinnah and the Muslim Jeaguc. Their demand of

Pakistan after the war was the lesser of the two evils, since re-

fusal would mean (by reversing this process of reasoning) invasion

of India by the Japanese. He put forward this view with great

courage, lucidity and persistence at Allahabad and for some weeks

later in South India, until finally he resigned from the Congress.

Hindu-Muslim unity, Gandhii said in an article in the Hariyan,

a day after Cripps’ departure from India, was the foundation of

independence :

Why blame the British for our own limitations? Attain-

ment of Independence is an impossibility till we have solved

the communal tangle. We may not blind ourselves to the

naked fact. How to tackle the problem is another ques-

tion. We will never tackle it so long as either or both parties

think that Independence will or can come without any solution

of the tangle.

Then came Gandhiji’s suggestion, much discussed all over

the world, of the complete withdrawal of British and Allied troops

from India. Referring to Britain, Gandhiji said:
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There is no guarantee that she will be able to protect, during

this war, all her vast possessions. They have become a dead

weight round her. If she wisely loosens herself from this

weight, and the Nazis, the Fascists or the Japanese, instead

of leaving India alone, choose to subjugate her, they will find

that they have to hold more than they can in their iron hoop.

They will find it much more difficult than Britain has. Their

very rigidity will strangle them. The British system had an

elasticity which served so long as it had no powerful rivals.

British elasticity is of no help today. I have said more than

once in these columns that the Nazi power had risen as a

nemesis to punish Britain for her sins of exploitation and

enslavement of the Asiatic and African races.

Whatever the consequences, therefore, to India, her real safety

and Britain’s too lies in orderly and timely British withdrawal

from India.

Gandhiji saw another advantage in the suggestion he was

making :

The fiction of majority and minority will vanish like the mist

before the morning sun of liberty. Truth to tell, there will

be neither majority nor minority in the absence of the para-

lysing British arms. The millions of India would then be

an undefined mass of humanity. I have no doubt that at that

time the natural leaders will have wisdom enough to evolve

an honourable solution of their difficulties.

Whether Gandhiji’s advice was sound orf not, the circum-

stances under which he gave it must be borne in mind. His

line of argument briefly was: the Japanese are going to land in

India and the British cannot stop it (according to General

Molesworth);* the precipitate flight of the Madras Government

from Madras is evidence of low British morale; I do not believe

in Nehru’s methods of guerilla tactics and scorched earth; on

the other hand, the withdrawal of the Allied forces from India

*Public Relations Officer of the Defence Department.
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would give me an opportunity to practise non-violent resistance

against the Japanese: it is possible that such a noble gesture

on the part of Imperialist Britain as withdrawal from India would

enable Hindus and Muslims to come together and form a provi-

sional government in an atmosphere of non-violence.

I went from Delhi to Allahabad to report the proceedings

for my papers. Before leaving, I called on Johnson who was most

anxious that the Congress leaders should not pass a_ resolution

which would stop all further negotiations. He wanted to

make another attempt to find a way out of the deadlock. He

gave me a letter for Nehru, to be delivered personally to him at

Allahabad where the All-India Congress Committee was scheduled

to meet. He said, “Give this letter to Nehru, and persuade him

to accept my suggestion. I have a plane ready to fly him to

Washington. Let him meet the President and place the Indian

problem before him. He can return to New Delhi in three weeks.”

I could not feel so confident of success as Johnson appeared

to be. Nehru’s first meeting with him did not have the approval

of all his Congress colleagues. British reactions from Churchill,

Linlithgow and Wavell all down the line were sharply unfavour-

able. A flight to Washington in an American plane for a per-

sonal discussion with the President did not strike me as pro-

mising of positive results.

In that event, Johnson said as I was about to take leave:

“Place yourself in the President’s position and draft a declaration

which Churchill could make, and the Congress might accept.

Show it to Nehru, and if he approves, bring it back to Delhi at

once.” His idea was that the draft would then be cabled to

Washington and Churchill influenced into making a declaration

broadly on those lines, if possible, before the end of the proceed-

ings at Allahabad. Though the suggestion was extraordinary,

I worked hard for two days on it and produced the following

draft :

“The Congress has not accepted the view that major changes

in the Constitution are not possible during the war. Nevertheless,

in order to facilitate a settlement, it is prepared to agree toa

‘declaration by the British Cabinet on the following lines :

‘Indian leaders attach the greatest importance to arrangements
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for the administration of India in the immediate future. The

British Cabinet is willing to go to the farthest limits possible

within the frame-work of the existing Constitution to convert

the Executive Council into a National Government in practice,

“For this purpose, the Viceroy is being authorised to invite

a small number of representative leaders to examine the Consti-

tution from this standpoint. The Cabinet accepts the view that

minor changes in the Act, alterations in the methods of func-

tioning of the Executive Council and in the Central Legislature

by resort to rule-making powers, and the establishment of suitable

conventions are permissible within the meaning of the formula

contained in the last paragraph.

“The Cabinet will accept the decisions of such a body and ask

the Viceroy to proceed to the formation of a National Govern-

ment to replace the present Executive Council. He will discuss

with that body the composition and personnel of the National

Government which must necessarily include in adequate propor-

tions representatives of the two main political organisations,

namely, the Congress and the Muslim League.

“There have been apprehensions expressed in India about the

Viceroy’s powers of veto. Under the Constitution, he is bound

by the decisions of the majority of the Executive Council, unless

the adoption of such a course is likely, in his opinion, to imperil

the safety or tranquility of India or any part of India. It is

inconceivable that the Viceroy, to borrow the language in which

he conveyed a similar assurance to the Congress party in 1937

before it agreed to take office in the provinces, “will act against

the advice of the Executive Council, until he has exhausted all

methods of convincing the Council that his decision is the right

one”. He will do his utmost before taking a final decision, to

persuade his Council of the soundness of the reasons for which

he is unable to accept its view.

“In the sphere of Defence, it has already been agreed that

the Indian Defence Member’ will take over all such functions as

are not assigned to the Commander-in-Chief who as War Member

will continue to be a member of the Viceroy’s ExecutiveCouncil.

There will naturally be the closest consultation and collaboration

between the two. Moreover, the Commander-in-Chief as a
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member of the Executive Council will be responsible to the
Executive Council for all measures and policies originating from

his Department. The precise allocation of subjects for adminis-

tration by the Defence and War Members _ respectively will also

be left to the Viceroy and the Conference of leaders invited to

take part in the discussions for settlement with the Commander-

in-Chief. In the event of disagreement, the matter will be refer-

red to the War Cabinet in London, whose decision will be final.

I went to Allahabad with Johnson’s letter proposing a visit by

Nehru to Washington and my draft of a declaration by Chur-

chill, Nehru read Johnson’s letter but hinted that he had already

faced sufficient criticism from some of his colleagues for seeking

American intervention. As regards the draft declaration, Nehru

read it carefully and said he had no criticism to offer. But he

discouraged any further move for the reason that he would have

to consult his colleagues, many of whom did not approve of out-

side intervention. I showed the draft to Rajaji who endorsed

it warmly, but that did not mean much to Johnson. Some years

later when I met Johnson in New York during a session of the

U.N. General Assembly, he expressed his firm belief that if only

Nehru had accepted his advice and accompanied him to Washing-

ton, India’s freedom might have been hastened by some years.

Johnson made one final effort from New Delhi to get the Presi-

dent to act. He suggested some modifications in the Cripps plan

and added :

If Churchill and Cripps would approve the above proposals

generally, then through the Viceroy, at London’s direction,

Nehru, Jinnah and Rajagopalachari could be brought to-

gether here and if necessary taken to London for a final agree-

ment. I can persuade Nehru and Rajagopalachari to attend

the meeting. The Viceroy can get Jinnah. Before the meet-

ing, I would have G. D. Birla talk with Gandhi.

Both Congress and Cripps have stated there will be no further

approach by either; therefore an outside move must be made

if India is to defend herself and not be another France. At

this distance I believe no one but the President can move suc-

cessfully, Nehru writes me today of ‘fierce feeling against
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Britain’. America alone can save India for the United Na-

tions cause and my suggestion ought not be disposed of on

the basis of meddling in the internal affairs of a subject nation.

I respectfully urge that saving India concerns America as much

as Great Britain. The effort cannot harm. It may be a

miracle. I urge immediate consideration and pray for the

President’s aid. Time is of essence.

But the President had become cautious and was reluctant to

prod Churchill further. He replied to Johnson that while he

greatly appreciated his earnest efforts, “an unsuccessful attempt

to solve the problem along the lines which you suggest would,

if we are to judge by the results of the Cripps’ mission, further

alienate the Indian leaders and parties from the British and pos-

sibly cause disturbances among the various communities. On

balance, therefore, I incline to the view that at the present moment

the risks involved in an unsuccessful effort to solve the problem

outweigh the advantages that might be obtained if a satis-

factory solution could be found.”

Johnson never wavered in his conviction that a settlement with

India was possible, if Churchill would only agree to an adequate

measure of freedom immediately and complete independence at

the end of the war. At his farewell press conference in New

Delhi, he made a cryptic remark on the failure of the Cripps Mis-

sion: ‘“Some day”, he told the journalists, “there will have to be

a Johnson version of this affair.”

To the President he reported :

Cripps is sincere and knows this matter should be solved.

He and Nehru could solve it in five minutes if Cripps had any

freedom or authority. To my amazement, when a satisfactory

solution seemed certain with an unimportant concession,

Cripps with embarrassment told me that he could not change

the original draft declaration without Churchill’s approval and

that Churchill had cabled him that he would give no ap-

proval unless Wavell and the Viceroy separately sent their

own code cables unqualifiedly endorsing any change Cripps

wanted.
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Roosevelt was greatly distressed. He wanted Cripps to, stay

on in New Delhi and continue the negotiations. But Cripps

had already returned to London and Churchill felt that he could

not be asked to return. He told Roosevelt :

You know the weight which I attach to everything you say

to me, but I do not feel I could take responsibility for the

defence of India if everything has again to be thrown into the

melting pot at this critical juncture. Anything like a seri-

ous difference between you and me would break my heart

and surely deeply injure both our countries at the height of thts

terrible struggle.

Roosevelt, anxious about reactions in India, felt somewhat

comforted by a long and conciliatory message from Nehru, sent

through Johnson, in which he assured the President :

The failure of the Cripps Mission has added to the difficulties

of the situation and reacted unfavourably on our people. But

whatever the difficulties we shall face them with all our courage

and will to resist. Though the way of our choice may be closed

to us, and we are unable to associate ourselves with the activi-

ties of the British authorities in India, still we shall do our

utmost not to submit to Japanese or any other aggression

and invasion. We who have struggled so long for free-

dom and against an old aggression, would prefer to perish ra-

ther than submit to a new invader. Our sympathies, as we

have so often declared, are with the forces fighting against

Fascism and for democracy and freedom. With freedom in

our own country those sympathies could have been translated

into dynamic action.

This intense activity on Col. Johnson’s part had an adverse

effect on his health. From the Irwin hospital in New Delhi (where

he was an in-patient) he sent a message to the President that Nehru,

who was visiting him every day, had given an assurance that he

would “continue his efforts to calm India, speed production and

make them hate the Japs”’.
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The President was reluctant to permit Col. Johnson to return

to the U.S.A. in spite of his illness, because of the fear that it

might be misinterpreted both in England and in his own country.

Col. Johnson’s health, however, was such that an operation became

necessary and he urged the President to permit his return, as

otherwise the result might be extremely serious.

Johnson returned to Washington later in the summer, a very

sick man. In a confidential report he said :

on

The Viceroy and others in authority were determined at

the time of the Cripps Mission that the necessary concessions

should not be made and are still of the same opinion; the Bri-

tish are prepared to lose India, as they lost Burma, rather than

make any concessions to the Indians in the belief that India

will be returned to them after the war with the status quo

ante prevailing.

In the middle of May, I took the liberty of writing to Gandhiji

the situation in the country. I said:

The Working Committee of the Muslim League had adopted

a resolution at Nagpur on 25th December, 1941, on the de-

fence of India. The operative part of the resolution 1s as

follows :

‘The Working Committee once more declare that they are

ready and willing as before to shoulder the burden of the

defence of the country, singly or in cooperation with other

parties, on the basis that real share and_ responsibility is

given in the authority of the Government at the Centre and

the provinces within the framework of the present constitution,

but without prejudice to the major political issues involved

in the framing of the future Constitution.’

I have discussed this with Mr. Liaquat Ali Khan, General

Secretary of the Muslim League. He interprets this offer

as containing three main points : (1) All major issues to be post-

poned until after the wat; (2) power to be sought within the

framework of the existing Constitution; (3) Muslims to have

a real share of power at the Centre and in the Provinces.
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He had elaborated this in his speech in the Legislative As-

sembly in March last. In that speech he had said that the

Muslim League was willing to consider a settlement with

the British Government either alone or in combination with

other parties on the above basis. If, however, the Hindus

were prepared to concede the principle of Pakistan (leaving

details to be worked out after the war) then Mr. Jinnah would

not limit even the interim arrangements to the existing

Constitution but would favour any reasonable adjutstments,

even if that meant alteration of the Constitution.

I would respectfully suggest to you that you should meet

Mr. Jinnah in Bombay and discuss this question with him.

You have yourself written more than once in the Harijan

that if the Muslims want a partition of India, only a civil war

can prevent it.

A, settlement with the Muslim League would enable men of

Mr. Rajagopalachari’s way of thinking to form a National

Government both at the Centre and in the Provinces. It

will enable such men to resist the enemy by all means

available.

If you succeed in coming to a general understanding with

Mr. Jinnah, details of the settlement may be left to Pandit

Nehru and one or two others from the Congress side.

Gandhyi replied promptly :

I would go barefoot to Jinnah Saheb if I felt that he would

look upon my advance with favour. Why don’t you get from

him what you have got from the Nawab SahebP By a

process of elimination I have reached the conclusion I am dis-

cussing in the columns of Harijan.

I met Nehru in New Delhi on 24th May and conveyed to him

the substance of my correspondence with Gandhiji. He was

obviously worried and sad. Cripps had proved a great disap-

pointment. Rajagopalachati was splitting the Congress over

Pakistan. Gandhiji was urging immediate and unconditional

British withdrawal and had turned his thoughts in the direction

of mass civil disobedience. The only break in the clouds was
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that the menace of a Japanese attack, which had seemed immi-

nent in April, had receded somewhat into the background.

Gandhiji meanwhile received several letters from his followers

charging him with going back on his previous position of demand-

ing complete British withdrawal. Quoting one, he wrote on

June 23 :

The writer is afraid that my reconciliation to the presence

of British troops would mean a descent on my part from my

non-violent position. I hold that my non-violence dictates

a recognition of the vital necessity. Neither Britain nor

America share my faith in non-violence. I am unable to

state that the non-violent effort will make India proof against

Japanese or against any other aggression. J am not able even

to claim that the whole of India is non-violent in the sense

required. In the circumstances it would be hypocritical on

my partt to insist on the immediate withdrawal of the Allied

troops as an indispensable part of my proposal.

In the following weck he repeated :

The refusal to allow the Allied troops to operate on Indian

soil can only add to the irritation already caused by my pro-

posal...

We can disown the authority of the British rulers by refusing

taxes and in a variety of ways. These would be inapplicable

to withstand the Japanese onslaught. Therefore, whilst we

may be ready to face the Japanese, we may not ask the Briti-

shers to give up their position of vantage merely on the un-

warranted supposition that we would succeed by mere non-

violent efforts in keeping off the Japanese.

Lastly, whilst we must guard ourselves in our own way,

our non-violence must preclude us from imposing on the British

a strain which must break them. That would bea denial of

our whole history for the past. twenty-one years.

Why should not Muslims who believe in Pakistan but also

believe in Independent India join such a struggle? If,

on the other hand, they believe in Pakistan through British

aid and under British aegis, it is a different story. I have no

place in it.
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Free India, he told Edgar Snow, would undoubtedly make
common cause with the Allies, adding :

I cannot say that free India will take part in militarism or

choose to go the non-violent way. But I can say without

hesitation that if I can turn India to non-violence I will cer-

tainly do so. If I succeed in converting 40 crores of people

to non-violence it will be a tremendous thing, a wonderful

transformation.

“But you won’t oppose a militarist effort by civil disobe-

dience >” Snow asked.

“T have no such desire. I cannot oppose free India’s will

with civil disobedience, it would be wrong.”

The Government of India took very little time to come to

a decision on the Congress resolution passed at Wardha.

I had it on the authority of a Member of the Executive Council

that the decision to arrest Congress leaders, after the endorsement

of the resolution by the All-India Congress Committee, was taken

on 15th July. Even the Government’s official resolution justi-

fying the arrests was drafted between that date and 20th July,

only final touches being given just before its issue, immediately

after the AICC’s adoption of the resolution on 8th August. The

Government of India was determined to have a show-down

with the Congress.

The high hopes roused by Cripps’ coming to India in March

1942 thus ended in bitterness and despair. The path of wisdom

was ptobably the one indicated by Sri Aurobindo from Pondi-

cherry early in April when the Cripps proposals seemed to be

in danger of rejection : “Accept them” (he sent a message through

a disciple) “without further discussion, and all would be well.”

In the furtherance of the war effort, a Government consisting

of Indian leaders could probably have expanded the powers of

the executive from within, instead of holding futile discussions

on points of constitutional propriety from without. The point

is only of academic interest, nearly thirty years later. Cripps

himself, I am convinced, was moved throughout by a genuine

desire to hasten a settlement in that fateful spging of 1942. But
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the odds against which he was battling proved overwhelming,

and by temperament he was unsuited for the complex and deli-

cate negotiations which alone could have ensured success.

Under more favourable circumstances, as a member of Attlee’s

Cabinet, with an experienced colleague like Pethick-Lawrence to

guide the deliberations of the Cabinet Mission in the summer of

1946, Cripps’ brilliance and resourcefullness proved to be an invalua-

ble asset.

Errors of judgment and tactics wrecked the Cripps Mis-

sion in 1942: but these were on both sides, British as well as

Indian. Cripps deserves to be remembered with gratitude

for the risks he took in 1942, though they ruined his political

cateer for the rest of the war period, as much as for the quick solu-

tion he found for many points bristling with complications that

enabled Attlee’s Government to hand over power to India on 15th

August, 1947.
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Between President Roosevelt and Mr. (later Sir) Winston

Churchill there was complete agreement on almost every point

concerning the successful conduct of the Second World War :

the one notable exception was the freedom of India, an issue on

which the difference was and remained fundamental until the end

of hostilities. The President had an unshakeable conviction that

complete freedom alone could bring India and her 400 million

people whole-heartedly into the fight against Nazi tyranny. With

equal ardour Mr. Churchill cherished the belief that even with-

out that freedom India’s resources and vast manpower could be

adequately mobilised for the purpose.

The President, with a clear vision of ultimate objectives and

rare persistence, resorted to every form of persuasion in dealing

with the British Prime Minister on the subject of India’s freedom.

In the end he gave way, but only because further controversy

might have meant a rift between the Allies, weakening the war-

time coalition so essential for ultimate victory.

The President’s pro-Allied sympathies were never in doubt.

He told the American Congress, almost a year before Japan’s

attack on Pearl Harbour in December 1941 brought the U.S.A.

into the war, that never before was “American security as seriously

threatened from without” as it was at that time. He pledged

at an early stage of the hostilities, even while his country was at

peace, America’s “full support of all those resolute peoples every-

where who were resisting aggression and thereby keeping war
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away from our hemisphere; and (there would be) no acquiescence

in a peace dictated by aggressors and sponsored by appeasers.”

All through 1941, Britain was reeling heavily under the im-

pact of Germany’s blows, particularly at sea. There was defiance

in Mr. Churchill’s utterances, but defiance tinged with despair.

The threat of German domination of Europe spreading to Africa

and southern Asia was real and imminent. The prospects struck

him as bleak, and he appealed in anguish to Roosevelt, ‘unless

we can establish our ability to feed this island, to import muni-

tions of all kinds which we need, unless we can move our armies

to the various theatres where Hitler and his confederate Mus-

solini must be met, and maintain them there, and do all this with

the assurance of being able to carry it on till the spirit of the Con-

tinental dictators is broken, we may fall by the way and the time

needed by the United States to complete her defensive preparations

may not be forthcoming.”

Roosevelt, surveying the war scene from afar, was uneasily

conscious of the fact that the campaign lacked an ideological

basis. A charter of liberty for all the subject peoples of the world

he considered essential for enlisting the active support of the

hundreds of millions who longed for a heart-warming statement

on Allied war aims.

It is today a little known story that in the dark days of the

Second World War—the early months of 1942—when Japan’s

fleet moved at will in the Bay of Bengal after her armies had

swept through Malaya and Burma with hardly any resistance, Roose-

velt pleaded with deep earnestness for India’s immediate freedom.

He found an admirable emissary in George Winant, his Ambas-

sador in London.

Earlier, in May 1941, the Assistant Secretary of State, Adolph

Berle, had drawn up a memorandum to underline the increasing

contribution that India was capable of making in regard to war

supplies. Connected with this problem was that of India’s polli-

tical status. He feared that she might become an active danger

to the whole situation in the Near East in the not distant

future, but Britain seemed to be doing nothing about it. A

provisional settlement of the Indian problem was, inBerle’s view,

an essential condition for getting solid help. The general fear in |
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India, that if the British Empire collapsed in the war her ewn fate

might be worse than under the British Empire, was of course a

factor of some significance. He explained in an elaborate aide

memoire, tnat if the conclusions seemed sensational all he could

say in justification was that it was no time for half-measures.

After Japan’s attack on Pearl Harbour came a warning from

London from George Winant, the American Ambassador, on the

same lines as Berle’s. In a note to the President he drew atten-

tion to the uncasiness felt by Australia and New Zealand asa tre-

sult of the phenomenally rapid Japanese advance in the Pacific

Occan. This seemed to him to suggest an appropriate oppor-

tunity for making a reference to India. The charge of Imperialism

against Britain in the United States was mainly focussed on the

Indian situation. Because of this sentiment, American opinion

was somewhat lukewarm in rendering timely aid to Britain.

Winant added:

If we can count on a friendly India, with China already as

an ally, the future problem in the Far East will be in large

measure solved as well as bridged to the western world. The

British have always emphasized the problem of minorities

in India, and the practical difficulties of securing an agreement

on a Constitution in which protection was given to the mino-

rities and under which a stabilized State can be established.

It can be argued that the war period does not permit the

time and attention necessary to solve the issue; but it is also

true that failing to solve it disturbs large groups, both within

the British Empire and elsewhere in the world, and handicaps

the support of the war in India itself....

It might be possible at least to get agreement on the right of

Dominion status for India so as_ to eliminate that major issue

now, while at the same time giving further pledge to imple-

ment this status within a stated period following the ces-

sation of hostilities. Among other considerations I believe

this action would have a sobering effect upon the Japanese.

In my opinion a number of members of the (British) Cabinet

would favour such a plan. When the Indian question was

up at a Cabinet meeting some time ago, the Prime Minister was
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opposed to taking action. Unless the idea was suggested by

you, I doubt if this subject would again be pressed for further

consideration.

With the steady deterioration in the war situation, Roosevelt

felt by early August 1941 that the time had come for a direct ap-

proach to the British Government. He authorized his Ambas-

sador in London to raise with the British Government two issues :

first, the grant of Dominion status to India and second, the work-

ing out of a new relationship between India, Australia, New

ZAcaland and China. Sumner Welles (the Assistant Secretary of

State in Washington), however, had his own doubts about the

wisdom of Winint taking up officially with the British Govern-

ment such a question as India’s political status. He preferred

that the President should discuss the mitter “in a very personal

and confidential way with Churchill’.

This, partly at any rate, was the genesis of the Altantic Charter,

drawn up with Churchill’s concurrence and collaboration. In

language of appropriate dignity, the Charter laid down that “they

(the signatories) respect the right of all peoples to choose the

form of government under which they live” (that clause inciden-

tally, having been taken intact from the first draft prepared by

Churchill himself). Other points referred to “a// States, great or

small’’, to “af nations”’ and also to “a// the men in a// the lands’’.

Indeed, that one small word ‘a//’ came to be regarded as the cor-

nerstone of the whole structure of the United Nations.

The publication of the Atlantic Charter in August 1941 over

the signatures of the President and Churchill seemed to the subject

peoples of India, Burma, Malaya and Indonesia to be a beacon

of new hope, much more than the British Government seemed

to have realised.

Both statesmen clearly understood at the time of signing the

document that the provisions of the Charter were for universal

application—in Asia and Africa as much as in Eutope. Doubts

and suspicions, however, began quickly to surround the document

almost from the moment it was signed by Roosevelt and Churchill.

Mr. (later Earl) Attlee broadcast its implications from the B.B.C.

—but as the leader of the Labour Party and not as Deputy Prime
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Minister of Britain. India was quick to note the distinctjon and

to ask the embarrassing question whether the British Cabinet did

not as a whole subscribe to Attlee’s view.

Three weeks later, Churchill broke an awkward silence to

tell the House of Commons: ‘At the Atlantic meeting we had

in mind primarily the restoration of the sovereignty and self-

Government and national life of the States and Nations of Europe

now under the Nazi yoke, and the principles governing any al-

terations in their territorial boundarics which may have to be

made. That is quite a separate problem from the progressive

evolution of self-governing institutions in the regions and for

people who owe allegiance to the British Crown.” He excluded

in a later passage “India, Burma and such other parts of the

Empire” from a vital passage in the document which recognised

“the right of all peoples to choose the form of government under

which they would live’. What the President and he had

primarily in their minds, he told the House, “was the revo-

cation of the sovereignty of the European nations under the Nazi

yoke”’.

But India and Burma could not be disposed of so easily. George

Winant informed the President that a majority of the members

of the British Cabinet, including Mr. Amery (Secretary of State

for India) were not with Mr. Churchill in this interpretation.

Months passed in controversy over the significance of the At-

lantic Charter: did it apply to India and Burma or not? The

Prime Minister was personally full of misgivings about India

“being thrown into chaos on the eve of the Japanese invasion’.

Roosevelt made a statement on Washington’s birthday dc-

fining his own attitude towards the scope of the Atlantic Char-

ter: “We of the United Nations are agreed on certain broad prin-

ciples in the kind of peace we seek. The Atlantic Charter applies

not only to the parts of the world that border the Atlantic,

but to the whole world; (it includes) disarmament of aggressots,

self-determination of nations and peoples, and freedom of speech,

freedom of religion, freedom from want and freedom from fear.”

Sumner Welles decided at last on some tardy action. Ina note

to Cordell Hull, the Secretary of State, on November 15, 1941,

Welles confessed that the joint declaration of the President and
f
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Churchill (the Atlantic Charter) had no real meaning if it was

not to be regarded as all-inclusive and consequently valid in its

application to the people of India and of Burma. Welles,

however, saw a formidable problem in raising this matter im-

mediately with the British. Halifax, whom he regarded as “‘pro-

bably the most liberal Viceroy that India has ever had’’, had

told him that British civil servants, who were most experienced

in Indian affairs, entertained serious misgivings about the grant

of immediate Dominion Status to India. They feared a situation

developing as a result with which the meagre number of British

in the country could not cope.

Welles, while deeply sympathising with the objective of free-

dom for India, feared that a fresh representation might make

Churchill, with his strong convictions about India, draw the

conclusion that the U.S.A. was taking advantage of Britain’s

position and hcr dependence upon her ally to force her into an

immediate step to which Churchill personally was opposed with

the concurrence of the overwhelming majority of British

authorities in India, both civil and military.

Japan’s sudden attack on Pearl Harbour in December 1941

resulted in a swift and complete transformation in the war situa-

tion. It brought the U.S.A. directly into the war; but the pros-

pects of an Allied victory were fast receding under the smashing

blows Japan was delivering in south-east Asia. The loss of two

British battleships tilted the naval balance dangerously in Japan’s

favour. Malaya and Burma collapsed without resistance, and

India seemed poised precariously on the precipice.

A day following the surrender of Java, Rangoon fell into

Japanese hands, thus cutting access by sea to the Burma Road.

Dr. Evatt, at that time Australia’s Foreign Minister, considered

the situation “practically desperate”, adding “the rising sun has,

indeed, risen : the gigantic fan is now almost fully unfolded and

it has covered territory, land and sea, the security of which had

previously depended largely upon the power of the British Empire.

This traditional Power is now frail, indeed, east of Suez, and none

too sure of its chance of survival even in the Middle East.”

The cumulative result of these alarming developments was

that Roosevelt found himself in a position in which hundreds

,
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of millions of people all over the world, but especially in Asia,

looked to him for deliverance or protection. As the Chinese

Foreign Minister had observed in a letter to Hopkins, Roosevelt

was the one hope of mankind. Thrust into such a position by

the exigencies of the war, a situation of extreme delicacy for him

had developed particularly in his dealings with Churchill.

In India, the likelihood of Japanese landings on the Madras coast

was daily growing stronger; but there was little realisation on

the part of the people of the magnitude of the peril or of its im-

minence. The President was at last personally convinced by his

advisers in Washington that it was time to act, regardless of nor-

mal diplomatic proprieties. Disarmingly he told Churchill: “Of

course this is a subject which all of you good people know far more

about than I doand I have felt much diffidence in making any

suggestions concerning it.” Narrating the history of the American

Revolution in the eighteenth century, he expressed the hope that

“the move towards the achievement of self-government for India

would originate in London and would be made in such a way that

the people of India would have no ground for criticism that it was

‘being made grudgingly or by compulsion’.”

Because of a divergence in views in Washington on the prac-

tical wisdom of raising the issue of India (and Burma) with Chur-

chill, Henry Wilson, who at that time was the American Commis-

sioner in India, was asked to report Indian reactions to Churchill’s

statement; and, in particular, to indicate whether it had produced

a further deterioration in India’s political situation prejudicial

to the prosecution of the war.

Wilson’s reply was that while many sections of the Indian press

had adversely commented on Churchill’s interpretation of the

Atlantic Charter, he personally did not attach much importance

to these views. Roosevclt’s popularity in India had not been

affected thereby.

Harry Hopkins, a trusted adviser of the President’s, quoted

one of Churchill’s ‘closest and most affectionate associates’ in

reporting from London to Roosevelt : “The President might

have known that India was the one subject on which Winston

would never move a yard. He would rather see the Empire in

ruins and himself buried under them than concede the right of any
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American, however great and illustrious a friend, to make any

suggestions about India.”

On the other hand, the Senate Foreign Relations Committee

in Washington took a clear and firm stand: “We should demand

that India be given a status of autonomy. The only way to get

the people of India to fight is to get them to fight for India.

Gandhi’s leadership in India becomes part of America’s military

equipment.”” From London, Averell Harriman, after a talk with

Churchill, informed the President that discussions were going on

about making a declaration of Dominion Status for India, with

the right of secession to be cxercised at her will,

It was in these dramatic and exciting circumstances that

Stafford Cripps was sent by the British War Cabinet on a mission

of peace to New Delhi in March 1942. The story of this infruct-

uous mission, and of Louis Johnson’s unsuccessful efforts to

save it, has been narrated in the preceding chapter.

On 1st July, Gandhi addressed a letter to President Roosevelt

in which he referred to his numerous personal friends in England,

who were as dear to him as his own people; he told the President :

“In spite of my intense dislike of British rule, I have nothing

but good wishes for your country and Great Britain.” He ex-

pressed his keenness to turn into goodwill the illwill that existed

towards Britain.

In the course of the same letter, he observed :

I venture to think that the Allied declaration that the Allies

ate fighting to make the world safe for freedom of the indi-

vidual and for democracy sounds hollow, so long as India and,

for that matter, Africa are exploited by Great Britain, and

America has the Negro problem in her own home. But in

order to avoid all complications, in my proposal I have con-

fined myself only to India. If India becomes free, the rest

must follow if it does not happen simultaneously.*

In Washington, Lord Halifax was reported to be working on a

plan for India, though Bajpai, India’s Agent-General in Washing-

*Sec Appendix IX for correspondence of Gandhiji and Jawaharlal

Nehru with President Roosevelt.
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ton, seems to have pointed out that nothing short of an announce-

ment of independence by a certain date would prove an adequate

solution.

Similar efforts were continued in New Delhi after Johnson’s

return to Washington through the American Mission in New

Delhi, by G. Merrel and Lampton Berry. Three weeks before

the ‘Quit India’ resolution (passed on 8th August, 1942), Berry

obtained from Nehru fresh proof of his anxiety to avoid a

conflict. Nehru told Berry:

Let the British Government make a_ declaration acknow-

ledging the independence of India here and now, and request-

ing all the various parties in India to get together and form

a provisional Government. This provisional Government,

after its formation, would then negotiate with the British

Government in the best of good-will as to how together

they could best organize and promote the war effort to the

greatest possible extent.

Nehru seemed confident that the Congress could come to

terms with Jinnah on the basis of such a declaration.

Maulana Azad was of a similar view and proposed the follow-

ing :

(1) Let Britain make an absolute promise of independence

after the war and let the United Nations or President Roose-

velt alone guarantee fulfilment of this promise, and (2) let the

United Nations or President Roosevelt alone offer to arbitrate

the question of an interim settlement and he (Azad) would

guarantee that he would get Congress to accept the offer and

agree beforehand to accept whatever interim plan was sub-

mitted by the United Nations or President Roosevelt alone.

On July 25, General Chiang made yet another attempt to

secure Roosevelt’s intervention. He told the President:

If India should start a movement against Britain or against

the United Nations, this will cause deterioration in the Indian

situation from which the Axis Powers will surely reap benefit.
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Such an eventuality will seriously affect the whole course

of the war, and at the same time the world might entertain

doubts as to the sincerity of the lofty war aims of the United

Nations. This will not only prove a great disadvantage

to Britain but will also reflect discredit on the democratic front.

Sumner Welles advised the President that the point of view

contained in Chiang’s letter was confirmed by all the information

received in the State Department.

The President acted on this advice and requested Churchill

to let him have as soon as possible his thoughts and suggestions

regarding the nature of the reply he should make to the General.

The American Ambassador in London was invited by Amery

to receive the British reaction. Amery’s estimate of the situation

in India was optimistic. The Viceroy had an Advisory Council

of fifteen of whom eleven were Indians. The refusal of the

Indians to reach agreement with Cripps was supported neither

in nor out of India. The Viceroy had wisely adopted a salutary

course in the hope that the Congress might adopt a more co-ope-

rative attitude. Amery was sure that there would be no real

change in India’s contribution to the war, whatever might be the

internal situation. Winant asked Amery why India’s freedom

was excluded from the Atlantic Charter. He argued at first that

this had not been done, but later qualified his statement by assert-

ing that the point had been clarified in Parliament reiterating

Britain’s promise to India made in August 1940.

On ist August, 1942, President Roosevelt sent a personal let-

ter to Gandhiji in general terms. The U.S.A. was consistently

striving for the adoption of policies of fair dealing, fairplay and of

ptinciples looking towards the creation of harmonious relations

between nations. He was anxious that the war, which was a re-

sult of Axis dreams of a world conquest, should be won through

a supreme effort by those who hoped for freedom throughout the

world. He concluded: “I shall hope that our common interest

in democracy and righteousness will enable your countrymen

and mine to make a common cause against a common enemy.”

This letter did not reach Gandhi until long after the adoption of

the Quit India resolution of 8th August, 1942.
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The President’s next move was to reply to General Chiang

after studying British reactions conveyed to Winant through

Amery. Conscious of the difficulties of intervention, the Presi-

dent observed: “I feel that it would be wiser for you and for

myself to refrain from taking action of the kind which you have in

mind for the time being.” He, however, gave the assurance that

he would note all the suggestions made by the General for further

consideration at a moment’s notice, should the Indian situation

take a more serious turn.

After the arrest of Gandhi and all the Congress leaders on 9th

August, 1942, General Chiang sent yet another message to Presi-

dent Roosevelt describing the development as “certain to have a

disastrous effect on the entire war situation”. The influence of

the Axis Powers, he feared, would be considerably strengthened,

“and the avowed object of the Allies in waging this war would

no longer be taken seriously by the world”.

The President sent a prompt reply to the General regretting

as much as the latter did the unfortunate controversy between

those forces in India led by Gandhi and the British Government.

He reiterated “the deep interest of his Government, both under

its long-standing policy and especially under the provisions of the

Atlantic Charter, in independence for those who aspire to inde-

pendence”’,

William Phillips became President Roosevelt’s Personal Re-

presentative in December 1942, some months after Col. Johnson’s

departure from New Delhi. Cordell Hull, the Secretary of

State, told him in a message four days later:

The State Department earnestly hopes that you will under-

take the assignment which is viewed as one of profound im-

portance because of the political and - military problems re-

lated to the current situation in India.

Phillips immediately accepted the offer, conscious of its im-

portance. In reply, he was authorized to discuss cautiously

the Indian situation with. the appropriate British officials in

London. In particular, the views of President Roosevelt and

Cordell Hull favouring freedom for all dependent peoples at

a
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the earliest date practicable and drawing a parallel between the

Philippines and the Indian situations, were recalled. He was told

further :

We cannot bring pressure, which might reasonably be re-

garded as objectionable, to bear on the British, but we can in

a friendly spirit talk bluntly and earnestly to appropriate Bri-

tish officials so long as they understand that it is our purpose to

treat them in a thoroughly friendly way. <A settlement arising

from such friendly and non-partisan conversations with both

sides or with either side would probably be most practicable

as well as most desirable... The terrible complexities of the

Indian situation are difficult to analysc and understand. With

yout great experience and fine common sense, you will well

understand how to preserve thoroughly agreeable relations

with both countries and how to say or do anything 1n a tact-

ful way that might encourage both sides or either side in the

way of a practicable settlement.

The point was impressed on him in the instructions :

“We have an added interest in the settlement of this matter

by reason of its relation to the war.”

American forces were at that time being poured into India, the

principal objective being Assam and the ‘hump’ over the

Burma Road into China. Large supplies had to be transported

from Karachi to Assam and other points farther east and south.

It was, therefore, necessary, in the interests of swift and uninter-

rupted transport, to ensure peaceful conditions within India. Mr.

Phillips had already heard of the growing hostility to British rule

in India. There were reports of widespread resistance, violence

and sabotage as a sequel to the ‘Quit India’ movement which

implied a serious threat to war supplics.

He entered on his duties with some misgivings about his

prospects of success, since a settlement had been sought in vain

for years. In a letter from London on December 19, 1942, on

his way to India, he told the U. S. Secretary of State, “I hope

you do not expect too much of me. I will do my best, but the

more I learn of actual conditions, the more I appreciate the bitter
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divisions among the Indians themselves. A British authority

in London interprets this increased bitterness as a_ struggle for

party power resulting from the impending Dominion Status pro-

mised by the British Government after the war. Each party,

therefore, wishes to occupy a dominant position in the consti-

tution-making power, and this is especially noticeable in the

attitude of the Muslim League, which is gaining day by day in

strength. The same authority admits that while the Indians de-

clare that they do not believe British assurances, actually they do

believe them and are alarmed at the problem which is about to

be put up to them, of creating out of so much internal discord

a united nation.”

For the next two months in London, he discussed the Indian

situation with many British experts including Anthony Eden,

who expressed the hope that he (Phillips) would get the whole

picture and report it faithfully to the President. He also sug-

gested that Phillips might usefully spend a day or two in Cairo

on his way to India and have a look at the Indian Forces.

Before leaving for New Delhi, Phillips lunched with Mr. and

Mrs. Churchill at 10, Downing Street. His description is worth

quoting :

He (Churchill) radiated vitality. Despite a cherubic

expression and a rotund contour, I felt at once his dynamic

power of leadership; his every word had a hammer-like quality.

During lunch Churchill was extremely critical of Wendell Wilkie,

comparing him to “a Newfoundland dog in a small parlour, which

had wiped its paws on a young lady’s blouse and swept off the

teacups with its tail”. Mr. Wilkie’s crime had been that he had

made a number of speeches in America criticising the British

handling of the Indian problem.

During lunch, there was a reference to India. Phillips repor-

ted :

When the Prime Minister got around to the subject

of India, it was difficult precisely to fathom his mind. In

one phrase he reiterated his public assertion that he would
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never part with any portion of his Empire. Yet in another

phrase he referred to the offer of freedom which had been

made to the Indians, meaning, I suppose, the ill-fated Cripps

Mission to India. But what an _ outstanding personality

Churchill is !

Summing up his impression of Churchill’s attitude towards

India, Phillips felt that while he was aware of the important, if

peaceful, role that India was called upon to play in the war, he

was not quite clear about the close link between such a role and

the internal political situation in the country.

Karly in the New Year (1943), Phillips arrived in New Delhi

after reviewing Indian troops in Cairo as a sympathctic prelude

to his work in India. He was astonished to observe the im-

mensity of the American air base on the outskirts of Karachi.

The gencral impression he gathered in London was that he

had the confidence of the British and also their hope that out

of his mission to India would develop some light. There was

even an offer to permit him to sce Gandhi in prison if that would

facilitate a solution.

Cordell Hull, writing on New Year’s Day of 1943, expressed

confidence that he would do an excellent job in Delhi, but that

they were fully aware onc must not expect the impossible when

the ptoblems were such as they were in India at that time.

Phillips’ first impressions aftcr two weeks in New Delhi he

conveyed in a personal letter to the President. He found the

Viceroy most cordial and friendly, keen that he should feel free

to move about the country as he wished, and to meet and converse

with all shades of opinion. Linlithgow, the Viceroy, he regarded

“as a good example of the Tory type, a huge man physically, very

reserved before people, but warming up in private conversation”.

Soon after moving into the headquarters of the American

Mission in New Delhi, he held a press conference because there

was much curiosity as to the purpose of his assignment with the

rank of an Ambassador which no previous envoy in India had

enjoyed. He read out to the press correspondents a brief, pre-

pared statemcnt :
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I come to study and to learn as much as IJ can eof the

India of today—the India of the future which has such an

important role to play in the world affairs, and I shall report

my findings to Washington.

We, Americans, together with the people of the United

Nations, are determined to carry on the war to final victory.

That victory is now assured. Our troops are proud to be

associated with the magnificant soldicrs of India, some of

whom I had the privilege of visiting in their desert camp in

Egypt.

We all of us have much to learn from onc another, Ameri-

cans from Indians, Indians from Americans, and I am con-

fident that I shall find here the friendly gutdance so necessary

to help me to understand and co-operate, andt hus to fulfil

my mission for the President.

He was extremcly cautious in answering the questions which

followed this statement.

Lord Wavell, the Commandcr-in-Chief, was one of the first

he called on. Though reserved in manner, he struck him as

unassuming and forthright; at the same time, Phillips felt that he

was depressed, perhaps tired. He wondered whether Wavell

was really in sympathy with the Viceroy’s stcrn policy towards

Gandhi and the thousands who had been imprisoned with him.

He also met Gen. Auchinleck who at that time was under Chur-

chill’s displeasure and lived quietly in New Delhi without a job

or an assurance as to the future. He got busy with other Mem-

bers of the Government, representatives of the Indian press,

Hindu and Muslim leaders, and, in fact, representatives of Indian

life from all parts of the country and various groups.

Phillips’ first impression of the British position in India was

that he did not consider it unreasonable, especially after having

acquired vast vested interests in the country which would be

jeopardized by their withdrawal from India, possibly opening the

door to a bloody civil war. There were the guarantees to the

ruling Princes. At the same time, certain inconsistencies struck

Phillips as obvious. For instance,
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The British insisted that the Indians show a willingness

and ability to get together, yet they were holding incommuni-

cado the Hindu leaders, Gandhi and Jawaharlal Nehru, the

two spokesmen of the All-India Congress Party, the most

important political party in the country.

Of the terrible problems facing India, he gave a broad outline.

The Hindus were united in their distrust and intense dislike of

the British, but they were not altogether united behind Gandhi.

Savatkar, the leader of the Hindu Mahasabha, he thought, was

cven more uncompromising than the Congress leaders in his de-

mand for a Hindu rule over all minorities, including a hundred

million Muslims. Jinnah and the Muslim League were equally

resentful of the presence of the British; but because of their fear

of Hindu claims for an All-India administration they probably

preferred to have the British remain unless their own ciaims to

Pakistan were guaranteed. The Princes kept aloof from the relt-

gious and political controversies of India. Some had liberal and

advanced governments, while others were ‘pitifully backward’,

having made little or no progress since the Dark Ages.

Phillips found in India an eagerness for the application of the

Atlantic Charter to India, particularly the concept of freedom for

oppressed peoples. There was also a general insistence in the coun-

try, both amongst Hindus and Muslims, on the British Govern-

ment granting a degree of freedom to India without further delay.

The existing Government was not feally representative, since

all its members were puppets selected by the Viceroy without

consultation with party leaders. The general desire was for a

substitution of a truly representative All-Indian Government for

the existing setup.

Four men, it seemed to him, dominated the scene : Churchill

and his Viceroy, Gandhiji and Jinnah. “The Viceroy represents

England of the old school, of the tradition of Empire, of British

responsibility to govern backward peoples. Behind him are the

six hundred Britlish Indian Civil Servants who are devoting their

lives to India and who know little of what is going on in the

world outside and who in their hearts want to preserve the status

quo, since their livelihood depends upon it. Undoubtedly their
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views must have some influence on the Viceroy.”

While in London, Phillips got the impression that the Eng-

lish people were ready and even eager to grant Dominion Status

to India (with the exception of Churchill but not several other

members of the Government). The situation in India appeared

to be the reverse. Phillips observed :

The British whom I have met seem unaware of the changing

attitude in England and cannot really envisage a free India fit

to govern itself. They point out that eighty-five percent of

the country is illiterate, that the great mass of the people are

utterly indifferent as to who governs as long as there is a

government to which they can look for food and relief in

times of stress. They see the antagonism of the Hindu and

Muslim political parties and feel that it is hopeless to expect

them to reach any practical agreement! They speak of civil

war the moment England departs, etc. Naturally these views

are reflected in the Indian leaders who are convinced that

British promises are worthless.

Of Gandhiji, a great personality, “a God to many people—but

(he imagined) a wholly impractical God”—he said: “If he could

be convinced that the British are sincere in their desire to see

India free, there is hope that he might be unexpectedly reason-

able in his approach to Jinnah and the League.” Phillips did

not think it wise to make a request of the Viceroy to give him

permission to see Gandhiji immediately, unless he could put for-

ward some helpful suggestion.

Jinnah and Gandhiji, he thought, distrusted each other and

were bitter political enemies. The Muslim League stood for

Pakistan, that is, a complete and independent Muslim State free

from any interference whatsoever from the British and Hindus

alike, Phillips’ conclusion was :

And so there seem to be four men who hold in their hands

the destiny of three hundred and eighty million people:

Churchill dominates the Viceroy, the Viceroy dominates the

Government of India, Gandhi controls the Congress and
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Jinnah the great mass of the Indian Muslims. There seems

to be only one way to bring about an agreement between the

Indians themselves and that is to be ina position to convince

them of Britain’s sincerity. How this can be done is the heart

of the problem. I hope that I may have some suggestions to

offer later but not until I have more information.

On the important issue of Pakistan, his own comment was:

The more I studied Jinnah’s Pakistan, the less it appealed to me

as the answer to India’s communal problem, since to break India

into two separate nations would weaken both and might open

Pakistan, at least, to designs of ambitious neighbours.

In response to a request from Phillips, I gave him a note on

26th January 1943, on a possible solution of the Indian problem.*

Suddenly, the situation took a serious turn with Gandhiji’s

decision to fast early in February 1943.

Gandhi's fast and its implications dominated the rest of Phil-

lips’ stay in India. He was embarrassed by the question fre-

quently put to him whether he intended to see Gandhi and the

Congress leaders. He, therefore, decided to request the Vice-

roy for permission to call on Gandhi. He explained to Linlith-

gow : “My duty is to keep the President informed of the situation

here, and that I could not do without at least a call upon the

leader of the principal party.”

Linlithgow, instead of giving a straight answer, explained

that Gandhi was to be freed for the duration of the fast and since

no member of his Government would see him, he had to make

a request that Phillips also refrain from doing so. Phillips

commented : “I detected for the first time a suspicion on the

Viceroy’s part with regard to my motives. He asked me directly

what were my intentions, a question which I did not welcome;

but when I explained again that I was here to keep you fully in-

formed and not to ‘intervene’, he said ‘I see that we understand

each other’. He became very friendly, called for drinks, and

since then has kept me in close touch with developments by per-

sonal letters,”

* The text of the note is given in Appendix X.
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The results of Gandhi’s fast he could not assess, though the

general British view in Delhi was that there would be no serious

complications, because according to them Gandhi’s stock had

fallen of late. The position of the American Mission in New

Delhi, he told the President, was becoming embarrassing. ‘“Un-

happily for me, more and more attention seems to be centred upon

this Mission and upon me personally. Every Indian who comes

to see me feels that through my influence the present deadlock

with the British can be solved. Naturally I am in the picture

only because of the popular fecling that the President of the

United States alone can bring any influence to bear upon the

British Government. I find it very difficult to know what to sug-

gest. I do feel that the Gandhi fast has complicated the situa-

tion and made it even more difficult for the British to move, if

they had any intention of doing so. But as long as he has no in-

tention of ‘fasting unto death’ he may come out of it without

having caused any material change in the situation.

Giving his personal opinion, Phillips added : “It would seem

wise for Churchill to ‘unlock the door’ which he could do by

convincing the Indian people that the promise of their complete

independence after the war is an iron-bound promise. New

words and phrases will not, I fear, carry enough weight, and

therefore a new approach must be made in order to accomplish

results. It must be a willingness on the part of the British

Government to transfer as much civil power as_ possible now,

on the understanding that the complete transfer will be made after

the war. This would be the invitation to the leaders of the op-

posing parties to get together, which they cannot do now, not

only because the leaders of one party are under arrest but because

there is no inducement for them to make the necessary concessions

to one another, and in view of the general distrust of British

promises.” Even the Princes, he thought, would adopt a dif-

ferent attitude, since the old treaties between them and the British

Government were (according to the ruler of Nawanagar) obsolete

and the Princes could not expect to have any greater powers in

their States than the King of England himself.

As Gandhi’s fast progressed his anxiety about the Indian

leader’s capacity to survive the ordeal increased. The Indian
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press (Phillips reported) was pressing the Americans to show

their sympathy with India’s aspirations. He saw a rising trend

of criticism against the U.S.A. by Congresss sympathisers.

His position was difficult : he felt deeply that the hopes and ex-

pectations of the Congress appeared to centre more and more

upon him. But without instructions from Washington he could

not do anything to jeopardize his position with the Viceroy.

Therefore, he could only listen to appeals from Indians. He

reported that the fecling was very well expressed that Gandhiji

should be freed and not merely granted a release for the duration

of the fast, and that someone should be authorized to see him and

convey his views to the Viceroy.

On February 16th, Phillips was told that according to Sir Sultan

Ahmed, a member of the Viceroy’s Executive Council, Gandhijt’s

condition was very grave and he might die within a few days. Four

or five Indian members of the Executive Council were thinking

of resigning, though no definite decision had been reached. Phillips

wanted the President’s permission to tell Linlithgow, in the event

of Gandhyi’s life being in imminent danger, that the American

Government was deeply concerned over the political crisis. No

immediate results could be expected, but such action would be

useful for the record and help to correct the impression “‘based

on our inactivity and the presence of the American troops, that

we have been giving support to the Viceroy’s position’.

The reply was a proposal by the President that Phillips should

return to Washington for consultations at the end of April or the

beginning of May. Meanwhile, Halifax called on the Secretary

of State, Cordel Hull. Hull tactfully said that if Gandhiji should

dic during his fast, acute conditions might arise and precautionary

measures would be necessary. Halifax appreciated the observation

very much and assured Hull that the British Government was

giving the closest attention to all phases of the matter. Hull

raised the question whether the British would or could find it

possible or advisable to consider certain additions to the Cripps

proposals of 1942. On the following day Hull told Phillips that

the President and he agreed with the suggestion that Phillips

should approach the Viceroy informally and “express our deep

concern over the political crisis and add”, for it seemed to him
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wise to do so, “the expression of the hope that mcans may be

found to avert the worsening of the situation which would almost
certainly follow Gandhi’s death.”

From New Delhi the report went that Mody, Aney and Sar-

kar had resigned from the Viceroy’s Executive Council and

Linlithgow told Phillips that the final decision in regard to all

matters, such as Gandhiji’s fast, remained with London.

On February 23 Phillips sent a long Ietter to the President.

He said:

It is difficult for Anglo-Saxons to understand the deep-

seated feclings which have been aroused by this performance

of an old man of 73 years. Many Indians have told me that

during his previous ‘fasts unto death’ there was nothing like

the present nation-wide consternation. The explanation given

is, that to vast numbers of Hindus Gandhi has a semi-divine

quality whch separates him from, and elevates him above,

the rest of mankind. That such a being is willing to sacrifice

himself for the cause that every Indian has at heart, namely,

the independence of India, has touched the people as a whole.

While, of course, Gandhi’s methods in the past are not approved

probably by a majority, nevertheless his honesty of purpose

is respected, and Indians who have been violently against him

have now joined the chorus of appeals in his behalf. There

could be nothing like it in any other country but India.

As an example, I attended a banquet last evening, given

by one of the Indian members remaining in the Viceroy’s

Council in honour of the Governor of the United Provinces.

I was told that fifty guests out of approximately one hundred

and fifty acceptances shirked the dinner at the last moment

and even the host’s wife and two daughters boycotted the

dinner out of sympathy for Gandhi.

Contrary to all fears Gandhiji survived his fast and the Govern-

ment of India issued the following communique :

On the termination of Gandhi’s fast, the arrangements for his

detention and that of the other persons detained at the Aga
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Khan’s Palace which obtained before the fast have now been

resumed. Such extra medical assistance and nursing as may be

necessary will continue for the present.

At the end of the two agonising weeks of suspense over his

capacity to survive the ordeal, Phillips sent a long report to Roose-

velt in which he observed :

The whole episode has brought the United States promi-

nently into the picture and I have been literally besieged by

callers and overwhelmed by telegrams from all parts of India,

asking whether there could not be something done from

Washington or by me to relieve the present deadlock.

Phillips met Rajagopalachari, “one of the few real statesmen

in the country”. In his report to the President, he said: “I admire

his wise and restrained attitude in comparison with the lack of

conciliation and reasonableness of other leadcrs.”’ Phillips felt that

his own position was becoming increasingly untenable. After a

private conference with leading Indian editors in New Delhi, he

reported : “My failure to see Gandhi was bitterly criticised. ‘They

spoke of the growing antagonism to the British with whom

America was now closely identified. More and more the feeling

was crystallising that America and Britain were one in holding

India down to its present position.”

In a subsequent and lengthy communication to the President,

Phillips analysed the situation, concluding :

I see only one remedy to this disturbing situation, and that 1s,

to try with every means in our power to make Indians feel that

America is with them and in a position to go beyond mere

public assurance of friendship.

But America could do nothing to move the British. Phillips

was anxious to see Gandhiji before returning to Washington in

April, but Linlithgow was not willing to give him permission. He

reached Washington in May, at a time when Churchill was staying

at the British Embassy. Roosevelt suggested an interview. In

Phillips’ words : “I sensed that F.D.R. had his difficulties with the
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Prime Minister, among them the problem of India, and preferred

to have me tackle this particular unpleasantness for him as he had

previously been rebuffed.”

The interview was far from being friendly or pleasant. Phil-

lips noted in his Ventures in Diplomacy :

The Prime Minister received me alone in the Embassy draw-

ing-room on Saturday morning, May 23. I was aware at once

that he was not pleased to sce me, for he must have known

that I was not wholly in sympathy with the British Govern-

ment’s policies in India. I began by saying that as I had just

returned, possibly he might care to have some of my imprcs-

sions, to which he replicd, “Go ahead, tell me what you have

on your mind’.

Phillips then told Churchill :

I travelled extensively and had opportunities to meet many

leading personages, both British and Indian. The Viceroy

and the various Governors with whom [ had stayed had all been

most kind and co-operative. But wherever I went, in the

provinces and States, among Hindus, Muslims and_ other

groups, I had found distrust of British promises for ultimate

Indian independence. There seemed to me, therefore, a very

real need of some concrete evidence of British intentions.

The Indian leaders were asking for this and were calling for a

limited transfer of power to a provisional coalition represen-

tation at the Centre (for the duration) to deal with domestic

affairs leaving all military matters in the hands of the Viceroy

and the Commander-in-Chief.

An opportunity for Gandhi and Jinnah to meet and discuss

the problem of India, Phillips continued, might prove useful.

That was more than Churchill was prepared to hear. Phillps

noted:
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there will be the greatest blood-bath in all history; yes, a

blood-bath’. ‘Mark my words,’ he concluded, shaking a finger

at me, ‘I prophesied the present war, and I prophesy the blood-

bath I’

It was hopeless to argue. I closed the interview by reminding

him that I was not suggesting that Britain should pull out of

India then, that I was referring only to the desirability of

encouraging the two dominant parties to .get together and

that, in my opinion, the present was the opportune moment

to do so. The Prime Minister accompanied me to the head

of the stairs and repeated once more his certainty of a ‘blood-

bath’.

Phillips made a personal report to Roosevelt the same night.

He was not kecn on returning to India, he told the President,

merely to eat hot curries with British and Indian hosts. All

India was looking to him for help and his continued presence in

the country would put him in a false position, unless there was

a shift in the British attitude.

Roosevelt decided to make one last attempt. He told Phillips

that he would recommend to Churchill that he send Eden to India

to explore the situation, to talk to leaders of all parties and groups,

Gandhi included, and report his findings to Churchill. If the sug-

gestion was favourably received, he would say to the British that

he would like him (Phillips) to be in India during Eden’s visit,

in the belief that he, the President, through his personal repre-

sentative, might be of help to Eden.

Phillips did not resign his post as the President’s special

envoy in India until March 14, 1945, in order not to give Indians

cause to think that the President had forgotten them while Ame-

rican forces were still in India. But Churchill’s choice for the

Viceroyalty was Wavell, and Eden was not going to be sent to

India for a fresh effort. Phillips remained in London for the rest

of the period, though nominally he was the President’s special

envoy in India. With that came to a close President Roosevelt’s

persistent efforts to solve the Indian problem during two critical

years of the Second World War.
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Chiang Kai-shek

India has never been sufficiently grateful to Generalissimo Chiang

Kai-shek. I can still recall, after an interval of nearly thirty

years, the excitement of his visit to New Delhi along with his

talented wife, and his bold if unconventional expression of

sympathy for India’s political aspirations. It was, strictly speak-

ing, a diplomatic indiscretion thus to intervene in the domestic

affairs of an Allied Power in war time.

There is no doubt that Nehru was definitely influenced by the

friendliness and charm of the Chiangs : but it was much more,

as the subsequent events proved, than mere goodwill.

In August 1940, when the war seemed to be going against the

Allies, one of Chiang’s Ministers, Cheng Yin-fun, wrote to Nehru:

“Our mutual undertaking for national liberation, we believe, will

bring even closer the existing ties of friendship. We are earnestly

looking forward to the day when the Indians and the Chinese can

work hand in hand and shoulder to shoulder for the peace of the

world”, In October that year the Generalissimo, worried by

Japan’s growing aggressiveness, made an appeal to Nehru that

“we, in order to safeguard our liberty and freedom, must first

of all bring the chief perturber of peace (Japan) to account”’.

All this was, of course, helpful from the British point of view.

In the early months of 1942, with Burma in the hands of the Japa-

nese, Chiang made active efforts to secure President Roosevelt’s

support for an immediate political settlement with India on the
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basis of freedom. Ina message to the President on the conclusion

of a visit to New Delhi, he conveyed to him his impressions :

Please take this opportunity to tell Churchill that I am

personally shocked by the Indian military and _ political

situation which is in such a state that I could never conceive

of before I arrived in India. I am afraid Churchill himself

does not know the real situation. I have tried to view the

colonial problem most objectively. I feel strongly that if the

Indian political problem is not immediately solved, the danger

will be daily increasing. If the British Government should

wait until Japanese planes begin to bomb India and India

morally collapses, it would be too late. If the solution is

postponed until after the Japanese armies enter India, then it

will be certainly too late. If the Japanese should know of the

real situation and attack India, they would virtually be un-

opposed.

In my opinion, if the British Government should voluntarily

give the Indians real power and do not allow different parties

in India to cause confusion, the Indians would change their

attitude towards England, forget their hard feelings and

become loyal to the British Empire.

An almost identical message was sent to Churchill in London.

The British Prime Minister was greatly irritated by its terms,

though Roosevelt agreed with the Chinese leader that the danger

was extreme unless the British Government changed its fundamental

policy towards India.

On the eve of Sir Stafford Cripps’ arrival in New Delhi in March

1942, Chiang told the American Ambassador in Chungking

that Britain was “blind to the realities’ and the result might

well be “an outcome serious for Britain in India and also for

China”. Madame Chiang was even more outspoken. India, she

told him, would not be satisfied with Dominion Status, because

“India had no feelings of a racial or of a common destiny with

regard to the British”. After having seen Nehru several times in

New Delhi, she was convinced that the Indian people would be

prepared to discharge their responsibility to the Allied nations
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provided there was a settlement based on a transfer of real political

power and responsibility.

The Chiangs maintained a vigilant eye on developments in

India. After the failure of the Cripps Mission, Madame Chiang

again sought Roosevelt’s intervention :

According to information received from Nehru the Mission’s

failure has resulted in a deterioration of the position and in-

creased Indian hostility of feeling toward Britain. Further

(according to Nehru) no real shift in authority was offered

and no possibility existed for the establishment of a pcople’s

army for defence purposes. Therefore, there was no_ basis

for compromise.

The situation in India continued, however, to deteriorate and

in fact was assuming alarming proportions. Gen. Chiang made a

personal appeal to Gandhiji to observe restraint and not to em-

bark on civil disobedience. Replying in an unusually Icngthy

letter, Gandhiji observed in June 1942:

I am anxious to explain to you that my appeal to the British

Power to withdraw from India is not meant in any shape or

form to weaken India’s defence against the Japanese or to

embarrass you in your struggle. India must not submit to

any aggressor or invader and must resist him. I would not

be guilty of purchasing the freedom of my country at the cost

of your country’s freedom. That problem does not arise be-

fore me, as I am clear that India cannot gain her freedom in

this way, and a Japanese domination of either India or China

would be equally injurious to the other country and to world

peace. That domination must therefore be prevented and

I should like India to play her natural and rightful part in this...

There is grave danger of public feeling in India going into

wrong and harmful channels. There is every likelihood of

subterranean sympathy for Japan growing simply in order to

weaken and oust British authority in India. This feeling may

take the place of robust confidence in our ability never to look

to outsiders for help in winning our freedom. We have to

222



Chiang Kai-shek

learn self-reliatvce and develop the strength to work out our

own salvation. This is only possible if we make a determined

effort to free ourselves from bondage. That freedom has

become a present necessity to enable us to take our due place

among the free nations of the world.

My heart goes out to the people of China in deep sympathy

and in admiration for their heroic struggle and endless sacri-

fices in the cause of their country’s freedom and integrity against

tremendous odds. JI am convinced that this heroism and _ sacri-

fice cannot be in vain; they must bear fruit. I look forward

to the day when a free India and free China will co-operate

together in friendship and brotherhood for their own good

and for the good of Asia and the world.

Gandhiji’s assurances did not, however, convince the Chinese

leader that a crisis could be averted in India during the period of

the war. Reports about the Congress preparing to adopt the

‘Quit India’ resolution appeared to him to be in conflict with the

spirit of Gandhiji’s letter to him. Chiang authorised his Ambas-

sador in Washington to convey to Roosevelt his fear that the

situation in India would unquestionably blow up unless some

outside help was forthcoming. There was, moreover, the likeli-

hood of the Japanese extending their movements towards India

at the end of the monsoon in 1942. The question of India was

regarded by the whole of Asia as a test case for ascertaining the

sincerity of the Allicd Powers. It was, therefore, essential that

both China and the U. S. Government should initiate fresh nego-

tiations with representatives of the Congress Party in India as

friends of both sides, under-writing the carrying out of the terms

of any agreement reached.”

Roosevelt forwarded to Churchill the substance of this mes-

sage from Chiang Kai-shek adding that he would be grateful for

his frank reactions. (Churchill in his memoirs referred to Chiang’s

‘voluminous protests” to Roosevelt which were later forwarded

to him, adding “I resented this Chinese intervention”’.)

Immediately after the adoption of the ‘Quit India’ resolution

* The text of Gen. Chiang’s message is given in Appendix XI.
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by the Congress in August 1942, Roosevelt replied to Chiang

that it did not seem to him to be “‘wise or expedient” for*the time

being to consider taking any of the steps which he had suggested

in his message. He assured Chiang, however, that the door was

always open for him to make any further suggestions at a later

stage.
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Lord Attlee

Lord Attlee’s name will always have an honoured place in India’s

history as Britain’s Prime Minister responsible for the decision

after the Second World War, to confer freedom on India. He was

fortunate to have as his colleagues in the Cabinet two brilliant

men with an intimate knowledge of India and a real sympathy

with her aspirations : Lord Pethick-Lawrence and Suir Stafford

Cripps. But the master-mind behind the plan evolved by the

British Cabinct Mission in 1946 was that of the Prime Minister.

Lord (then Mr.) Attlee’s first expericnce of India in the late

twenties was a disastrous one. As Ramsay MacDonald’s nominee

on the ill-fated Simon Commission, he and his colleagues were

the victims of hostile demonstrations in many parts of India. Later,

he was excluded from the deliberations of the Round Table

Conference in London mainly because of Indian suspicions of him

as a member of the Simon Commission.

I had my first personal contact with Mr. Attlee in 1933, at the

centenary celebration of the British Trade Union Congress at

Weymouth to which I was an invitee on behalf of the Indian Trade

Union movement. He did not strike me as a man of exceptional

ability; but there was a ring of sincerity in his references to India

which was impressive. Possibly it was that quality which brought

him somewhat unexpcctedly to the front place in the British

Labour Party after MacDonaJd’s sad eclipse on the eve of the

Second World War.

In Sir (then Mr.) Winston Churchill’s Coalition Cabinet,
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Attlee became Deputy Prime Minister and found an early oppor-

tunity to exercise his influence on the Government’s India policy.
It was generally understood that the Atlantic Charter, to which

both President Roosevelt and Winston Churchill were signatories,

was meant for universal application. In India, the assurance of

freedom for subject peoples everywhere, which was the key-note

of the Charter, was hailed as marking the beginning of a new

relationship with this country. It seemed odd at the time that

Attlee should have broadcast his own interpretation of the Charter

in terms entirely acceptable to India but in his capacity as the leader

of the Labour Party and not as Britain’s Deputy Prime

Minister.

The significance of the episode became clear three weeks

later, when Churchill, ignoring the protests of several of his Cabi-

net colleagues, made a statement in the House of Commons ex-

cluding India and Burma from the scope of the Charter.

When the perils of war overshadowed India in the early months

of 1942, after Japan’s spectacular drive through Malaya and

Burma, Churchill’s choice for a renewal of negotiations with

India’s leaders was Sir Stafford Cripps, not Attlee. In formulating

the basic features of the British offer to India, Sir Stafford and Mr.

Amery made substantial contributions; but Attlec’s experience

and advice proved helpful behind the scenes.

I saw a good deal of Attlee in 1945 at San Francisco where

he was Anthony Eden’s deputy in the British delegation to the

United Nations Conference. He kept himself in the background,

leaving all the speaking in the Conference and at press conferences

to Eden and sometimes to Lord Halifax. In private conversa-

tions he did not conceal his distress over the unfortunate develop-

ments in India, following the adoption by the All India Congress

Committee of the ‘Quit India’ resolution in August 1942.

British politics underwent a dramatic change in the general

election of 1945, placing the Labour Party, for the first time in its

career, in a majority position in the House of Commons. I saw

Attlee at 10, Downing Street in London in September 1945, three

days after he had assumed office. The Cabinet was still in the

making, and he was in no position to spell out his views on India,

beyond a hint that the Cripps offer of 1942, conceding the right
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to the Indian people to frame their own Constitution at the

end of the hostilities, held a promise that could not be ignored.

The devastation caused by the war and Britain’s numerous

domestic problems did not prevent the new Prime Minister from

going rapidly forward with proposals for a new deal with India.

After a round of preliminary investigations, through a carefully

chosen Labour party delegation, Attlee sent out Lord Pethick-

Lawrence, Sir Stafford Cripps and Lord Alexander to India—the

British Cabinet Mission as it has been described—to negotiate with

India’s leaders and recommend a generally acceptable plan and

procedure. He made it clear in a statement to the House of

Commons on March 15, 1946, that his three Cabinet colleagues

would make “the utmost endeavours to help India to attain her

freedom as speedily and fully as possible’, It was for India to

decide whether she would remain in the Commonwealth or not.

On behalf of his Government, he gave the assurance, “that if she

does so elect, it must be by her own free will. The British Com-

monwealth and Empire is not bound together by the chain of

external compulsion. It is a free association of free peoples. If,

on the other hand, she elects for independence, in our view she

has a right to do so. It will be for us to help to make the transi-

tion as smooth and easy as possible.”

After some months of futile argument in India between the

Congress and the Muslim League over the interpretation of parts

of the Cabinet Mission’s plan, Attlee made a final effort in

December 1946 to bring about an agreement on the procedure to be

followed in the Constituent Assembly. On its failure he announced

in February 1947 that while the plan remained his Government’s

policy, it “could not contemplate forcing a Constitution upon

any unwilling parts of the country”.

The door was thus opening almost inevitably towards India’s

partition. The official announcement on February 20, 1947, in

the House of Commons, referred to the danger of continuing

uncertainty in India and the need"to reach a quick decision. “His

Majesty’s Government”, Attlee told the Commons, “‘wish to

make it clear that it is their definite intention to take necessary

steps to effect the transference of power to responsible Indian

hands by a date not later than June, 1948. If, meanwhile, a fully
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representative Assembly had not produced a Constitution accept-

able to all parts of the country, the British Government would

reserve the right to decide to whom power should be transferred

whether as a whole, to some form of Central Government of

British India, or in some areas to the existing provincial govern-

ments.”

Nehru welcomed the announcement as ‘‘a wise and courageous

decision”. Stormy events forestalled the final phase of British

rule in India, leading early in June to an advancement of the date

of transfer of power from June 1948 to August 15, 1947. Lord

Mountbatten played a decisive part in securing British assent to

such a bold proposal involving an abandonment of the right of

the House of Commons to endorse the Constitution evolved by

the Constituent Assembly.

As one looks back to the last stages of British rule in India

many figures come up to claim India’s gratitude : Ramsay Mac-

Donald for his courage in announcing to the Round Table

Conference in 1931 the intention of his minority Government to

confer on India the status of a_ self-governing Dominion; Sir

Stafford Cripps, much misunderstood at home and in India; Lord

Pethick-Lawrence, a man of deep convictions and of sound judg-

ment.

Nevertheless it was Attlee—modest, unassuming and of un-

questionable integrity—-who set India firmly on the path to full

freedom. He rose to a remarkable height in enunciating, through

a period of baffling complications, a policy that resulted in success

of a kind which led even Nehru to declare that “our present deci-

sion (to accept partition) is the right one”’.
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Lord Pethick-Lawrence

Lord Pethick-Lawrence was the last of the Secretaries of State

for India. His claim to a place in posterity will rest on his cham-

pionship of two great causes, first as a supporter of the suffra-

gette movement in Britain and, much later in life as the leader of

the British Cabinet Mission in 1946 which led to the granting of

freedom to India.

After a brilliant career in Cambridge, he could have achieved

distinction in any sphere: law, business, journalism, teaching (of

mathematics or economics) or politics; but he chose and shone

in public life.

[India appealed to him quite early in his life. Tagore had

made a great impression on him, floating on one occasion into

the room ‘like a supernatural being’. After two visits to India,

the latter at the time of the Simon Commission, in the late twen-

ties, Pethick-Lawrence correctly summed up the Indian demand:

it was not “a Commission appointed by Britain to consider what

modifications of the Constitution she would be graciously pleased

to grant to India, but a Round Table Conference of Indians and

British to arrange the details of the change-over to complete

Dominion Status”.

His interest in India was roused further through Mrs. Besant’s

offer to him, at the end of thé first world war, of an assignment

to write an occasional letter for her daily paper in Madras,

New India. She had heard of him through common friends in

the British Labour Party like Mr. George Lansbury; his reputa-
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tion from the start of his public life was of a man of deep con-

victions willing to make sacrifices for his principles. He Belonged

to a generation later than hers; and by the time he had completed

a distinguished career at Cambridge, with a first class degree and

a fellowship of Trinity College, she had made her home in India.

Essentially, Pethick-Lawrence was a_ parliamentarian, having

contested seven elections in his career as a Labour candidate out

of which he won five. He had a long record of eighteen years

in the House of Commons and sixteen in the House of Lords.

His first parliamentary success was in 1923 against Churchill

(then a Liberal) whom he defeated by a majority of 4,000 votes.

Typical of the man’s courage and honesty of purpose was

Pethick-Lawrence’s public condemnation, shortly after his entry

into public life, of Britain’s declaration of war against the Boers

in South Africa in the closing years of the last century. Later

he came into prominence in the campaign for women’s suffrage

in Britain, of which his wife was one of the acknowledged leaders.

He actively associated himself with the campaign and_ cheerfully

went through all the phases of a militant struggle common at that

time: arrest, hunger-strike, imprisonment and forcible feeding.

In the First World War Pethick-Lawrence was critical of Bri-

tain’s vacillating attitude which landed her in a position from

which there was no escape except through a war with Germany.

Twenty years later, despite his ardent belief in passive resistance,

. he was forced to the conclusion that war with Hitler was in-

evitable. “With very great heart-searching (he wrote) I found

myself compelled to support the war... Hitler is a kind of em-

bodied Karma, demonstrating on a gigantic scale, that brute violence

fails in the long run.”

In his election addresses shortly after the First World War he

urged self-government for Ireland and India and a League of free

peoples. Again, before the general elections in 1945, both, he

and Sir Stafford Cripps made a special point in their speeches of

immediate freedom for India.

He held a junior post at the time of the Round Table Confe-

rence in 1930 as Financial Secretary to the Treasury. Though his

interventions as a member of the Federal Structure Committee

were occasional, these laid the foundations of many enduring friend-
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ships with delegates like Sir Tc) Bahadur Sapru and Dr. Jayakar.

With Gandhiji, he and his wife found much in common to bring

them together outside the Conference.

With no personal ambitions to advance, it is not surprising

that Pethick-Lawrence declined to go with Ramsay MacDonald

in 1931 into an alliance with the Conservatives under the name

of a Coalition, though he retained a personal friendship for the

erstwhile Labour Prime Minister who conveyed to him, after the

disastrous General Elections of 1931, his personal regret that he

could not plant India more firmly on the road to indepen-

dence.

The association with India’s leaders in the formative stages

of the 1935 Constitution was of enormous help to him when he

became Secretary of State for India in Attlee’s post-war Cabinet

of 1945. His interest in India was not limited to her political

freedom. Religion for him was “a conscious unity with the

entire sentient creation”. It was a measure of the confidence

and respect that he inspired in his colleagues, that the Prime Minis-

ter’s choice for the India Office fell on him rather then on Sir

Stafford Cripps.

Pethick-Lawrence had a sound knowledge of the different

and often baffling aspects of the Indian problem as visualised in

the famous statement of the Cabinet Mission of 16th May, 1946.

He never permitted an opportunist approach to any of the pro-

blems as an casy way out. Sir Stafford, a much younger man,

more resourceful and having the advantage of closer contacts with

the Indian leaders, was doubtless more in the news; but no step

could be taken and certainly no decision adopted without Pethick-

Lawrence’s carcful scrutiny and assent.

As the leader of the British Cabinet Mission, he wrote to his

wife from New Delhi : “I have commended myself to God for

Him to fit any little piece of myself into His great plan as He

thinks best.”” Never did he lose faith in the ultimate success of

the Mission to India. Overcoming the anxiety caused at one

point by the prospects of failure, he felt (he told her) “a thrill

almost amounting to enjoymcnt in grappling with these tremen-

dous forces; in trying, however imperfectly, to ride the whirl-

wind. And there is a sense too that we are but the instruments
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of Powers far greater than ourselves, whose Will will in the end

be done.”

There are many interesting details in Pethick-Lawerence’s

letters to his wife during the visit of the British Cabinet Mission

to Delhi and Simla. He was “fascinated by the psychological

aspect of it all”, though the stakes were “very high’. On more

than one occasion he felt “nearly overwhelmed by the awe-in-

spiring consequences of the negotiations” that he and his collca-

gues were conducting. “Sun and storm follow one another

at short intervals”, he wrote in another letter. Later still he

found the “tensions and anxieties of the Mission” reflected in the

exhausting summer heat of Delhi in June. Indeed, at one stage

he found himself near despair :

The situation is very critical and this afternoon it looked

for a while as if the decision would almost certainly be reached

in some thirty-six hours and could scarcely be other than a

rejection. For a moment I had a sensation of relicf as one

who has kept for a long while a weary vigil at the bedside

of a beloved sick relation and there are signs that the end is

approaching; and then came the reaction as I thought of the

terrible time I would have if the calamity in fact material-

ised.

I recall with keen pleasure an occasion on which he honoured

my home with a visit during the Cabinet Mission’s stay in New

Delhi. Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru was my house-gucst and the Mis-

sion decided to spare him—a desperately sick man—the strain

of going to Viceroy’s House for a discussion of the plan. Con-

trary, I believe, to Viceregal practice, the three Cabinet Ministers

(Lord Pethick-Lawrence, Sir Stafford Cripps and Lord Alexander)

and Lord Wavell called on Sir Te} Bahadur and spent nearly an

hour with him.

Pethick-Lawrence brought to bear on the final solution of

India’s problem a sympathetic insight, fully in keeping with his

liberal principles. Within a few hours of the publication of the

Cabinet Mission plan on 16th May, 1946, he broadcast from New

Delhi on India’s future. He said:
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The future of India and how that future is inaugurated are

matters of vital importance, not only to India herself, but

to the whole world. Ifa great new sovereign State can come

into being in a spirit of mutual goodwill, it will be an out-

standing contribution to world stability. The Government

and people of Britain are not only willing, they are anxious, to

play their full part in achieving this result.

Between Pethick-Lawrence and Cripps there was a bond of

close friendship and affection. During the several weeks that

the Cabinet Mission spent in Delhi and Simla, Cripps proved to

be an understanding and hard-working colleague. In the final

stages a memorandum had to be prepared setting forth the Mis-

sion’s views; and according to Pethick Lawrence, “Cripps pro-

duced it in a single hour—some three thousand words all in his

own handwritting in his usual red ink, covering ten closely packed

foolscap pages”.

Cripps, compelled to leave India earlier than his colleagues

(for reasons of health), wrote a moving letter to Pethick-Lawrence :

“I cannot leave India without expressing to you, as the leader

of our Mission, the intense admiration and gratitude that I feel

for all you have done. In the conduct of our negotiations you

have made a wise mixture of caution with enthusiasm for the

cause of Indian independence, and a determination not to let

your patience become exhausted, even though you yourself were

feeling physically exhausted....It has been a tremendous pri-

vilege and joy to me to be associated with you in this historic

enterprise, and I believe that you can be satisfied with the

contribution that you have made to World History.

In his papers was a leaflet published at the time of Cripps’

death in 1952 : it concluded with the following sentiment : “This

is the comfort to friends, that-though they may be said to die,

yet their friendship and society are in the best sense ever-present

because immortal.”

A newspaper correspondent once asked Pethick-Lawrence

at a press conference in New Delhi whether he agreed with Mr.
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Churchill’s notion of losing the Empire. His reply was charac-

teristic : “Nothing can redound mote to the highest traditions

of liberty which prevail in my country than if, as a result of our

labours, we have in the years to come a_ sovereign country here

in India whose relationship with ours is one of friendliness and

equality.”

As the historian Dr. G. P. Gooch once observed, “British

Imperialism, sometimes labelled colonialism, is dead, and Lord

Pethick-Lawrence was one of our elder statesmen who drove the

nails into its coffin.”

Pethick-Lawrence had a deep and _ instinctive appreciation

of Gandhiji’s point of view; but he told his wife on one occasion

that Gandhyi was not a very easy person with whom to negotiate

a political settlement, “most generous (though he was) in attribut-

ing good motives to those who differed from him’.

After the passage of the Indian Independence Act which he

piloted through the House of Lords, he went virtually into retire-

ment. The final chapter of a book on Mahatma Gandhi which

he subsequently wrote in association with Mr. Polak and Mr.

Brailsford, he concluded with a reference to the verdict of history

on the vital issue of war and peace. He wrote:

War is a terrible evil. Even a so-called ‘righteous’ war of

defence brings frightful evils in its train. Each successive

war sees the invention of new and more deadly weapons. If

wars continue with atom bombs and perhaps bacteriological

warfare, and who knows what fresh horrors, can civilisation

survive? The world may yet be forced to think again of some

escape from self-destruction along Gandhi’s lines.

Pethick-Lawrence’s religious convictions were rooted in an out-

look which is summed up in the following passage:

I have no knowledge or experience of inner light which en-

ables me to predict what happens to the ndividual after death.

It lies entirely beyond my ken. But when I look out upon

this shatteringly wonderful universe, I am driven more and

more to feel that the Central Life from which it all emanated
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has some good purpose in creating it and in particular in creat-

ing me and Emmeline (his wife) and that that good purpose

cannot have remained unfulfilled.

Even after India’s achievement of freedom, Pethick-Lawrence

maintained his interest in India. After the Suez crisis, worried

by the possibility of India withdrawing from the Commonwealth,

he wrote to Nehru begging him “not to desert those British who

are trying to redeem the Commonwealth from the disgrace”.

With a number of Indian leaders, including Rajaji, he had cor-

respondence almost up to the end of his life. He wrote a poem

entitled the ‘Cosmic Hymn’ in the New Statesman which Rajaji

described as “Vedanta pure and simple’.

There have been, in the records of the British Labour move-

ment, examples of earnest men and women championing great

causes and suffering for them; but somehow, it seems to me, des-

tiny could not have selected a more appropriate instrument for

the renunciation of British authority over India than Lord

Pethick-Lawrence.
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We have abundant reason in India to feel grateful that we

have alive in our midst an outstanding statesman of the freedom

struggle, with his mental faculties and brilliance undimmed by

age (he is well past 90), and sustained by a faith in the future, which

has withstood all the shocks and disappointments of public life.

A lone figure at some points in his career, misunderstood sometimes

by his own colleagues, never has Rajagopalachari deviated from

a course dictated by conviction.

I first saw Rajaji, as he is popularly known all over India, on

the platform of Gokhale Hall in Madras in the middle of the First

World War. The Home Rule Campaign had brought many people

like him out of their old grooves into a somewhat exciting public

life. The vision of a free India at the end of the war was one

which inevitably stirred deep emotions in most people.

The end of the war synchronized with Gandhiji’s assumption

of leadership of the Congress, and in the acute controversies of

the time following the Amritsar tragedy in 1919 and the adoption

of non-cooperation as his programme, political workers had been

driven somewhat far apart. Rajaji was drawn by the magnetism

of Gandhiji’s personality into a close association with him and _ his

policies; while I, in a far humbler role, was steadfast in my loyalty

to Mrs. Besant. There was, however, a strange connecting link

between us in Mr. George Arundale, a warm-hearted Englishman

with a rare gift for making friends. Arundale and I were giving

much of our spare time outside the demands of Mrs. Besant’s
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paper New India to the organization of industrial labour in Madras.

Rajaji, through some circumstance that I cannot now tecall, also

became interested in the movement. Frequently, we made trips

together to Perambur to address the workers of the Railway

Workshops. Differences in political outlook seemed to be of little

account: between Rajaji and Arundale there developed a warm

relationship which did not leave me unaffected.

That carly contact must have left a subconscious impression

on me. Some years later, as the boycott of the Simon Commis-

sion in the late twenties was running into difficulties, Rajaji (who

was travelling in the same train to Calcutta as Mrs. Besant and

I were, for the annual session of the Congress in 1928) made a

suggestion to me at a wayside station: if she could be persuaded,

he said, to shed her misgivings about civil disobedience creating

a mass upheaval, she and Gandhi could jointly sponsor an effec-

tive movement to infuse vitality into the boycott of the Simon

Commission. The suggestion proved, however, to be unaccept-

able to her.

From the moment that he threw himself into the Home Rule

Campaign in 1917, Rajaji seemed destined for a place of high dis-

tinction in our freedom struggle. The impact of his speeches

on his audiences in Gokhale Hall, Madras, in those far-off days

was great because of his cogent reasoning, his sharp, analytical

intellect and a singularly unemotional approach. Gandhiji made

an irresistible appeal to him and drew out of him a loyalty that

stood the test of differences of opinion on a number of occasions

during the freedom struggle. His period of apprenticeship was

somewhat long; for over a decade after the war while C. R. Das

and Motilal Nehru were busy building the Swaraj party and chal-

lenging British might on the legislative front, Rajaji was content

to devote his energies to Gandhiji’s constructive programme of the

removal of untouchability and the cult of the spinning wheel.

In 1931, Ramsay MacDonald’s promise to the first session of

the Round Table Conference in London of almost immediate res-

ponsible government in the form of an all-India Federation, and the

external status of a Dominion, opened a new phase in our pro-

gress towards freedom. Rajaji sensed in it a call to play a more

significant role in shaping India’s political future. Behind the
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scenes in the spring of 1931 in New Delhi, with both C. R, Das

and Motilal Nehru prematurely dead, he became closely asso-

ciated with Gandhiji in the parleys with Lord Irwin.

The Gandhi-Irwin pact which resulted from these negotiations

and enabled Gandhiji to represent the Congress in the second

session of the Round Table Conference was a notable achievement

in constructive statesmanship for which Rajaji quietly laboured

with skill and persistence.

A few years later, in a very different setting, Rajaji and I

again came together. It was after the completion of the 1935

Constitution, when a controversy arose in the Congress over

the exercise of the Governors’ special powers threatening to

create a deadlock in bringing the Act into operation. Could a

formula be evolved within the limitations of the Constitution,

wondered those who were anxious to avert a breakdown, to en-

able the Congress to form ministries in the Provinces where it had

secured majorities, with a reasonable measure of assurance that

the party’s programme of economic and social reforms could be

implemented without unnecessary interference by the Governors ?

I was at that time the New Delhi correspondent of The Hindu

and the Manchester Guardian. After a discussion with Rajaji,

immediately after the first general elections for the Provincial

Legislatures early in 1937, I sent an identical message to both these

papers, embodying a proposal, apparently on my personal assess-

ment of the situation, that suggested a possible way out of the

impasse. About a fortnight later in the middle of April, I was

summoned over the telephone to Viceroy’s House. Without

wasting words on formalities, Lord Linlithgow referred to my

message in the Manchester Guardian: taking a newspaper clipping

from his papers he tossed it to me with the remark, “Lord Zet-

land (the Secretary of State for India) has sent this to me to en-

quite what your authority is for the statement in your message

that Mr. Gandhi might advise the Congress to accept office on the

basis of your proposal.”

[I told the Viceroy that Rajaji was the real author of the formula

and he knew intimately the working of Gandhiji’s mind. “That

certainly makes a great difference”, replied Lord Linlithgow.

His reaction was immediate : would I see Gandhiji in strict conf-
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dence and obtain from him an elaboration of certain points

which both he and Lord Zetland regarded as vital for a settle-

ment? I saw Gandhi ona Monday—his day of silence—in a

village in Belgaum district where the annual meeting of the Village

Industries Association was being held. I passed on to him a slip

of paper to indicate that they were really the Viceroy’s (and

Lord Zetland’s) questions. After three days of careful drafting

and revision he gave his final approval in Poona to a statement

which later opened the door to a settlement. As I was leaving

‘Parnakuti’, his Poona residence, he said to me: “I have only

to be coaxed by the British.....they are a decent people, it is easy

to make a deal with them.”

There is no doubt that Gandhi lent his support in the pre-

war years to those in the Congress Party like Rajaji who held,

in Gandhiji’s language, that ‘the Government of India Act of 1935

was an attempt, however limited it might be, to replace the rule

of the sword by the rule of the majority”.

There was acknowledgement on all sides that during the two

ycars and more that the Congress Ministries were in office, for

eficiency of administration and good relations between Ministers

and the Civil Servicc, Madras under Rajaji’s leadership was well

ahead of all other provinces. Some of the healthy conventions

established by Rajaji have stood the test of time and continued to

operate in Madras in the last three decades. Such was the favour-

able impression created by him that in October 1939, on my sug-

gestion to the Viceroy for the reconstitution of the Central Exe-

cutive Council to function in effect as a national government, the

Viceroy’s comment was that it would have merited serious consi-

deration if all’Congress leaders were of the same type as Rayjaji

and Pandit Pant.

It is idle to speculate at this distance of time on the conse-

quences of the Congress as a whole deciding to pursue a course

which had the support of Gandhiji, Rajaji and some other leaders

in the organization. Their triumph in 1937 in obtaining the

approval of the A.I.C.C. for the formation of Ministries proved

to be short-lived. The withdrawal of the Ministries from office

shortly after the outbreak of World War II in 1939 was a blunder

of the first magnitude for which the left wing of the party was
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primarily responsible. The abandonment of a position of strength

was fatal to effective negotiations, whether with the British or

with the Muslim League, as Rajaji knew all the time. Men like

him were caught in a vortex of conflicting forces, Congress left-

wing demands being matched by British short-sightedness.

In 1940 and the following year, a series of behind-the-scene

negotiations took place in which the prime movers were Rajaji,

Maulana Azad and Pandit Pant from the Congress and Sir Sikandar

Hyat Khan the head of the Punjab Untonist Party. These efforts,

which had Gandhiji’s blessings, were intended to bring into being

a war-time Federal Government under the 1935 Constitution,

with suitable conventions to confer on the Executive the subs-

tance of constitutional responsibility; and for a long-term settle-

ment, at the end of the war. The Premiers of all the Provinces

were to be authorized to form the nucleus of a Constituent Assembly

for drafting a new Constitution. Gandhiji was fully aware of the

nature and course of these negotiations and was keen on their

success; but every time success seemed near, the way was blocked

by British unwillingness to accept the proposals.

Then came the crucial year—1942—when India faced a perilous

situation baffling in its complexity. So long as Cripps was in New

Delhi, the hope of a satisfactory settlement flickered, though

intermittently. Early in his discussions with Indian leaders,

baffled by a deadlock over defence arrangements for the duration

of the war, it was to Tej Bahadur Sapru, Rajaji and B. N. Rau that

Cripps turned for assistance in evolving a compromise.

When finally failure overtook the Cripps mission, with the

Japanese fleet in control of the Bay of Bengal, and Madras in grave

peril of attack, the situation demanded quick and far-reaching

decisions. At the fateful Allahabad meeting of the A.I.C.C. in the

last week of April, Rajaji came out with his bold suggestion of

accepting the principle of partition as the basis of an understand-

ing with the Muslim League. The circumstances under which he

reached sucha conclusion, startling to his colleagues in the Con-

gress, are worth recalling.

Churchill was in no mood to attempt an immediate renewal of

effort with India’s leaders, and Roosevelt seemed reluctant to

needle him further while the fortunes of the war were fluctuating
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and unpredictable. Never did Rajaji exhibit such courage and

foresight as in this unprecedented crisis. He had good reasons

to goahead with a drastic proposal. Madras, he knew better

than anyone clse, was in imminent peril of a Japanese landing, and

the British had alrcady declared their intention of not offering

resistance. Only a National Government could possibly rouse

the morale of the Indian people for self-defence, but its formation

was contingent on the support of the Muslim League. On the

acceptance of the principle of partition by the Congress hung the

slender prospects of an immediate settlement and the hope of a

National Government cmcrging to prevent Japanese occupation

of India’s cast coast.

The great bulk of the membcets of the A.L.C.C. drawn from other

parts of India were unprepared for the division of India at the

end of the war. Rajaji went into the wilderness for the rest of

the war, sacrificing his positton and influence in an unsuccessful

bid to overcome the obstacle that had engulfed the Cripps mis-

sion. But all through that summer, never for a moment did he

abandon hope of a settlement with the League to gather the maxi-

mum support for India’s freedom. ;

Later in that year, Rajaji disassociated himself from the ‘Quir

India’ resolution which the AI.C.C. adopted in Bombay on August

8, 1942. He thus dared once again to strike a note that he knew

would almost completely isolate him from the rest of the Congress.

But he was not alone in holding the policy enunciated in the re-

solution to be detrimental to India’s long-term interests.

A day before the adoption of the resolution Nehru had made

it abundantly clear, in an interview to me for publication in the

Manchester Guardian, that the resolution was not to be interpreted

as an ultimatum to the British Government. India, provided

that its demand was conceded at the end of the war (declared

Nehru), would fight to the end of the war on the side of the

Allied Powers. Nehru was, in fact, in a most conciliatory mood

throughout the crisis and appeared to be in substantial agree-

ment with Rajaji, though he preferred to go with Gandhiji and

the Working Committee in committing himself to the resolution.

On the eve ot Gandhiji’s release from detention in 1944 Rajajs

proposed a formula for discussion with Jinnah in which was implicit
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a joint declaration of independence to become operative an the

termination of the war and the immediate formation of a National

Government, except for some temporary reservations in regard

to defence.

It would be relevant here to refer to the precise terms of Raja-

j?'s formula for partition which he evolved during the dctention

of Congress leaders in 1942-44: (1) the Muslim League to en-

dorse the demand for complete independence and join the Congress

in forming a provisional National Government during the interim

period; (2) a plebiscite, after the termination of the war, of al] the

inhabitants of districts in the north-west and north-east of India,

demarcated by a commission, to determine whether a separate

State or States should be established; (3) in the event of separation

being the verdict, agreements for safeguarding defence, commerce,

communications, etc. to be drawn up for acceptance by both

sides; (4) these terms to be binding only on condition of British

willingness to transfer full power and responsibility to the Indian

people.

Gandhiji, in acccpting the formula as the basis for his discus-

sions with Mr. Jinnah in September, 1944, relied on the pro-

mise, implicit in the formula of a treaty of separation which, as

he told the leader of the Muslim League, “should provide for the

efficient and satisfactory administration of forcign affairs, dcfence,

communications, customs, commerce and the like which must

necessarily continue to be matters of common interest between the

contracting parties”. The breakdown of these talks barred further

discussions; but the point to remember is that neither Gandhiji

nor Rajaji ever contemplated abrupt separation. In the esta-

blishment of Pakistan as a sovereign, independent State, an csscn-

tial feature from their point of view was the treaty of separation to

provide for a difficult period of transition.

It was our misfortune that the threat of near-chaos which hung

over the sub-continent on the eve of our freedom in 1947 and

the anxiety of the British to withdraw from India by 15th August

left no time or opportunity for calm deliberation on the details of

such a treaty.

It was a privilege for me to accompany Rajaji in 1962 as a mem-

ber of the Gandhi Peace Foundation delegation to some of the
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world’s capitals on a great quest—a treaty for the suspension of

nuclear tests. We met several leading personalities, President

Kennedy amongst them.

It was an unusually crowded day for the President, with the

Cuban affair simmering, the Mississippi crisis (over the admission

of a Negro student into the University) at its peak and numerous

engagements quickly following one another. He had warned

one of his advisers that 20 to 25 minutes was the utmost he could

spare for the Indian delegation.

The meeting was in Mr. Kennedy’s reception room in the White

House. Rajaji began ona note of moderation in his proposal.

His was not a plea for general disarmament; how could he suggest

it to another State, when the Government of India’s defence policy

was not based on such a consideration? The immediate cessation

of nuclear tests in the atmosphere (and also in outer space and

under the sea) stood on a different footing. Skilfully he introduced

the argument that the world as a whole had a right to say to the

Nuclear Powers that they could not, in the name of nuclear testing,

poison the atmosphere, with incalculable harm to humanity, now

and in the future. Unilateral action on the part of the USA—

in the absence of an agreement with the Soviet Union—would earn

for her the moral support and approval of the world. That

would more than offset such military disadvantages as there might

be.

In 35 minutes of quiet but cogent reasoning Rajaji made a com-

prehensive survey of every aspect of the problem. There was

not a superfluous word or argument. The President listened in

complete silence, obviously impressed by the sincerity of the

speaker and the soundness of the argument. When he did speak,

it was to say that he considered the proposals ‘reasonable’ and

would, of course, give them serious consideration to see which

among them were feasible. He made no secret of his own anxiety

to see all nuclear tests banned at once. The interview was pro-

longed well beyond an hour, “but the President was in no hurry

to send away his distinguished visitor.

After we had taken leave of the President, he is said to have

remarked to one of his official advisers who was at the interview :

“Seldom have I heard a case presented with such precision and
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clarity and elegance of language.” This comment, in varying

terms, was made later by nearly everyone whom the delegation

(of which Rajaji was the leading spokesman) saw in Washington,

New York and London.

Our programme in New York was equally strenuous, centring

mainly round the United Nations and the various attached mis-

sions. The interview with U Thant was a delightful experience,

the Secretary-General being a genial person, besides possessing,

thorough competence for the onetous duties that devolved on him.

Rajaji had the impression in Washington that a resolution in the

General Assembly providing for the expulsion of a member-State

defying the decision to stop nuclear tests might prove a deter-

rent. But U Thant was clear in his view that such a clause could

find no place in any General Assembly resolution.

On the main point, however, cvery one was agrecd that it

would be an extremely desirable move to get the Gencral Assembly

to reiterate its position against nuclear tests in strong terms.

The immediate danger, as somcone pointed out, was of rifles

and machine-guns being provided with atomic heads and such

dangerous weapons being sent to different conflict-torn regions

in the world.

One of the most abiding memories of the delcgation’s trip in

New York was a visit to Sir Zafrullah Khan, the President of that

year’s Session of the General Assembly. He greeted Rajaji with

deep respect and affection, describing him as “a statesman of world

stature with rare courage of conviction”. As Assembly Presi-

dent Sir Zafrullah Khan could take no active part in the proceed-

ings; nevertheless, he assured Rajaji and the delegation that all his

influence would be in favour of securing a ban on nuclear tests.

The interview with Mr. Gromyko of the Soviet Union was a

pleasant surprise. Mr. Gromyko’s English, spoken with a

distinctly foreign accent, was admirably clear and terse. He left us

in no doubt as to the Soviet attitude towards nuclear tests. His

Government, he declared, would sign “here and now” a ban on all

tests, if the U.S.A. were willing. Asa compromise they were also

willing to have a juridical obligation on over-ground, under-the-

sea and space tests, and a moral obligation on underground

tests pending negotiations for a final settlement. The Soviet
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Union, said Mr. Gromyko, was anxious to reduce to the minimum

the pollution of the atmosphere, but could not endanger her na-

tional security.

Whatever might have been the immediate results in terms of

a nuclear test ban—complete or partial—the delegation left behind

a fund of goodwill and friendliness for India and genuine respect

and affection for an old man who ventured out of India for the

first time at the age of 84, on a mission which essentially concerned

all humanity.
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Khan Abdul Ghaffar Khan

Khan Abdul Ghaffar Khan, affectionately known as Badshah

Khan, had fought valiantly for India’s freedom with such stal-

warts as Mahatma Gandhi, Jawaharlal Nehru, Sardar Patel, Mau-

lana Azad, Rajaji and Rajendra Prasad. The partition of India

was a terrible shock for this doughty champion of Hindu-Muslim

brotherhood. His sturdy independence and his fight for the rights

of his fellow Pathans in the Pakhtoon region, once Pakistan had

emerged, were too uncomfortable for the rulers of that country.

He languished in prison for 15 years and was released only after

his health had broken down.

His has been a chequered and heroic life, 30 years of which

were spent in imprisonment, divided equally between British and

Pakistani jails. Badshah Khan could have had a life of ease and

plenty. Witha good family background, and a personality of com-

manding height (6 feet 3 inches), there was nothing he could not

have had for the asking—-a commission in the British Indian

Army, for instance. Such education as he had under a broad-

minded British missionary, Mr. E.F.E. Wigram, had made a deep

impression on him. The education of the Pathans, he decided

early in life, was to be his life’s main work, so that the numerous

tribes from Chitral to Baluchistan could be roused to a sense of

unity, with pride in their ancient past.

Badshah Khan refers nostalgically in his memoirs* to his home=

* My Life and Struggle~Autobiography of Badshah Khan,
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region as ‘the cradle of Aryan civilisation’; a land where the Bud-

dha’s gospel once spread far and wide, as two magnificent statues

of his bear testimony even today in Bamian; and the home of the

greatest grammarian of all times, Panini. Subjection to foreign

rule and suffering for the Pathan tribes began with the Moghul

invasion, continued under British rule and was intensified under

Pakistan. The Pakhtoon country was divided into different areas,

some described as the scttled districts, some others were ‘unset-

tled’ (a kind of no-man’s land), some again as political agencies.

More in sorrow than in anger, he has written: “Neither the Bri-

tish Government, when it was in powcr, nor the Pakistani Go-

vernment after the partition, have ever allowed me to have any

connection with my tribal brethren, or to visit them and stay with

them and share their joys and sortows.”

For centurics, from the Moghul to the British period, and

from the British to Pakistani rule, the tribal Pathans have never

been trested with equality or dignity. Because of their isola-

tion from the rest of the world, the Pathans have been mis-

understood; their love of freedom and_ liberty described as

disregard for law and order, their bravery and courage called

savagery... their traditional hospitality and sociability mis-

represented.

Failure to salute a Britisher, as he witnessed very early in life.

for a Pathan, meant the ‘stocks’—“‘a large wooden frame with holes

for the fect and a lid onthe top, in which an offender is locked

up in a sitting position, his feet sticking out through the holes.”

His first taste of prison life as a freedom fighter, when he was

barely 20, was dreadful; the fetters on his feet were so tight that

he could hardly walk, and the feet were bleeding. Sir George

Roos-Keppel, a sympathetic administrator, reduced his first sen-

tence to six months, but his freedom was of brief duration. Tour-

ing in the villages round his home in Utmanzai was considered

risky. A security was demanded but he was in no mood to fur-

nish one. Back he went to prison, this time to serve a full three

years’ rigorous imprisonment with solitary confinement. The

jailor was willing to provide relief for a consideration, but Bad-

247



India’s Freedom Movement

shah Khan told him: “Bribing is a social evil : I will have no part

in it. You know that Iam here because I refused to furnish secu-

rity. If I have to bribe anyone, I may as well pay the security.”

An accidental circumstance, namely, transfer to Lahore Central

Jail brought Badshah Khan into contact with India’s Icaders. He

read Maulana Azad’s A/ Hilal, came into contact with Gandhiji

and Jawaharlal Nehru, was drawn into the Congress and later

became a member of its Working Committce. These contacts had

a great cflect on him. Returning to his homeland he told his

people: “A revolution ts like a flood, it can bring blessings, but

it can also bring devastation; it can bring fertility and prospcrity

but it can also bring ruin.” He was anxious for the active involve-

ment of the Pathan people in a constructive movement which

would concentrate on education: this was the genesis of the

Khudai Khidmatgar (Scrvants of God) movement.

The more he saw of Gandhiji the greater grew his respect and

affection for him. The Khudai Khidmatgar movement became so

popular that the Chicf Commissioner of the North West Fron-

tier Province demanded its dissolution. Badshah Khan replied :

“Our organisation is purely social; it is not a political movement.”

The assurance was not considered adequate : where was the gua-

rantee that] ater it would not be exploited for a_ political ob-

jective P

The punishment meted out to the members of the movement,

in a vain effort to suppress it, offers a depressing commentary

on the sadistic side of human nature. Occasionally, a kindly Bri-

tish officer would mitigate the cruelties of prison life. The Ins-

pector-General of Police (a Mr. Smith) had once the courage to

protest to the Governor of the Province against the treatment

accorded to ‘a brave opponent’ like Badshah Khan. In contrast

was the attitude of the Pakistan Government : he was kept in soli-

tary confinement most of the timc, and if sometimes a companion

was permitted, he was either a lunatic or had some incurable dis-

ease.

My meetings with Badshah Khan were only in Delhi—where

he came to my house for a meal and met Sir Stafford Cripps for

a private conversation—not in his native Province. But I did

have an opportunity, in the summer of 1938, to visit Waziristan
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and meet some of the Pathan tribal people who lived there. The

circumstances of my visit make a story by themselves.

British bombing of the tribal villages in Waziristan had made

big news at that time in Europe, and the Manchester Guardian cabled

for an authentic report. I knew next to nothing about events

in Waziristan, living as I did hundreds of milcs away from the

region, with no access to direct sources of information. With

the editor’s approval, I requested Mr. Abdul Qaiyum Khan, then

an active member of the Swaraj Party (and later a follower of Mr.

Jinnah and an ardent Muslim Leaguer), to do a special article for

the Guardian. He produced a scathing condemnation of the hor-

rors of bombing innocent Pathan villages in language that I knew

was not in the normal style of the paper. I toned it down consi-

derably, with the writer’s permission, and in due course it appeared

in the Guardian, followed, as was inevitable, by a number of critical

questions in the House of Commons.

Months later, after J had moved up to Simla, which used to be

the summer capital of the Goverment in the years before the

Second World War, I received a telephone message from a British

Army Officer from Army Headquarters. “Are you free”, he asked

me, “to come up to Army Headquarters for a cup of tea with the

Chief of the General Staff??? The Chicf was Brigadier Auchinleck,

later to be a Field-Marshal in charge of the Supreme Command of

the Allied Forces for a time in the Second World War. I walked

through Simla’s thick monsoon mist and found my way to his

room. On _ his table was spread out a big map of the North

West Frontier Province and Waziristan. “Why do you send

atticles written by other people on our Waziristan policy”, he

began. ‘‘Because (I replied) I know nothing about it and must

tely on those who live in that region.” “You can go yourself”,

he told me, and turned the map towards me with places marked

all over Waziristan and the Frontier Province—Bannu. Tank,

Jandola, Wana, Razmak, Miranshah, Mirali, Kohat, Peshawar.

The details of my visit thus settled, Auchinleck assured me

that I was absolutely free to ask any questions, note down my

impressions and draw my own conclusions. T'tom Bannu, my

first halt, until Kohat, I would be the guest of the Indian Army,

but travelling at my own expense from Simla to Bannu.
a
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Thus in the middle of July 1938, I found myself arriving after

a hot journey across the Indus Valley at Bannu. I was*met by

Staff Captain Kulwant Singh (who later retired as a General). His

deputy was Sccond Lieutenant Ayub Khan, who was to become

President of Pakistan. At dinner that night in the rcgimental

mess, the Commandant (a senior British Officer) said to me:

“You must find time to spend a couple of hours at least at Tank

where two British missionary women doctors have been running

a fine women’s hospital for over a quarter of a century.”

At Tank, in the heart of the Mahsud territory, next day, I

heard a remarkable story from these two women doctors who spoke

fluent Pushtu and knew the region well. They had nothing to

fear from the Mahsuds, ‘“‘the most inveterate and the most trea-

cherous of all the Pathan tribes” as one British writer had described

them to be. These women could go frecly in a tonga at night to

a Mahsud village to look after an ailing woman ora child, with no

fear of molestation.

That was understandable in normal times: but what followed

in our talk seemed to me incredible. These women were in the

habit of going every year to Kashmir for a month to six weeks of

the worst part of the summer, returning in the middle of July for

another spell of medical work. But one year, while they were still

in Kashmir, there was a tribal revolt which sealed off Tank from

Bannu. Well past the usual time for the re-opening of the

women’s hospital at Tank, there was no sign of the medical women

proceeding beyond Bannu. The hospital was an indispensible

necessity for the tribal people, revolt or no revolt. A truce party

went up to Bannu with a strange request from the tribesmen to the

Commandant. Could these women accompany the party back

to Tank, so that the hospital might reopen for the sake of their

women-folk ? The doctors were willing to accept the invitation

despite the attendant risk and the Commandant saw no reason for

refusing them permission. And so they went, the truce remaining

effective until they had reached Tank.

My fascinating trip terminated at Peshawar, where I was the

guest of the North West Frontier Province’s Chief Minister, Dr.

Khan Sahib (Badshah Khan’s brother) whom I knew earlier in

New Delhi as a member of the Swaraj Party in the Central Legis-
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lative Assembly. I narrated some of my exciting experiences

in Waziristan in an after-dinner talk with him: the sniping

from the hills round Razmak, the reactions of the Pathans to

British bombing of tribal villages in Waziristan, the remains of

Buddhist sculpture almost everywhere in the region, etc. My

host, a Pathan in his outlook despite his many years in the West,

remarked: “You should see the Health Officer of Peshawar and

ask him about a recent incident which nearly cost him his life.”

The following day I met this Health Officer, also a Pathan.

He indeed had an extraordinary story to tell me. He was sleeping

one morning in the open outside his bungalow (it being summer-

time) when he was summoned by telephone peremptorily to

the Police Station. Unaware of what it was about, he went and

saw a sullen-looking Pathan seated in a corner of the Police Offi-

cer’s room. “Do you recognise that man ?”, asked the Inspector,

pointing to the villager. The Health Officer gave a negative

reply.

“But I know you,” said the villager, “you saved my life some

years ago.” There had been a tribal uprising against the British

in which this villager had taken part. In the clash with the Indian

troops there were casualties, this villager being among the

wounded. The Health Officer, who at that time was attached to

a medical unit of the Army, had all the wounded—from both

sides—removed to the nearest hospital for the necessary attention.

And for days he looked after them until they were ready to

be discharged. The villager went home after the suppression of

the revolt, grateful to the man who had nursed him back to

normal health.

And then, years later—as was not uncommon in that part

of the world—because of a feud over family property, someone

wanted the Army doctor (subsequently posted on civilian duty as

Peshawar’s Health Officer) to be murdered; and this villager was

hired for the purpose. He had gone to the Health Officer’s bunga-

low very eatly one morning to have a look at the man he was to

murder—and recognised in him the saviour of his life. He slunk

away as quietly as he had entered the compound. He could have

gone home after declining to carry out the foul deed; but to his

simple mind that did not seem right. He voluntarily surrendezed
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himself to the police with a confession, but of course without dis-

closing the name of the person who had hired him!

Before returning to Simla, after these unforgettable ten days

spent among a people governed by a strict code of their own,

scornful of danger and death and reckless in their love of in-

dependence, I thought that my trip would not be complete without

a visit to Badshah Khan’s home village of Utmanzai in the pic-

turesque Peshawar valley. Unfortunately he was out on tour

and I could not meet him.

Early in 1946 the Khudait Khidmatgars won the provincial

Assembly elections with a large majority. Maulana Azad and

Badshah Khan were elected by the Frontier Assembly as delegates

to the Constituent Assembly.

Despite this clear verdict, however, in the following year a

referendum was forced upon the Province, and this too in a form

which the Pathans regarded as a gross injustice. The Province was

asked to choose whether it would remain in India or join Pakistan.

As an option, this choice was an illusion because, being land-

locked and cut off from India by the large area of West Pakistan

territory, joining with India was really out of the question. Abdul

Ghaffar Khan pleaded very strongly that the Pathans should be

given the option of self-determination, namely, to form their own

separate State if they opted for it in the referendum. Lord Mount-

batten was, however, deeply committed to the principle that no

Province was to be given the option of standing by itself and he

made this clear to Nehru and the Congress leaders. To Badshah

Khan’s dismay, they accepted Lord Mountbatten’s decision with-

out even putting up a fight in favour of Badshah Khan’s stand.

Badshah Khan comments: “It hurt and grieved me deeply that

even the Congress Working Committee did not lift a finger to

help us, as we had hoped they would.” In view of the indiffe-

rence of the Working Committee, the question whether the region

wanted to remain in India or go to Pakistan seemed to Badshah

Khan not only unnecessary but also improper, and he and _ his

followers decided to boycott the referendum.

He contended: “The Congress, which was the representative

body in India, not only deserted us but delivered us into the hands

of our enemies. To meet them now is like killing all my Pathan
t
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self-respect, ethics and traditions.” His only consolation was

that Gandhiji was on his side throughout the controversy.

After the creation of Pakistan, Badshah Khan spent 15 years

in prison; in addition, “thousands of Khudait Khidmatgars lost

their lives... Though we did not commit any crimes, the treat-

ment that the Pakistan Government meted out to us from the very

beginning was more cruel and more unjust than anything we had

suffered under the rule of the foreign infidels. The British had

never looted our homes, but the Islamic Government of Pakistan

did. The British had never stopped us from holding public

mectings or publishing newspapers, but the Islamic Government

of Pakistan did both. The British had never treated the Pakh-

toon women disrcspectfully, but the Islamic Government of Pa-

kistan did ... Pakistan was founded on hatred. It was born

not out of love but out of hatred, and it grew up on hatred, on

malice, on spite and _ hostility.”
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Sir Bertram Stevens

The foundations for a friendly relationship between Australia

and India were first laid over a quarter of a century ago in cir-

cumstances of unparallelled adversity during the Second World

War, by an Australian statesman, Sir Bertram Stevens. Japan’s

attack on Pearl Harbour was followed by spectacular successes in

South-East Asia, underlining the need for an agency to co-ordinate

the war supplies of the Allied Powers in this part of the world.

The establishment of an Eastern Group Supply Council with

its headquarters in New Delhi became necessary, and Sir Bertram

Stevens, a former Premier of New South Wales, was nominated

by his Government as Australia’s representative.

During my regular visits to the Supply Council in my profes-

sional capacity as a journalist, I realised that Sir Bertram was a

man of exceptional drive and foresight. The political deadlock

in India frequently figured as a topic of discussion between us

which led later to direct contacts being established with Nehru.

With the naval disaster sustained by Britain in South-East Asia in

the closing months of 1941, the war situation seriously deteriorated

from the point of view of the Allies. Sir Bertram, as an Aus-

tralian, was quick to see the consequences to his country of the

loss of two British battleships off Malaya. Japan’s advance to-

wards Singapore could no longer be halted, and Australia was in

imminent danger of being cut off from the other Allies. Japan’s

occupation of South-East Asia meant that it would be a long

war—but a ‘war of production’, as Sir Bertram stressed in a
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confidential memorandum, with “time not necessarily on the Allies’

side”. He was anxious “for a new and quick survey of India’s

war effort, on the production side particularly, with the new situa-

tion in mind and a clear-eyed appreciation that past prejudices and

inhibitions must go”.

I took the liberty, after obtaining the necessary permission,

of showing Sir Bertram’s memorandum to Nehru and Asaf Ali.

They were struck by its clear analysis of the factors that would

determine the duration and the ultimate result of the war.

Each day brought its tale of fresh disasters and retreats. After

Singapore’s fall without resistance, Sir Bertram reviewed the war

situation in a comprehensive memorandum. India’s problem,

he plainly saw, was “literally one of survival”; and “the way in

which she faces it, will perhaps determine for a very long time to

come her status among the States and peoples of the earth. The

way India stands up to the coming Japanese moral and military

onslaught—and perhaps the Nazi attack too—will have decisive

effects on the temper and potential of the people of India.”

With Singapore as the new headquarters of the Japancse battle

fleet, an early attack on India scemed almost inevitable. The

Anglo-American naval forces stationed at Sourabaya in Java, ill-

equipped in comparison and exposed to large-scale attack, would

then have been in a desperate position. Gloomy as the prospect

seemed, it would be much worse, Sir Bertram fearcd, with Rangoon

and Lower Burma under Japanese occupation. Bengal would

then become vulnerable, and “Calcutta and Jamshedpur would

feel the first brunt’.

Sit Bertram’s assessment left no room for complacency.

With Rangoon gone, “communications with India (would be)

gravely imperilled, and it is only a question of how complete a

blockade of Madras, Calcutta, Vizagapatam, Colombo, Goa,

Bombay and Karachi the Japanese can establish. Raiders—not merely

submarines but big cruisers—can range the East and West coasts.”

Bleak as the short-term prospect seemed to be, it appeared even

more sinister in an over-all analysis of the war situation. The

secondary threat to India, in Sir Bertram’s view, “‘less imme-

diate, but no less grave, (lay) in Germany’s push into Iran via

Turkey and from the Caucasus”.
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From this assessment he went on to consider India’s position

—and her responsibility—thrown as she was, by Japan’s *sudden

thrust into Malaya and Burma, into the front line. He held:

India is the key to the future. If India were to fall, with all her

resources and man-power, to an unscrupulous and clever

enemy, the following results would follow: G@) India would

never get her freedom, never cash in on her efforts to master

western ideas of democracy, social conscience and individual

rights; (41) her man-power would be used, sooner or later, to

help Japan or Germany crush the western races in Australia,

Africa and America and to destroy Soviet Russia and to wear

China down and destroy China’s ‘New Life’? and Asiatic renais-

sance : a vista for India of unending suftcring, deyradation,

toil, bloodshed and drainage of vital human resources.

If the fall of Singapore lengthened the war by three years,

the fall of India, in Sir Bertram’s view, would lengthen it by thirty

at the least. India, he said, “is not only the key to the British

Empire, it is the key to civilization at the moment.” What, then,

he asked, should be the positive steps taken to retrieve a position

which had become desperate ?

The strategic problem is to turn Australia and India into

impregnable fortresses containing powerful arsenals. India is

in a far weaker position than Australia, and to her the enemy

is therefore more likely to turn, true to a policy of probing the

‘soft spots’ first—irrespective of the strategic advantages which

have been sketched above... The immediate problem 1s to

arm as many Indians as possible, and rush troops and material

to threatened spots—such as Ceylon—and once they are there,

to lead them to resist to the last man.

From the long range point of view the obvious plan seemed

to him to be the development of India’s indigenous production.

Beyond India’s existing capacity, he was convinced, there must be

developed new capacity to supplement what already existed in
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some cases; and in other cases, to start new lines or to duplicate,

triplicate and quadruplicate existing installations. In steel, not

only were new furnaces needed to treat all India’s pig-iron—a

large proportion of which was sent to Britain for steel-making

—but also increased fabricating capacity was needed. India was

hopelessly deficient in foundries, machine tools, and manufacturing

capacity.

I gave Sir Bertram’s memorandum, which contained much

that was stimulating and instructive, to Nehru. He was deeply

impressed with its sound approach and constructive suggestions.

When Sir Stafford Cripps arrived with the British proposals in

March 1942 for a war-time scttlement, and serious difficulties

arose over the transitional arrangements regarding defence, I was

asked by Nehru to obtain from Sir Bertram a precise statement

of the constitutional arrangements in a full-fledged Dominion

like Australia in regard to defence.

Sir Bertram drew up a note, which both Nehru and Asaf Ali

described as ‘invaluable’, to point out that Australia was represen-

ted by a Minister in the War Cabinet in Britain. His principal

task was to keep his Government informed of high imperial stra-

tegy and generally to represent Austrialia’s views in the British

War Cabinet. Australia was also represented in the Pacific War

Council in Washington so that she could influence Allied policy

in the Pacific and have a voice in shaping high imperial strategy;

all this was in addition to being in complete control of her internal

defence arrangements.

While carefully refraining from expressing any views on the

controversy which threatened a deadlock in the Cripps’ negotia-

tions, Sir Bertram presumed that if India’s Defence Member was

not an Indian and was directly answerable to the War Office and

not to the Viceroy, obviously there would be no such thing as col-

lective responsibility in the Indian Cabinet. Whatever might be

the ultimate compromise, India, he thought, should be represented

on the Pacific War Council and in the War Cabinet in London,

adding, as a suggestion, that “the Indian representatives should

be clothed with the same powers as the representatives of Aus-

tralia”’,

Discussing the point whether a formula could be evolved to
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satisfy the requirements of the situation, Sir Bertram thought that

some of the statements made by Sir Stafford Cripps in New Delhi

had created a barrier to the surrender of ultimate responsibility

for the conduct of the war on Britain’s part; but he presumed that

India’s demand did not go so far as to claim immediate power

to accept such full responsibility. Short of it there were a number

of important questions on which Indian public opinion “needed to

be roused to the requisite point of enthusiasm for the war effort”.

His own formula for the solution of the deadlock on defence

was in the following terms :

Agree that the Commander-in-Chief be responsible for

certain major questions. Let this agreement be entered into

now, binding on the basis of its urgency and importance. For

example, at this particular juncture, it would be impossible to

effect major changes of policy in certain directions. The War

Office could not be expected to hand over to India any of the

major questions affecting strategy outside India; neither could

it be expected to export to India plants and cquipment ordered

at the caprice of the new Indian Defence Mcmbcr; but if the

right man be chosen and there is a tacit understanding before

he is appointed, no practical difficultics should arise, particu-

larly if those questions of policy, that now agitate the mind

of the average Indian, are settled beforehand.

At the same time, Sir Bertram stressed, certain important

factors were at stake beyond India’s defence. Before Britain

could surrender control of the Indian war effort to a new Govern-

ment in India, she was bound to consider the reactions of her three

important allies—Russia, China and the U.S.A.

The subsequent correspondence between Maulana Azad,

the Congress President, with Sir Stafford Cripps and Nehru’s

personal statements on the controversy, which finally wrecked

the Cripps Mission, afford clear evidence of ithe extent to which

these two Congress leaders were 'materially assisted in formulating

their defence proposals by the views expressed by Sir Bertram

Stevens in his note. The failure of the Cripps Mission brought

to a sudden end Sir Bertram’s efforts to bring Australia and India

closer together in a better-planned and more efficient war effort.
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Mrs. Besant’s Parting Message’

To my BROTHERS AND SISTERS IN INDIA

[As I have to see H.E. the Governor tomorrow, 15th June,

1917, I think it safer to print it today, lest I should be interned

and unable to speak. ANNIE BESANT]

“These are the times that try men’s souls.” Thus spoke one

who faced the fiery furnace of trial, and who faltered neither in

faith nor in courage. It is ours today to face a powerful auto-

cracy, determined to crush out all resistance to its will, and

that will is to prevent India from gaining self-government, or

home rule, in the reconstruction of the Empire after the War.

The National Congress has declared, in conjunction with the

All-India Muslim League, that India must be lifted from the posi-

tion of a Dependency to that of an equal partner in the Empire.

To that end they drafted a scheme of reforms, which proposed

that the Legislative Councils should be much enlarged and elected

on as broad a basis as possible, with a four-fifths majority of

elected members and that control of taxation and expenditure—

the power of granting or refusing supply—should be placed in

the hands of this Legislative Council. This is the feature of the

scheme specially selected by H.E. the Governor of Madras for

reprobation, and although it had been planned—-in consonance

with the practice of the civilized—by the most responsible public

* Please refer to page 45 of the text.
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men in the country, and accepted by the great mass of popularly

elected delegates at the Lucknow National Congress and the Mus-

lim League in 1916.

The difference of opinion between the Governor of Madras

and the large majority of educated Indians is a small matter :

but the resolution to crush home rule by force is a very serious

one. It is practically proposed to strangle by violence the poli-

tical educative propaganda which the Congress ordered its own

Committees, the Home Rule Leagues, and other similar public

bodies to carry on. We are therefore faced by the alternative

of disobeying the mandate of the country or that of the Governor

of Madras, an alternative which has been faced in the past by

all countries which suffer under autocracics, and which India—

the last great civilized country to be subjected to autocracy, save

those under the Central Powers in Europe—has now to face.

For myself, as a member of the All-India Congress Committce,

I elect to obey the mandate of the country, in preference to that

of the Governor of Madras, which has no moral justification be-

hind it, which outrages British law and custom, and imposes an

unwarrantable, and, I believe, an illegal, restriction on the

fundamental Rights of Man. I know that this resolution of mine,

setting myself against the strongest autocracy in the world

in the midst of a disarmed and helpless people, will seem to most

an act of madness, but by such acts of madness Nations are ins-

pired to resist oppression. Others will scoff at it as an easy martyr-

dom, deliberately courted; they have already done so, to dis-

count it beforchand, they who would not face exclusion from

Government House, let alone the loss of liberty, the seizure of

property, and the exclusion from public life, which has been my

one work and joy for forty-three years. When I was twenty-

five I wrote, anonymously, my first Free-thought pamphlet, and

within a year, as I refused to attend the Sacrament I had ceased to

believe in, I was turned out by my husband from his home. I

did not then, and do not now, blame him, for the position of

a Vicar with a heretic wife was impossible, and his friends urged

him to the step. At twenty-six at the end of July, 1874, I joined

the National Secular Society, for the first time heard Mr. Brad-

laugh lecture on August 2, and received my certificate of member-
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ship and had an interview with him a day or two later. On

August 30, I wrote my first article in the Naeéional Reform

and continued to write in it regularly, till he died in 1891.

My real public life dates from my first public lecture on “The

Political Status of Women’, for the Co-operative Institute in

August, 1874.

Since then my life has been given wholly to the service of the

public, as I have seen service, so that the deprivation of the lib-

erty to render service is the greatest loss that can befall me. I

know that the selfish and the unpatriotic cannot realize this,

but those who have a_ similar Dharma—they will understand.

Apart from the joy of service, life has no attractions for me, save

the happiness that flows from a few deep and strong personal

attachments. To surrender liberty and touch with those I love

is to me worse than death. But to live free and with them, a

cowatd and dishonoured, a traitor to Dharma and to India,

would be hell. I take the easicr path.

Those who rob me of liberty will try to blacken me, in order

to escape shame for themselves. The Defence of India Act

was never intended to be used to prevent public political

specch, free from all incitement to, or suggestion of, violence,

and accompanied with no disturbance of any kind. My paper

could have been stopped by the Press Act, by forfeiture of security

and confiscation of the press. But the Government is afraid to

face the High Court, which has already pronounced its former

procedure to be illegal. An autocracy is ever afraid of law,

and hence the Government takes the step of shutting me up—

a cowardly course—and hopes to prevent any public protest

by striking down all who resist it. The Defence of India Act

is being used to suppress all political agitation of an orderly

character, so that the Government may pretend to England that

India is silent and indifferent.

If any attempt be made to justify my internment by pretence

of my entering into or cognisance of any conspiracy, or com-

munication with the enemy, I fling the lie in the slanderer’s teeth.

I know that some postcards with my portrait, purporting to comc:

from Germany and said to be seditious, have been sent to friends.

I have been told of them, but have not seen a copy. They may
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have been fabricated in Germany, or by the C.I.D. here, but

I have nothing to dq with them.

If it be said that [ have carried on a ‘campaign of calumny’

which I utterly deny, the fault lies with Lord Pentland, who

could, once again, have forfeited my security and confiscated

my press. But then his Advocate-General would have had to

prove it in Court and before the Privy Council, and that he

could not do. It it easy for a Governor, if he has no scruples,

to calumniate a person from the safe security of a Council meeting

at Ooty, and then to lock up the calumniated. Such is the the

natural course of an irresponsible autocrat.

Such men, to protect themselves, as we saw in the case of

Sir Reginald Craddock, having silenced their victims, proceed

to blacken and defame them before the world. How else

can they justify themselves? When the dry facts as to poverty,

starvation, over-taxation, illiteracy, are stated, they are ‘calum-

ny. To say that the average life period in India is 23.05,

that in England it is 40, in New Zealand, 60, is ‘calumny’. To

publish a table of literacy in England, Japan, Russia, Baroda,

and British India is ‘calumny’. To show that the raised assess-

ment on land in one district was balanced that same year in

the increased debt of the raiyats to the sowcars is ‘calumny’.

To show by these and many other facts that the autocracy in

India is not even efficient is ‘calumny’. To quote ancient

books to show the state of the country in the pre-British days

is ‘calumny’—if it shows wide-spread prosperity and wealth;

if it tells of raids and wars, then it is history.

Let them talk as they will; they “come and go, imperma-

nent”. But Lord Pentland—a good but weak man, driven into

tyranny by strong and ruthless men—will have to answer for

his actions before the Indian public, before the British Democracy,

before history, which records the struggles for liberty, and before

God. Will his conscience be as clear as mine?

I hear, but gossip is unreliable, that to avoid internment I shall

be told either to go to England or to promise to abstain from

political speaking and writing. I shall do neither: I do not run

away from a struggle into which J have led others, and leave them

in the middle of the field. Our work has been wholly constitu-
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tional; there has been no threat, no act of violence; in nothing

has the law been transgressed. We believed that we were living

under the Crown of Great Britain, and had the constitutional

right of speech and law-abiding agitation for reforms in the sys-

tem of government under which we live. Still, we were aware

that we were living under an autocracy, which first punishes and

then issues orders forbidding the act punished, and we took the

risk; for the risk was personal, whereas the suppression of free

speech means secret conspiracy leading to revolution, in which

many suffer. I have often pointed out that in India liberty and

property can be confiscated by Jixecutive Order, and that therefore

no man is safe; an Lwecutive Order forfeited my security and

deprived me of another 10,000 rupees. Now an Executive Order

deprives me of my liberty. It 1s well. The world will learn how

India is governed, and that while England asks India to fight

against autocracy in Furope, and drains her of her capital to carry

on the War, England’s agents use all the methods of autocracy in

India, in order to deceive the world into the idea that India is

well governed and is content.

What is my crime, that after a long life of work for others,

publicly and privately, I am to be dropped into internment? My

real crime is that I have awakened in India the national self-

respect which was asleep, and have made thousands of educated

men feel that to be content with being ‘a subject race’ is a dis-

honour. Mr. Lloyd George said truly that Ireland’s discontent

was not material, it was duc to the wounding of national self-

respect, and therefore could not be cured even by prosperity.

I have made them feel that to live under an autocracy, to dance

attendance on Governors and Collectors, to be ruled and taxed

without their own consent, to be told that they were not fit to

govern themselves, to sec young Englishmen in the public services

of their country preferred to experienced Indians, to have highly-

paid Imperial Services for foreigners lording it over less well-

paid Provincial Services for, ‘natives’—‘natives’ being the natural

owners of their own land—-that these and a hundred other like

things were intolerable and should be ended. Life does not

consist in moncy and clothes, in motor cars and invitations to
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Government Houses. Life consists in liberty, in self-respect, in

honour, in right ambition, in patriotism and in noble® living.

Where these are absent, life is not worth living. It is not the life

of a man in the image of God, but of a brute, well fed by his owner.
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Dr. Subramania Aiyar’s Letter to

President Wilson’

MaAoprAs (INDIA)

24TH JUNE, 1917

To His Exccllency, PRESIDENT WILSON

HONOURED SIR,

I address this letter to you as Honorary President of the Home

Rule League in India, an organisation voicing the aspirations of

a United India as expressed through the Indian National Congress

and the All-India Muslim League. These are the only two bodies

in India today which truly repre sent the political ideals of that

nation of more than three hundred million people, because they

are the only bodies created by the people themselves.

Over five thousand delegates of these two popular assem-

blies met at their annual convention in Lucknow last December,

and they unanimously and co-jointly agreed upon identical resu-

lutions, asking His Majesty the King of Great Britain, to issue a

proclamation announcing that it is the aim and intention of

British policy to confer self-government on India at an early date,

to grant democratising reforms and to lift India from the posi-

“Please refer to page 76 of the text.
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tion of a Dependency to that of an equal partner in the Empire

with the self-governing Dominions.

While these resolutions, Honoured Sir, voiced India’s aspira-

tions, they also expressed her loyalty to the Crown. But though

many months have elapsed, Great Britain has not yet made any

official promise to grant our country’s plea. Perhaps this is be-

cause the Government is too fully occupicd with the heavy res-

ponsibility of the War.

But it is the very relationship of the Indian Nationalist move-

ment to the War that urges the necessity for an immediate pro-

mise of home rule—autonomy—for India, as it would result in

an offer from India of at least five million men in three months

for service at the front, and of five million more in anothcr three

months.

India can do this because she has a population of three hundred

and fifteen million—three times that of the United States, and

almost equal to the combined population of all the Allies. The

people of India will do this, because then they would be free men

and not slaves.

At present we are a subject nation, held in chains, forbidden

by our alien rulers to express publicly our desire for the ideals

presented in your famous War Message: “...the liberation of

peoples, the rights of nations great and small, and the privilege

of men everywhere to choose their ways of life and of obedience.

The world must be made safe for democracy. Its peace must

be made safe for democracy. Its peace must be planted upon

the tested foundations of political liberty.”

Even as conditions are, India has more than proved her loyalty

to the Allies. She has contributed freely and generously of both

blood and treasure in France, in Gallipoli, in Mesopotamia,

and elsewhere. Mr. Austen Chamberlain, the British Secretary

of State for India, said: “There ate Indian troops in France to

this day; their gallantry, endurance , patience and perseverance,

were shown under conditions new and strange to them.” Field-

Marshal Lord French said : “I have been much impressed by the

initiative and resource displayed by the Indian troops.” The

London Times said, concerning the fall of Baghdad : “It should

always be remembered that a very large proportion of the force
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which General Maude has guided to victory are Indian regi-

ments. The cavalry which hung on the flanks and demoralised

the Turkish army and chased it to the confines of Baghdad must

have been almost exclusively Indian cavalry. The infantry

which bore months of privation and proved in the end masters

of the Turks, included Indian units which had already fought

heroically in France, Gallipoli and Egypt.”

If Indian soldiers have achieved such splended results for the

Allies while slaves, how much greater would be their power

if inspired by the sentiments which can arise only in the souls

of free men—men who are fighting not only for their own liberties,

but for the liberties of mankind? The truth is that they are now

sacrificing their lives to maintain the supremacy of an alien nation

which uses that supremacy to dominate and rule them against

their will.

Under these conditions, it 1s not surprising that the official

Government in India utterly failed to get a response to its recent

appeal to Indians to volunteer for military service. Only five

hundred men came forward out of a possible thirty million.

It is our earnest hope that you may so completely convert Eng-

land to your ideals of world liberation that together you will make

it possible for India’s millions to lend assistance in this war.

Permit me to add that you and the other leaders have been

kept in ignorance of the full measure of misrule and oppression

in India. Officials of an alien nation, speaking a foreign tongue,

force their will upon us; they grant themselves exorbitant salaries

and large allowances; they refuse us education; they sap us of our

wealth; they impose crushing taxes without our consent; they cast

thousands of our people into prisons for uttering patriotic senti-

ments—prisons so filthy that often the inmates die from loath-

some diseases.

A recent instance of misrule is the imprisonment of Mrs. Annie

Besant, that noble Irish woman who has done so much for India.

She had done nothing except carry on a law-abiding and consti-

tutional propaganda for reforms; the climax being her internment,

without charges and without trial, shortly after printing and

circulating your War Message.

I believe His Majesty, the King, and the English Parliament

267



India’s Freedom Movement

are unaware of these conditions, and that, if they can be infogmed,

they will order Mrs. Besant’s immediate release.

A mass of documentary evidence, entirely reliable, corroborative

and explanatory of the statements in this letter, is in the hands

of Mr. and Mrs. Henry Hotchner, who would esteem it a privilege

to place it at your disposal. I have entrusted this letter to them

because it would never have been permitted to reach you by

mail. They are loyal Americans, editors, authors and lecturers

on educational and humanitarian subjects who have been deeply

interested in the welfare of India. They have sojourned here

off and on during the last ten years and so have been eye-witnesses

to many of the conditions herein described. They have graci-

ously consented to leave their home in India in order to convey

this letter to you personally in Washington.

Honoured Sir, the aching heart of India cries out to you, whom

we believe to be an instrument of God in the reconstruction of

the world.

I have the honour to be,

Sir,

Your most obedient servant,

S. SUBRAMANIAM

Honorary President of the Home Rule League 1n India;

Co-Founder of the National Congress of India in 1885;

Retired Judge and frequently acting Chief Justice of

the High Court of Madras;

Knight Commander of the Indian Empire,

Doctor of Laws.

268



Appendix III

Appeal by Liberals’

The following appeal was issued by Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru and

other liberals in December 1940 :

Men of good-will, anxious for a friendly settlement of India’s

problem which would be consistent with her dignity and honour,

cannot but view with profound misgivings the recent decisions

of the Congress as welll as of the Muslim League. The inaugu-

ration of civil disobedience in the near future on the one hand and

plans for the dismemberment of India on the other are both

courses which may lead to bitterness and internal strife on a

vast scale, and prove disastrous to the cause of a lasting solution

based on the conception of a united and free India.

The Viceroy’s categorical assurance that the goal of British

policy in India is Dominion Status 1n accordance with the Statute

of Westminister to be attained after the shortest possible period

of transition, satisfies the essence of the Congress demand for

independence. The definition of the term ‘Dominion’ by the

Imperial Conference of 1926 as ‘autonomous units’, ‘equal in

status, in no way subordinate to one another in any aspect of do-

mestic and external affairs’ and “freely associated as members

of the British Commonwealth of Nations” should dispose of all

fears that such a status would deny to India opportunities for her

fullest development and self-expression.

* Please refer to page 92 of the text.
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Moreover, no one can visualise, at this juncture, dgvelop-

ments in the international situation during the course of the war.

One thing, however, may be regarded as certain: at the Peace

Conference, the reconstruction of the world on a basis that would

eliminate the menace of recurring wars is bound to receive the

greatest prominence. In such a task the solution of the Indian

problem cannot be isolated or relegated to the back-ground.

On the eve of changes which may revolutionise the whole course

of human relationships, it seems futile to discuss the present dis-

tinction between Dominion status and complete independence,

or to define India’s post-war attitude towards the British Com-

monwealth and the rest of the world. Nor is it wise to press

forward, at a time when the world is weary of disintegration and

strife, schemes for the partition of India, exposing her to the

dangers of internal weakness and aggression from beyond her

frontiers. We would earnestly suggest, therefore, to the leaders

of the Congress as well as of the Muslim League that they should

regard the authoritative declaration of His Excellency the Viceroy

as being the best solution in existing circumstances.

The more fruitful course, in our view, would be to obtain

practical guarantees from His Majesty’s Government that the

transition to such a status will in reality be of the shortest possible

duration; and in the meanwhile, to secure the confidence of the

Muslims and other minorities so that discussions of India’s fu-

ture Constitution may take place in an atmosphere of goodwill.

At the same time, the demand fora declaration in favour of

a Constitution to be framed by a body truly representative of the

people seems to us to be not only just, but has the support of past

practice in all the countries which have achieved Dominion

status. There is substance in the criticism that the offer of mere

consultation with the leaders of various parties and interests as

a preliminary to an alteration of the Constitution is inconsistent

with India’s rapid approach to the status of a self-governing

Dominion.

Before, however, such an organisation can usefully function

with the active support of the various interests and minorities in

India, there are essential details which must be settled by consul-

tation among the leaders. The assurances which have repeatedly
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been given by the Congress that the Constitution would contain

safeguards acceptable to the minorities themselves as adequate

and satisfactory, will have to be implemented before the consti-

tutional proposals can be deemed to have India’s sanction.

There are problems in which Britain is vitally interested,

such as defence, British commercial interests and the Indian States,

which are generally regarded as capable of solution on the basis

of an agreement or treaty between the two countries, subject

to periodical revision.

Such a solution should prove acceptable to all who are anxious

for the peace and progress of India. It takes into account the

demand for the application of the principle of self-determination,

the legitimate requirements of the minorities regarding their

position in a self-governing India and issues from which Britain

feels she cannot disassociate herself in meeting India’s demand

for freedom.

While there is still time for calm deliberation, we venture to

appeal to the major parties in India and to the British Govern-

ment to evolve a basis of agreement which, we are confident, is

possible, notwithstanding many discouraging indications on the

surface.

We would, therefore, suggest to His Excellency the Viceroy

to lose no time in summoning a conference of the Premiers of

the eleven provinces to evolve a provisional settlement of the

various issues now before the country. The credentials of sucha

conference, composed of responsible men who can claim to

represcnt their respective provinces cannot be questioned in any

quarter, and out of their deliberation may emerge a solution

acceptable to all parties.
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A Constituent Assembly for India’

I gave Sir Stafford Cripps on 12th December, 1939, the follow-

ing memorandum on a Constituent Assembly to be set up in India

after the war:

At the end of the war there should be a general clection for

the provincial Assemblies in all the provinces with the main

issuc of framing a Constitution on the basis of complete freedom

subject to agreed reservations which may be incorporated in the

draft proposals and made renewable at the end of five or ten years.

The provincial Assemblies are constituted in the following

manner: Madras has 215 seats, Bombay 175, Bengal 250, the

United Provinces 228, the Punjab 175, Bihar 152, the Central

Provinces 112, Assam 108, the North West Frontier Province 50,

Orissa 60, and Sind 60, making a total of 1,585. Onc-tenth of

this number, counting half and over as one and omitting less than

half, would give a body of 160 delegates. Madras would have

22, Bombay 18, Bengal 25, the U. P. 23, the Punjab 18, Bihar 15,

the C. P. and Assam 11 each, the N.W.F. Province 5, Orissa and

Sind 6 each, making a total of 160, Interests and communities

will be represented in the following numbers :

General 66

Scheduled Castes 15

Muslims 48

Backward tribes 3

* Please refer to page 135 of the text.
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Sikhs 4

Anglo-Indians 1

Europeans 3

Commerce, Industry, Mining and

Plantations 6

Indian Christians 2

Landholders 4

Universities 1

Labour 4

Women 3

160

It is a matter for consideration whether this Assembly or

Convention should have the right to co-opt a very small number

in order to give representation to certain interests or to distin-

guished individuals who may not be elected in the usual

way.

A body so constituted cannot be objected to from any point

of view. So far as the British Parliament is concerned this body

will owe its existence in the ultimate to the provincial elec-

torates. The various communities and interests will be repre-

sented in it strictly in accordance with the existing proportions

in the various provincial Assemblies. Muslims will have 30

per cent of the seats, even if they do not secure any from amongst

the seats allotted to interests like women, labour, commerce and

industry.

Procedure and the manner of reaching decisions will have

to be settled before the Assembly starts work. The following

suggestions seem to be worthy of consideration. All general

proposals should be carried by a majority vote. Safeguards

for the rights of minorities must have, in addition, a majority of

the votes of their own delegates. For instance, safeguards for the

Muslims should be carried by 81 votes, of which at least 25

should be Muslims. ‘The same consideration would apply to the

scheduled castes.

If the above procedure is followed, it is conceivable that

deadlocks may arise if the safeguards proposed by the Assembly
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as a whole do not receive the support of a majority of the dele-

gates representing the minority concerned.

If a compromise is not immediately reached, the Assembly

should adjourn its sitting for a period of about three months.

During this period the proposals and the counter-proposals should

be published and opinions of all sections gathered. When the

Assembly re-assembles, it is possible that the interval has brought

about a change in the situation. But assuming that the dead-

lock continues, the Chairman of the Assembly should have the

right, to be exercised at his discretion, of dissolving the Assembly

and asking the members of the provincial Assemblies to go through

a fresh election. This procedure amounts to an appeal from the

delegates to their immediate electors.

It is concetvable that this new Assembly will take a diffe-

rent view of the deadlock and overcome it. But if it should

continue, the question arises as to what should be done. If after

three efforts, which would be spread roughly over a year, no solu-

tion has been reached, there should be a fresh general elecuon;

in other words, a referendum of the primary clectors. The

same process should be gone through after a fresh clection of the

National Assembly elected by the new members of the provincial

Assemblies. Jf in spite of these efforts, a settlement has not

been reached, then the matter should be referred to a tribunal

which may consist of one or more persons acceptable to both

sides and the award of the tribunal should be binding.

This should satisfy the Congress demand that a body con-

sisting of the representatives of the people of India and having

behind it the sanction of the largest possible electorate should

draft the Constitution, and also the minorities. The question

of procedure is important, and there should be a preliminary agree-

ment in regard to what procedure should be adopted by the Na-

tional Assembly. If agreement is reached in regard to procedure,

the constitution and size of the National Convention (or Assem-

bly), the British Government should have no objection to con-

vening it immediately after the war. It is agreed on all sides

that the new Constitution for India should contain satisfactory

provisions for the protection of important minorities which will

be. regarded as adequate by the minorities themselves.
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In regard to certain problems, such as defence, the Indian

States and British financial and commercial interests, it is essential

that agreed solutions between His Majesty’s Government and the

representatives of India should be incorporated in the draft Consti-

tution to be framed by the Constituent Assembly.

These problems could be discussed without any avoidable

delay by the Governor-General by inviting the Premiers of British

Indian Provinces and a few representatives of the States to form

a committee which will examine and report upon these problems.

Broadly speaking, this was the procedure adopted in Ireland

in 1921. The Irish Parliament functioning as the Irish Consti-

tuent Assembly drew up a Constitution on the basis of Dominion

Status. There were, however, certain reservations which were

binding on the Constituent Assembly. The reservations were

first incorporated in a treaty signed by the representatives of Ire-

land on the one side and His Majesty’s Government on the other,

and terms of the treaty were embodied as transitory provisions

in the Irish Constitution.

To sum up, the steps I visualise are :(1) a Conference of the

eleven Premiers of the British Indian provinces to settle the de-

tails of the National Convention to be convened at the end of the

war. This will not deal with the communal problem (except

for the period of the war) but only settle the preliminaries as to

how the National Convention would function.

(2) A general agreement being reached on this to ensure that

the National Convention will have the co-operation of all partics,

the British Government should then make a declaration to the

effect that, subject to agreements between the representatives of

India and the British Government in regard to defence, the Indian

States and British commercial and financial interests, the National

Convention would draw up a Constitution for a free India.

(3) Then the Viceroy will expand the Executive Council and

convert it as far as is practicable within the limits of the present

Constitution into a responsible Cabinet. -

(4) The Premiers of the eleven Provinces and the popular

leaders of the Executive Council will proceed to examine, with

representatives of the States and of the British Government, the

reservations in regard to defence, Indian States and British interests,
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which will be incorporated in a treaty to be signed by these re-

presentatives.

(5) At the end of the war, there will be a general election in

the provinces. The main issue will be India’s right to frame a

constitution for herself through a National Convention subject to

certain reservations incorporated in an Indo-British treaty. The

patties to the treaty on the Indian side being the Premiers of the

eleven Provinces and the popular leaders in the Viceroy’s Exe-

cutive Council, it follows that the election will sof be fought on

party lines, that is Congress versus Muslim League, etc., but will

be fought by all those who stand for this procedure with the

reservations and those who are opposed to it.
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The Cripps Proposals

The terms of the proposals made by Sir Stafford Cripps in

March 1942 were as follows:

(a) Immediately upon the cessation of hostilities, steps shall

be taken to set up in India, in the manner described here-

after, an elected body charged with the task of framing

a new Constitution for India.

(b) Provision shall be made, as set out below, for the parti-

cipation of the Indian States in the Constitution-making

body.

(c) His Majesty’s Government undertake to accept and imple-

ment forthwith the Constitution so framed — subject

only to:

(1) The right of any Province of British India that is not

prepared to accept the new Constitution to retain its

present constitutional position, provision being made

for its subsequent accession if it so decides. With

such non-acceding provinces, should they so de-

sire, His Majesty’s Government will be prepared to

agree upon a new constitution giving them the same

full status as the Indian Union, and arrived at by a

procedure analogous to that herein here laid down.

* Please refer to page 136 of the text.
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(2) The signing of a treaty which shall be negotiated bet-

ween His Majesty’s Government and the Consti-

tution-making body. This treaty will cover all

necessary matters arising out of the complete transfer

of responsibility from British to Indian hands; it

will make provision, in accordance with the under-

takings given by His Majesty’s Government, for the

protection of racial and religious minorities; but

will not impose any restriction on the power of the

Indian Union to decide in the future its relationship

to the other member States of the British Common-

wealth.

(3) Whether or not an Indian State elects to adhere to

the Constitution, it will be necessary to negotiate

a revision of its treaty arrangements, so far as

this may be required in the new situation.

(d) The Constitution-making body shall be composed as

follows, unless the leaders of Indian opinion in the prin-

cipal communities agree upon some other form before

the end of hostilities :

Immediately upon the result being known of the

provincial elections which will be necessary at the end

of hostilities, the entire membership of the Lower Houses

of Provincial Legislatures shall, as a single electoral college,

proceed to the election of the Constitution-making body

by the system of proportional representation. This new

body shall be in number about one-tenth of the number

of the electoral college.

Indian States shall be invited to appoint represen-

tatives in the same proportion to their total population

as in the case of the representatives of British India as

a whole, and with the same powers as the British Indian

members.

(e) During the critical period which now faces India until the

new Constitution can be framed, His Majesty’s Govern-

ment must inevitably bear the responsibility for and re-

tain control and direction of the defence of India as
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part of their world war effort, but the task of organising

to the full the military, moral, material resources of India

must be the responsibility of the Government of India

with the co-operation of the people of India. His

Majesty’s Government desire and invite the imme-

diate and effcctive participation of the leaders of the

principal sections of the Indian people in the counsels

of their country, of the Commonwealth and of the

United Nations. Thus they will be enabled to give

their active and constructive help in the discharge

of a task which is vital and essential for the future

freedom of India.
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‘Quit India’ Resolution of

Sth August, 1942°

Resolution of the All-India Congress Committee, Bombay,

8th August, 1942.

The All-India Congress Committee has given the most careful

consideration to the reference made to it by the Working Com-

mittee in their resolution dated 14th July, 1942 and to subsequent

events, including the development of the war situation, the utter-

ances of responsible spokesmen of the British Government, and

the comments and criticisms made in India and abroad. The com-

mittee approves of and endorses that resolution and is of the

opinion that events subsequent to it have given it further justi-

fication, and have made it clear that the immediate ending of

British rule in India is an urgent necessity both for the sake of

India and for the success of the cause of the United Nations. The

continuation of that rule is degrading and enfeebling India and

making her progressively less capable of defending herself and

of contributing to the cause of world freedom:

The Committee has viewed with dismay the deterioration of

the situation on the Russian and Chincse fronts and conveys to

the Russian and Chinese people its high appreciation of their

heroism in defence of their freedom. This increasing peril makes

it incumbent on all those who strive for freedom and who

* Please refer to page 138 of the text.
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sympathize with the victims of aggression to examine the

foundations of the policy so far pursued by the Allied Nations,

which have led to repeated and disastrous failure. It 1s not

by adhering to such aims and policies and methods that failure

can be converted into success, for past experience has shown that

failure is inherent in them. These policies have been based

not on freedom so much as on the domination of subject and

colonial countries and the continuation of the imperialist tradi-

tion and method. The possession of empire, instead of adding

to the strength of the ruling power, has become a burden and a

curse. India, the classic land of modcrn imperialism, has become

the crux of the question, for by the freedom of India will Britain

and the United Nations be judged, and the peoples of Asia and

Africa be filled with hope and enthusiasm:

The ending of British rule in this country is thus a vital and

immediate issue on which depend the future of the war and the

success of freedom and democracy. A free India will assure this

success by throwing all her great resources in the struggle for

freedom and against the aggression of Nazism, Fascism and Im-

perialism. This will not only affect materially the fortunes of

the war, but will bring all subject and oppressed humanity on

the side of the United Nations, and give these nations, whose

ally India would be, the moral and spiritual leadership of the

world. India in bondage will continue to be the symbol of

British Imperialism and the taint of that imperialism will affect

the fortunes of all the United Nations.

The peril of today, therefore, necessitates the independence

of India and the ending of British domination. No future pro-

mises or guarantees can affect the present situation or meet that

peril. They cannot produce the needed psychological effect on

the mind of the masses. Only the glow of freedom now can

release that energy and enthusiasm of millions of people which

will immediately transform the nature of the War.

The All-India Congress Committee, therefore, repeats with

all emphasis the demand for the withdrawal of the British

Power from India. On the declaration of India’s independence,

a provisional Government will be formed and free India will be-

come an ally of the United Nations, sharing with them in the
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trials and tribulations of the joint enterprise of the struggle for

freedom. The provisional Government can only be “formed

by the co-operation of the principal parties and groups in the

country. It will thus be a composite Government representative

of all important sections of the people of India. Its primary

function must be to defend India and resist aggression with all

the armed as well as the non-violent forces at its command, to-

gether with its allicd Powers, and to promote the well-being

and progress of the workers in the fields and factories and elsc-

where, to whom essentially all power and authority must belong.

The Provisional Government will evolve a scheme for a Consti-

tuent Assembly which will prepare a Constitution for the

Government of India acceptable to all the sections of the people.

This Constitution, according to the Congress view, should be a

federal one, with the largest measure of autonomy for the fede-

rating units, and with the residuary powers vesting in these units.

The future relations between India and the Allied Nations will

be adjusted by representatives of all these free countries con-

ferring together for their mutual advantage for their co-opera-

tion in the common task of resisting agression. Freedom will

enable India to resist aggression effectively with the people’s

united will and strength behind it.

The freedom of India must be a symbol of and prelude to the

freedom of all other Asiatic nations under foreign domination.

Burma, Malaya, Indo-China, the Dutch Indies, Iran and Iraq must

also attain their complete freedom. It must be clearly understood

that such of these countries as are under Japanese control now

must not subsequently be placed under the rule or control of any

colonial power.

While the All-India Congress Committee must primarily be

concerned with the independence and defence of India in this

hour of danger, the Committee is of opinion that the future peace,

security and ordered progress of the world demand a world fede-

ration of free nations, and on no other basis can the problems of

the modern world be solved. Such a world federation would ensure

freedom of its constituent nations, the prevention of aggres-

sion and exploitation by one nation over another, the protection

of national minorities, the advancement of all backward areas

ar
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and peoples, and the pooling of the world’s resources for the

common good of all. On the establishment of such a world fede-

ration, disarmament would be practicable in all countries; na-

tional armies, navies and air forces would no longer be neces-

sary, and a World Federal Defence Force would keep the world

peace and prevent aggression.

An independent India would gladly join such a world fede-

ration and co-operate on an equal basis with other nations

in the solution of international problems.

Such a federation should be open to all nations who agree

with its fundamental principles. In view of the war, however,

the federation must inevitably, to begin with, be confined to

the United Nations. Such a step taken now will have most po-

werful effect on the war, on the peoples of the Axis countries,

and on the peace to come.

The Committee regretfully realizes, however, that despite

the tragic and overwhelming lessons of the war and the perils

that overhang the world, the Governments of few countries are

yet prepared to take this inevitable step towards world federation.

The reaction of the British Government and the misguided cri-

ticism of the foreign Press also make it clear that even the ob-

vious demand for India’s independence is resisted, though this has

been made essentially to meet the present peril and to enable

India to defend herself and help China and Russia in their hour

of need. The Committee is anxious not to embarrass in any way

the defence of China and Russia, whose freedom is precious and

must be preserved, or to jeopardize the defence capacity of the

United Nations. But the peril grows both to India and these

nations, and inaction and submission to a foreign administration

at this stage is not only degrading India and reducing her capacity

to defend herself and resist aggression, but is no answer to the

growing peril and is no service to the peoples of the United

Nations. The earnest appeal of the Working Committee to

Great Britain and the United Nations has so far met with no

response, and the criticisms made in many foreign quarters

have shown an ignorance of India’s and the world’s need, and

sametimes even hostility to India’s freedom, which is significant

of a mentality of domination and racial superiority which cannot
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be tolerated by a proud people conscious of their strength and

of the justice of their cause.

The All-India Congress Committee would yet again, at this

last moment, in the interest of world freedom, renew this appeal

to Britain and the United Nations. But the Committee feels

that it is no longer justified in holding the nation back from end-

eavouring to assert its will against an imperialist and authori-

tarian Government which dominates over it and prevents it from

functioning in its own interest and in the interest of humanity. —

The Committee resolves, therefore, to sanction for the vindi-

cation of India’s inalienable right to freedom and independence,

the starting of a mass struggle on non-violent lines on the widest

possible scale, so that the country might utilize all the non-

violent strength it has gathered during the last twenty-two years

of peaceful struggle. Such a struggle must inevitably be under

the leadership of Gandhiji and the Committee requests him to take

the lead and guide the nation in the steps to be taken.

The Committee appeals to the people of India to face the

dangers and hardships that will fall to their lot with courage and

endurance, and to hold together under the leadership of Gandhiji,

and carry out his instructions as disciplined soldiers of Indian

freedom. They must remember that non-violence is the basis of

this movement. A time may come when it may not be possible

to issue instructions or for instructions to reach our people,

and when no Congress Committees can function. When this

happens, every man and woman who is participating in this

movement must function for himself or herself within the four

corners of the general instructions issued. Every Indian who desires

freedom and strives for it must be his own guide urging him on

along the hard road where there is no resting place and which

leads ultimately to independence and deliverance of India.

Lastly, while the All-India Congress Committee has stated

its own view of the future governance under free India, the All-

India Congress Committee wishes to make it quite clear to all

concerned that by embarking on a mass struggle it has no intention

of gaining power for the Congress. The power, when it comes,

will belong to the whole of India.
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Interim War-Time Solution to the

Indian Problem’

On 12th October, 1942, I drew up the following memorandum on

the political situation in India, taking as my starting point the state-

ment of Mr. Amery (Secretary of State for India) that any modif-

cation of the Cripps Plan generally acceptable in India would receive

serious consideration at the hands of the British Government.

The main points of the Cripps plan are: (1) Self-determina-

tion for India as expressed through a Constituent Assembly;

(2) formation of a Constituent Assembly on an clected basis so far as

British India is concerned; (3) a treaty between the British Govern-

ment and the Constituent Assembly to deal with (a) all necessary

matters arising out of the complete transfer of responsibility;

(b) the protection of racial and religious minorities.

The following modifications are suggested in the light of cri-

ticisms made during and after the Cripps negotiations.

1. A Boundaries Commission will recommend the re-alignment

of provincial boundaries, taking into account linguistic, racial,

teligious and other factors. The report of the Commission to

be placed before the Provincial Legislatures concerned and imple-

mented after it has been tested at a general election.

2. A Minorities Commission will recommend certain general

principles for the protection of all minorities.

* Please refer to page 139 of the text.
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Note. [The principle of self-determination will apply fo new

provincial units constituted on the basis of the Boundaries Com-

mission’s report.|

The Constituent Assembly will come into being after these

two bodies, namely, the Boundaries and the Minorities Commis-

sions, have made their respective reports.

Nove. [If as a result certain predominantly Muslim areas

become new provincial units, the objection of the Muslim League

that the Cripps plan denies to the Muslims the right of self-de-

termination falls to the ground.|

The Constituent Assembly will proceed on the basis of a fede-

ral form of government for all-India (subject to the exercise of self-

determination by Provinces and States). But the federal list

must be curtailed to the minimum and the right given to federating

units to decide on which other subjects above that minimum they

will federate.

Note. [The advantages of this course will be two-fold: (a)

in the first place, predominantly Muslim areas will be free to

accept, if they so choose, the bare minimum degree of federal

control and administration; (b) secondly, there is nothing to pre-

vent the other provinces from deciding upon having for themselves

a strong federal centre.]

The procedure to be adopted by the Constituent Assembly,

the manner of reaching decisions and of resolving any deadlocks

that may arise may be left to be determined by a body consisting

of the Premiers of the Provinces and the Members of the Executive

Council.

In regard to the States, the Political Adviser to the Crown

Representative may be an Indian Prime Minister of a major

State, with the rank of an Executive Councillor. Treaties with

the States should be revised at once, bearing in mind the consti-

tutional changes imminent after the war. All States should be

encourged to introduce the elective principle in their legislatures

and to accept certain minimum standards of administration. Pro-

blems relating to the States may be brought up before the Exe-

cutive Council by the Governor-General for consultation, though:

the final decision will be that of the Governor-General alone,

acting in his capacity as the Crown Representative. |
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Before the Constituent Assembly meets, the method of choice

of representatives of the States may be settled between the Govern-

ment of India and the States with the assistance of the Political

Adviser who will be (if the suggestion made above is accepted)

a member of the Government of India.

For the duration of the war, it is generally agreed that there

necd be no major constitutional changes. But two were regarded

as practicable during the Cripps negotiations: (a) the abolition of

the provision for a minimum of three Members of the Executive

Council with at least ten years’ service under the Crown in India;

(b) the abolition of the India Office and the transfer of its duties

to the Dominions Office.

The Executive Council will generally function under the cxist-

ing Constitution amended in the above two respects. Certain

conventions should however be established: (1) the rules of

executive business will be revised by the Governor-General in

consultation with the new Government of India; (2) the Governor-

General need not preside over all meetings of the Executive Coun-

cil; (3) the Governor-General need not meet Secretaries of De-

partments, except with the knowledge and consent of the Mem-

bers; (4) the Governor-General will give an assurance that he will

normally accept the advice of a majority of the Executive Council,

the language used for conveying this assurance being identical

with that contained in the Governor-General’s statement on be-

half of the Governors of all Provinces under similar circumstances

in June 1937.

The composition and personnel of the Executive Council

may be decided by the Governor-General in a small conference of

representative leaders.

After the formation of the Executive Council, the rule-making

powers under the Constitution should be examined in order to

make the Central Legislature a more popular body reflective of

public opinion.

Note. Section 63(A) of the Government of India Act, 1919,

lays down that the Council of State shall consist of not more

than 60 members nominated or elected in accordance with rules

made under the Act, of whom sot more than 20 shall be official

members. It does not say that at /eas¢t 20 shall be official
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members. There is, therefore, nothing to prevent the disappcar-

ance of the official b/oc, apart from Members of the fixccutive

Council and such Parliamentary Secretaries as may be appoi-

nted.

Section 63(B) gives the composition of the Legislative Assembly.

But rules made under the Act may increase the number of members

and vary the proportion which the classes of members bear to

one another; the only two conditions being that at least 5/7 shall be

clected members, and at least 1/3 of the other members shall be

non-oflicial members. These rules can be made by the Executive

Council with the sanction of the Secretary of State. The points

to be considered are whether the official element from the Assem-

bly may be removed entirely (apart from Members of the Execu-

tive Council and Parliamentary Secretaries); or, in the alternative,

the Provincial Assemblies under the new Constitution may be

empowered to elect (a) either the number of members provided

for each Province, for the Federal Legislative Assembly; or (b)

one tenth of its own number. The strength of the Central

Legislative Assembly will then be either 250 according to (a), or

160 according to (b).

Section 64 : Rules may be made for terminating the terms of

office of nominated members of the Council of State and the

Legislative Assembly. There should be room for certain impor-

tant interests which at present are either completely unrepresented

or very inadequately represented : e.g. industrial labour, scheduled

castes, agricultural labour and women. Nominations may be

made by the Governor-General (after consultation with the Go-

vernment) in accordance with recommendations made by recog-

nised organisations of the interests mentioned above.

Section 67(A) regarding the Indian budget lays down that pro-

posals for the appropriation of revenue relating to certain heads

of expenditure are not liable to the vote of the Legislative As-

sembly, nor open to discussion by either Chamber unless the

Governor-General otherwise directs. A convention should be

established so that the Governor-General places no such restric-

tions upon the powers of the two Houses of the Legislature.

No power of certification under Section 67(A)(7) will however

remain, so as to make section 41(2) effective.
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This memorandum I submitted to some prominent individuals

such as Sir Mirza Ismail, Sir Ardeshir .Dalal, the Rt. Hon. V. S.

Srinivasa Sastri and Sir P. S. Sivaswamy Aiyar.

Sir Mirza Ismail

Sit Mirza Ismail replicd that he approved of the proposal

for the appointment of a Constituent Assembly provided its size

was kept small. He also favoured a_ federal Constitution for

India with an Indian appointed as Political Adviser, though he

need not necessarily be Minister of an Indian State. Any Indian

with the necessary experience, he considered, should be cligible.

In addition, he proposed that such a Political Adviser should be a

Member of the Executive Council and take part in all discussions

affecting the States.

Sir Stvaswamy Adyar

Sir Sivaswamy Atyar wrote: “I am at some disadvantage in

not having at hand the details of the Cripps plan.

“There is no objection to a Boundarics Commission to recom-

mend the realignment of provincial boundaries if it is absolutely

necessary. But I am not in favour of embarking upon any redis-

tribution of provinces, especially at this juncture and during the

transitional stage. It will be a difficult job and will take consi-

derable time. It will be desirable to leave things in status quo

during this period.

“There is no objection to a Minorities Commission to recom-

mend the general principles for the protcction of minorities.

“What are the matters and areas to which the principle of self-

determination should be applied ?

“In paragraph (1) it is stated that the report of the Boundaries

Commission should be implemented after it has been tested at a

gencral election. ‘Chis necessarily means a considerable interval

of time and considcrable expenditure.

“How is the Constituent Assembly to be formed? Is it to be

ultimately based on the principle of universal suflrage or in some

other manner; and how is it to be formed in the case of the Indian

States? Taking the case of South India, are we to have four
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linguistic provinces, Tamil, Telugu, Malayalam and Kanarese ?

Are we to have Dravidasthan or a Rayalaseema ? °

“Are there going to be any such fundamental conditions as

that any provincial unit must be financially self-suppor-

ting P

“In the re-alignment of provincial boundaries, should we at-

tempt to include areas speaking the same language and contiguous

to each other, even if they form part of an Indian State?

“With regard to the minorities, what is the minimum popula-

tion required to constitute a minority ?

“What is the range of powers and functions to be assigned to

the Constituent Assembly? Is there to be any limitation upon

such powers and functions and how long is the Constituent As-

sembly to be allowed to function ?

“T am opposed to any compromise on the basis of a partition

of India into Hindustan and Pakistan. The political integrity of

India must be preserved at all costs.

“Tam not in favour of varying the list of federal subjects.

“Personally I am in favour of a strong Central Government.

“The official b/oe in the Council of State or the second Chamber

may be abolished. The principle of nomination of a certain

number of persons may be desirable as furnishing a means of at-

tracting men of experience who may not and will not be able to

come in on the basis of election. But, on the whole, I would

abolish the principle of nomination by the Government also as

Inconsistent with democracy.

“As regards the restrictions on the discussion of the budget,

the restrictions now existing seem to be on the whole reasonable,

especially the rule that no additional expenditure can be proposed.

“What is the extent of representation to be granted to the

States in the Constituent Assembly and how are the representatives

to be appointed and by whom? Is it by the ruler or by some

elected or other selecting body in the State?

“Tt is essential that in any scheme of constitutional changes

the creation of barriers of trade and commerce should generally

be avoided.

“There is no objection to the other proposals contained in

Shiva Rao’s memorandum.”
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The Rt. Hon. V. S. Srinivasa Sastri

The Rt. Hon. V. S. Srinivasa Sastri wrote :

“Poor old Wilson! Before he died European statesmen had

reduced his well-meant self-determination to a mockery. Our

Congress friends with their childlike slogans have taken it up. It

means the ruin of Indian politics. By right of secession, they mean

the right of non-accession at the beginning and that of secession

later. I hate both aspects. Self-determination is veritable poison.

No self-determination for us among or us please.

“Gandhi will give self-determination in his India to every

village : Rajagopalachari, otherwise impatient of Congress ideas,

has swallowed the baneful idea. Jinnah rejects Cripps’ brand

because it is territorial and wants it converted into communal.

“Shiva Rao wants a Commission to break up and remould

India as a preliminary to constitution-making. The principle

of distribution is not one but complex. It will be a generation

before the boundaries are fixed. They won’t ever be. If they

seem to be they will breed perpetual quarrels.

“As if these were not enough, he proposes a variety of

schedules. The wretched Princes have now the option. The

second part of the Act being 1n abeyance we don’t know the chaos

that will everwhelm us. Shiva Rao’s new Act will give the option

apparently even to our Princes. His gift to future India! (Pan-

dora’s Box). Shiva Rao is among our soberest men. Think

where he may have been now pushed by constant intercourse

with crazy men !

“Other proposals are not so productive of mischief. But each

one being so in a measure the totality of confusion will give work

for a generation. Shiva Rao won’t look at what you (T.R. Venkat-

rama Sastri) write. By now he has conferred with his compeers

and settled the main lines of his Utopia. He will brush aside what

Sir P. S. Sivaswamy Aiyar and I have to say. When he has read

your remarks, he will heave a sigh before putting them by.”

Sir Ardeshir Dalal

Sir Ardeshir Dalal (at one time a Member of the Viceroy’s

Executive Council) offered the following comments :
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“I am somewhat doubtful about the advisability of the pro-

posed Boundaries Commission, as it is likely to give rise to a good

deal of bickering and ill-feeling, which had best be avoided

in these troubled days. You state that the principle of self-deter-

mination will apply to the new provincial units constituted on the

basis of the Boundaries Commission Report. If by self-determi-

nation you mean the right of any provincial unit to declare itself. a

completely sovereign body and to refuse to to join the Federation

even for such purposes as Defence, Foreign Relations, Customs

etc., then I think the work of the Boundaries Commission will

certainly be fraught with the gravest danger to the unity of India.

Under the Cripps proposals, unless at least forty per cent of the

representatives of the provinces as now constituted desire the ques-

tion of non-accession to be referred to the plebiscite of the provinces,

it would not arise at all. In the Provinces as now constituted,

the risk of non-accession is comparatively small, especially in the

case of the important provinces of the Punjab and Bengal. If,

however, the provinces were constituted on racial communal

lines with say a Mohamedan enclave in the Punjab and a

predominently Mohamedan East Bengal, the likelihood of such

newly constituted provinces refusing to accede to the Indian

Federation or desiring to form a separate Muslim Federation

of Pakistan is very much greater. On these grounds, whatever

the theoretical arguments on behalf of new boundaries may

be, I would prefer to avoid the experiment. If, on the other

hand, you do not propose to concede the principle of self-deter-

mination to the full, as your note at the top of page 2 of the memo-

randum leads one to suppose, but only mean that the choice is

between acceding to the Federation with the bare minimum of

subjects on the Federal list and of adhering to it with a larger

number of subjects listed as federal, there would be no serious

objection to the proposed Boundaries Commission; but such a

suggestion is not likely to meet the wishes of the Muslim League.

If the right of self-determination is to be conceded to the Pro-

vinces and States, I prefer the Cripps’ proposals as they stand.

Personally, of course, I would prefer to see a strong united India,

as even a united India will not be able to stand on its own degs

for purposes of defence for some time to come unless it entered
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into a close mutual alliance either with Great Britain or with

Russia and China.

Postulating such a united India, I am entirely in favour of

curtailing the federal list to the bare minimum as you suggest and

leaving all the rest together with the residuary powers to the

federating units.

“In the case of the existing British Indian Provinces, it may

create some complications if it was left to the discretion of each

Province to federate on certain items and leave the others pro-

vincial, but that is a comparatively subordinate issue. The

question of the States is likely to give rise to serious difficulties.

i\s you say, the treaties with the Indian States should certainly be

revised at once. But giving the right of self-determination on

the Cripps lines to the States, when they have not got even a

proper machinery for representation, is likely to lead to confusion,

as it would be open to them to constitute themselves into in-

dependent States or to remain in relation of subordination to the

British Government as at present. If they could not be induced

to introduce the elective principles in their legislatures, I would

not admit them into the Constituent Assembly at all. I would

leave them alone until the force of circumstances compelled them

to join the Federation.

‘(As for the Minorities Commission, I agree that the funda-

mental rights of minorities should be guaranteed inalienably in

the future Indian Constitution, such guarantee being safeguarded

by any body corresponding to the defunct League of Nations

which may come into existence as a result of the Peace Treaty

ot by the United Nations or by America, Russia, China and

Great Britain. I am not sure that a Minorities Commission 1s

required for the purpose of drafting such a charter for the mino-

rities, but if it is, I would have no objection to the formation of

such a Commission. In any event, I do not think that a Consti-

tution exactly on the lines of the British parliamentary form of

government is suited to the needs of India. It should not be

beyond our wits to devise a Constitution which would ensure

proper representation for minorities and provide for their deve-

Iépment and progress.

“Before a Constituent Assembly is held there should, of coutse,
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be new elections. The procedure to be adopted by the Consti-

tuent Assembly, the manner of reaching decisions and *resolving

deadlocks may be left, as you suggest, to a body consisting of the

Premiers of the Provinces and the Members of the Executive

Council, but before that is done the present Executive Council

will have to be replaced by a body mote representative of the

people.

‘As for the constitution of the Government pending the major

constitutional changes, I am_ personally in general agreement

with your suggestions, but I do not think they will meet with the

approval of the two major political parties in the country. On

the question of Defence and the conduct of the war by the Com-

mander-in-Chief under the War Cabinet and the Pacific Council,

there can be no difference of opinion. If the rest of the Govern-

ment is left to a completely Indianised Council, if the India Office

is abolished and a convention is agreed to by which the Governor-

General will not exercise his veto except in matters urgently con-

cerning the defence and safety of India, I see no reason why the

Congress should not accept office. There may be difficulty in

persuading the Muslim League to do so if they still feel that the

question of Pakistan would be prejudiced. The Muslims may be

given equal representation with the Congress pending the set-

tlement. of the major constitutional issue, in the Centre as well

as the Provinces if that will induce them to come in. The

Government, in short, will be coalition government both in the

provinces as well as in the Centre. If, however, the Muslims

insist upon additional guarantees regarding Pakistan, there may

be trouble. I would not be prepared to go beyond the Cripps

formula in that respect. Personally I feel that if the future

Constitution of India is so devised as fully to safeguard the rights,

liberties and culture of the minorities by a charter guaranteed by

a future and better League of Nations and if the fullest autonomy

is given to the federating units reserving only the minimum

essential subjects for the Federation, there should be no objection

on the part of any patrotic Indian to join the Federation, whether

he is a Hindu or a Muslim or a Christian or a Sikh.

‘““As we know, the whole trouble with the Muslims is caused

by the apprehension that in this communal-minded country it
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would not be possible, for some time at least, to form governments

on party lines as understood in the West. The parties that

come into power will not be divided on political or economic

principles such as a democratic, a labour or a conservative party

in which Hindus and Mohamedans will be all represented, but

the numerically predominant community, namely the Hindus,

will have a more or less permanent lease of power. A rough

and ready remedy for this would be to provide in the future consti-

tution that for a period of time, say ten years, there should be coali-

tion governments in the provinces as well as in the centre in which

the Mohamedans should have a certain percentage of represen-

tation which need not be exactly in proportion to their numbers;

they will have to be given a certain weightage. Such a system

would not be strictly according to the principles of democratic

parliamentary government and the Mohamedan ministers would

still be more or less the creatures of the predominant majority.

The alternative is to cut away from the system of parliamentary

government on British lines and to devise a Constitution more

suited to Indian conditions. The trouble arises from the fact

that nobody secms to envisage a Constitution other than on British

parliamentary lines and as a result the minorities are even prepared

for a vivisection of India rather than agree to such a Constitution.

After all, parliamentary government on British lines has only been

a moderate success in Great Britain and has failed in an increasing

degree in other countries. I think it should be one of the prin-

cipal duties of the Non-Party Conference to lay down the broad

principles of an alternative Constitution which would get rid of

this haunting fear in the hearts of the minorities and rally them

to the banner of a strong and united India.”
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An Asian Federation : Nehru’s

Views:

After discussing the possibility of the holding of an Asian Con-

ference in India, I asked Jawaharlal Nehru on December 25, 1945,

to clarify his views on the Asian federation.

He had on his table Owen Lattimore’s Solution for Asia which

he was reading with profound interest. He was in touch with

the leaders of the Indonesian freedom movement and also with

Aung San, the young leader of the Burma Anti-Fascist League.

“Do you think”, I asked him, “that a federation of Asian coun-

tries 1s practicable as the next step?” Nehru had been advocating

such a scheme in his specches to vast audiences in various parts of

India. “That”, he observed, “is a possibility in the near future.

But much depends on the development on right lines of the

United Nations Organisation. If the U.N. is really based on the

elimination of Imperialism and Colonialism, I see some hope for

it as the beginning of a world order. Otherwise, and inevitably,

various large groups will be formed for self-defence and mutual

help.”

“There is at present”, continued Nehru, ‘fa considerable feel-

ing in the countries of Asia in favour of holding together and co-

operating for their own protection against outside aggression.

If, unfortunately, future conflicts should arise leading to a disas-

trous war, Asia is almost certain to be one of the main centres.

* Please refer to page 140 of the text.
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Apart from war, there 1s economic penetration which is bound

to produce resistance. These considerations, as also old cultural

bonds, are drawing India and her neighbours close to one another.”

This statement, I pointed out, did not quite answer my question

whether an Asian Federation was immediately capable of realisa-

tion. Nehru said, “I cannot be definite beyond a point. A close

union of the countries bordering on the Indian Ocean, both for

defence and trade purposes, is almost certain to emerge. In

any such closer union India is bound to play a very significant

part, both because of her intrinsic importance and her stratcgic

position. No system of defence of these areas, from the Middle-

East to South-Eastern Asta, can be effective without India’s inti-

mate participation.” In all matters of trade policy too, he con-

tinued, ‘India, which is likely to be industrialised rapidly, must

develop contacts on either side.”

“Looking back to the past,” Nehru continued, “one of the

principal results of the British occupation of India was to cut her

off almost completely from the rest of Asia. Our land routes

were closed and almost our sole contact with the outside world

for a long time was by sea with Britain. A great change is now

taking place, partly because of new alignments and partly because

of the development of air communications. The last war has

helped bring China, South-Eastern Asia and the Middle Kast right

near India.”

““\ new consciousness has arisen in South Asia,’ he went- on,

“and old memories of past contacts have revived. But the main

incentive at present is to hold together.” At this stage Nehru

took out a map of South Asia and spread it out on the table. He

said, “Whatever the future development of the United Nations

Organisation might be, these Asian countries (putting hts finger

on Egypt with the remark, ‘“‘in this one must include Egypt’) will

look to one another more and more. Some form of common

organisation dealing with defence, trade and possibly other sub-

jects seems to be an inevitable development.”

“What other subjects have you in mind,” I asked him. “A

certain cooperation in foreign policy,” he answered. “The time

has come when the representatives of all these Asian countries

should mect and confer.”
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That morning the Indian papers contained long reports of the

discussions in the U. N. General Assembly in London. The

Indian delegation had not even claimed a place for India in the

Security Council. “What do you think of it?” I asked him.

“There is a strong fecling in Asia,” he said, “that the interests

of Asian countries are being overlooked. Recent events in In-

donesia and Indo-China have been bitterly resented in India and

elsewhere in Asia; what is happening in Iran has also been viewed

with great disquiet.” “I realise’, he added, “that in many of these

countries there are reactionary and semi-feudal regimes which

must change. But the way of changing is not to convert these

countries into colonies or puppet States.”

Nehru then outlined the Itkelihood of a Conference of re-

presentatives of these Asian countrics meeting to discuss their

common problems. No definite and precise conclusions, he

thought, could be reached in the first Conference and in any event

not as long as India cannot freely function. But he preferred

India as the most suitable venue for the Conference.

“What could be its effect on India’s internal problems ?”

I asked him. I drew his attention to the fact that both in the

‘countries of the Middle East and in Indonesia there were large

Muslim populations. On the aggregate the Hindus of India would

be a minority in comparison with the Muslim populations of South

Asia. Nehru made it clear that he did not believe in the bogey

of a Pan-Islamic movement sweeping over South Asia. “On

the other hand,” he declared, “any form of closer association or

union of these countries of the Middle East, India and South-

Eastern Asia would go a long way towards removing the fears

and suspicions of the Indian Muslims.”

“Such a union, of course,” he continued, ‘“‘must be based on

the complete freedom of each country. India has nothing to

fear from any other country in Asia and these countries should not

fear any intervention or dominance by India, whether in the poli-

tical or in the economic sphere.”

“Supposing”, I said, “India develops her industries rapidly,

is there not a danger of an economic domination?” “No,”

said Nehru, with emphasis. “India’s future policy is oppcsed

to any exploitation of other markets or resources of peoples in
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other countries at the expense of the peoples of those countries,

Both my party (the Congress) and the National Planning Com-

mittee have made it perfectly clear that we are not going to

encourage Indian capitalist elements in Burma, Ceylon, East

Africa or elsewhere at the expense of the inhabitants of those

countries.”

“How about the danger”, I asked him, “of such a movement

developing an Asian racial outlook?” That Nehru regarded

as almost impossible. “It will not and cannot have any aggres-

sive or racial character; nor will it be opposed inany way to America

or the Soviet Union or any other power or group of powers. To-

wards the two main powers of the world it will cultivate the most

friendly relations. The Soviet Union will touch it right across

Asia, and America has already many and growing contacts.”

“Don’t you see”, Nehru said, “the fact that such a union will

consist of many different kinds of peoples and races will prevent

it from devcloping any narrow racial standpoint or aggressive

outlook ? When imperialism and colonialism have been liqui-

dated any feeling that there may be against Europe or America

will naturally disappear.”

Nehru added : “It is admitted now that the governments in all

these countries should be democratic, with an increasing tendency

towards socialisation. Naturally, a closer union of these demo-

cratic countries must be in itself democratic. Any development

of trade or industry will have to avoid the kind of colonial

exploitation that we have had in the past. There will, of course,

be growing international trade but each country would, as far

as possible aim at a measure of self-sufficiency.”
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Gandhi-Nehru correspondence with

Roosevelt’

[Extracts from the U.S. Government’s Oficial Publication

“Foreign Relations of the United States : Diplomatic Papers”’

1942—Vol. I]

Within three days of Cripps’s departure from New Delhi after the

failure of his mission, Nehru wrote a personal letter to President

Roosevelt, the text of which is reproduced below:

“Dear Mr. President,

I am venturing to write to you as I know that you are deeply

interested in the Indian situation today and its reactions on

the war. The failure of Sir Stafford Cripps’ mission to bring

about a settlement between the British Government and the

Indian people must have distressed you, as it has distressed

us. As you know we have struggled for long years for the in-

dependence of India, but the peril of today made us desite above

everything else that an opportunity should be given to us to

otganize a real national and popular resistance to the aggressor

and invader. We were convinced that the right way to do this

would have been to give freedom and independence to our peo-

ple and ask them to defend it. That would have lighted a spark

in millions of hearts which would have developed into a blazing

fire of resistance which no aggressor could have faced successfully.

* Please refer to page 203 of the text.
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If that was not to be as we wished it and considered necessary

for the purposes of the war, the least that we considered essential

was the formation of a truly national government today with

power and responsibility to organize resistance on a_ popular

basis. Unfortunately even that was not considered feasible or

desirable by the British Government. I do not wish to trouble

you with the details of what took place during the negotiations

that have unfortunately failed for the present. You have no doubt

been kept informed about them by your representatives here.

I only wish to say how anxious and cager we were, and still are,

to do out utmost for the defence of India and to associate our-

selves with the larger causes of freedom and democracy. To us

it is a tragedy that we cannot do so in the way and in the measure

we would like to. We would have liked to stake everything in

the defence of our country, to fight with all the strength and

vitality that we possess, to count no cost and no sacrifice as too

ereat for repelling the invader and securing freedom and indepen-

dence for our country.

Our present resources may be limited for the industrialization

of our country has been hindered by the policy pursued 1n the past

by the British Government in India. We are an unarmed people.

But our war potential is very great, our man power vast and our

great spaces as in China would have helped us. Our production

can be speeded up greatly with the cooperation of capital and

labour. But all this war potential can only be utilized fully when

the government of the country is intimately associated with, and

representative of, the people. A government divorced from the

people cannot get a popular response which is so essential; much

less can a foreign government, which is inevitably disliked and

distrusted, do so.

Danger and peril envelop us and the immediate future is dark-

ened by the shadows of possible invasion and the horrors that

would follow, as they have followed Japanese aggression in China.

The failure of Sir Stafford Cripps’ mission has added to the diffi-

culties of the situation and reacted unfavourably on our people.

But whatever the difficulties we shall face them with all our cou-

rage and will to resist. Though the way of our choice may be

closed to us, and we are unable to associate ourselves with the

301



India’s Freedom Movement

activities of the British authorities in India, still we shall do our

utmost not to submit to Japanese or any other aggression afid in-

vasion. We, who have struggled for so long for freedom and

against an old agression, would prefer to perish rather than submit

to a new invader.

Our sympathies, as we have so often declared, are with the

forces fighting against fascism and for democracy and freedom.

With freedom in our own country those sympathies could have

been translated into dynamic action.

To your great country, of which you are the honoured head, we

send greetings and good wishes for success. And to you, Mr.

President, on whom so many all over the world look for leader-

ship in the cause of freedom we would add our assurances of our

high regard and esteem.

Sincerely yours

(Sd) JAWAHARLAL NEHRU.

April 12, 1942.

The Acting Secretary of State to the Personal Representative of

the President in India (Johnson)

Washington, April 15, 1942—9 p. m.

Your 180, April 13, 6 p.m. Please communicate to Pandit

Nehru the substance of the following message from the Presi-

dent :

“The President greatly appreciates your letter dated April 12

which he has received through Colonel Johnson. He has been

deeply gratified by the’ message which it contains. He feels

sure that the people of India will make every possible eftec-

tive effort to resist Japanese aggression in every part of India. To

the utmost extent of its ability the Government of the United

States will contribute towards that common cause.”

WELLES
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Mr. Mohandas K. Ghandhi to President Roosevelt

Sevagram, via Wardha (India)

Ist July, 1942.

DEAR FRIEND : I twice missed coming to your great country.

I have the privilege of having numerous friends there both known

and unknown to me. Many of my countrymen have received

and are still receiving higher education in America. I know too

that several have taken shelter there. I have profited greatly

by the writings of Thoreau and Emerson. I say this to tell

you how much I am connected with your country. Of Great

Britain I need say nothing beyond mentioning that in spite of

my intense dislike of British Rule, I have numerous personal

friends in England whom I love as dearly as my own people. I

had my legal education there. I have therefore nothing but good

wishes for your country and Great Britain. You will therefore

accept my word that my present proposal, that the British should

unreservedly and without reference to the wishes of the people

of India immediately withdraw their rule, is prompted by the

friendliest intention. JI would like to turn into goodwill the ill-

will which, whatever may be said to the contrary, exists in India

towards Great Britain and thus enable the millions of India to play

their part in the present war.

My personal position is clear. I hate all war. If, therefore,

I could persuade my countrymen, they would make a most effec-

tive and decisive contribution in favour of an honourable peace.

But I know that all of us have not a living faith in non-violence.

Under foreign rule however we can make no effective contri-

bution of any kind in this war, except ‘as helots.

The policy of the Indian National Congress, largely guided by

me, has been one of non-embarrassment to Britain, consistently

with the honourable working of the Congress, admittedly the

largest political organisation, of the longest standing in India.

The British policy as espoused by the Cripps mission and te-

jected by almost all parties has opened our eyes and has driven

me to the proposal I have made. I hold that the full accep-
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tance of my proposal and that alone can put the Allicd cause on

an unassailable basis. I venture to think that the Allied dec-

laration that the Allies are fighting to make the world safe for

freedom of the individual and for democracy sounds hollow,

so long as India and, for that matter, Africa are exploited by Great

Britain and America has the Negro problem in her own home.

But in order to avoid all complications, in my proposal I have

confined myself only to India. If India becomes frec, the rest

must follow, if it docs not happen simultancously.

In order to make my proposal fool-proof I have suggested

that, if the Allics think it necessary, they may keep their troops

at their own cxpense in India, not for keeping internal order but

for preventing Japanese ageression and defending China. So

far as India 1s concerned, she must become free even as America

and Great Britain are. The Allied troops will remain in India

during the war under treaty with the Free India Government

that may be formed by the people of India without any outside

interference, dircct or indircct.

It is on behalf of this proposal that I write this to enlist your

active sympathy.

I hope that it would commend itself to you.

Mr. Louis Fischer is carrying this letter to you.

If there is any obscurity in my letter, you have but to send me

word and I shall try to clear it.

I hope finally that you will not resent this letter as an intrusion

but take it as an approach from a friend and well wisher of the

Allies.

I remain,

Yours sincercly,

M. K. GANDHI.

President Roosevelt to Mr. Mohandas K. Gandhi

Washington, August 1, 1942.

My dear Mr. Gandhi,

I have received your letter of July 1, 1942, which you have

thoughtfully sent me in order that I may better understand your
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plans, which I well know may have far reaching effect upon

developments important to your country and to mine.

I am sure that you will agree that the United States has con-

sistently striven for and supported policies of fair dealing, of

fair play, and of all related principles looking towards the crea-

tion of harmonious relations between nations. Nevertheless,

now that war has come as a result of Axis dreams of world con-

quest, we, together with many other nations, are making a sup-

reme cflort to defeat those who would deny forever all hope

of freedom throughout the world. I am enclosing a copy of an

address of July 23 by the Secretary of State, made with my com-

plete approval, which illustrates the attitude of this Government.

I shall hope that our common interest in democracy and right-

eousness will enable your countrymen and mine to make common

causc against a common enemy.

Very sincerely yours,

FRANKLIN ROOSEVELT
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A Note to William Phillips

There is a widespread conviction in India that the British do

not mean to part with power. The promise of independence

after the war means little and can rouse no enthusiasm unless it is

accompanied by as complete a transfer of power now as is possible

in the middle of war. Provided there is such a transfer, Congress

leaders will be prepared to make large concessions to the Muslim

League and to other parties in order to secure gencral agrecment.

In fact, they have repeatedly declared that the Congress would

even agree to the formation of a real National Government

without Congress representation therein, under Mr. Jinnah’s

leadership.

The first thing essential, therefore, is a fresh declaration by the

British Government. It must of course promise India the right

to frame her own Constitution after the war on the basis of self-

determination and complete freedom. But immediately it must

also concede to India the status and functions of a_ fully self-

governing Dominion, like Australia or Canada. The implications

of the offer will have to be elaborated : the disappearance of the
India Office in London, transfer of Indian affairs to the Dominion

office, representation of India through men of her own choice

in all the Allied capitals and at the Peace Conference, etc.

The question will arise, in regard to the proposal for the abo-

lition of the India Office, who is to perform the functions now

* Pleasc refer to page 213 of the text.
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allotted to the Secretary of State for India? Some of these have

already been entrusted to the High Commissioner for India in

London. India’s sterling balances in London are so large and

the balance of trade so much in her favour that there is no likeli-

hood of her wanting to float a loan in London. The Dominion

office will deal with the Provisional Government of India

in precisely the same manner and to the same extent as it does

with a Dominion Government.

The Secretary of State for India is also the final appellate

authority for some of the all-India services, particularly the I.C.S.

There are legal obligations and commitments in this relationship,

which cannot be repudiated by unilateral action. The suggestion

may be considered of vesting that final appellate authority in

the Federal Public Services Commission and the Governor-Gene-

ral. Those who are not willing to accept this arrangement should

be permitted to retire on full or proportionate pensions, according

to the length of their services.

If the transfer of power is complete, there should be the res-

ponsibility of the Executive to the Indian Legislature. Ob-

viously it cannot be the present Central Legislature. Mr. Raja-

gopalachari’s suggestion is worthy of consideration, namely to

substitute in its place the British Indian part of the Federal Legis-

lature, elected in the same way. This would mean an Assembly

(lower House) of 250 members elected by the provincial Assem-

blies, and a Council of State (upper House) of 156 by direct elec-

tions.

Will the Muslims agree to responsibility of the Executive

to the Legislature? They may, if it be laid down that a vote of

no-confidence, to be operative, should have, say, a two-third

majority of the Assembly, including therein at least a bare

majority of the Muslim members. Responsibility will solve

many problems: it will remove the objections stated by Sir

Stafford Cripps, reduce the authority of the Governor General

to that exercised in the Dominions, and bring into existence

a Prime Minister and a Cabinet with collective responsibility.

Another question is, will the Princes agree to these changes ?

Their objections may be met in this way: there should be a War

Cabinet in India, consisting of certain members of the Indian
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Government and a representative of the States to deal with all

problems connected with the war. Also, the Political Adviser

of the Governor-General (who is styled ‘Crown Representative’

in his relations with the Indian States) should be an Indian, say

the Prime Minister of one of the major States with the status

of a member of the Indian Cabinet and the right to attend its

meetings whenever questions involving the interests of the States

arise. Such an arrangement, while leaving the administration of

British India in the hands of the Indian Government, will fact-

litate joint discussions of all-India concern with representatives

of the States, and thus make a change to a federal form of Govern-

ment after the war less difficult.

Yet another problem is in regard to defence. There is already

an Indian Defence Member in addition to the Commander-in-

Chief. The Constitution, even as it is, does not say that the

Commander-in-Chief sha/] be a member of the Executive Council,

but only that zf he is a member his rank and position will be above

that of other members. An Indian Defence Member, but

with far greater powers than are now assigned to him, must be

an essential part of the scheme. No Government will want to

interfere with the discretion and authority of the Commander-

in-Chief. What the Congress objects to is the subordinate role

of the Indian Defence Member. Cannot the Australian example

(of having Gen. MacArthur) provide a precedent? There is no

reason why, with strategy and military policy unified, any one of

the United Nations should not send a Supreme Commander-in-

Chief for all the Allied forces operating from India. If there were

established in India an Allied Council, (India being represented

thereon), the Commander-in-Chief could be made _ responsible

to such a Council, and: there would be little objection from the

point of view of India.

So far as this aspect is concerned, the political settlement

will rest on the assumption that the Dominion Government of

India will cooperate fully in the war effort, and there is no

question of separate peace with the Axis Powers. Beyond this

Britain is not entitled to impose any conditions or to interfere

in India’s affairs. '

Once there is a settlement on these lines, the Congress, the
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Muslim League and other parties will come to terms and esta-

blish coalitions both at the Centre and in the provinces. Mr.

Jinnah will, of course, demand that the British declaration makes

one point clear: namely, that the Muslims will have the right

of self-determination conceded to them in areas where they are

in majority. The Congress and other parties may agree to a

compromise such as that the right of self-determination will be

exercised, by areas where the Muslims are in a substantial majority,

say 60 percent—the right being exercisable by all the voters in such

areas, and not by the Muslims alone. Mr. Jinnah is not likely to

refuse such a compromise. Even more acceptable from the

Congress point of view would be the suggestion that India should

work the Constitution for a period of 10 or 15 years and _ there-

after any area which feels dissatisfied with the provisions may

exercise the right of secession in the manner prescribed above.

In fact a proposal on these lines was under discussion between Sir

Sikandar Hyat Khan and the Congress President in February 1942.

I was informed by a common friend that Mr. Jinnah was willing

to consider it. But the Cripps offer prevented further discussion.

This note has discussed the possible contents of a renewed

British offer in some detail. Broadly speaking, it is a great

improvement on the Cripps offer in dealing with the immediate

future and goes further than what Nehru and Rajagopalachari

were prepared to accept in March last year. Nehru found in April

that the Congress rank and file was not willing to agree to all

the compromises to which he and Azad had pactically commit-

ted the party in their talks with Cripps. Since then, there has

been ruthless repression. Also, the crisis in regard to food is

acute. The Government of India and the provincial Govern-

ments, as constituted, are incapable "of tackling the problem
with the necessary drive and imagination. The war situation

may be more favourable than a year ago in the sense that there

is no danger of an imminent attack on India by the Japanese,

and no confession of the British inability to defend the country.

But the strain on the Government has been extremely heavy during

the last few months, bitterness and resentment are dangerously

widespread and the British have not today a real friend of

influence in the country.
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The British declaration need not go into details such 4s are

given in this note. It must be in general terms, promise imme-

diately full Dominion status for all pactical purposes, and a per-

manent Constitution after the war, framed by a Constituent

Assembly on the basis of self-determination : the only stipulation

being that free India will fight with the United Nations and not

think of a separate peace.

Such a declaration, with its implications set out in suitable

language, will instantly transform the situation. I have no doubt

in my mind that Congress leaders would be willing to reconsider

their position, since such a declaration would substantially meet the

demands of the resolution of the All India Congress Committee.

An early meeting of that body should be permitted to consider

the revised British offer.

A difficulty may arise here. Such a meeting cannot take place

without the withdrawal of the orders against the Congress and

the release of all Congressmen. There must be a general amnesty

and an appeal that both sides should draw a veil over the

recent past. Amery’s statements that there can be no negotia-

tions with Congress leaders until they have abandoned their pre-

sent methods are an obstacle. Mr. Phillips can be of help by

Interviewing Gandhi, Nehru, and Azad. They will very pro-

bably refuse to give undertakings while in detention, but he can

ascertain their general reaction to a renewed offer. The Press

too will considerably help by appealing to the Congress leaders

to review the situation. Mr. Rajagopalachari’s services should

be utilized for the same purpose.

Assuming that we get this far—a new British declaration and

a general amnesty—the Congress leaders may be trusted to make

an appeal to everyone to restore normal conditions so that nego-

tiations may commence for a general settlement. At this stage

there will be a serious problem. The Viceroy is not trusted by

any of the political leaders. Mr. Jinnah has publicly used

the term ‘double-crosser’ to describe him. Mr. Rajagopala-

chari and Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru think his recent speech at Calcutta

was meant only to create confusion by stressing India’s geographi--

cal unity while for Congress leaders he stands completely identified

with the present reactionary policy. A new Viceroy coming out
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with a new offer would make an enormous difference—perhaps

all the difference between success and another failure.

I say this after my observation of the course of the Cripps

negotiations. Montagu saw Indian leaders in 1917, almost

always in the presence of the Viceroy. Linlithgow resented being

left out of the picture. Had Cripps come out as Viceroy for the

time being, he would have succeeded in getting his offer accepted.

India must be convinced that the offer is genuine and the

British want a settlement, not just propaganda material for

Allied consumption to prove the perversity of Indian leaders.

Another (and a better) offer, a general amnesty and a new Viceroy

will bring about that change. Negotiations must proceed with

ereater skill than Cripps showed. Party leaders will have to be

seen separatcly in the carly stages, but there should also be joint

discussions in order to reach agreements. Mr. Jinnah should

not be encouraged to think that he can virtually excrcise a veto

on progress by adopting an uncompromising attitude. Congress

leaders would be generous in dealing with Muslim claims and go

far to placate Jinnah. But the British should make up their minds

to be fair. Many of the points contained in this note—respon-

sibility of the Executive to the Legislature, the composition of the

Legislature, the arrangements regarding defence, ete.—(and

such other points as the number of Muslims, scheduled castes,

etc. in the Executive)—-will have to be matters for negotiations

between party Icaders. In these negotiations, Mr. Phillips’

intervention may prove very helpful.

The Cripps proposals involved the principle of sclf-dctermi-

nation for territorial units. Sikandar Hyat Khan is willing to

accept it without modification. Jinnah, however, insists upon a

plebiscite of all Muslims in the areas toncerned. The question

is whether there is a compromise possible between these two

points of view.

So far as the Congress is concerned, whatever be the attitude

of the Working Committee ‘and of the A.I.C.C. 1n the past, it 1s

clear from the latest resolution passed in Bombay on 8th August

_as well as from the correspondence between Maulana Azad and

Nehru and Abdul Latif, that it is willing to make the following

concessions : .
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(a) For the interim period, provided the British agrce eto the

formation of a real National Government, the task of

forming such a Government may be entrusted to Mr.

Jinnah;

(b) In regard to the permanent Constitution, the Congress is

prepared to accept the largest measure of autonomy being

conceded to the federating units and residuary powers

vested in them. If, however, a territorial unit 1s not

satisfied with the basic structure of the new Consti-

tution, and desires secession, the federation will not

resort to coercion.

Apart from the demands of the Muslim League, it is inevitable

that when the time comes for devising India’s permanent Consti-

tution after the war, there will be a general demand for territorial

redistribution. Andhra, Karnataka and one or two other areas

are almost certain to renew their demands for separation

into independent provinces. Therefore, simultaneously with the

bringing into existence of the Constituent Assembly, there may

be appointed a Boundaries Commission for the redistribution

of territorial areas in a free India. The factors to be considered

may in some cases be linguistic and in other racial or religious.

But in all cases there will have to be a reasonable guarantee of

financial self-sufficiency.

It is possible that such a Commission will take into account,

among other things, the demand of the Muslim League for the

creation of a predominantly Muslim areca from the population

point of view. If, as is conceivable, the demand of the Sikhs

and the Hindus of Ambala and Jullunder divisions for separation

from the rest of the Punjab is capable of accommodation, the

problem may be simplified so far as the rest of the Punjab is con-

cerned. In any case the principle of self-determination must

mean that the right of decision is given to the areas concerned and

not to any particular community. Since West Punjab is predo-

minantly Muslim, the difference will not be one of substance,

though the enunciation of the principle is important.

If the new Constitution accepts for its basic principles those

contained in the Congress resolution referred to above, it is
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possible that federating units may not feel the urge to secede. One

suggestion in this connection that deserves consideration is whe-

ther the federating units, whether provinces or States, should not

have the right of deciding the list of subjects regarding which

they are prepared to federate, beyond a minimum all-India list

such as defence, tariffs, foreign affairs, etc., which must be re-

garded as essential. The principle has already been accepted in the

Government of India Act of 1935 so far as the States are concerned.

Thereforc, there is no novelty in the suggestion except that

it is being proposed also for the provinces. Whilc it is not satis-

factory that different units encourage the tendency to urge the

division of India, it is the lesser of the two evils. Such an arrange-

ment would enable a majority of the units which would obviously

desire a strong federal centre to have it. There is no reason why

for the sake of one or two units the federal centre should be made

weak for the whole of India.

If, in spite of these concessions mainly to Muslim sentiment,

there is apparently a desire for secession the right should be con-

ceded. The question may be discussed, however, whether such

tight should be exercised at the start or may be postponed for a

period of ten cr fifteen years during which the federating units

will have actual experience of the new Constitution.

In broad principles the suggestion, therefore, is that while

the right of self-determination may be conceded, its exercise should

leave ample room for negotiations and compromise.
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Chiang Kai-shek’s letter to

Roosevelt, July 1942°

With both sides remaining adamant in their vicws, the Indian

situation has reached an extremely tense and critical stage. Its

development in fact constitutes the most important factor in

determining the outcome of the United Nations’ war and espccially

the war in the East. The war aims which the anti-aggression

nations have proclaimed to the world are two-fold; first to crush

brute force and second to secure freedom for all mankind. If

India should start a movement against the British or against the

United Nations, this will cause deterioration in the Indiafi situa-

tion from which the Axis Powers will surely reap the benefit.

Such an eventuality will seriously affect the whole course of the war

and at the same time the world might entertain doubts as to the

sincerity of the lofty war aims of the United Nations. This will

not only prove a great disadvantage to Britain but will also re-

flect discredit to the democratic front.

At this juncture the United Nations should do their best, when

there is yet time, to prevent the occurrence of such an unfortunate

state of affairs. Your country is the leader in this war of right

against might and Your Excellency’s views have always received

serious attention in Britain. Furthermore, for a long time the

Indian people have been expecting the United States to come out

and take a stand on the side of justice and equality. I therefore

venture to lay before you my personal views on this questiori.

* Please refer to page 223 of the text.
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Inevitably, Britain will regard the Indian National Congress’

recent demand as an attempt to take advantage of her present

predicament. The step contemplated by the resolution of the

Congress Working Committee, however, still leaves sufficient

time and opportunity for the reaching of an agreement. During

my recent visit to India, I earnestly advised the Indian people to

consider their primary duty to join the anti-aggression front in a

common struggle for mankind.

From the point of view of the Indian people, their consistent

purpose is to secure national freedom. With this object in view

the Indian National Congress, in seeking national independence,

is dominated by sentiment rather than by reason. Consequently

I believe attempts at repression in the form of either public censure

or force, whether military or police, with a view to compelling

the Indian people to capitulate, will have the opposite result.

From the psychological point of view of the Indian, he considers

that India before attaining her national freedom is not the master

of her own vast territory and abundant resources. Just becausc

he owns nothing, he has nothing to be afraid of. Moreover,

beyond national independence and freedom he demands no-

thing of the world. Likewise, the Indian people as a whole

only desire freedom for their country and their only expectation is

that the United Nations would sympathize with them in their

aspiration.

The Indian people are by nature of a passive disposition but

are apt to go to extremes. I think that in launching its freedom

movement today when Axis aggression is a pressing reality, the

Indian Congress must have felt in their hearts a certain amount

of anguish. If, however, the United Nations should show them

no sympathy and pursue a /aissez-faire policy and thereby cause

them to despair, I greatly fear that following the National Congress

meeting in August there is a danger of the situation getting

out of control. In case an anti-British movement or some

other unfortunate incident occurs in India, the United Nation’s

war in the East will be adversely affected immediately. For

the sake of our common victory the United Nations must seek

to stabilize the Indian situation and to secure the Indian people’r

participation in the joint war effort.
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The United Nations depend upon India for her cofftribution

to the war, whereas the Indian people have little need to depend

upon the outside world. From their own point of view their move-

ment for independence and freedom is not something new that has

come into existence after the outbreak of the war. Hence they do

not stop to think whether their movement will have any harmful

effect on the world situation. This being the case, they have no

hesitation in taking whatever steps they may think necessary in

furtherance of their national movement. Whether they are

right or wrong is immaterial. The fact remains they have now

already become irresponsive to even well-considered public opi-

nion or a tealistic analysis of India’s real interests. Once they

abandon hope of an amicable settlement, they are liable to take

any risk without hesitation even to the extent of sacrificing them-

selves and others.

The only way to make them reconsider their course of action

is for the United Nations, and especially the United States which

they have always admired, to come forth as third parties and to

offer them sympathy and consolation. This will help them to

regain their sense of proportion and strengthen their faith that

there is justice in this world. Once the situation is eased it

can be stabilized and the Indian people, grateful to the United Na-

tions for what they have done, will willingly participate in the

war. Otherwise the Indian people in despair will have the same

feeling towards other members of the United Nations as towards

Britain; and when this comes to pass it will be the world’s greatest

tragedy in which Britain is not the only loser.

So far as Britain is concerned, she is a great country and in

recent years she has been pursuing an enlightened policy towards

her colonial possessions. She is one of the principals in this war

against aggression. On the other hand, India is a weak country.

With this unprecedentedly extensive war in progress, naturally

things cannot be handled in the ordinary manner. It is my

Opinion that, in order to uphold the British Empire’s prestige

and to safeguard her real interests, the British should unhesitat-

ingly show extraordinary courage, forbearance, farsightedness and

resolution by removing the causes which tend to aggravate the
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Situation. In this way the deceptive Axis propagandists will

have no occasion to take advantage of these causes.

Should, however, the situation be allowed to drift until an

anti-British movement breaks out in India, any attempt on the

part of the British to cope with the crisis by enforcing existing

colonial laws or by resorting to military and police force, will

only help to spread disturbances and turmoil. The greater the

oppression, the greater the reaction. Even if such measures

should prove effective in curbing the non-violent movement, the

spiritual loss and blow to the United Nations will far exceed that

resulting from any reverse in the field. Such a situation will parti-

cularly be detrimental to Britain’s interests.

There is no doubt a section of the Indian people which, having

lost their sense of proportion, is asking, if India will never attain

freedom, what choice does she have between Britain and the

Axis Powers? This mistaken idea the United Nations should of

course do everything possible to correct. On the other hand,

the wisest and most enlightened policy for Britain to pursue

would be to restore to India her complete freedom and thus to

prevent Axis troops from setting foot on Indian soil. If Britain

would reorientate her present attitude and spirit, I firmly believe

that not only will Indian sentiment towards Britain undergo a

radical change for the better, but Britain’s action will have an

ameliorating effect on the whole situation. Therefore, I earnestly

hope that the United States would advise both Britain and India

in the name of justice and righteousness to seek a reasonable and

satisfactory solution, for this affects vitally the welfare of man-

kind and has a direct bearing on the good faith and good name

of the United Nations. The United States, as the acknowledged

leader of democracy, has a natural and vital role to play in bring-

ing about a successful solution of the ptoblem.

In saying so I have not the slightest intention to arouse atten-

tion by exaggerated statements. The war aims of the United

Nations and our common interests at stake make it impossible

for me to remain silent. An ancient Chinese proverb says: ‘Good

medicine, though bitter, cures one’s illness; words of sincere ad-

vice, though unpleasant, should guide one’s conduct.” I sincerely

hope that Britain will magnanimously and resolutely accept my
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words of disinterested advice, however unpleasant they may be,

and believe that they are voiced in the common interest$ of the

United Nations.

In view of the critical situation and in view of China’s res-

ponsibilities as a member of the United Nations, I have ventured

to offer you my views. This despatch 1s strictly confidential.

It is only for Your Excellency’s personal reference. I hope Your

Excellency will give the minutest consideration to such practical

measures as will break the existing deadlock and avert a crisis.

I shall persevere in my efforts. My only feeling is that the United

Nations should lose no time in adopting a correct policy towards

the Indian situation and in striving for its realization, so that

our entire war effort will not suffer a major setback. I ardently

hope Your Excellency will favour me with your sound judgement.

Roosevelt’s Reply to Chiang Kai-shek

President Roosevelt wrote to General Chiang Kai-shek (through

T. V. Soong) shortly after the commencement of the civil disobe-

dience campaign in India in the following terms :

I have been giving, as you will of course realize, the utmost

consideration and thought to your message regarding the Indian

situation, which reached me through Dr. T. V. Soong on July 29.

I fully share the opinion you express, for the sake of our

common victory, that the Indian situation should be stabilized

and the participation of the Indian people should be secured

in the joint war effort. I likewise agree that only the Axis Powers

would reap the benefit if India should start a movement against

Britain or against the United Nations and that such an eventuality

would seriously affect the whole course of the war.

I know, however, that you will understand the difficulty

which is presented to me in your suggestion that this Govern-

ment should advise both the British Government and the people

of India ‘to seek a reasonable and satisfactory solution’. The

British Government believes that proposals which it has proffered

to the peoples of India should permit of an adjustment fair to

both sides, which should result in more active participation by
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India in the war effort in support of the United Nations, post-

poning until victory comes any final steps to be taken to meet the

desire for independence of the Indian people.

Furthermore, the British Government feels that suggestions

coming at this moment from other members of the United Nations

would undermine the authority of the only existing government

in India and would tend to create that very crisis in India which

it is your hope and my hope may yet be averted.

Under these circumstances, I feel that it would be wiser for

you and for myself to refrain from taking action ot the kind which

you had in mind for the time being. This does not preclude fur-

ther consideration at a moment’s notice of some of the steps which

you have suggested, should the course of events in India in the next

week or two reach a more serious stage. You may be certain

that I will have all of your suggestions fully in mind and that

I deeply appreciate the constructive and frank communication

which you have made to me. Please continue to communicate

with me at any moment with regard to any of the matters affecting

the common cause to which our two countries are dedicated.
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